
Small Business Regulatory Review Board Meeting 

Thursday, March 21, 2019 

10:00 a.m. 

Leiopapa A Kamehameha Building 

(State Office Tower) 

Conference Room 405 - 235 South Beretania Street, 
Honolulu, HI 96813 



SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 

Department of Business, Economic Development & Tourism (DBEDT)      Tel: 808 586-2419 
No. 1 Capitol District Building, 250 S. Hotel Street, Fifth Floor, Honolulu, HI  96813 
Mailing Address: P.O. Box 2359, Honolulu, HI  96804 
Email: dbedt.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov  
Website: dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb 

David Y. Ige 
Governor 

Michael McCartney 
DBEDT Director 

Members 
Anthony Borge 

Chairperson 
O‘ahu 

Robert Cundiff 
Vice Chairperson 

O‘ahu 

Garth Yamanaka 
2nd Vice Chairperson 

Hawai‘i 

Harris Nakamoto 
O‘ahu 

Nancy Atmospera-Walch 
O‘ahu 

Mary Albitz 
Maui 

William Lydgate 
Kaua‘i 

Director, DBEDT 
Voting Ex Officio 

AGENDA 
Thursday, March 21, 2019  10:00 a.m. 

Leiopapa A Kamehameha Building - State Office Tower 
Conference Room 405 - 235 South Beretania Street, Honolulu, HI  96813 

I. Call to Order

II. Approval of February 26, 2019 Meeting Minutes

III. Old Business
AFTER PUBLIC HEARING

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing 
and Proposed Amendments to Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Title 18, 
Chapter 235 Income Tax Law, promulgated by Department of Taxation
(DoTax), as follows – attached and incorporated as Exhibit 1

a. Section 235-98 Returns; form, verification and authentication; time 
of filing

b. Section 235-1.14(d) Substantial gainful business or occupation; 
defined

B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing 
and Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 18, Chapter 237, General Excise Tax 
Law, Section 29.57-01 Exemption for Intangible Property used Outside the 
State, promulgated by DoTax – attached and incorporated as Exhibit 2

C. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing  
and Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 11 Chapter 157, Examination and 
Immunization, promulgated by Department of Health – attached and 
incorporated as Exhibit 3

IV. Legislative Matters

A. Discussion and Action on Governor’s Message 624, Submitting for 
Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. James Lee to the Small 
Business Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2020

B. Discussion and Action on Governor’s Message 625, Submitting for 
Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. Garth Yamanaka to 
the  Small Business Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2023

C. Update on Governor’s Message 559, Submitting for Consideration of the 
Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. Jonathan Shick to the Small Business 
Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2022

D. Discussion and Action on Senate Bill 1348 SD1 Relating to the Small 
Business Regulatory Review Board – Clarifies the intent of the small business 
regulatory review board’s powers when reviewing state and county 
administrative rules and ordinances that impact small business



Small Business Regulatory Review Board 
March 21, 2019 

Page 2 

- The Board may go into Executive Session under Section 92-5(a)(4), Hawaii
Revised Statutes (HRS) to Consult with the Board’s Attorney Concerning
the Board’s Powers, Duties, Immunities, Privileges and Liabilities as it
relates to the changes made to Senate Bill 1348 by the Senate Draft 1.

V. Administrative Matters

A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in
accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS

a. Review and Action on the Board’s Website Changes, to date

VI. Next Meeting: Thursday, April 18, 2019, at 10:00 a.m., 235 S. Beretania St.,
Leiopapa A Kamehameha Building (State Office Tower), Conf. Room 405,
Honolulu, HI

VII. Adjournment

If you require special assistance or auxiliary aid and/or services to participate in the public 
hearing process (i.e., sign language, interpreter, wheelchair accessibility, or parking 
designated for the disabled), please call (808) 586-2419 at least three (3) business days 
prior to the meeting so arrangements can be made. 



II. Approval of February 26, 2019 Meeting Minutes 



Approved: ________ _ 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING - DRAFT 
February 26, 2019 
Conference Room 436, 250 South Hotel Street, Honolulu, Hawaii 96813 

I. CALL TO ORDER: Chair Borge called the meeting to order at 10:03 a.m., with a quorum 
present. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 
■ Anthony Borge, Chair 
• Robert Cundiff, Vice Chair 
• Garth Yamanaka, Second Vice Chair 
■ Harris Nakamoto 
• Mary Albitz 
11 William Lydgate 
• Carl Nagasako 

ABSENT MEMBERS: 
■ Nancy Atmospera-Walch 

STAFF:DBEDT 
Dori Palcovich 
Jet'aime Alcos 

Office of the Attorney General 
Margaret Ahn 

11. INTRODUCTION OF MR. MICHAEL McCARTNEY, DIRECTOR, DEPARTMENT OF 
BUSINESS, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND TOURISM (DBEDT) 

Chair Borge introduced Mr. Michael McCartney, DBEDT's newly appointed director. Director 
McCartney stated that he looks forward to working with this Board and appreciates the work 
this Board does. Chair Borge, in turn, expressed appreciation for the support provided to this 
Board by DBEDT. 

Ill. APPROVAL OF JANUARY 17, 2019 MINUTES 

Vice Chair Cundiff made a motion to accept the January 17, 2019 minutes, as amended. 
Mr. Nakamoto seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

IV. REGULATION REVIEW CARD 

A Discussion and Fact Finding on Request Received through this Board's Regulation 
Review Card for Proposed New Rules and Regulations for "Crafting Safe and 
Sustainable, Commercial Manta Ray Viewing Procedures for Manta Ray Snorkel 
and Dive Sites" under Department of Land and Natural Resources' (DLNR's) 
Division of Boating and Ocean Recreations (DOBOR) 

1 



a. Draft Hawaii Administrative 'Rules, Title 13 Subtitle 11 Ocean and Coastal 
Areas, Part 1 Small Bus.iness Facilities and Provisions GeneraHy Applicable 
to All State Navigable Water, Chapter 230 General Provisions, promulgated 
by DLN'R 

Chair Borge explained that the draft rules are for discussion and fact-findinlg purposes and 
relate to concerns raised by Mr. Keller Laros of Mana Pacific Research Foundation, via 
regulation review card, and from testimony received by Mr. lko Balanga and Ms .. Holly 
Crane, owners of Anelakai Adventures, regarding the creation of the rules for commercial 
manta ray viewing procedures. 

Program Specialist Mr. Cliff Inn and Legal Fellow Mr. Todd Teshima from DLNR's DOBOR, 
updated the members on the status of the draft rules, which are currently with the Attorney 
General's (AG's) Office. Once DOBOR receives the rules back from the AG's, they will be 
reviewed by the Board of Land and Natural Resources (BLNR). After that, the rules will 
come before this Board and then go out for public hearings .. 

Chair Borge stated that one concern posed by Mr. Laros was the permitting process. Mr. 
Teshima responded that there are currently 51 commercial permits in the Big Island and the 
rules do not limit or require specific permits as they are "general" commercial permits; 
however, he also noted that no other permits are being issued. 

-

Thirteen buoys are being considered for installation at each site with one buoy dedicated for 
recreational-use at all times. The buoys are part of C.I.P .. (capital improvement projects) 
where authorization for their installation .is required from the State Legislatu re. The rules 
were drafted with the assumption that the buoys are already installed, but they ar:e not; 
therefore, they must be installed before the rules are enforced. However, because it is 
anticipated that the Legislature will_likely be un~ble to provide for the C.I.P. funds this 
session, DLNR will move forward next year with either a funding request or use other funds 
currently available. 

It was mentioned that House Bill 1460 authorizes funds from the Boating Special Fund to be 
used for any day-use mooring buoy system in the State. The Boating Special Fund is only 
for repair and maintenance on existing buoys w:ithout l•egislative authorization. DOBOR 
needs to reinstall existing buoys because new buoys being considered for installation must 
be designed a certain way due to redundancy and to meet certain standards. 

Chair Borge explained that there is an overall business-need for reviewing the limitation on 
the permittees due to the limited natural resources and landscaping where the manta rays 
congregate; there is also a need to put forth the qualifications and specifications for granting 
permits. Mr. Inn added that there appear to be three concerns to address: 1) the timeframe 
to create and formalize the rules; 2) opportunity for growth; and 3) natural resources; all of 
which are currently being reviewed. If the Legislature provides the required funding, the 
estimated timeframe for completion of the rules is late-2019 to early 2020. 

Ms. Albitz questioned whether attrition of the permits will occur as it relates to Section 
13-256-26 (e) (1) (iii), which states that ongoing records showing continuous manta ray 
viewing operations is not required if an operator has initially obtained a permit. In response, 

2 



Mr. Teshima believed the reason this section was written was that once an operator qualifies 
for a permit, he/she would not then be required to continue to qualify; it was not intended for 
a permittee to "sit on a permit" as operators are still required to submit the required 
documentation such as gross receipts, tax information, etc., to renew his/her permit. 

Mr. lko Balanga and Ms. Holly Crane, owners of Anelakai Adventures in Kailua-Kona, 
Hawaii, provided testimony by supporting the "intent" of the rules for the safety of manta 
rays, but oppose the negative impacts on the safety and accessibility of ocean guests and on 
the invasiveness of the manta rays. Anelakai is the only company of the 50+ operating 
companies that has a self-contained, non-motorized light board. 

Concern was conveyed with Anelakai's perceived inability to continue as a small, local 
business providing safe Hawaiian ocean cultural experiences to the people on the 
company's tours largely due to the company utilizing double-hulled, six-man 24-foot canoes. 
The draft rules, as written, are impractical and unsafe for guests especially those who cannot 
otherwise view the mantas because of physical or mental challenges thereby excluding their 
protected class under the American Disabilities Act and Hawaii and Federal civil Rights laws. 

An additional concern is the exclusion of a safe, business model that provides a paddling 
canoe as a light board as well as back-up safety mechanisms for other businesses. 
Mr. Balanga does not agree that it would be safer to moor the company's canoes and swim 
the guests away from its natural security toward a "campfire." 

Mr. Balanga and Ms. Crane requested this Board urge DOBOR to work with their company 
to amend and clarify the rules to allow the company to continue providing unique services to 
protect manta rays and guests. Also requested was that an option in the rules be created to 
allow DLNR discretion to require qualified, proven double-hulled paddling canoes as light 
boards within the viewing zone established at Kaukalaelae Point and/or within a separate 
zone inside Keauhou Bay. Currently, the rules a? written will require Anelakai Adventures to 
"tie off," and put a guide and light board in the water. 

Chair Borge thanked Mr. Balanga and Ms. Crane for attending the meeting today. As 
DOBOR is still refining the rules, additional changes and suggestions may he made until the 
rule proposal is submitted to BLNR. He suggested that specific concerns discussed today 
be put into writing, including the commercial limitation on capacity; he will also encourage all 
stakeholders to continue to provide input to DOBOR 

Second Vice Chair Yamanaka made a motion to send a letter to Mr. Keller Laros of Mana 
Pacific Research Foundation thanking him for his recent inquiry and outlining the discussion 
that transpired at today's Board meeting. Ms. Albitz seconded the motion, and the Board 
members unanimously agreed. 

V. LEGISLATIVE MATTERS 

3 



A. Discussion on House Bill 539, Related to the Small Business Regulatory Review 
Board -Appropriation for staffing, commissioner inter-island travel, and other 
related operating expenses associated with the Small Business Regulatory Review 
Board under the Department of Business, Economic Development and Tourism 

This bill was heard and deferred. A subsequent House Bill 1563 HD1 shows the Board may 
receive "so much as may be necessary for fiscal year 2019 to 2020 and fiscal year 2020 to 
2021." Although no amount is mentioned, the Board needs $12,000+ at a minimum for 
funding the website. 
Mr. Nagasako confirmed that $5,000 was allocated to the Board in fiscal 2018 and he 
acknowledged that there are extra funds for the Board in fiscal 2019 to fund the website. 

Chair Borge noted that there is also Senate Bill 989 that proposes $10,000 for the Board. 
He encouraged individual testimonies from the Board members on the various bills that 
relate to this Board. 

B. Discussion and Action on Senate Bill 1348 Relating to the Small Business 
Regulatory Review Board - Clarifies the intent of the small business regulatory 
review board's powers when reviewing state and county administrative rules that 
impact small business by changing "ordinance" to "rules" when making 
recommendations to the county council or the mayor for appropriate action 

Chair Borge reminded the members that Senate Bill 1348, which makes minor changes by 
clarifying the Board's purview, was heard last year and did not pass. This year, Senator Karl 
Rhoads introduced the bill, which is moving along. Ms. Palcovich attended the bill's hearing 
this morning; it passed with amendments. She will follow-up with the members as to the 
specific amendments that were made after the Committee Report is filed . 

C. Discussion and Action on Governor's Message 559, Submitting for Consideration of 
the Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. Jonathan Shick to the Small Business 
Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2022 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion for the Board to support the gubernatorial nomination of 
Mr. Jonathan Shick to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board. Second Vice Chair 
Yamanaka seconded the motion, and the Board members unanimously agreed. 

VI. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 

A. Update on the Board's Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in Accordance 
with the Board's Powers under Section 201 M-5, HRS: 

1. Discussion and Action on sending Correspondence to State Department Directors to 
Introduce Board Members Assigned as "Discussion Leaders" when Reviewing Hawaii 
Administrative Rules for the State Departments 

Mr. Nakamoto made a motion to submit "introduction letters" from the Board to the newly 
appointed and re-appointed State directors. Vice Chair Cundiff seconded the motion , and 
the Board members unanimously agreed. 

4 



The members welcomed the Board's newly-hired Office Assistant, Ms. Jet'aime Alcos. 

VII. NEXT MEETING - The next meeting is scheduled for Thursday, March 21, 2019, in 
Conference Room 405, 235 South Beretania Street, Leiopapa A Kamehameha 
Building (State Office Tower), Honolulu, Hawaii at 10:00 a.m. 

VIII. ADJOURNMENT - Chair Borge made a motion to adjourn the meeting and Ms. Albitz 
seconded the motion; the meeting adjourned at 11 :43 a.m. 

5 



III. Old Business - After Public Hearing 

A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business 
Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed 
Amendments to HAR Title 18, Chapter 235 
Income Tax Law, promulgated by DoTax, as 
follows: 
a. Section 235-98 Returns; form, verification 

and authentication; time of filing 
b. Section 235-l.14(d) Substantial gainful 

business or occupation; defined 

https://235-1.14


SMALL BUSINESS STATEMENT 
"AFTER" PUBLIC HEARING TO THE 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
(Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), §201 M-3) 

Department or Agency: Department of Taxation (Department) 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: 18-235 

Chapter Name: Income Tax Law 

Contact Person/Title: Jacob Herlitz, Administrative Rules Speciallst 

Phone Number: (808) 587-5334 

E~mail Address: Jacob.L.Herlitz@hawai i.gov Date: February 22, 2019 

Webpage address for draft rules: tax.hawaii.gov/legal/taxlawandrules 

General Description of Proposed Rules: 

The proposed rules amend chapter 18-235, Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR), 
by amending section 18-235-98, HRS, which deals with automatic extension of time to 
file an income tax return. Under existing rules, individual taxpayers receive an automatic 
six-month extension of the deadline to file an income tax return, provided the individual 
meets certain conditions. Corporations, LLCs, partnerships, and other non-individual 
taxpayers are required to file an application to be granted a similar six-month extension. 

Under the proposed rules, corporations, LLCs, partnerships and other non
individual taxpayers would be granted the same automatic six-month extension as 
individuals without being required to file an application first. 

Additionally, the proposed rules clarify how to calculate the properly estimated 
tax liability, which must be paid on the due date prescribed for the filing of the return. 

I. Rule 
Description: 

D New D Repeal [gl Amendment D Compilation 

RECEIVED 
By JetaimeA at 12:20 pm, Feb 22, 2019 

https://tax.hawaii.gov/legal/taxlawandrules
mailto:Jacob.L.Herlitz@hawaii.gov


Small Business Statement After Hearing 
Department of Taxation 
Proposed HAR § 18-235 
February 22, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

V. Please explain how the agency involved small business in the development 
of the proposed rules. 

The Department invited public comment at the public hearing held on December 
10, 2018 but did not dlrectly involve small business in the development of the 
proposed rules. 

VI. If the proposed rule(s) affect small business, and are not exempt as noted 
above, please provide the following information: 

1 . A description of how opinions or comments from affected small 
businesses were solicited. 

The Department invited the general public, including small businesses, to 
provide comments on the proposed rules in its notice of public hearing 
published on the Department's website and in statewide newspapers on 
November 9, 2018. 

2. A summary of the public's and small businesses' comments. 

The Department did not receive any testimony or comments. 

3. A summary of the agency's response to those comments. 

Not applicable. 

4. The number of persons who: 
(i) Attended the public hearings: 0 
(ii) Testified at the hearing: 0 
(iii) Submitted written comments: 0 

5. Was a request made at the hearing to change the proposed rule in a way 
that affected small business? 

No. 



DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Amendments to Chapter 18-235, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

Dated: 

1. Section 18-235-98, Hawaii Administrative 
Rules, is amended to read as follows: 

"§18-235-98 Returns; form, verification and 
authentication, time of filing. (a) [EHtensiono of 
time for filing income tax returns; in general. ] The 
director of taxation may grant a reasonable extension 
of time for filing any return, declaration, statement, 
or other document required under chapter 235, HRS[,] L 

provided that no extension shall be for more than six 
months, except as otherwise provided by statute for 
cases in which exceptional circumstances require 
additional time, including cases of persons who are 
outside the United States. 

[(b) An eHtension only applies to the requesting 
taxpayer. Unless otherwise stated in the statutes, 
these rules, or the e1rtension itself, an e1rtension to 
file a return only applies to the tmcpayer who 
submitted the application. For e1wmple, an ortension 
of time for filing a partnership, estate, trust, or 
real estate mortgage investment conduit return or 
other document does not operate to extend the time for 
filing a return or other document for, as the ease may 
be, any partner, or member of an entity classified as 
a partnership, any beneficiary of the estate or trust, 
or a residual or regular interest holder of a real 
estate mortgage investment conduit. 

(c) Automatic entension of time for filing 
individual income tmr return. Any individual] (b) 
Any taxpayer required to file an income tax return, 
declaration, statement, or other document under 
chapter 235, HRS, is granted an automatic six-month 
extension to file the tax return after the date 
prescribed for filing. The taxpayer need not file an 

RECEIVED I 
By JetaimeA at 12:18 pm, Feb 22, 2019 



application form to request an extension. However, if 
the taxpayer makes a payment of tax, the payment shall 
be submitted with the form prescribed by the 
department. [No signature is required on the 
application.] Automatic extensions [for individual 
taxpayer□) shall be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 

(1) On or before the due date prescribed by the 
statute for the filing of a return, there 
shall have been paid, through refundable 
credits, nonrefundable credits, withholding 
of taxes, estimated tax payments~ or a 
payment [accompanying an application for the 
extension,] submitted with a form prescribed 
by the department, an amount equal to the 
properly estimated tax liability for the 
taxable year; 

(2) The tax return shall be filed within the 
time granted by the automatic extension and 
shall be accompanied by payment of tax shown 
as due on the return to the extent not 
already paid; and 

(3) [The taxpayer is not bound by a court order] 
A court has not ordered the taxpayer to file 
the tax return, declaration, statement, or 
other document to be extended on or before 
the prescribed due date. 

The failure to file a tax return penalty under 
section 231-39(b) (1), HRS, shall not be imposed on any 
return filed on or before the extended due date if 
these conditions are met. However, if the stated 
conditions are not met, the automatic extension shall 
be deemed invalid and penalties and interest shall be 
assessed on the amount of tax owed as if no automatic 
extension had been granted (i.e., the computation of 
penalties under section 231-39(b) (1), HRS, and 
interest under section 231-39(b) (4), HRS, shall relate 
back to the due date prescribed by the statute). 

[(d) Automatic extensions for partnerships, 
estates, trusts, or real estate mortgage investment 
conduits. A partnership or entity classified as a 
partnership, estate, trust, or real estate mortgage 

2 



investment conduit may obtain an automatic six month 
entension. An applioation for an automatic Clftension 
on the form prescribed by the department ftlust be filed 
on or before the date prescribed for the filing of the 
return. }~o signature is required on the application. 
Autoffiatic eutcnsions for partnerships, estates, 
trusts, or real estate mortgage investment conduits 
shall be granted subject to the following conditions: 

(1) On or before the due date prescribed by the 
statute for the filing of a return, there 
shall have been paid, through estifflated tax 
payFRents or a payment accompanying the 
application for the extension, an amount 
equal to the properly estimated tax 
liability for the tauable year. If a 
payment accompanies the application for the 
eMtension, the amount of the payment shall 
be shown on the application; 

(2) The tax return shall be filed within the 
time specified by the automatic extension 
and shall be accompanied by payment of the 
tmc shown as due on the return to the entent 
not already paid; and 

(3) The taxpayer is not bound by a court order 
to file a tau return, declaration, 
statement, or other document to be extended 
on or before the presoribed due date. 

The failure to file a tax return penalty under 
section 231 39(b) (1), HRS, shall not be imposed on any 
return filed on or before the entended due date if 
these conditions are met. However, if the stated 
conditions are not met, the automatic eJctension shall 
be deemed invalid and penalties and interest shall be 
assessed on the amount of tan owed as if no entcnsion 
had been granted (i.e., the computation of penalties 
under section 231 39(b) (1), IIRS, and interest under 
section 231 39 (b) ( 4), HRS, shall relate back to the 
due date prescribed by the statute). 

(cl AutoFRatic entension of time for filing 
corporate income ta1r returns or corporate income tan 
returns for entities classified as a corporation. 

3 



(1) In general. A corporation or entity 
classified as a corporation shall be allowed 
an automatic six month extension of time to 
file its income tax return, declaration, 
statement, or other docume~t. An 
application for an automatic extension on 
the form prescribed by the department must 
be filed on or before the date prescribed 
for the filing of the return. No signature 
is required on the application. Automatic 
extensions for corporations shall be granted 
subject to the following conditions: 
(A) On or before the due date of the return 

prescribed by the statute, there shall 
have been paid, through estimated tax 
payments or a payment accompanying the 
application for the extension, an 
amount equal to the properly estimated 
tax liability for the taxable year. If 
a payment accompanies the application 
for the extension, the amount of the 
payment shall be shown on the 
application; 

(B) The income tax return shall be filed 
within the time specified by the 
automatic extension and shall be 
accmRpanied by payment of the taJE shown 
as due on the return to the extent not 
already paid; and 

(C) The taxpayer is not bound by a court 
order to file a tax return, 
declaration, statement, or other 
document to be etttended on or before 
the prescribed due date. 
The failure to file a ta1c return 

penalty under section 231 39(b) (1), HRS, 
shall not be imposed on any return filed on 
or before the extended due date if these 
conditions arc met. However, if the stated 
conditions are not met, the automatic 
extension shall be deemed invalid and 
penalties and interest shall be assessed on 

4 



the amount of tax owed as if no extension 
had been granted (i.e., the computation of 
penalties under section 231 39 (b) ( 1), HRS, 
and interest under section 231 39(b) (1), 
HRS, shall relate back to the due date 
prescribed by the statute). 

(2) Consolidated returns. If a consolidated 
return is to be filed under section 235 
92(2), HRS, a parent corporation or parent 
entity classified as a corporation may 
request an automatic extension for its 
subsidiaries. In this case, the name, 
address, and employer identification number 
of each member of the affiliated group, for 
which the extension is desired, must be 
listed. The filing of an application for 
extension of time by a parent corporation or 
parent entity classified as a corporation is 
not considered an exercise of the privilege 
of filing a consolidated return. If the 
privilege of filing a consolidated return is 
not exercised, the parent corporation or 
parent entity classified as a corporation 
and members of the affiliated group shall 
attach a copy of the application for 
eJftension to their completed separate income 
tau returns . ] 

[(f) Termination.] J_g__1_ The director of taxation 
may terminate the automatic extension at any time by 
mailing a notice of termination to the taxpayer. [-I-fl
the ease of a corporation or entity classified as a 
corporation, notice of termination shall be mailed to 
the corporation or entity classified as a corporation, 
or to the person who requested the mctension for the 
corporation.] The notice shall be mailed at least ten 
days prior to the termination date designated in the 
notice. 

[(g) Properly estimated tax liability; safe 
harbor.] Js!..L For purposes of this section, "properly 
estimated tax liability" means the [taxpayer made] 
amount that the taxpayer estimates the tax liability 
will be for the taxable year, based on a bona fide and 

5 



reasonable attempt [at the time the extension was 
submitted] as of the due date prescribed for the 
filing of the return to locate and [gather] account 
for all of the [necessary) information necessary to 
make [a proper estimate of tan liability for the 
tanable year.] the estimate. Payment of properly 
estimated tax liability will be presumed if the tax 
still owing after the due date prescribed [by the 
statute] for the filing of [a] the returnL 
(~]determined without regard to any extension[+]L is 
(10 percent] ten per cent or less of the [total] tax 
liability [shown as due] stated on the return. For 
purposes of this subsection, 11 tax liability stated on 
the return" means the amount of tax due before taking 
into account credits and payments. 

[ (h) Time for payment of taR not e,£tended by 
extensions.] J..ti_ Any extension to file an income tax 
return under section 235-98, HRS, shall not extend the 
time for payment of any tax due on the return, but 
shall only extend the time to file the return. 
Interest under section 231-39(b) (4), HRS, shall be 
assessed on any amount of tax that is not paid on or 
before the prescribed due date. 11 [Eff 2/16/82; am 
6/28/93; 1/1/94; 10/13/94; 1/5/98; am 6/4/05; am 
10/06/07; am ] (Auth: HRS §§231-3(9), 231-
39, 235-98, 235-118) (Imp: HRS §§231-39 and 235-98) 

2. Material to be repealed is bracketed and 
stricken. New material is underscored. 

3. These amendments to chapter 18-231, Hawaii 
Administrative Rules, shall take effect ten days after 
filing with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

6 



I certify t hat the foregoing are copies of t h e 
rules, drafted in Ramseyer format pursuant to the 
requirements of section 91-4.1, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, which were adopted on October 9, 1981, and 
filed with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

Director 
Department of Taxation 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Deputy Attorney General 

7 



DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Amendments to Chapter 18-235, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

Dated: 

SUMMARY 

1. §18-235-98 is amended. 

I' 

RECEIVED 

• 

By JetaimeA at 12:18 pm, Feb 22, 2019 



§18-235-98 Returns; form, verification and 
authentication, time of filing. (a) The director of 
taxation may grant a reasonable extension of time for 
filing any return, declaration, statement, or other 
document required under chapter 235, HRS; provided 
that no extension shall be for more than six months, 
except as otherwise provided by statute for cases in 
which exceptional circumstances require additional 
time, including cases of persons who are outside the 
United States. 

(b) Any taxpayer required to file an income tax 
return, declaration, statement, or other document 
under chapter 235, HRS, is granted an automatic six
month extension to file the tax return after the date 
prescribed for filing. The taxpayer need not file an 
application form to request an extension. However, if 
the taxpayer makes a payment of tax, the payment shall 
be submitted with the form prescribed by the 
department. Automatic extensions shall be granted 
subject to the following conditions: 

(l} On or before the due date prescribed by the 
statute for the filing of a return, there 
shall have been paid, through refundable 
credits, nonrefundable credits, withholding 
of taxes, estimated tax payments, or a 
payment submitted with a form prescribed by 
the department, an amount equal to the 
properly estimated tax liability for the 
taxable year; 

(2) The tax return shall be filed within the 
time granted by the automatic extension and 
shall be accompanied by payment of tax shown 
as due on the return to the extent not 
already paid; and 

(3) A court has not ordered the taxpayer to file 
the tax return, declaration, statement, or 
other document to be extended on or before 
the prescribed due date. 

The failure to file a tax return penalty under 
section 231-39(b) (1), HRS, shall not be imposed on any 
return filed on or before the extended due date if 



these conditions are met. However, if the stated 
conditions are not met, the automatic extension shall 
be deemed invalid and penalties and interest shall be 
assessed on the amount of tax owed as if no automatic 
extension had been granted (i.e., the computation of 
penalties under section 231-39(b) (1), HRS, and 
interest under section 231-39(b) (4), HRS, shall relate 
back to the due date prescribed by the statute). 

(c) The director of taxation may terminate the 
automatic extension at any time by mailing a notice of 
termination to the taxpayer. The notice shall be 
mailed at least ten days prior to the termination date 
designated in the notice. 

(d) For purposes of this section, "properly 
estimated tax liability" means the amount that the 
taxpayer estimates the tax liability will be for the 
taxable year, based on a bona fide and reasonable 
attempt as of the due date prescribed for the filing 
of the return to locate and account for all of the 
information necessary to make the estimate. Payment 
of properly estimated tax liability will be presumed 
if the tax still owing after the due date prescribed 
for the filing of the return, determined without 
regard to any extension, is ten per cent or less of 
the tax liability stated on the return. For purposes 
of this subsection, "tax liability stated on the 
return" means the amount of tax due before taking into 
account credits and payments. 

(e) Any extension to file an income tax return 
under section 235-98, HRS, shall not extend the time 
for payment of any tax due on the return, but shall 
only extend the time to file the return. Interest 
under section 231-39(b) (4), HRS, shall be assessed on 
any amount of tax that is not paid on or before the 
prescribed due date." [Eff 2/16/82; am 6/28/93; 
1/1/94; 10/13/94; 1/5/98; am 6/4/05; am 10/06/07; am 

] (Auth: HRS §§231-3(9), 231-39, 235-
98, 235-118) (Imp: HRS §§231-39 and 235-98) 



DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Chapter 18-235, Hawaii Administrative Rules, on 
the Summary Page dated _______ , was adopted on 
_________ , following public hearing held on 
December 10, 2018 after public notice was given in the 
Honolulu Star Advertiser, the Garden Isle, the Maui 
News, West Hawaii Today, and the Hawaii Tribune-Herald 
on November 9, 2018. 

These amendments to chapter 18-235 shall take 
effect ten days after filing with the Office of the 
Lieutenant Governor. 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Deputy Attorney General 

LINDA CHU TAKAYAMA 
Director of Taxation 

APPROVED: 

DAVID Y. IGE 
Governor 
State of Hawaii 

Dated: 

Filed 



SMALL BUSINESS STATEMENT 
"AFTER" PUBLIC HEARING TO THE 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
(Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), §201 M-3) 

Department or Agency: Department of Taxation (Department) 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: 18-235 

Chapter Name: Income Tax Law 

Contact Person/Title: Jacob Herlitz, Administrative Rules Specialist 

Phone Number: (808) 587-5334 

E-mail Address: Jacob.L.Herlitz@hawai i.gov Date: February 22, 2019 

Webpage address for draft rules: tax.hawaii.gov/legal/taxlawandrules 

General Description of Proposed Rules: 

The proposed rules amend chapter 18-235, Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR), 
by amending section 18-235-1 .14, HRS, which defines the term "substantial gainful 
business or occupation." 

Hawaii Tax Law confers certain benefits upon blind, deaf, and totally disabled 
persons such as a higher personal exemption under Income Tax Law and exemptions 
and decreased tax rates for businesses wholly owned by blind, deaf, or totally disabled 
persons under General Excise Tax Law. The terms "blind" and "deaf" are defined with 
specific measurements that can be certified by physicians. The term "person totally 
disabled," by contrast, is defined as "a person who is totally and permanently disabled 
... which results in the person's inability to engage in any substantial gainful business or 
occupation." 

Under current rules, the term "substantial gainful business or occupation" is 
defined under section 18-235-1.14, HAR, with a presumption that any individual whose 
earned income is greater than $30,000 in a taxable year is engaged in a substantial 
gainful business or occupation, and thus is not totally and permanently disabled. Earned 
income is defined to include net earnings from self-employment. 

RECEIVED 
By JetaimeA at 12:21 pm, Feb 22, 2019 

https://18-235-1.14
https://18-235-1.14
https://tax.hawaii.gov/legal/taxlawandrules
mailto:Jacob.L.Herlitz@hawaii.gov


Small Business Statement After Hearing 
Department of Taxation 
Proposed HAR § 18-235 
February 22, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

Under the proposed rules, the definition of earned income is amended to include 
gross earnings from self-employment rather than net, if those gross earnings are 
$60,000 or greater. The rules also specify that all entities shall be disregarded for 
purposes of calculating such gross or net earnings. 

The purpose of the proposed rules is to prevent taxpayers with substantially large 
gross business income from taking large business deductions to reduce net income 
below $30,000 and receive Income and General Excise Tax benefits designed for 
persons and businesses incapable of generating substantial income for themselves due 
to disability. 

I. Rule 
Description: 

D New D Repeal ~ Amendment D Compilation 

V. Please explain how the agency involved small business in the development 
of the proposed rules. 

The Department invited public comment at the public hearing held on December 
10, 2018 but did not directly involve small business in the development of the 
proposed rules. 

VI. If the proposed rule(s) affect small business, and are not exempt as noted 
above, please provide the following information: 

1. A description of how opinions or comments from affected small 
businesses were solicited. 

The Department invited the general public, including small businesses, to 
provide comments on the proposed rules in its notice of public hearing 
published on the Department's website and in statewide newspapers on 
November 9, 2018. 

2. A summary of the public's and small businesses' comments. 

The Department did not receive any testimony or comments. 

3. A summary of the agency's response to those comments. 



Small Business Statement After Hearing 
Department of Taxation 
Proposed HAR §18-235 
February 22, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

Not applicable. 

4. The number of persons who: 
(i) Attended the public hearings: O 
(ii) Testified at the hearing: O 
(iii) Submitted written comments: 0 

5. Was a request made at the hearing to change the proposed rule in a way 
that affected small business? 

No. 



DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Amendments to Chapter 18-235, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

Dated: 

1. Section 18-235-1.14, Hawaii Administrative 
Rules, is amended by amending subsection (d) to read 
as follows: 

"(d) For purposes of this section, earned income 
includes wages, salaries, tips, business interest 
income, other employment compensation, and [He-t
earningo from self employment for the taxable year.] 
gross earnings from self-employment for the taxable 
year unless gross earnings for the taxable year are 
less than $60,000, in which case all net earnings from 
self-employment are included in earned income in lieu 
of gross earnings from self-employment. For purposes 
of this subsection, all entities shall be disregarded. 
Earned income does not include interest, dividends, 
capital gains, pensions, or deferred compensation. 

Example 1: 

Taxpayer retires on disability that is total 
and permanent and receives an insurance 
settlement. Taxpayer does not engage in any 
other employment. The insurance settlement is 
invested and Taxpayer receives $35,000 in 
interest, dividends, and capital gains during the 
taxable year. Taxpayer is not engaged in a 
substantial gainful business or occupation 
because earned income does not include interest, 
dividends, and capital gains. 

Example 2: 

Taxpayer works for wages and receives 
$20,000 in wages for the taxable year. Taxpayer 

RECEIVED I 

By JetaimeA at 12:19 pm, Feb 22, 2019 

https://18-235-1.14


also has net earnings from self-employment of 
$8,000 and gross earnings from self-employment of 
$75,000 for the taxable year. Taxpayer has 
earned income of $95,000 for the taxable year and 
is engaged in a substantial gainful business or 
occupation because earned income includes the 
$20,000 in wages and $75,000 of gross earnings 
from self-employment. 

Example 3: 

Taxpayer has gross earnings from self
employment of $60,000 for the taxable year. 
Taxpayer is engaged in a substantial gainful 
business or occupation because earned income 
includes the $60,000 of gross earnings from self
employment. 

Example 4: 

Taxpayer has gross earnings from self
employment of $59,999 and net earnings from self
employment of $30,000 for the taxable year. 
Taxpayer has earned income of $30,000 for the 
taxable year and is not engaged in a substantial 
gainful business or occupation. TaxRayer's 
earned income includes net earnings from self
employment because gross earnings from sel f
employment are less than $60,000 for the taxable 
year. 

Example 5: 

Taxpayer works for wages and receives 
$10,000 in wages for the taxable year. Taxpayer 
also has gross earnings from self-employment of 
$59,999 and net earnings from self-employment of 
$25,000 for the taxable year. Taxpayer has 
earned income of $35,000 for the taxable year and 
is engaged in a substantial gainful business or 
occupation because earned income includes the 

2 



$10,000 of wages and the $25,000 of net earnings 
from self-employment. 

Example 6: 

Taxpayer has structured her business as a C 
corporation for which she is sole shareholder. 
The corporation has gross earnings of $75,000 for 
the taxable year. Taxpayer earns no wages, but 
the corporation pays taxpayer a dividend of 
$25,000 for the taxable year. Taxpayer has 
earned income of $75,000 for the taxable year and 
is engaged in a substantial gainful business or 
occupation because earned income includes the 
$75,000 of gross income earned by her 
corporation. Entities such as corporations are 
disregarded for purposes of determining 
Taxpayer's earned income." [Eff 2/16/82; am 
9/3/94; am and ren §18-235-1.14 8/28/98; am 

] (Auth: HRS §231-3(9) (Imp: HRS 
§235-1) 

2. Material to be repealed is bracketed and 
stricken. New material is underscored. 

3. These amendments to chapter 18-231, Hawaii 
Administrative Rules, shall take effect ten days after 
filing with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

3 

https://18-235-1.14


I certify that the foregoing are copies of the 
rules, drafted in Ramseyer format pursuant to the 
requirements of section 91-4.1, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, which were adopted on October 9, 1981, and 
filed with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

Director 
Department of Taxation 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Deputy Attorney General 

4 



DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Amendments to Chapter 18-235, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

Dated: 

SUMMARY 

1. §18-235-1.14(d) is amended. 

RECEIVED 
By JetaimeA at 12:19 pm, Feb 22, 2019 



§18-235-1.14 "Substantial gainful business or 
occupation", defined. 

*** 
(d) For purposes of this section, earned income 

includes wages, salaries, tips, business interest 
income, other employment compensation, and gross 
earnings from self-employment for the taxable year 
unless gross earnings for the taxable year are less 
than $60,000, in which case all net earnings from 
self-employment are included in earned income in lieu 
of gross earnings from self-employment. For purposes 
of this subsection, all entities shall be disregarded. 
Earned income does not include interest, dividends, 
capital gains, pensions, or deferred compensation. 

Example 1: 

Taxpayer retires on disability that is total 
and permanent and receives an insurance 
settlement. Taxpayer does not engage in any 
other employment. The insurance settlement is 
invested and Taxpayer receives $35,000 in 
interest, dividends, and capital gains during the 
taxable year. Taxpayer is not engaged in a 
substantial gainful business or occupation 
because earned income does not include interest, 
dividends, and capital gains. 

Example 2: 

Taxpayer works for wages and receives 
$20,000 in wages for the taxable year. Taxpayer 
also has net earnings from self-employment of 
$8,000 and gross earnings from self-employment of 
$75,000 for the taxable year. Taxpayer has 
earned income of $95,000 for the taxable year and 
is engaged in a substantial gainful business or 
occupation because earned income includes the 
$20,000 in wages and $75,000 of gross earnings 
from self-employment. 

https://18-235-1.14


Example 3: 

Taxpayer has gross earnings from self
employment of $60,000 for the taxable year. 
Taxpayer is engaged in a substantial gainful 
business or occupation because earned income 
includes the $60,000 of gross earnings from self
employment. 

Example 4: 

Taxpayer has gross earnings from self
employment of $59,999 and net earnings from self
employment of $30,000 for the taxable year. 
Taxpayer has earned income of $30,000 for the 
taxable year and is not engaged in a substantial 
gainful business or occupation. Taxpayer's 
earned income includes net earnings from self
employment because gross earnings from self
employment are less than $60,000 for the taxable 
year. 

Example 5: 

Taxpayer works for wages and receives 
$10,000 in wages for the taxable year. Taxpayer 
also has gross earnings from self-employment of 
$59,999 and net earnings from self-employment of 
$25,000 for the taxable year. Taxpayer has 
earned income of $35,000 for the taxable year and 
is engaged in a substantial gainful business or 
occupation because earned income includes the 
$10,000 of wages and the $25,000 of net earnings 
from self-employment. 

Example 6: 

Taxpayer has structured her business as a C 
corporation for which she is sole shareholder. 
The corporation has gross earnings of $75,000 for 
the taxable year. Taxpayer earns no wages, but 
the corporation pays taxpayer a dividend of 



$25,000 for the taxable year. Taxpayer has 
earned income of $75,000 for the taxable year and 
is engaged in a substantial gainful business or 
occupation because earned income includes the 
$75,000 of gross income earned by her 
corporation. Entities such as corporations are 
disregarded for purposes of determining 
Taxpayer's earned income. 

*** 
[Eff 2/16/82; am 9/3/94; am and ren §18-235-1.14 
8/28/98; am (Auth: HRS §231-3(9)) 
(Imp: HRS §235-1) 

https://18-235-1.14


DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Chapter 18-235, Hawaii Administrative Rules, on 
the Summary Page dated _______ , was adopted on 

---------, following public hearing held on 
December 10, 2018 after public notice was given in the 
Honolulu Star Advertiser, the Garden Isle, the Maui 
News, West Hawaii Today, and the Hawaii Tribune-Herald 
on November 9, 2018. 

These amendments to chapter 18-235 shall take 
effect ten days after filing with the Office of the 
Lieutenant Governor. 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Deputy Attorney General 

LINDA CHU TAKAYAMA 
Director of Taxation 

APPROVED: 

DAVID Y. IGE 
Governor 
State of Hawaii 

Date d: 

Filed 



III. Old Business 

B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business 
Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed 
Amendments to HAR Title 18, Chapter 237, 
General Excise Tax Law, Section 29.57-01 
Exemption for Intangible Property Used 
Outside the State, promulgated by DoTax 



SMALL BUSINESS STATEMENT 
"AFTER" PUBLIC HEARING TO THE 

SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 
(Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), §201 M-3) 

Department or Agency: Department of Taxation (Department) 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: 18-237 

Chapter Name: General Excise Tax Law 

Contact Person/Title: Jacob Herlitz, Administrative Rules Specialist 

Phone Number: (808) 587-5334 

E-mail Address: Jacob.L.Herlitz@hawaii.gov Date: February 22, 2019 

Webpage address for draft rules: tax.hawaii.gov/legal/taxlawandrules 

General Description of Proposed Rules: 

The proposed rules amend chapter 18-237, Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR), 
by adding a new section 18-237-29.57-01 that defines where intangible property is used 
for purposes of the general excise tax exemption for gross income received from 
intangible property used outside the State under section 237-29.57, HRS. Specifically, 
the proposed rules define where intangible property is used based on whether the 
customer is a business, individual, military, or government. 

I. Rule 
Description: 

D New D Repeal IZI Amendment D Compilation 

V. Please explain how the agency involved small business in the development 
of the proposed rules. 

The Department invited public comment at the public hearing held on December 
10, 2018 but did not directly involve small business in the development of the 
proposed rules. 

RECEIVED 
By JetaimeA at 12:21 pm, Feb 22, 2019 

https://237-29.57
https://tax.hawaii.gov/legal/taxlawandrules
mailto:Jacob.L.Herlitz@hawaii.gov


Small Business Statement After Hearing 
Department of Taxation 
Proposed HAR §18-237 
February 22, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

VI. If the proposed rule(s) affect small business, and are not exempt as noted 
above, please provide the following information: 

1. A description of how opinions or comments from affected small 
businesses were solicited. 

The Department invited the general public, including small businesses, to 
provide comments on the proposed rules in its notice of public hearing 
published on the Department's website and in statewide newspapers on 
November 9, 2018. 

2. A summary of the public's and small businesses' comments. 

The Department did not receive any testimony or comments. 

3. A summary of the agency's response to those comments. 

Not applicable. 

4. The number of persons who: 
(i) Attended the public hearings: O 
(ii) Testified at the hearing: O 
(iii) Submitted written comments: 0 

5. Was a request made at the hearing to change the proposed rule in a way 
that affected small business? 

No. 



DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Amendments to Chapter 18-237, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

Dated: 

1. Chapter 18-237, Hawaii Administrative Rules, 
is amended by add i ng a new sec:t_ion to read as follows: 

"§18-237-29.57-01 Exemption for intangible 
property used outside the State. (a) If intangicle 
property is used both i n and outside of the State, all 
of the va_ue or gross proceeds will be sub7ect to 
general excise tnx in proportion to the benetit 
received ~n the State. Any reasonable method of 
apportion~ng all of the value or gross income may be 
userl; provided that the method is c onsistently used by 
the taxpayer anrl s11pported by verifiable data that 
reasonably quantifies the proportionate be11efiL 
received in the State. 

(b) If the customer is a bcsiness and the 
intangible property is acquired by the customer for 
use in the customer's business activities, the 
intangible property in used where the cusiness 
activities occur. 

(c) If the customer is a bcsiness and the 
intangible property is not acquired by the customer 
for use in the C":l1stomer' s business activities, the 
intanyible property i .s; used wher·e the c:nstorner 's 
principal place of business is located; 

J_~) If the customer is an individual, the 
intangible property is used where the individua l 
resides; 

(e) I f the customer is the military or federal, 
state, or local government, the intangible property is 
used where the benefit of the intangible property is 
received. 

(f) For purposes of t h is section, ttbusiness 
activitiestt means the transactions anrl activities 
engaged in the regular course of trade or business for 

/ 

RECEIVED 
By JetaimeA at 12:20 pm, Feb 22, 2019 



the ultimate purpose of obtaining gains or profits, or 
if the business is a tax-exempt organization, also 
includes the transactions and activities that further 
the exempt purpose of the organization." [Eff 

] (Auth: HRS§§ 231-3(9), 237-8) (Imp: 
HRS §237-29.57) 

2. Material to be repealed is bracketed and 
stricken. New material is underscored. 

3. These amendments to chapter 18-237, Hawaii 
Administrative Rules, shall take effect ten days after 
filing with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

I certify that the foregoing are copies of the 
rules, drafted in Ramseyer format pursuant to the 
requirements of section 91-4.1, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, which were adopted on October 9, 1981, and 
filed with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

Director 
Department of Taxation 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Deputy Attorney General 

2 



DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Amendments to Chapter 18-237, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules 

Dated: 

SUMMARY 

1. New §18-237-29.57-01 is added. 

RECEIVED 
By JetaimeA at 12:20 pm, Feb 22, 2019 

1 

, 



§18-237-29.57-01 Exemption for intangible 
property used outside the State. (a) If intangible 
property is used both in and outside of the State, all 
of the value or gross proceeds will be subject to 
general excise tax in proportion to the benefit 
received in the State. Any reasonable method of 
apportioning all of the value or gross income may be 
used; provided that the method is consistently used by 
the taxpayer and supported by verifiable data that 
reasonably quantifies the proportionate benefit 
received in the State. 

(b) If the customer is a business and the 
intangible property is acquired by the customer for 
use in the customer's business activities, the 
intangible property is used where the business 
activities occur. 

(c) If the customer is a business and the 
intangible property is not acquired by the customer 
for use in the customer's business activities, the 
intangible property is used where the customer's 
principal place of business is located; 

(d) If the customer is an individual, the 
intangible property is used where the individual 
resides; 

(e) If the customer is the military or federal, 
state, or local government, the intangible property is 
used where the benefit of the intangible property is 
received. 

(f) For purposes of this section, "business 
activities" means the transactions and activities 
engaged in the regular course of trade or business for 
the ultimate purpose of obtaining gains or profits, or 
if the business is a tax-exempt organization, also 
includes the transactions and activities that further 
the exempt purpose of the organization. [Eff 

] (Auth: HRS §§ 231-3 (9), 237-8) (Imp: HRS 
§237-29.57) 

2 



DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION 

Chapter 18-237, Hawaii Administrative Rules, on 
the Summary Page dated _______ , was adopted on 

---------, following public hearing held on 
December 10, 2018 after public notice was given in the 
Honolulu Star Advertiser, the Garden Isle, the Maui 
News, West Hawaii Today, and the Hawaii Tribune-Herald 
on November 9, 2018. 

These amendments to chapter 1B-237 shall take 
effect ten days after filing with the Office of the 
Lieutenant Governor. 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Deputy Attorney General 

LINDA CHU TAKAYAMA 
Director of Taxation 

APPROVED: 

DAVID Y. IGE 
Governor 
State of Hawaii 

Dated: 

Filed 

3 



4 



III. Old Business 

C. Discussion and Action on the Small Business 
Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed 
Amendments to HAR Title 11 Chapter 157, 
Examination and Immunization, promulgated 
by DOH 



I 

RECEIVED 
SMALL BUSINESS STATEMENT By JetaimeA at 12:53 pm, Feb 28, 2019 

"AFTER" PUBLIC HEARING TO THE 
SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD 

(Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS), §201 M-3) 

Department or Agency: Hawaii Department of Health 

Administrative Rule Title and Chapter: _T_it_le_1_1_,_c_h_a_p_te_r_1_5_7 __________ _ 

Chapter Name: Examination and Immunization 

Contact PersonfTitle: Sarah Y. Park, M.D., F.A.A.P, Chief, Disease Outbreak Control Division 

Phone Number: 587-6845 
------------------------------

E .. mail Address: sarah.park@doh.hawaii.gov Date: February 27, 2019 

A. To assist the SBRRB in complying with the meeting notice requirement in 
HRS §92-7, please attach a statement of the topic of the proposed rules or 
a general description of the subjects involved. 

B. Are the draft rules available for viewing in person and on the Lieutenant 
Governor's Website purs ..... u_a_n_t_to_ H_R_S___,_,~_9_2-_7_? __________________ ___, 

[l] Yes D No http://health .hawaii.gov/opppd/department-of-health-administrative-
n rlP.~-titlP.- 11 / 

(If "Yes," please provide webpage a ress an w en an w ere rues may e vIewe In person. ease eep 
the proposed rules on this webpage until after the SBRRB meeting.) 

1. Rule Description: D New D Repeal l ✓ I Amendment l ✓ I Compilation 

II. Will the proposed rule(s) affect small business? 

I ✓ I Yes D No (If "No," no need to submit this form.) 

* 11 Affect small business" is defined as "any potential or actual requirement imposed upon a small business .. . 
that will cause a direct and significant economic burden upon a small business, or is directly related to the 
formation , operation, or expansion of a small business." HRS §201 M-1 

* "Small business" is defined as a "for-profit corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited 
partnership, sole proprietorship, or other legal entity that: (1) Is domiciled and authorized to do business in 
Hawaii; (2) Is independently owned and operated; and (3) Employs fewer than one hundred full-time or part
time employees in Hawaii." HRS §201 M-1 

Ill. Is the proposed rule being adopted to implement a statute or ordinance that does 
not require the agency to interpret or describe the requirements of the statute or 
ordinance? 

OYes [l]No 
(If ''Yes" no need to submit this form. E.g., a federally-mandated regulation that does not afford the agency the 

discretion to consider less restrictive alternatives. HRS §201 M-2{d)) 

IV. Is the prlpord rule ~g adopted pursuant to emergency rulemaking? (HRS §201M-2(a)) 

Yes l.\l.JNo 
(If "Yes" no need to submit this form.) 

* * 



Small Business Statement after Public Hearing - Page 2 

V. Please explain how the agency involved small business in the development of the 
proposed rules. 

The proposed rules were developed and reviewed in concert with the School Examination and 
Immunization Requirements Working Group, which comprises representatives from private 
compulsory and post-secondary institutions, the American Academy of Pediatrics-Hawai'i a 

a. Were there any recommendations incorporated into the proposed rules? 
If yes, explain. If not, why not? 

School Examination and Immunization Requirements Working Group member 
organizations emphasized the need for a delayed effective date for the revised 
requirements to ensure that trainin~ materials can be prepared and disseminated well irn 

VI. If the proposed rule(s) affect small business, and are not exempt as noted 
above, please provide the following information: 

1. A description of how opinions or comments from affected small businesses 
were solicited. 

In addition to participation in the School Examination and Immunization Requirements 
Working group, the Hawaii Department of Health conducted public hearings on the 
proposed rules on the following dates and locations: 

"'_I_.. • I _ _, •. I. • . .. l"'lr\ A I"\ 

2. A summary of the public's and small businesses' comments. 

Testimony in support of the HAR 11-157 update was received from both organizations 
representative of larger membership groups as well as individual physicians, allied 
health professionals such as nurses, pharmacists, and pharmacy students and 
concerned individuals. Testimony in support reflected current recognized standard 
,......,._rlin"'II nrrt ....... irv,<"' r'"'l""+n.rl +- imm, IJ""t,i"'7-Hnn T A""+it'V'lol"'\l'H.I i .... nn.n.,•u•·•i.f.i,....n U.lr,r"' .,.._,..,....h,-.rl f,.,..,.r'r, a 
3. A summary of the agency's response to those comments. 

The Hawaii Department of Health's proposed amendments to HAR 11-157 are based on 
credible, science-based information regarding immunizations. Please see the attached 
narrative material for the Department's responses to concerns received. 

n ............. .,...J: .... .,,.,. .S.1...-. ..J:U------- L...--"'-··---- .LL-,, _ _._: ___ ,c 11/\n AA ALI ------L--1 "'- t:"'nnnn =-
4. The number of persons who: 

(i) Attended the public hearing: 259 persons attended the 6 !iJ 

(ii) Testified at the hearing: 122 persons offered oral tes~ 

(iii)Submitted written comments: 708 persons submitted writtea 

5. Was a request made at the hearing to change the proposed rule in a way that 
affected small business? 

(i) If "Yes," was the change adopted? D Yes IZJ No 

(ii) If No, please explain the reason the change was not adopted and the 
problems or negative result of the change. 

As stated in the Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement, 
increased indirect costs associated with enhanced screening and 
recordkeeping may be incurred by some schools and post-secondary schools. 
, .......... t"'"\ .............. """"--- ......... " ...,.,.. .......... __ ..._ ............. ! ..... :--"'-- --·~ : ............. __ ..,.....,,... .............. ,4, ............................. : ............. ,.,1 ••• :"'i.... D 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board/ DBEDT 
Phone: (808) 586-2594 / Email: DBEDT.sbrrb.info@hawaii.gov 

This statement may be found on the SBRRB Website at: 
http://dbedt.hawaii.gov/sbrrb-impact-statements- pre-and-post-public-hearing 

REVISED 09/05/20 I g 



r 

RECEIVED 
By JetaimeA at 12:55 pm, Feb 28, 2019 

~ ~ 

SBRRB HAR 11-157 Post-Hearing Review, p.2, Narrative Responses 

V. Please explain how the agency involved small business in the development of the proposed rules. 

The proposed rules were developed and reviewed in concert with the School Examination and 
Immunization Requirements Working Group, which comprises representatives from private compulsory 
and post-secondary institutions, the American Academy of Pediatrics-Hawai'i Chapter, the Hawai'i 
Association of Independent Schools, and Kaiser Permanente, as well as the Department of Education, 
the Department of Human Services, and Tuberculosis Control, Public Health Nursing, Disease 
Investigation, and lmmu nization Branches of the Department of Hea Ith. The HAR 11-157 update 
process has been extraordinarily long and arduous, requiring HDOH to repeatedly secure stakeholder 
consensus and cooperation from outside agencies. Years of careful, continual work have been 
dedicated to ensure stakeholder consensus, alignment with Hawaii statutory requirements, as well as 
planning/infrastructure for successful implementation and adoption of updated rules. 

a. Were there any recommendations incorporated into the proposed rules? If yes, explain. If 
not, why not? 

School Examination and Immunization Requirements Working Group member organizations emphasized 
the need for a delayed effective date for the revised requirements to ensure that training materials can 
be prepared and disseminated well in advance of the rules 1 effective date. The Department concurred 
with this recommendation and a delayed effective date was incorporated into the proposed rules. 

VI. If the proposed rule(s) affect small business, and are not exempt as noted above, please provide 
the following information: 

1. A description of how opinions or comments from affected small businesses were solicited. 

In addition to participation in the School Examination and Immunization Requirements Working 
group, the Hawaii Department of Health conducted public hearings on the proposed rules on 
the following dates and locations: 
• Oahu - November 1, 2018 
• Maui/Molokai (VCC) - December 14, 2018 
• Lanai - December 18, 2018 
• Hilo/Kana - December 20, 2018 
• Kauai - December 21, 2018 

2. A summary of the public's and small businesses' comments. 

Testimony in support of the HAR 11-157 update was received from both organizations 
representative of larger membership groups as well as individual physicians, allied health 
professionals such as nurses, pharmacists, and pharmacy students and concerned 
individuals. Testimony in support reflected current recognized standard medical practices 
related to immunization. Testimony in opposition was received from concerned individuals 
who disagreed with the need for immunization requirements for childcare, compulsory school, 
and post-secondary school entry and attendance. Individuals also submitted testimony with 
concerns regarding the SBRRB Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement; namely that 



the version of HAR 11-157 presented to the SBRRB in July 2017 differed from the version posted 
for public hearing in November 2018. 

3. A summary of the agency's response to those comments. 

The Hawaii Department of Health's proposed amendments to HAR 11-157 are based on 
credible, science-based information regarding immunizations. Please see the attached narrative 
material for the Department's responses to concerns received. 

Regarding the difference between the version of HAR 11-157 presented to SBRRB in July 2017 
and the version posted for public hearing, the HAR 11-157 sections pertaining to tuberculosis 
(TB) requirements for child care facility, school, and post-secondary school attendance were 
removed or edited to reflect updated TB requirements codified in HAR 11-164.2 (March 17, 
2018). No changes to the immunization requirements were made, and no changes to Small 
Business impact were anticipated because of the removal of TB requirements in HAR 11-157. 
Students, healthcare providers, childcare facilities, schools, and post-secondary schools must 
still comply with the TB requirements now specified in HAR 11-164.2. 

5. Was a request made at the hearing to change the proposed rule in a way that affected small 
business? No. 

If No, please explain the reason the change was not adopted and the problems or negative 
result of the change. 

As stated in the Pre-Public Hearing Small Business Impact Statement, increased indirect costs 
associated with enhanced screening and record keeping may be incurred by some schools and 
post-secondary schools. The Department does not anticipate any increased costs associated 
with compliance to health care providers. In the effort to ameliorate impacts on providers, 
schools, and post-secondary schools, the Department plans to implement a comprehensive 
training initiative to ensure that affected organizations understand the changes to the 
requirements and are able to screen records appropriately. 



HAWAII ADMINISTRATIVE RULES (HAR) 11~157 
RESPONSES TO CONCERNS SUBMITTED IN TESTIMONY 

RECEIVED 
By JetaimeA at 12:55 pm, Feb 28, 2019 

CONCERN: MANDATING VACCINATIONS 

All states require children to be vaccinated against communicable diseases as a condition of school 
attendance. Historically, vaccination requirements were first enacted in 1809 in Massachusetts. In 
Hawaii, state vaccination requirements date back to 1967. The U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly 
upheld vaccination laws and have considered vaccination requirements to be a reasonable exercise of 
state's police power which does not violate an individual's and or parent/guardian's Constitut ional 

protections and rights 1
•
2
•
3

• 

Hawaii Revised Statute (HRS §302A-1162) requires the Department of Health (DOH) to adopt 
Administrative Rules under chapter 91 "relating to immunization, physical examination, and tuberculin 
testing." Specifically, Hawaii State Law mandates the following: 

• HRS §302A-1162 mandates that the immunizations required, and the manner and frequency of 

their administration must conform with recognized standard medical practices 
• HRS §325-32 authorizes the Department of Health to adopt rules pertaining to immunizations: 

o In general, "if a suitable immunizing agent is available for the disease and a need for 

immunization against it exists within the State." 
o In accordance with "the immunization recommendations of the United States 

Department of Health and Human Services, Advisory Committee on Immunization 
Practices, including interim recommendations, as they apply to the list of specific 
vaccines, if any, described in this subsection." 

Sound scientific evidence strongly supports school vaccination entry requirements as effective in 

improving vaccination coverage and reducing rates of vaccine-preventable disease. Mandatory vaccine 

requirements are associated with lower rates of disease due to measles, mumps, Hepatitis A, and 

Haemophilus influenzae (which causes pneumonia, bloodstream infection, and meningitis), as well as 

decreases in hospitalizations for influenza.4 Conversely, nonmedical vaccine refusal has been associated 

with preventable outbreaks of measles, varicella (chickenpox), and pertussis (whooping cough), as well 

as invasive pneumonia, bloodstream infections, and meningitis due to Haemophilus influenzae type b 

and Streptococcus pneumoniae.5 

1 Jacobson v. Massachusetts, 197 U.S., 11 25 5. Ct. 358 (1905) 
2 Zucht v. King, 260 U.S. 174 43 S. Ct. 24 (1922) 
3 Prince v. Massachusetts 321 U.S. 158, 64 S. Ct. 438 (1944) 
4 Community Preventive Services Task Force. Increasing Appropriate Vaccination: Vaccination Requirements for 

Child Core, School, and College Attendance Task Force Finding and Rationale Statement Intervention 
Definition. (2016). 

5 Phadke, V. K., Bednarczyk, R. A., Salmon, D. A. & Omer, S. B. Association Between Vaccine Refusa l and Vaccine
Preventable Diseases in the United States: A Review of Measles and Pertussis. JAMA 315, 1149-58 (2016). 

Page 1 of9 



CONCERN: THE CURRENT SCHEDULE IS MORE THAN ADEQUATE 

Hawaii's pediatric and school entry and attendance requirements (HAR 11-157) were last amended in 

2001. During this 18-year interval, the United States Department of Health and Human Services' 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) has updated the national childhood immunization 

schedule annually, which has resulted in numerous discrepancies between current national standards 

and Hawaii's requirements. 

Health care providers who follow current national recommendations find that patients are being 

excluded from school based on Hawaii's outdated administrative rules. These discrepancies (which 

could be remedied via adoption of updated school entry and attendance requirements) result in 

additional visits to health care providers, loss of work time or wages for parents, and the administration 

and added expense of unnecessary vaccine doses. The proposed amendments conform with current 

national recommendations and update Hawaii's administrative rules to reflect what is already occurring 

in health care provider offices and clinics as standard medical practice and will prevent exclusion from 

school based on outdated minimum age or interval requirements. 

Some of the differences between Hawaii's current requirements and the national standards developed 

by the ACIP include: 

• Because of advancements in vaccine science, standard medical practice now includes 

administration of vaccines protecting children from additional diseases. These "new" vaccines 

currently recommended were not available when the administrative rules were last updated 

Vaccine Year Licensed 
Pneu mococcal conjugate 2000* 
Meningococcal conjugate 2005 
Tdap 2005 
Human papillomavirus (HPV) 2006 

* Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine licensure occurred during 
the administrative rule change process so was not able to be 
included in HAR 11-157 in 2001 

• Some vaccines previously available are now routinely recommended for .§1! children 

Vaccine Year Recommendation Expanded 
Hepatitis A 2006 for all children 

• Vaccination schedules (minimum ages and intervals between doses) have been updated to 

optimize protection conferred by these vaccines 

Vaccine Current HAR 11-157 Schedule Current ACIP Schedule 
Hepatitis B Minimum age for 3rd dose is 6 Minimum age for 3rd dose is 24 weeks 

calendar months 
Hepatitis B Minimum interval between pt and 3rd Minimum interval between 1st and 3rd 

doses is 4 calendar months doses is 16 weeks 
Polio Minimum interval between 3rd and 4th Minimum interval between 3rd and 4th 

doses is 4 weeks doses is 6 months 
Polio No minimum age for 4th dose Minimum age for 4th dose is 4 years 

Page 2 of 9 



References: 
http://health . hawai i .gov/ docd/files/2018/11/HAR-11-15 7 Current Proposed Comparison .pdf 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/ schedules/downloads/child/0-18yrs-child-combined-schedule.pdf 
http://www.immunize.org/timeline/ 

CONCERN: VACCINE SAFETY AND INGREDIENTS IN VACCINES 

Vaccine safety standards are very high given that they a re utilized among healthy persons for the 
prevention rather than treatment of a disease. Vaccines have an excellent safety record and the United 
States' vaccine safety system has been able to effectively detect and characterize rare and serious 
adverse reactions whenever they occur. 

Vaccines, like any medication, can cause both minor and rarely, serious side effects. Such adverse 
events include both true reactions to vaccines and events coincidentally associated with, but not caused 
by, vaccination. Risks from vaccine side effects should be weighed against risks from vaccine
preventable diseases which can cause serious illness, long-term disability, and even death. 

Despite concerns about rare, serious adverse events, the disease-prevention benefits from vaccination 
are much greater than the possible side effects for nearly all vaccine recipients. The only exceptions to 
this are cases in which a person should not be vaccinated because of a serious medical condition like 
cancer, a disease that weakens the immune system, or a severe allergic reaction to a previous vaccine 
dose (e.g., those with contraindications or precautions to vaccination). National standards for pediatric 
vaccination practices have been established and include descriptions of valid contraindications and 
precautions to vaccination. Per HAR 11-157, medical exemptions from the requirements for specific 
vaccines may be granted if a provider certifies that a valid contraindication or precaution exists. 

To ensure that vaccines are potent, sterile, and safe requires the addition of minute amounts of 
chemical additives. Some ingredients, such as aluminum and formaldehyde, are toxic when consumed 
in large quantities. However, they represent no danger in the very small amounts contained in vaccines. 
These ingredients are often found in food or naturally occur in the body in much larger quantities than 
are found in any vaccine. Based on the best available science, it does not appear that vaccine 
ingredients cause any serious adverse events other than the rare, true allergic reaction. 

References: 
Matthew Z. Dudley, Daniel A. Salmon, Neal A. Halsey, et al. The Clinician's Vaccine Safety Resource Guide. Springer 
International Publishing, 2018. 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/parents/parent-guestions.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/parents/vaccine-decision/index.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vac-gen/additives.htm 
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/PDF/rr/rr4512.pdf 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/index.html 
https ://www. h ealthych i Id ren. org/Engl ish/ safety-p rev en ti on/i mm uni za ti o ns/P ages/Vaccine-Safety-The-Facts. aspx 
http://www.immunize.org/safety/ 

Page 3 of 9 



CONCERN: VACCINE EFFICACY AND HERD IMMUNITY 

Vaccines are designed to generate an immune response that will protect the vaccinated individual 
during future exposures to the disease. While no vaccine is 100% effective, the effectiveness of most 
vaccines is high {85% • 95%) and they are the best protection against many serious diseases. Even if 
vaccines do not fully prevent disease, they may prevent a person from developing a moderate or severe 
illness, resulting in hospitalization or death. 

Vaccination not only protects the pe rson receiving the vaccine, but also protects his/her contacts who 
are unable to be vaccinated (e.g., those who are too young to be vaccinated or those with a medical 
contraindication to vaccination such as severe allergy). This concept is called community immunity or 
herd immunity. When a large percentage of the population is vaccinated, the spread of disease is 
limited. This indirectly protects unimmunized individuals (including those who can't be vaccinated and 
those for whom vaccination was not successful). In diseases that spread from person to person, as the 
number of those vaccinated increases, the protective effect of herd immunity increases resulting in less 
transmission of disease. 

Depending on the vaccine, between 1% to 5% of individuals who are vaccinated fail to develop 
immunity. Also, for some vaccines, levels of protection naturally decrease over time. Therefore, since 
no vaccine is 100% effective, even vaccinated individuals can become infected if they are exposed. 
Outbreaks may still occur in highly vaccinated communities, which might be improperly interpreted to 
mean that herd immunity does not work. However, high vaccination coverage helps to limit the size, 
duration and spread of the outbreak. If transmission is interrupted because there are enough 
vaccinated individuals in the population, then everyone, including susceptible vaccinated and 
unvaccinated persons, benefits. 

On a population health level, vaccine efficacy has been demonstrated by dramatic declines in disease 

incidence since vaccine introduction in t he 20th century. In the U.S., most vaccine preventable diseases 
have been reduced by more than 90% and many have been reduced by more than 99%. For children 
born from 1994 - 2013, immunizations are estimated to have prevented 322 million illnesses, 21 million 
hospitalizations, and 732,000 premature deaths. Vaccines have had such a significant impact on the 
reduction of disease morbidity and mortality that they have been named one of public health's greatest 
accomplishments. 

References: 
https://www.fda.gov/Biologi cs BloodVacc i nes/Saf etyAva i I ab ii ity/V acci neSaf ety/ u cm 13 3806. h tm 
https://www.vaccines.gov/basics/work/in dex. html 
h ttps://www. vaccines. gov /ba si cs/work/protection/ind ex. html 
https://www. h istoryofva cci nes. org/ content/ a rti cl es/top-2 0-q u esti ons-a bout-vaccination 
https://www .hi storyofva cci nes. org/ content/he rd-i mm u n ity-0 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/parents/tools/parents-guide/parents-guide-part4.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/flu/professionals/vaccination/effectivenessqa.htm 
https://www.cdc.gov/mumps/outbreaks.html 
https :// a cad em i c. ou p .com/j id/ arti cle/201/ 11/ 1607 /850248 
http://vk.ovg.ox.ac.uk/disease-vaccinated-populations 
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/00056803,htm 
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtm1/mm6019a5.htm 
https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6316a4.htm?s cid=mm6316a4 w 

Page 4 of 9 



• 

CONCERN: ADOPTION OF ACIP RECOMMENDATIONS 

The United States Department of Health and Human Services ACIP is a national group of medical and 
public health experts who develop recommendations on the use of vaccines to control diseases in the 
U.S. The ACIP holds three meetings each year; all meetings are open to the public and have scheduled 
public comment periods. During the meetings, members present findings and discuss vaccine research 
and scientific data related to vaccine effectiveness and safety, clinical trial results; and manufacturer's 
labeling or package insert information. ACIP recommendations serve as guidelines for standard medical 
practice in the U.S. related to immunization. Recommendations are formulated for the purpose of 
reducing the incidence of vaccine preventable diseases in the U.S. and increasing the safe use of 
vaccines. Adherence to the recommendations of the ACIP aligns HAR 11-157 with national standards, 
helping to ensure Hawaii's children are appropriately vaccinated and preventing exclusion from school 
based on outdated minimum age or interval requirements. 

HRS §302A-1162(c) and HRS §325-32(b) authorize the DOH to adopt, amend, or repeal as rules, the 
immunization recommendations of the ACIP, including interim recommendations, as they apply to 
required vaccinations. Adoption and adherence to ACIP recommendations ensures the legislative 
mandate that "immunizations required, and the manner and frequency of their administration, shall 
conform with recognized standard medical practices" (HRS §302A-1162[a]) is met. 

Federal law (18 U.S.C §208) prohibits federal executive branch employees, including Special Government 
Employees (e.g., members of Federal Advisory Committees such as ACIP), from participating in matters 
in which, to their knowledge, they, their spouse, minor child, or organization has a financial interest. For 
detailed information regarding conditions of ACIP membership, please view the Advisory Committee on 
Immunization Practices Policies and Procedures (January 2018) document at: 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/committee/downloads/Policies-Procedures-508.pdf. 

CONCERN: HPV TRANSMISSION IN SCHOOl5 AND H PV VACCINE SAFETY 

Communicability in school setting 

Human Papillomavirus (HPV) infections are so common that nearly all men and women will get at least 
one type of HPV at some point in their lives. About 1 in 4 people are currently infected with HPV in the 
U.S. and about 14 million people, including teens, become infected with HPV each year. 

HPV is spread through direct contact with an infected person. Although transmission occurs most 
frequently with sexual intercourse, it can occur following other types of sexual activity. HPV infection 
can cause 6 different types of cancers. Over 30,000 people in the U.S. each year are affected by a cancer 

caused by HPV infection. 

HPV vaccines work extremely well and can prevent most HPV-related cancers from occurring. Clinical 
trials showed HPV vaccines provided close to 100% protection against precancers. Since the vaccine was 
first recommended in 2006, there has been a significant reduction in HPV infections. In other countries 
such as Australia where there is higher HPV vaccination coverage, HPV vaccine has also reduced the 
number of cases of precancers of the cervix in young women in that country. 

Page 5 of 9 



For HPV vaccine to be most effective, the series should be completed long before any type of sexual 
activity. Studies demonstrate that newly acquired HPV infection occurs soon after onset of sexual 
activity. According to the 2017 Youth Risk Behavior Survey, over 40% of Hawaii's youth become sexually 
active between the 6th and 12th grades. Requiring HPV vaccination for 7th grade attendance will protect 
Hawaii's youth from HPV infection before exposure is likely to occur. 

Requiring HPV vaccine for 7th grade entry and attendance aligns Hawaii's administrative rules with 
current standard medical practice and will increase the percent of children who receive the vaccine, 
resulting in decreased disease transmission, and reduction in the rates of HPV-related cancers. Based on 
the strong evidence of effectiveness found during their review, the Task Force on Community Preventive 
Services* recommended the continued implementation of school vaccination requirements as a means 
of increasing vaccine coverage, thereby reducing disease incidence. 

•The Task Force on Community Preventive Services is an independent, nonfederal, unpaid body, appointed by the Centers for 
Disease Control & Prevention Director, that conducts reviews of scientific literature to make evidence-based recommendations 
for community preventive services. 

References: 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/hpv/index.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/hpv/parents/guestions-answers.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook/hpv.html 
http://ibis.hhdw.org/ibisph-view /guery/result/yrbs/SexEver /Sex Ever HS ST. htm I 
https://www.thecommunityguide.org/sites/default/files/assets/Vaccination-Reguirements-for-Attendance 1.pdf 

HPV vaccine safety 

HPV vaccines are among the most rigorously studied vaccines for safety. HPV vaccine has a reassuring 
safety record that is backed by 10 years of monitoring and research. 

Like any vaccine or medicine, HPV vaccination can cause side effects. Many people who receive HPV 
vaccine have no side effects at all. The most common side effects are mild and include pain, redness, or 
swelling in the arm where the shot was given. Dizziness, fainting, nausea, and headache may also occur. 
Fainting after any vaccine, including HPV vaccine, is more common among adolescents. 

HPV vaccine does not cause HPV infection or cancer. There are no data that suggest getting HPV vaccine 
will have an effect on future fertility for women. In fact, getting vaccinated and protecting against HPV
related cancers and precancers can help women and families avoid treatments (e.g., surgery, 
chemotherapy, and/or radiation) that could cause pregnancy complications or leave someone unable to 
have children. 

References: 
h ttps://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/hpv/index.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/hpv/parents/guestions-answers.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/parents/diseases/teen/hpv.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/va ccin esaf ety/vacci nes/h pv-vacci n e. html 

Page 6 of 9 



CONCERN: MEDICAL EXEMPTION REQUIREMENTS 

According to the ACIP, a vaccine should not be administered when a contraindication is present and in 
general, should be deferred when a precaution is present. However, a vaccination might be indicated in 
the presence of a precaution if the benefit of protection from the vaccine outweighs the risk for an 
adverse reaction. 

HAR §11-157-5 Exemptions, section (a) previously included medical contraindications but not 
precautions. The addition of "precaution" to the medical exemption will allow the student's or child's 
practitioner to use his/her professional judgement to determine whether to vaccinate in the presence of 
a precaution, in conformance with recognized standard medical practices. 

HAR §11-157-5 Exemptions, section (a) has been revised to "{a) Medical exemptions from the 
requirements for specific immunizing agents shall be granted upon certification by a physiciaR 
practitioner in a form or format specified by the department, that a student or child has a stated 
contraindication or precaution to a vaccine, aR iRrn-11:1Rii!atioR is meElicall1,' coRtraiRElicateEI E11:1e to a 
stateEI ca1:1se, for a specific period of time, in conformance with recognized standard medical practices." 

Reference: 
https://www.cdc.gov/va cci nes/hcp/ a ci p-recs/gene ra I-recs/ con tr a indications. p df 

CONCERN: RELIGIOUS EXEMPTIONS 

The State continues to recognize both medical and religious exemptions. The revised religious 
exemption form will be submitted to the Attorney General's Office for review prior to use to ensure 
language is in compliance with HAR §11-157-5 and HRS §302A-1156, §321-11 and §325-34. Per HRS 
§321-11 (22) and §325-34, the parent/guardian must certify that immunizations are not in accordance 
with the religious tenets of his or her established church. A request for religious exemption based on 
objections to specific vaccine(s) will not be accepted [HAR 11-157-5 (bl). 

CONCERN: 

HIPAA 

COMPLIANCE WITH HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT 

(HIPAA) AND FAMILY EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS AND PRIVACY ACT (FER PA) 

Under 45 CFR §164.512(b)(l)(i) of the HIPAA Privacy Rule, covered entities may disclose protected 
health information without authorization to public health authorities that are authorized by law to 
collect information for public health purposes including disease prevention or control (HRS §325-35, 
HAR §11-157-6.3 (a)]. In addition, under 45 CFR §164.512(a), covered entities may disclose protected 
health information to public health authorities if the disclosure is required by law. A specific mandate to 
report is not required for disclosure. 

FERPA 
School and post-secondary school reporting requirements have not been substantively altered or 
amended in the proposed rules. Current school reporting practices in compliance with FER PA 
requirements are sufficient. 

Page 7 of 9 



CONCERN: BARRIER TO PUBLIC EDUCATION 

All states require children to be vaccinated against certain communicable diseases as a condition for 

school and child care attendance. In most instances, as in Hawaii, state school vaccination laws apply to 

both public and private schools with identical immunization and exemption provisions. 

Hawaii's school entry and attendance requirements are designed to protect the health of the public. 
Requiring vaccinations prevents disease outbreaks, which could otherwise result in st udent exclusions or 
school closures. Just as vaccines protect not only the person being vaccinated, but also people around 
them, Hawaii's immunization requirements exist to protect the health of all children so that they may 

attend school. 

References: 
https://www.cdc.gov/phlp/publications/topic/vaccinationlaws.html 
https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/parents/tools/parents-guide/parents-guide-part4.html 

CONCERN: IMPACT ON AND COMMUNICATION WITH CHILD CARE FACILITIES, SCHOOLS, AND POST-SECONDARY 

SCHOOLS 

The proposed amendments to the administrative rules were developed and reviewed in concert with 

the School Examination and Immunization Requirements Working Group, which includes 

representatives from the Hawaii State Department of Education (DOE}, private compulsory and post

secondary institutions, and the Hawaii State Department of Human Services which oversees the 

licensing of child care facilities. Administrative and financial impact of the proposed amendments on 

child care centers and educational institutions was discussed. It was determined that because these 

institutions currently monitor students' compliance with HAR Chapter 11-157 possible indirect costs 

associated with enhanced screening and recordkeeping may be incurred but would not be prohibitive to 

implementation of the revised administrative rules. 

CONCERN: COST BARRIERS 

The proposed amendments were developed and reviewed by the School Examination and Immunization 
Requirements Working Group. In July 2017, members of the Small Business Regulatory Review Board 
unanimously agreed to support the proposal to proceed to public hearing. Through this process, cost 
implications for the following groups were identified: 

Parents/guardians - No financial impact. According to State law, all health insurance policies issued in 
Hawaii must provide health services, including routine immunizations, for children of the insured from 
birth through age five years. The federally funded Vaccines for Children program provides vaccines at 
little to no cost to eligible children through age 18 years. All proposed vaccines are available through this 

program. 

Uninsured adults attending post-secondary school -Some financial impact possible. Depending on 
availability of funds, DOH provides required vaccines to post-secondary schools for administration to 
uninsured students. If state-provided vaccines are not available, post-secondary school students may 

Page 8 of9 



receive vaccination services at Community Health Centers on a sliding fee scale based on their ability to 
pay. 

Healthcare providers - No financial impact. The proposed vaccination requirements are already 
routinely recommended and administered by health care providers. 

Schools -Some financial impact possible. Child care centers, compulsory schools, and post-secondary 
schools already monitor their students' compliance with HAR Chapter 11-157 at first school entrance 
and at attendance in kindergarten, 7th grade, and post-secondary school. Increased indirect costs 
associated with enhanced screening and recordkeeping may be incurred by some child care centers, 
schools and post-secondary schools. 

DOH - Some financial impact will be incurred. The monetary cost to DOH to implement the additional 
requirements has been determined to be approximately $60,000 for the first year to conduct trainings 
for child care centers, schools, post-secondary schools, and health care providers, and develop and 
implement a public education campaign. Thereafter, costs associated with continued training and 
education are estimated at $5,000 annually. 

Page 9 of9 



Rules Amending Title 11 
Hawaii Admin i strative Rules 

May 26, 2017 

JUN 2 3(2ol1 

1. Chapter 157 of.Title 11, Hawaii Administrative 
Rules, entitled "Examination and Immunization" is 
amended and compiled to read as follows: 

§11-157-1 
§11 - 157-2 
§11--:157-3 
§11- 157 - 3.05 
§11-157 - 3.1 
§11- 157-3.2 
§11-157-4 
§11-157-4.1 

§11- 157-5 
§11 - 157-6 
§11 - 157-6.1 
§11-157- 6.2 
§11 - 157-6.3 
§11-157-6.4 

§11-157-7 
§11- 157-7.1 
§11 - 157-8 

"HAWAII ADMINISTRATIVE RULES 

TITLE 11 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH 

CHAPTER 157 

EXAMINATION AND IMMUNIZATION 

Purpose 1 

Definitions 
Immunization 
Documentation of immunizations 
Responsibility 
Tuberculosis examination requirements 
Performance of immunization; records 
Immunization of indigents and other 
persons 
Exemptions 
Repealed 
Health examination requirements 
Provisional attendance 
Notice of exclusion and exclusion 
School and post-secondary school 
reporting and records 
Penalties and remedies 
Suspension and revocation; exclusion 
Severability 

157- 1 



§11-157 - 1 

§11- 157-1 Purpose. The purpose of this chapter 
is to establish immunization requirements and 
immunization and examination requirements for school 
and post-secondary school attendance in the State of 
Hawaii and to provide for the immunization of indigents 
and other high risk individuals. [Eff 11/5/81; am and 
comp 6/17/93; · am and comp 10/23/97; comp 8/27/01; am 
and comp J (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 
321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325- 32)· (Imp: HRS §§302A-901, 
302A-1154 through 302A- 1163, 321-1, 321 - 9, 321-11, 325-
13, 325-32 through 325-38) 

§11- 157 - 2 De£in1tions. As used in this chapter: 
11 Certificate of TB examination" means a dat e d 

report of a tuberculosis examination including the 
information specified in subs e ctions ll-157-3.2(c) to 
(e), on the stationery of a p r actitioner or the form of 
a heaJ.th facility, health department", or school system, 
with the signature of [a] the practitioner or the [a 
unique] stamp or imprinted name of the department of 
health, the practitioner, or the licensed faci lity at 
which the practitioner practices[, or the , depa rtment]. 

"Communi cable tuberculosis" means tuberculosis in 
any form considered by the department to represent a 
risk of being transmitted to other individuals. 

11 Department" means the department of health of the 
State of Hawaii, or any authori zed officer or agent of 
the department[.] of health. 

"Director" means the director of health of the 
State of Hawaii or a duly authorized agent. 

TTEpidemic" means the occurrence in a community or 
region of an illness clearly in excess of normal 
expectancy, as determined by the department. 

"Grace period" means the four day period prior to 
minimum required ages or i ntervals during which an 
immunizatio~ may still be considered valid. 

"Immunization" means the process of administering 
a [specific] vaccine, toxoid, or other substance 
licensed by the United States Food and Drug 

157-2 



§11-157-2 

Administration to promote an immune response, including 
antibody production, in conformance with recognized 
standard medical practices. 

"Immunizing agent" means a vaccine, toxoid, or 
other substance licensed by the United States Food and 
Drug Administration used to increase an individual's 
irnmuni ty to a disease_. 'I'he Mantoux tuberculin test is 
not an immunizing agent. 

11 Mantoux tuberculin test" means an intradermal 
injection of five tuberculin units of Purified Protein 
Derivative (PPD) in 0.1 cc· of sterile diluent, followed 
within forty-eight to seventy-two hours by recording of 
the palpable induration, with a positive reaction being 
10 mm or greater in its transverse diameter. 

"Outbreak" means the occurrence in a community or 
region of an illness clearly in excess of normal 
expectancy, as determined by the department. · 

"Physician 11 means a person licensed to practice 
medicineL(or] osteopathi c medicine, or naturopathic 
medicine in any of the states or territories of the 
United States. A person whose license is on inactive 
status or who is not actively practicing shall not be 
deemed to be a physician for purposes of this chapter. 
Licensure or accr editation in chiropractic, homeopathy, 
acupuncture, or herbal healing do not qualify a person 
as a physician in this chapter. 

11 Post-secondary school" means any [adult education 
school, business school, trade school,] community 
college, college [or]L university, or any school 
enrolling or registering students above the age of 
compulsory school attendance. 

"Practitioner" means a physician, advanced 
practice registered nurse, or physician assistant 
licensed to practice in any of the states or 
territories of the United States. A physician, 
advanced practice registered nurse, or physician 
assistant whose license is on inactive status or who is 
no t actively practicing shall not be deemed to be a 

157-3 



§11-157 - 2 

practitioner for the purposes of this chapter. 
11 Recognized standard medical practices 11 means in 

accordance with the United States Department of Health 
and Human Services', Advisory Committee on 
Immunization Practices (ACIP), General Best Practice 
Guidelines for Immunlzation (April 20, 2017), and 
future amendments that are adopted by the department. 

'"School" means any child care center ( infant and 
toddler child care center, preschool, day care cent~r, 
day nursery, Head Start program, [group child care 
home,] group child care center, or other similar units 
operating under any name), kindergarten, elementary, 
intermediate, middle, or secondary school, but excludes 
after~school programs, family child care homes, parent 
cooperatives, play groups, respite 'programs, group 
child care homes, and drop-in child care centers. All 
schools and post-secondary schools that conduct classes 
and activities exclusively on-line or electronically 
via remote learning are excluded from the requirements 
of this chapter. 

"Student" means any child or adult enrolled in any 
school or any child or adult enrolled in any post
secondary school in the State. Any student enrolled or 
registered with a school or post-secondary school who 
is required to be physically present for any amount of 
time at school or post - secondary school campus or site 
must comply with this chapter. [Eff 11/5/81; am and 
comp 6/17/93; am and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 
8/27/01; am and comp 1 (Auth: HRS 
§§302A- 1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS 
§§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 
321-11, 325-13, 325-32 through 325- 38) 

§11 - 157 - 3 Immunization. J& Immunizations 
against certain [specified] vaccine preventable 
diseases, including minimum spacing between doses, and 
other conditions governing acceptability of 
immunizations, are required as set forth in the 
fol~owing exhibits: 

1.57-4 



§11-157-3 

Exhibit A, ["Guide to Hawaii Pediatric 
Immunization Requirements (July 1, 2002) .] "List 
of Required Vaccinations (July 1, 2018). 11 

Exhibit B, ["Guide to Hawaii Immunization & 
Examination Requ{rements for Schools (July 1, 
2002) .] "General Best Practice Guidelines for 
Immunization; Best Practices Guidance of the 
Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 
(ACIP) (April 20, 2017) . 11 

[Exhibit C, 11 Guide to Hawaii Post-Secondary School 
Immunization & Tuberculosis Examination 
Requirements (July 1, 2002) . 11

] 

(b} The United States Department of Health and 
Human Services 1

, General Best Practice Guidelines for 
Immunization; Best Practices Guidance of the Advisory 
Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) (April 20, 
2017), attached hereto as Exhibit B, are adopted as the 
requirements in the State of Hawaii for minimum age, 
required spacing between doses, and other conditions· 
governing the acceptability of immunizations. Only 
those sections of Exhibit B that pertain to the 
requirements of this chapter, including the specific 
vacGinations listed in Exhibit A, shall apply. 

1.£1. The Exhibits are located at the end of and 
are made a part of this chapter. If an exhibit 
conflicts with this chapter, this chapter shall 
prevail. Implementation of the amendments to this 
section shall occur on (July 1, 2002.] July 1, 2018. 

(d) The director is authorized to suspend 
temporarily or amend any portion of the immunization 
requirements due to ·unforeseen circumstances. 
Affected schools and post- secondary schools will be 
notified in writing of any suspension or amendment. 
The notification will include details of · the suspension 
or amendment, including the suspended or amended 
requirements, the anticipated duration of the 
suspension or amendment, and policies to be implemented 
during the suspension or amendment. [Eff 11/5/01; am 
and comp 6/17/93; am and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 
8/27/01; am and comp ] · (Auth: HRS 
§§302A-1162, 321-9, 321 - 11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS 
§§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 
321- 11, 325-13, 325-32 through 325-38) 

157-5 



§11-157-3.05 

§11-157-3.05 Documentation of immunizations. (a) 
Documentation of immunizations shall indicate the 
department of health or the name of the practitioner 
responsible for administering or reviewing each 
immunization [and]. The documentation shall also bear 
the signature of [i] the practitioner or [a unique] the 
stamp or imprinted name of the department, the 
practitionerL.. or the licensed facility at which the 
practitioner practices. 

(bl Documentation of immunizations shall include 
the complete date (recorded as month/day/year) the 
vaccine was administered. [A record with only the 
month and year of immunization] An immunization record 
without complete dates may be accepted for school or 
post-secondary school attendance if it can be 
determined that each vaccination complied with the 
minimum interval and age requirements. A grace period 
applies.to each minimum age and interval. The grace 
period does not apply to the' minimum interval between 
two doses of injectable or nasally administered live 
virus vaccines. 

(c) Docwnentation of serologic evidence of 
immunity may be substituted for a record of 
immunizations for certain diseases as specified by the 
United States Department of Health and Human Services'r 
Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices in its 
General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization 
(April 20, 2017), attached hereto as Exhibit B. [in 
Exhibit Band Exhibit C.] The documentation shall 
include a laboratory reportL.. [and certification] signed 
by a practi-U.oner.t.. certifying that. the [report provides 
evidence of immunity] student is immune ·to the named 
[disease.] diseases. 

(d) . A signed, documented his.tory of a diagnosis 
of varicella by a practitioner or a signed report by a 
practitioner that the practitioner has reviewed a • 
reported history of varicella infection and has made a 
clinical judgment that the individual is immune to 
varicella [Documentation of a history of varicella 
(chicken pox) signed by a practitioner as specified in 
Exhibit BJ may be substituted for a record of 
immunization with varicella vaccine. 

157-6 



§11 - 157-3. 2 

(e) [Documentation of immunizations and evidence 
of immunity shall be kept with the student's health 
record.) Electronic versions of the documentation of 
immunizations, documentation of serologic evidence of 
immunity, and documentation of a history of var.icella 
(chicken pox), including records maintaine d in the 
Hawaii Immunization Registry, are acceptable provided 
all information required by this section is recorded. 

(fl Documentation of immunizations and evidence 
of immunity shall be maintained by schools and post
secondary schools either as a part of the student 1 s 
health record, other school or post- secondary school 
record, or as part of an electronic record that 
complies with this section. [Eff and comp 8/27/01; am 
and comp (Auth: HRS §§302A- 1162, 
321 - 9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS §§302A-1154 
through 302A-1156, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-
32, 325-33, 325-37) 

§11-157-3 .1 Responsibility. (a) Each person is 
responsible for his or he r own immunizations, except 
that each parent, guardian, or other person who has 
care, custody, or control of a minor, protected person, 
or dependent is responsible for the immunization and 
examination of his or her minor, protected person, or 
dependent. 

(b) Each school and post - secondary school 
principal or administrator shall ensure that his or her 
school only admits students who comply with this 
chapter . [Eff and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; 
comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-ll62, 321 - 9, 
325- 13) (Imp : HRS §§302A- 901, 302A-1154 through 302A-
1163, 321 - 1, 321- 9, 321-11, 325 - 13, 325-32 through 325-
38, 325-71 through 325-84) 

§11 - 157 - 3. 2 Tuberculosis. examination 
requirements. (a) Each student shall be examined for 
infection with tuberculosis by a practitioner or the 

157-7 



§11-157-3.2 

department within the twelve months prior to first 
attending school in Hawaii, except as noted in 
subsection (b). The tuberculosis examination 
requirements for attendance at post-secondary school 
are as provided in chapter 11-164[.] or as those rules 
are amended and renumbered by the department. 

(b) A student first attending school before 
twelve months of age shall obtain and present a 
certificate of TB examination prior to age fourteen 
months or be excluded from school until a certificate 
of TB examination is obtained and presented. 

(c) A certificate of TB examination shall report 
the results of a Mantoux tuberculin test, including the 
dates of administration and reading (recorded as 
month/day/year) and the transverse diameter of 
induration in millimeters, and shall bear the signature 
of the practitioner or [uniq~e] the stamp or imprinted 
name of the department of health, the 
practitioner, or the licensed facility at which the 
practitioner practices[, or the department]. If the 
transverse diameter is equal to or greater than 10 mm., 
the certificate shall also report the result of a chest 
x-ray, including the date and' [location] facility at 
which the x-ray was obtained. If the reader of the x
ray or practitioner cannot determine that the student 
is free from communicable TB, then no certificate shall 
be issued (and the case shall be immediately referred 
to the depa:r:tment of health.], and the reader or 
practitioner shall immediately refer the· case to the 
department as specified in Exhibit. A of chapter 11-156, 
Hawaii Administrative Rules. 

(d) A person providing written documentation, of a 
prior positive Mantoux tuberculin test result which 
includes the signature, stamp, or imprinted name of the 
practitioner or clinic administering the test, the 
dates of administration and reading and the diameter of 
induration in millimeters may have a certificate issued 
based on a chest x-ray without a repeat Mantoux 
tuberculin test, provided that the certificate shall 

157-8 



§11-157 - 4 

contain the required information about the positive 
Mantoux tuberculin test. 

(e) A person with a chest x - ray consistent with 
tuberculosis shall submit to further examination or 
treatment as deemed necessary by the department to 
exclude or treat a diagnosis of communicable, 
tuberculosis before issuance of a valid •rB certificate. 

(f) A certificate of TB examination issued withid 
12 months before first attendance at school in Hawaii 
shall not expire for purposes of school attendance and 
may be used for transfer or attendance at all schools 
and post-secondary schools in Hawaii. 

(g) A certificate of TB examination is required 
for school attendance. Every school and post-secondary 
school shall maintain a copy of each student's 
certificate of TB examination while the student is 
enrolled, shall make that copy available for inspection 
by the department, and shall transmit a copy of the 
certificate together with the student's health record 
to the school or post-secondary school to which a 
student transfers. [Eff and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 
8/27 /01; am and comp ] (Auth: HRS 
§§302A-1162, 321-9, 321 - 11, 325 -13) (Imp: HRS §§302A-
901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321- 1, 321-11, 325 - 71 
through · 325-84) 

§11-157-4 Performance. of immunization; records. 
(a) Any immunization required by these rules shall be 
performed by a practitioner or other medical personnel 
under the direction of a practitioner, or by [the] 
department[.] representatives. The manner and 
frequency of immunization administration shall conform 
with these rules and recognized standard medical 
practices. 

(b) [Records of any examination or immunization 
required by these rules shall be maintaine_d by the 
practitioner or the department and shall be available 
for inspection and copying by the department.] Records 
of any immunizations required by these rules that are 

157-9 



§11-157-4 

not administered in the United States may be accepted 
if reviewed and signed or stamped by a practitioner. 

(c) Documentation of any examination or 
immunization required by these rules shall be 
maintained by the practitioner or the department and 
shall be available for inspection and copying by the 
department. [Eff . 11/ 5/81; am and comp 6/17 /93; am and 
comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp 

] {Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-
11 (22), 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS §§302A-1154, 302A-
1159, 302A-1160, 302A- 1162, 302A- J.163, 321 - 9, 321-11, 
325-13, 325-32, 325-33, 325- 35) 

§11- 157- 4 . l Immunization of indigents and other 
persons . (a) The department shall provide for free 
immunization for the indigent and medica l ly indigent 
for their protection against the diseases required by 
these rules. In this section, "indigent" and 
"medically indigent" have the meanings defined in HRS 
section 325- 38. 

(b) The department may provide for free 
immunization of high r i sk individuals to interrupt 
transmission or limit morbidity from communicable 
diseases, or to protect employees of the department 
from communicable diseases which they may encounter in 
the performance of their duties. [Eff and comp 
1 0/23/97; comp 8/27 /01; comp ] (Auth: 
HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, . 321-11 (22), 325-13, 325-32, 
325-38) (Imp: HRS §§302A-11.58, 325-38) 

§11-157-5 Exemptions. (a) Medical exemptions 
from the requirements for specific immunizing agents 
shall be granted upon certification by a physician [on 
the physician's professional stationery] in a form or 
format specified by the department, that an 
immunization is medically contraindicated due to a 
stated cause, for a specific period of time['. J~ 
conformance with recognized standard medical practices. 
The [original certificate] form shall be provided to 

157- 10 



§11-157 - 6 

the exempt perso_n or parent or guardian. [A copy) 
Copies of the [certificate] form shall be maintained in 
the student's school health record[.] or in the post
secondary school student's record. Issuing physicians 
shall forward a copy of the form to the department. 
Reports of such [certificates) forms in a format 
specified by the department shall also be submitted to 
the department by each school[.] and post-secondary 
school. 

(b) A religious exemption shall be granted to a 
student whose parent, cus.todian, guardian, or other 
person in loco parentis certifies that the person's 
religious beliefs prohibit the practice of 
immunization. Requests for religious exemptions based 
on objections to specific immunizing agents will not be 
granted. Students who have reached the age of majority 
shall apply on their own behalf. The certification 
shall be retained in the student's health record(.] or 
in the post-secondary school student's record. Reports 
of such exemptions in a format specified by the 
department shall be submitted to the department by · each 
school[.) and post-secondary school. 

(c), If at any time, the director determines that 
there is the danger or presence of an outbreak or 
epidemic from any of the communicable diseases for 
which immunization is required under this charter, the 
exemption from immunization ·against such disease shall 
not be recognized and inadequately immunized students 
shall be excluded from school or post-secondary school 
until the director has determined that the presence or 
danger of the outbreak or epidemic no longer exists. 
[Eff 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17/93; am and comp 
10/23/97; a~ and comp 8/27/01; am and comp 

] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 321 -
11 (22), 325-13 1 325 - 32) (Imp: HRS §§302A-1156, 302A-
1157 I 321-1, 321-9 I 321-11, 325-13 r 325-3'2 f 325-3 4 f 
325- 35) 

§11-157-6 REPEALED. [R 10/23/97) 

157-11 



§11-157-6.1 

§11-157-6.1 Health examination requirements. (a) 
Each student shall present a record of his or her 
physical examination by a practitioner as specified in 
subsection (b) before the student first attends 
school.The examination shall occur within 12 months 
before the date of first [ schoo1] attendance [.] at 
school in Hawaii. The record shall be transferred to 
subsequent schools attended by the student, and re
examination is not required. 

(b) Results of the examination shal l be reported 
to the school on a form or i n a format app r oved by the 
department. The report of physical examination shall 
be signed by the practitioner performing the 
examination. 

(c) The report of physical examination shall be 
kept with the student's health record. [Eff and comp 
10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp 

] Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321 - 9, 
321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS §§302A-901, 302A-
1154 through 302A- 1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 
325-32 through 325-38) 

§11 - 157-6. 2 Provisional attendance. (a) A 
student who does not have evidence of all of the 
required immunizations [or a report of physical 
examination] may attend school or post-secondary school 
provisionally upon submitting written evidence from a 
practitioner or the department stating that the student 
is in the process of receiving required immunizations 
[or physical examination]. A student who does not have 
a report of physical examination may attend school 
provisionally upon ·submitting written evidence from a 
practitioner stating that the student is in the process 
of receiving the physical examination. A physical 
examination is not required for post-secondary school 
attendance. An appointment not.ice from a 
practitioner's office or the department shall be 
recognized as written evidence. A student without 
written evidence shall not be allowed to attend school 
or post-secondary school. 

157-12 



§11-157 - 6.2 

(b) [If a preschool or K-12 student does not 
complete the required immunizations or examination 
within three months of the date of provisional entry, 
the school shall notify the parent by dated, written 
notice of exclusion that the student will be excluded 
from the school beginning 30 calendar days after the 
date of the notice.] The provisional attendance period 
shall be no longer than three months after the date of 
provisional attendance to a school and no longer than 
45 days after the date of provisional attendance to a 
post- secondary school. 

(c) [Beginning on the school day 30 calendar days 
atter the date of notice ? f exclus i on, the student 
shall be prohibited from attending school unless and 
until complete documentation covering the required 
immunizations and physical examination is provided to 
the school . ] A student who fails to keep a s cheduled 
appointment with their practitioner or the department 
during the provisional attendance period may attend 
school or post- secondary school only upon submitting a 
new appointment notice from a practitioner's office or 
the department. Failure to keep a scheduled 
appointment or transferring schools or post-secondary 
schools during the provisional attendance period does 
not extend the provisional attendance period past the 
periods listed in subsection (b). 

(d) If all of the required immunizations cannot 
be completed within [three months] the provisional 
attendance period due to the required minimum intervals 
between doses or other medical necessity, the school or 
post-secondary school may extend provisional attendance 
[may be extended] as long as evidence is provided that 
appointments have been made to complete the required 
immunizations. If a student whose provisional 
attendance period has been extended fails to keep a 
scheduled appointment, he -or she shall be excluded from 
school or post- secondary school until evidence that the 
required immunizations have been obtained i s pres ented 
to the school[ . ] or post - secondary school. 

(e) (If a post-secondary school student does not 
complete the required immunizations within 45 days of 

157- 13 



§11- 157 - 6.2 

the date of provisional entry, the school shall exclude 
the student from all school activities until 
documentation that the required immunizations have been 
obtained is provided to the school.] Provisional 
attendance may be suspended by the department when 
there is a danger or presence of an outbreak or 
epidemic from any of the communicable diseases for 
which immunization is required under this chapter until 
the director has determined that the presence or danger 
of the outbreak or epidemic no longer exists. [Eff and 
comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and comp 

] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321 - 9, 
321-11, 325- 13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS §§302A- 1155 through 
302A- 1157, 302A- 1159, 302A-1160, 302A-1162, 321 - 1, 321 -
9, 321-11, 325- 13, 325-32, 325 - 35, 325-36) 

§11-157 - 6.3 [School reporting and records.] 
Notice of exclusion and exclusion. (a) [Each school 
shall report to the department by October 10 and 
January 10 of each y~ar the names of all students who 
have been provisionally admitted, have been excluded 
for failure to comply fully with the immunization or 
examination requirements in this chapter, and who have 
medical or religious exemptions. This report shall 
include the types of immunizations and dose numbers 
which are incomplete for each of these students and 
shall be in a format as specified by the department.] 
If a student does not complete the required 
immunizations or examination within three months of the 
date of provisional attendance, the school shall notify 
the parent by dated, written notice of exclusion that 
the student will be excluded from the school beginning 
30 calendar days after the date of the notice. 

(b) [School and post-secondary school records 
documenting compliance with this chapter shall be made 
available for inspection and copying by the department 
upon request.] Beginning on the school day 30 calendar 
days after the date of notice of exclusion, the school 
shall prohibit the student from attending school until 
complete documentation covering the required 

157-14 



§11-157- 7 

immunizations and physical examination is provided to 
the school. 

(c) If a post-secondary school student does not 
complete the required immunizations within 45 days of 
the date of provisional attendance, the post-secondary 
school shall exclude the student from attending classes 
and all post-secondary school activities until 
documentation that the required immunizat ions have been 
obtained is provided to the post-secondary school. 
[Eff and comp 10/23/97; am and comp 8/27/01; am and 
comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-9, 
321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS §§302A-1155, 302A:;-
1157, 302A-1159, 302A- 1160, 302A-1162, 321-1, 321-9, 
321-11, 325-13, 325-32, 325-35, 325-36) 

§11-157-6.4 School and post-secondary school 
reportin9 and records. (a) Each school shall report 
to the department by October 10th and January 10th of 
each school year the names of all students who have 
been provisionally admitted, who have been excluded for 
failure to comply fully with the immunization or 
examination requirements in this chapter, or who have 
medical or religious exemptions. This report shall 
include the types of immunizations and dose numbers 
which are incomplete for each of these students and 
shall be in a format as specified by the department. 
Each school is required to submit the report even if 
all students have met the immunization and examination 
requirements. 

(bl School and post-secondary school records 
documenting compliance with this chapter shall be made 
available for inspection and copying by the department 
upon request. [Eff and comp ] (Auth: 
HRS §§302A-'1162, 321-9, 321- 11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: 
HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 
321- 9, 321 - 11, 325-13, 325-32 through 325-38) 

§11- 157- 7 Penalties and remedies. Penalties and 
remedies for failure to comply with these rules are 

157-15 



§11-157-7 

provided in sections 321-18, 321-20, 325-14, and 325-
37, HRS. [Eff 11/5/81; am and comp 6/17/93; comp 
10/23/97; comp 8/27/01; comp ] (Auth: 
HRS §§302A-ll62, 321-9, 321-11, 325- 13, 325-32) (Imp: 
HRS §§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 
321-9, 321-11, 321-18, 321-20, 325-13, 325-14, 325-32 
through 325-38, 325-71 through 325-78) 

§11-157-7.1 Suspension and revocation; exclusion. 
(a) Valid [TB certificates,] certificates of TB 
examination, immunization records, physical examination 
records, and certificates of medical or religious 
exemption (collectively 11 documents") may be suspended 
or revoked if a preponderance of the evidence shows 
that a document contains a material inaccuracy, 
misrepresentation, or is fraudulent. 

(b) A [child or] student shall be excluded from 
school or post-secondary school if any document 
required by this chapter is suspended or revoked. 
[E£f an? comp 10/23/97; am.and comp 8/27/01; am and 
comp ] (Auth: HRS §§302A-1162, 321-
9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) {Imp: HRS §§302A-901, 302A-
1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 
325-32 through 325-38) 

§11-157-8 Severahility. If any provision of this 
chapter, or its application to any person or 
circumstance, is held invalid, the application of such 
provision to other persons or circumstances, and the 
remainder of this chapter, shall not be affected 
thereby." [Eff 11/5/81; comp 6/17/93; comp 10/23/97; 
comp 0/27/01; comp J . (Auth: HRS 
§§302A-1162, 321-9, 321-11, 325-13, 325-32) (Imp: HRS 
§§302A-901, 302A-1154 through 302A-1163, 321-1, 321-9, 
321-11, 325-13, 325-32 through 325-38, 325-71 through 
325-78) 

2. Material, except source notes, to be repealed 
is bracketed. New material is underscored. 

157-16 



3. Addition~ to update source notes to reflect 
these amendments and compilation are not underscored. 

4. These amendments to and compilation of chapter 
11-157, Hawaii Administrative Rules, shall take effect 
ten days after filing with the Office of the Lieutenant 
Governor; provided that the implementation of the 
amendments to section 11- 157-3 shall take effect on 
July 1, 2018. 

I certify that the foregoing are copies of the 
rules, drafted in the Ramseyer format pursuant to the 
requirements of section 91-4.1, Hawaii Revised 
Statutes, which were adopted on and filed 
with the Office of the Lieutenant Governor. 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Virginia Pressler, M.D. 
Director of Health 

Deputy Attorney General 



Exhibit A 
List of Required Vaccinations 

(July 1, 2018) 

Hawaii law a1Iows the Director of Health, in consultation with the State Epidemiologist, to 
adopt, amend or.appeal as rules, the immunization recommendations of the United States 
Department of Health and Human Services, Advisory Committee· on Immunization Practices, 
including interim recommendations, as they apply to the listed vaccines indicated below. The 
United States Depaiiment of Health and Human Services' Advisory Committee on 
Immunization Practices' General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization (April 20, 
2017), attached as Exhibit B, is adopted as the requirements in the State of Hawaii for 
minimum age, required spacing between doses, and other conditions governing the 
acceptabiWy of immunizations for these listed vaccines. 

Table 1-List of Pediatric Vaccinations Required for Children in the 
State of Hawaii* 

DTaP !Diphtheria-Tetanus-a cellular Pe1tussis] 

llaemovhilus in{lueuzae type b (Hib) 
Hcpatltis A 

Hepatitis B 

Influenza 

MMR [Measles (Rubeola)-Mumps-Rubella] 

Pneumococcal Coniueate Vaccil1e (PCV) 

Polio (JPV [Inactivnted Poliovirus Vaccine]) 

Rotavirus 

Varicella ( chickenpox) 
"'The immunizations specified in Table 1 are requii'ed for children born in Hawaii after January 
1, 1998, and all children 60111 elsewhere after January 1, 1998 who become residents of Hawaii. 
Hawaii-born children are required to receive thes~ immunizations within twenty-four months of 
their date of birth, and children born elsewhere who become residents are required to receive 
them within two years of first residence, unless medically contraindicated, 

Table 2-List of Vaccinations Required for Child-Care Center 
Attendance 

DTaP [Diplttherin-Tctauus-iicelluhu l'ertussis] or DTI~ {Diphtheria-Tetanus-
Pertussis] 

Haemopltilus injluenzae type b (}lib) 
Hepatitis A 

Hepatitis B 

MMR [Measles (Rubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 

Pneumococcal Conju~ate Vaccine (PCV) 

Polio (JPV [Inactivnted Poliovirus Vaccine] or OPV [Oral Poliovirus Vaccine]) 

Varicella (chickenpox) 



Exhibit A-List of Required Vaccinations p. 2 

Table 3 - List of Vaccinations Required for Kindergarten- 12th Grade 
Attendance 

DTaP [Diphthcria-Tetanus-acellular Pertussis] or DTP [Diphthcria-Tctrnus-
Pcrtussisl 

Hepatitis A 

Hepatitis B 

HPVt [Human Papillomavirus Vaccine] 

MCVf [Meningococcal Conjugnfo Vaccine] 

MMll rMeasles (RubeolH)-Mumps-Rubelhtl 

Polio (IPV [Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine] or OPV [Oral Poliovirns Vaccine]) 

Tdap i" [Tetnnus-diphtherin-accllular pertussis] 

Varicellii (chickenpox) 
tOnly required for students first entering a Hawaii school in 7th grade Qr higher. 

Table 4 - List of Vaccinatious Required for 7 th Grade Attendancei 

HPV (Human Papillomavirns Vaccine] 

MCV [Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 

Tdap [Tetnnus-diphthcria-acellular pertussis] 
tln addition to meeting the K-12 Immunization Requirements upon first school attendance listed 
in Table 3, all students must show evidence ofreceiving these immunizations prior to 7th grade 
attendance. 

Table 5- List of Vaccinations Required for Post-Secondary School 
Attendance 

MCV** [Meningococcal Conjugate Vaccine] 

MMR'I [Measles (Rubeola)-Mumps-Rubellal 

Tdap [Tetanus-diphthel'ia-ncellular pertussis) 

Varicella (chickenpox) 
w•First-year students living in on-campus housing only. 
1Students born prior to 1957 are exempt from the M:tvlR vaccination requirement. 



Exhibit B 

•••••.-•••••••• .. ••••••~••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••♦H<♦•<•♦••••••••• .. ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• •••••••••••o.••••••••• ••••• .. •••••••• • • • • •••••••••• •• .. ••• •I 

General Best Practice Guidelines for 

Immunization 
•••••••n♦•••••••••••••••••••••••••• .. ••••Hu•• •••••H•••n•••••••••n•••••••••• ••••••••••••••••••-•-••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••H••••••••••••••••••••••••••• •oe•••••••-••••••• •••• • • •••••••• •••••••••• ••••••••• 

Best Practices Guidance of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP) 

!(roger AT:, Duchin J) Vazquez M 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization 
Kroger AT, DuchinJ, V~zquez M. Genernl !lest Practice Guldellnes for lmmunllatl□n. Dest Practices Guidance of the Advisory 

Committee on lmmunl,atfon Practices [ACIP). Https:/Jwww.cdc,gov/vacclnes/hcp/aclp-recs/gcncral-rccs/downloads/general-

recs.pelf. Acc<!sscd on April 20, 2017, 

1 



•••••••••••••••••••••-••••••• .. •••••••••••••••••-••••••••••• ••• .. ••• .. •••••u•••••••••••••••••• .. •••• ••••••••••••••••H•••••••• •••••••••n•••••••-•••••••••--•••••••••••• .. •••••••••••••••••••• •••••-•••••• •••••••••n•• 

General Best Practice Guidelines for 

Immunization 
-••• .. •••••••••••••••••••••H•-••••••• .. ••••••-•••••••••••••••••••••"'••••••••••••••H••• .. ••• .. •••••••••••••••••••••••••••• .. •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• •••♦<oouo•-•••• ••••••••••••••••• .. •••••••••••-••••••••••••• 

Best Practices Guic;lance of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP) 

!(roger AT, Duchin J, Vazquez M 

1. Introduction 

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends routine vaccination 

to prevent 17 vaccine-prevent~ble diseases that occur in infants, children, adolescents, 

or adults. This report provides information for clinicians and other health care providers 

about concerns that commonly ·arise when vaccinating persons of various ages. 

Providers and patients must navigate numerous issues, such as the timing of each dose, 

screening for contraindications and precautions, the number of vaccines to be 

administered, the educational needs of patients and parents, and interpreting and 

responding to adverse events. Vaccination providers help patients understand the 

substantial body of (occasionally conflicting) information about vaccination. 

This vaccination best practice guidance is intended for clinicians and other health care 

providers who vaccinate patients in varied settings, including hospitals, proyider offices, 

pharmacies, schools, community health centers, and public health clinics. The updated 

guidelines include 1) new information on simultaneous vaccination and febrile seizures; 

2) enhancement of the definition of a "precaution" to include any condition that might 

2 



confuse diagnostic accuracy; 3) confirmation that if a patient is not acutely moderately 

or severely ill, vaccination during hospitalization is a best practice; 4) more descriptive 

characterization of anaphylactic allergy; 5) incorporation of protocols for management 

of anaphylactic allergy; 6) allowances for alternate route (subcutaneous instead of 

intramuscular) for hepatitis A vaccination; 7) an age cutoff of 12 years through 17 years 

of age for validating a dose of intra dermal influenza vaccine; 8) deletion of much of the 

content from storage and handling, including storage units, temperature monitoring, 

and expiration dates (because this content is now codified and continually updated in 

the CDC's Vaccine Storage and Handling Toolldt, available at 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/too1kit/default.htm.); 9) incorporation of 

Infe~tious Diseases Society of America guidance on vaccination of persons with altered 

immunocompetence; 10) timing of intramuscular adrr:inistration in patients with 

bleeding disorders; 11) updated data on vaccination record policy; 12) additional 

impacts of the Affordable Care Act (1)2) on adult vaccination; and 13) updated 

programmatic contact information on somce material for vaccine information. 

The guidance is organized in the following 10 documents: 1) Timing and Spacing of 

Immunobiologics; 2) Contraindications and Precautions; 3) Preventing and Managing 

Adverse Reactions; 4) Vaccine Administration; 5) Storage and Handling of 

Immunobiologics; 6) Altered Immunocompetence; 7) Special Situations; 8) Vaccination 

Records; 9) Vaccination Programs; and 10) Vacc:ine Information Sources. A glossary 

follows (see Appendix 1: Glossa1y). 

This report will help vaccination providers to assess vaccine benefits and risks, use 

recommended administration practices, understand the most effective strategies for 

ensuring thatvacc:ination coverage in the population remains high, and communicate 

the importance of vaccination to reduce the effects of vaccine-preventable disease. These 

best practice guidelines are intended for use in the United States; vaccine availability, 

use, and epidemiologic circumstances might differ in other countries and might warrant 

different guidance. 

3 



4 



REFERENCES 

1, The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act> Pub. L. No. 111-1~8 (2010). 

2. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Read the law: the Affordable 

Care Act, section by section. 2015; https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/ab01it

the-law/read-the-lavy/i~dex.html. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 

5 



2. Methods 

The Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) General Recommendations 

Work Group (GRWG) reviews the evidence for best practices regarding immunization 

and releases updated guidance eve1y 3 to 5 years (see Appendix 2: Membership). Work 

group members are required to report conflicts of interests. Conflict of interest 

information for those individuals who must report is available upon request to the 

corresponding author. Relevant topics are those identified by ACIP as topics related to 

all vaccines, including timing and spacing of doses, vaccine adminish·ation, and vaccine 

storage and handling. New topics are added when ACIP decides previous ACIP good 

practice statements on general issues (such as combination vaccines, adolescent 

vaccination, or adult vaccination) should be revised and incorporated into the General 

Best Practice Guidelines fo7' I mmun izat-ion. 

The best practice guidelines in this report update the previous ACIP General 

Recommendations on Immunization (1) and are based both on review and analysis of 

available scientific evidence and on expert opinion of the diverse group of health-care 

providers and public health officials who are members of GRWG. This group includes 

professionals from academic medicine (pediatrics, family practice, and pharmacy); 

intemational (Canada), federal, and state public health professionals; and a member 

from the nongovernmental Immunization Action Coalition (see Appendix 2: 

Membership). This revision involved consensus-building based on new evidence from 

the published literature and opinion from subgroups of subject matter experts consulted 

on specific topics . 

. The process by which the guidelines were drafted varied for each document; each 

document is therefore discussed individually below. ACIP voted to accept the proposed 

guidance in October 2014; for additional information, see 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/meetings/meetings-info.htrnl. 

Genera I Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods G 



Timing and Spacing of Im1nunobiologics 

GRWG met monthly beginning in Janna.Ty 2011, and formed a subgroup to focus on 

review of guidelines around administration of simultaneous vaccination and febrile 

seizures. Meetings were held in April, May, and June 2011 to discuss the evidence. Other 

issues related to timing and spacing of vaccinations were discussed between February 

2012 and September 2014 over 7 meetings (in Februa1y 2012, June 2012, August 2012, 

November 2012, January 2013, January 2014, May 2014, and September 2014). The 

evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by 

consensus. Presentations of the evidence were made to AClP in June 2011, October 

2011, and February 2013. Major changes include 1) guidance for simultaneous 

vaccination in the context of a risk for febrile seizures and 2) clarification of the use of 

the grace period between doses of the measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella vaccine 

(MMRV). 

Contraindications and Precautions 

GRWG met monthly and focused on revisions to the Contraindications and ~recautions 

section beginning in January 2012, over 6 meetings (January 2012, February 2012, June 

2012, August 2012, November, 2012, December 2012, and January 2013; see . 

.htt,p://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/acip/meeti~gs/meetings-info.html). The evidence 

supporting this document is based on a review of the published literature. Publications 

about vaccination during surgery, hospitalization, and anesthesia were obtained from 

the databases PubMed and MDConsult, searched from 1973 to 2014 using the MeSH 

(medical subject headings) terms "anesthesia" and "immunization". The search and 

selection of studies was limited to English-language and human studies. The search and 

selection process yielded 20 publications, including review articles, observational 

studies, and letters to the editor. Presentations of proposed best practices were made to 

ACIP in February 2013 and a vote from ACIP affirming the language below was made in 

October 2014. Major changes include 1) enhancement of the definition of a "precaution" 

to include any condition that might confnse diagnostic accuracy and 2) guidance to 

vaccinate during a hospitalization if a patient is not acutely moderately or severely ill. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 7 



Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 

GRWG met monthly and focused on revisions to the Preventing and Managing Adverse 

Reactions section beginning in April 2013, following revision to the document by the 

Allergy Subgroup. Selected members from this subgroup participated in the April 2013 

main work group call. GRWG then met again in May 2013. The evidence supporting this 

document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. Presentations of 

proposed guidance were made to ACIP in June 2013, and a vote from ACIP affirming the 

language below was made in October 2014. Major changes included 1) more descriptive 

characterization of anaphylactic allergy and 2) incorporation of protocols for managing 

adverse reactions. ACIP voted to accept the proposed statement in October 2014. 

Vaccine Administration 

GRWG met monthly beginning in May 2013 to discuss Vaccine Administration and met 

for 4 additional meetings (July 2013, August 2013, December ~013 and September 

2014). The evidence supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at 

by consensus. Presentations of the proposed guidance were made to ACIP in October 

2013, and a vote from ACIP affirming the language below was made in October 2014. 

Major changes from 2011 include 1) allowances for alternate administration route 

(subcutaneous instead of intramuscular) for hepatitis A vaccine and 2) an age cutoff of 

12 years through 17 years of age for validating a dose of intradermal influenza vaccine if 

given in error. ACIP voted to accept the proposed statement in October 20:uj .. 

Storage and Handling of Immnnobiologics 

GRWG met in December 2013 to discuss Storage and Handling of Immunobiologics and 

met one additional time in· ,January 2014. The evidence suppo1ting this document is 

based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. A presentation of proposed 

language was made to ACIP in February 2014, and a vote from ACIP approving the 

language below was made in October 2014. Most of the 201.1 language was removed 

because this content is now codified and continually updated in the CDC's Vaccine 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 8 



Storage and Handling Toolkit, available at 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/storage/toolkit/default.htm. This content included Storage 

Units, Monitoring Storage Temperature, Vaccine Inventory, and Vaccine Transport. 

Altered Immunocompetence 

GRWG met twice in March and April ~014 to discuss best practices guidance· for Altered 

Immunocompetence. This section incorporates-general content from the Infectious 

Diseases Society of America (IDSA) policy statement 2013 JDSA Clinical Practice 

Guideline for Vaccination of the Immunocompromi.sedHosi" (2), to which CDC 

provided input in November 2011. The evidence supporting this document is based on 

expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP voted to accept this proposed 

statement in June 2015, 

Special Situations 

GRWG met in April 2012 and then in 4 follow-up meetings in May, August, and 

November 2012, and January 2013. A focai point of discussion involved best practices 

guidance for intramuscular administration of persons with increased bleed~ng risk. 

Subject matter expe1ts from the National Center for Birth Defects and Developmental 

Disabilities (NCBDDD) were invited'to a work group meeting, and revisions to the 

guidance involving the timing of intramuscular administration were made in 

collaboration with these subject matter experts, primarily to ensure that ACIP's best ' 

practices guidance does not conflict with NCBDDD recommendations regarding the 

timing of clotting factor deficiency replacement. The evidence supporting this document 

is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. 

GRWG presented the Special Situations section to ACIP in Februa1y 2013. ACIP voted to 

acc~pt the proposed statement jn June 2015. 

Vaccination Records 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 9 



GRWG met in August and September 2013, and presented the vaccination records 

language to ACIP in October 2013. The evidence supporting this document is based on 

expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP voted to accept this proposed best 

practices guidance in June 2015. 

Vaccinatio:i:i Programs 

GRWG met in April 2014. The major revision to this section is the addition of language 

related to Affordable Care Act (3,4) coverage of adult vaccination. The evidence 

supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. 

GRWGpresented this section to.ACIP in June 2014. ACIP voted to accept this prnposed 

statement in June 2015. 

Vaccination Inforination Sources 

GRWG met in September 2014 and presented this section to ACIP. The evidence 

supporting this document is based on expert opinion and arrived at by consensus. ACIP 

voted to accept this proposed statement in June 2015. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 10 



REFERENCES 

1. Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General 

recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advismy 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011:1-

60. 

2. Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for 

vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 

20H;s8(3):e44-100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 

3. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No. 111-148 (2010). 

4. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Read the law: the Affordable 

Care Act, section by section. 2015; https://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/about

the-law/read-the-law/index.html. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Methods 11 



3. Timing and Spacing of Immunobiologics 

Updates 

Maj cir changes to the best practice guidance for timing and spacing of immunobiologics 

include 1) guidance for simultaneous vaccination in the context of a risk for febrile 

seizures and 2) clarification of the use of the grace period between doses of MMRV. 

General Principles for Vaccine Scheduling 

Optimal response to a vaccine depends on multiple factors, including the type of 

vaccine, age of the recipient, and immune status of the recipient. Recommendations for 

the age at which vaccines are administered are influenced by age-specific risks for 

disease, age-specific risks for complications, age-specific responses to vaccination, and 

potential interfere~ce with the immune response by passively transferred maternal 

antibodies. Vaccines are generally recommended for members of the youngest age group 

at risk for experiencing the disease for which vaccine efficacy and safety have been 

demonstrated. 

Tetanus and diphtheria toxoids require booster doses to maintain protective antibody 

concentrations (1). U nconjugated polysaccharide vaccines do not induce T-cell memory, 

and additional doses (although they elicit the same or a lower antibody concentration) 

might increase the duration of protection. Conjugation with a protein carrier improves . 

the effectiveness of polysaccharide vaccines by inducing T-lymphocyte- dependent 

immunologic function (2). Many vaccines that stimulate both cell-mediat~d immunity . 

and neutralizing antibodies (e.g., live, attenuated virus vaccines) can usually induce 

prolonged immunity, even if antibody titers decline over time (3). Subsequent exposure 

to such viruses usually results in a rapid anamn~stic antibody response without viremia, 

Approximately 90%-95% of recipients of a single dose of certain live vaccines 

administered by injection at the recommended age (i.e., measles, rubella, and yellow 

fever vaccines) develop protective antibodies, generally within 14 days of the dose. For 

vadcella and mumps vaccines, 80%-85% ofvaccinees are protected after a single dose. 

However, because a limited proportion (5%-20%) of measles, mumps, and rubella 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmunizatlon: Timing and Spacing of lmmunoblologics 12 



(MMR) or varicella vaccinees fail to respond to 1 dose, a second dose is recommended to 

provide another opportunity to develop immunity (4). Of those who do not respond to 

the first dose of the measles component of MMR or varicella vaccine, 97%-99% respond 

to a second dose (5,6). 

The Recommended Immunization Schedulesfo7' Persons Aged o Thmugh 18 Years and 

the Recommended Adult-Immunization Schedule are revised annually. Physicians and 

other health-care providers should ensure that they are following the most up-to-date 

schedules, which are available from CDC at 

http://www.cdc.gov/yaccines/schedules/hcp/index.html. 

Spacing of Multiple Doses of the San1e Antigen 

Vaccination providers should adhere to recommended vaccination schedules (Table 3-

,1). Administration at recommended ages and in accordance with recommended 

intervals between doses of multidbse antigens provides optimal protection. 

Administration of doses of a multidose vaccine using intervals that are shorter than 

recommended might be necessary in certain circumstances, such as impending 

international travel or when a person is behind schedule on vaccinations but needs 

rapid protection. In these situations, an accelerated schedule can be implemented using 

intervals between doses that are shorter than intervals recommended for routine 

vaccination (7). The accelerated or minimum intervals and ages for scheduling catch-up 

vaccinations are available at http://wwvf.cdc.gov/vaccines/schedules/hcp/index.html . 

VacGine doses should not be administered at intervals less than these minimum 

intervals or at an age that is younger than the minimum age. *(a) 

Before administering a vaccine dose, providers might need to verify that all previous 

doses were administered after the minimum age and in accordance with·minimum 

intervals (Table 3-1). In clinical practice, vaccine doses occasionally are administered at 

intervals less than the minimum interval or at ages younger than the minimum age. 

Doses administered too close together or at too young an age can lead to a suboptimal 

immune response. I-Iowever, administering a dose a few days earlier than the minimum 

interval or age is unlikely to have a substantially negative effect on the immune response 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologlcs 13 



ta that dose. Known as the "grace period", vaccine doses administered s:4 days before 

the minimum interval or age are considered valid; however, local or state mandates 

might supersede this 4-day guideline (7) ,Cbl (Day 1 is the day before the day that marks 

the minimum age or minimum interval for a vaccine:) The scenario most applicable to 

the grace period is a visit to a provider several days prior to the date indicated by the 

minimum interval, such as for a mild illness. Follow-up is unlikely soon after or even for 

a longer period of time following this mild illness visit; this therefore raises the question 

of whether vaccines be administered during the mild illness visit to avoid missed 

opp~rtunities to vaccinate. Because of the unique schedule for rabies vaccine, the 4-day 

guideline does not apply to this vaccine (JD. Doses of any vaccine administered ;:;,:5 days 

earlier than the minimum interval or age should not be counted as valid doses and 

should be repeated as age appropriate. The repeat dose should be spaced after the 

invalid dose by the recommended minimum interval (Table 3-1). For example, if the 

first and second doses of Haemophilus injluenzae type b (Hib) were administered only 

14 days apart, the second dose would be invalid and need to be repeated because the 

minimum interval from dose l to dose 2 is 4 weeks. The repeat dose should be 

administered ;;,:4 weeks after the invalid dose (in this case, the.second) (7). The repeat 

dose is counted as the valid second dose. If the first and second doses of hepatitis A 

vaccine were administered less than 6 months apart, the second dose is invalid and 

should be repeated 6 months after the invalid second dose (7). However, if this repeat 

dose (the third dose) is administered anytime 6 months or more after the first dose, the 

series can be considered complete. 

If the first dose in a series is given ;;,:5 days before the recommended minimum age, the 

dose should be repeated on or after the date when the child reaches at least the 

minimum age (7). If the vaccine is a live vaccine, ensuring that a minimum interval of 28 

days has elapsed from the invalid dose is recommended (7). For example, if the first 

dose ofvaricella vaccine were inadvertently administered at age 10 months, the repeat 

dose would be administered no earlier than the chlld's fil'St birthday (the minimum age 

for the first dose). If the first dose of varicella vaccine were administere~ at age 11 

months and 2 weeks, the repeat dose should be administered no earlier than 4 weeks 

thereafter, which would occur after the first birthday. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Timing and Spacing of ln1munob!ologlcs 14 



Certain vaccines (e.g., adult tetanus and diphtheria toxoids [Td], pediatric diphtheria 

and tetanus toxoids [DT], tetanus toxoid) produce increased rates of local or systemic 

reactions in certain recipients when administered more frequently than recommended 

(9,10). Careful record keeping, maintenance of patient histories, use of immunization 

information systems (IISs), and adherence to recommended schedules can decrease the 

incidence of such reactions without adversely affecting immunity, 

Simultaneous Administration 

Simultaneous administration of vaccines is defined as administering more than one 

vaccine on the same clinic day, at different anatomic sites, and not combined in the · 

same syringe. Experimental evidence and extensive clinical experience provide the 

scientific basis for administering vaccines simultaneously (11). Simultaneously 

administering all vaccines for which a person is eligible at the time of a visit increases 

the probability that a child, adolescent, or adult will be vaccinated fully by the 

appropriate age (12). A study conducted during a measles outb:reak demonstrated that 

approximately one-third of measles cases among unvaccinated but vaccine-eligible 

preschool children might have been prevented if MMR had been adminis~ered at the 

same visit when another vaccine was administered (13). Simultaneous administration 

also is critical when preparing for foreign travel in the near future and when a health

care provider is uncertain that a patient wiJl return for additional doses of vaccine. 

With some exceptions, simultaneously administering the most widely used live and 

inactivated vaccines has produced seroconversion rates and rates for adverse reactions 

similar to those observed when the vaccines are administered separately (11, 14-16). 

Routine administration of all age-appropriate doses of vaccines simultaneously is 

recommended for children for whom no specific contraindications exist at the time of 

the visit (7). MMR and varicella vaccine can be administered simultaneously (7). Live, 

attenuated influenza vaccine (LAN) does not interfere with the immune response to 

MMR or varicella vaccines administered at the same visit (17). No data exist about the 

immunogenicity of oral Ty21a typhoid vaccine when administered concurrently or 

within 30 days oflive-virus vaccines. In the absence of such data, if typhoid vaccination 

is warranted, administration should not be delayed because of recent administration of 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 15 



live, attenuated virus vaccines (18). Simultaneous administratioi1 of pneumococcal 

polysaccharide vaccine (PPSV) and inactivated influenza vaccine elicits a satisfactory 

antibody response without increasing the incidence or severity of adverse reactions (19). 

Simultaneous administration of PPSV23 and inactivated influenza vaccine is 

recommended for all persons for whom both vaccines are indicated. Tetanus toxciid, 

reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis vaccine (Tdap) and inactivated 

influenza vaccine (IIV) can be administered simultaneously (20). Hepatitis B vaccine 

administered with yellow fever vaccine is as safe and immunogenic as when these 

vaccines are administered separately (21). Measles and yellow fever vaccines have been 

administered safely at the same visit and without reduction of immunogenicity of either 

component (22,23). 

During the 2010-2011 influenza season, surveillance systems detected safety signals for 

febrile seizures in young children following LIV and PCV13 vaccines (24). CDC studied 

the health-care visit records of more than 200,000 vaccinated children ages 6 months 

thrnugh 59 months through the Vaccine Safety Datalink Project during the 2010-2011 

influenza season. The analyses found that febrile seizures following IIV and PCV13 

vaccines given to.this age group were rare, but did occur at higher than expected rates. 

The risk for febrile seizures peaked in children age 16 months and were more common 

when the 2 vaccines were given during the same health-care visit. In this group, about 

one additional febrile seizure occurred among every 2,200 children vaccinated. After 

assessing benefits and risks, ACIP continues to recommend IIV and PCV13 be given 

concomitantly if both are recommended (24,25). 

There are 2 exceptions to the recommendation that vaccines should be administered 

simultaneously. In persons with anatomic or functional asplenia, quadrivalent 

meningococcal conjugate vaccine (MCV4)-D (MenACWY-D, Menactra) and 

pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV)13 (PCV13, Prevnar 13) should not be 

administered simultaneously (26). This is based on immunogenicity studies that showed 

reduced antibody concentrations for 3 serotypes of pneumococcus (subtypes 4, 6B, and 

18C) when PCV7 was administered simultaneously with MenACWY-D. For persons -with 

anatomic or functional asplenia, PCV13 should be administered first and MenACWY-D 

4 weeks later. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 16 



In patients recommended to receive both PCV13 and PPSV23, the 2 vaccines should not 

be administered simultaneously (27). PCV13 should be administered first. If PPSV23 

has been administered first, PCV13 should be administered no earlier than 8 weeks later 

in children 6-18 years, and one year later in adults 19 years and older. Immunogenicity 

studies evaluating responses to PCV13 and PPSV23 administered in series showed a 

be-i;ter immune response when PCV13 was administered first. An evaluation of immune 

response after a second pneumococcal vaccination administered 1 year after the initial 

study doses showed that subjects who received PPSV23 as the initial study dose had 

lower antibody responses after subsequent administration of PCV13 than those who had 

receivedPCV13 as the initial dose followed by a dose of PPSV23, regardless of the level 

of the initial response to PPSV23 (28,29). 

Depending on which vaccines are administered during the first year of life, a child might 

receive up to 9 injections at the 12- through 15-month visit (MMR, varicella, Hib, PCV13, 

pediatric diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis [DTaP], inactivated 

poliovirus [IPV], hepatitis A, hepatitis B [HepB], and influenza vaccines). Although 

there is no exact limit on the number of injections, with a little :flexibility, a provider can 

ensure that the primaiy series doses are given without administering too many 

injections at each visit. To reduce the number of injections at the 12- throu~h 15-month 

visit, the hepatitis B series and 3 doses of IPV (30) can be administered before the 

child's first birthday. 

There are many other examples of ways the vaccination schedule provides flexibility. 

The majority of children aged 1 year who have received 2 Hib vaccine doses 

(polyribosylribitol phosphate-meningococcal outer membrane protein [PRP-OMP]) or 3 

Hib vaccine doses (PRP-tetanus [PRP-T]) and 3 previous doses of DTaP and PCV13 have 

protection against Hib, diphtheria, pertussis, tetanus, and pneumococcus, which lasts 

throughout infancy (2,31). The third (PRP-OMP) or fourth (PRP-T) dose of the Hib 

series and the fourth doses of DTaP and PCV13 are critical in boosting antibody titer and 

ensuring continued protection (2,32-34). The fourth dose of DTaP is recommended at 

age 15-18 months but may be administered as early as age 12 months if 6 months have 

elapsed since the third dose and if there is concern that the child might not return by age 

18 months (Ji). For infants at low risk for infection with hepatitis B virus (i.e., mother 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lrnmunobiologics 17 



tested negative for hepatitis B surface antigen [HBsAg] at the time of delivery and is not 

in a high risk group), the hepatitis B series can be completed at any time for children 

aged 6-18 months (35). The minimum age for administration of combination vaccines is 

the oldest minimum age for any of the individual components; the minimum interval 

between doses is equal to the greatest minimum interval of any of the individual 

components. With use of the combination Rib-hepatitis B vaccine, the minimum age of 

administration of the final dose is 12 months because of the minimum age requirement 

for the last dose of the I-Jib series (35.). Recommended spacing of doses should be 

maintained (Table 3-1). 

Co1nbination Vaccines 

Combination vaccines merge equivalent component vaccines into single products to 

prevent more than one disease or to protect against multiple strains of infectious agents 

causing the same disease. Licensed combination vaccines can be used whenever any 

components of the combination are indicated and its other components are not 

contraindicated and if licensed by the Food and Drug Adrninish·ation (FDA) for that 

dose in the series. Use of combination vaccines can reduce the number of injections 

patients receive and alleviate concern associated with the number of injections 

(30,36,37), Studies have demonstrated that parents and providers might be 

uncomfortable with multiple injections during single visits (38-40). Potential 

advantages of combination vaccines include 1) improved vaccine coverage rates (41), 2) 

timely vaccination coverage for children who are behind the schedule (42-43), 3) 

reduced shipping and stocking costs, 4) reduced costs for extra health-care visits 

necessitated by deferral of vaccination, and 5) facilitation of additional new vaccines 

into vaccination programs. 

Potential disadvantages of combination vaccines include the following: 1) adverse events 

that might occur more frequently after administration of a combination vaccine 

compared with administration of separate antigens at the same visit, such as fever that 

occurs with the combination MMRVvaccine and combination DTaP-HepB-IPVvaccine 

(44,45); 2) confusion and uncertainty about selection of vaccine combinations and 

schedules for subsequent doses, especially when vaccinations are given by multiple 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lrnmunobiologics 18 



providers who might be using different products; 3) reduced pathogen coverage if the 

combination product covers fewer types of one particular vaccine-preventable disease

causing agent (46); 4) extra doses of certain antigens in the combination product (e.g., a 

.provider who administ~rs 4 doses of DTaP-HepB-IPVvaccine will give an extra dose of 

hepatitis B component); and 5) a shorter shelf-life than the individual component 

· vaccines. The economic impact of the use of combination vaccines is unclear because 

combination products have the potential for either increased or decreased costs 

compared with single-antigen component vaccines. The price of a combination vaccine 

might exceed the total price of separate vaccines containing the same antigens. 

However, combination vaccines might represent a better overall economic value if the 

direct and indirect costs of extra injections, delayed or missed vaccinations, and 

additional handling and storage are taken into consideration (47), 
' 

Licensed Combination Vaccines 

In this report, a combination vaccme is defined as a product containing components 

that can be divided equally into independently available routine vaccines. A dash ( - ) 

between vaccine products indicates that products are supplied in their final form by the 

manufacturer and do not requirn mixing or reconstitution by the user. A slash ( / ) 

indicates that the products must be mixed or reconstituted by the user. Seven 

combination vaccines for which separate antigens or antigen combinations exist have 

been licensed by FDA since 1996 in the United States (Table 3-2) (48-54). In the future, 

combination vaccines might include incr'easing numbers of components in different 

arrays to protect against these and other diseases. (The status oflicensure and 

recommendations for new vaccines is available at 

http://aapredbook.aappublications.org/news/vaccstatus.shtml.) The use of a 

combination vaccine generally is_ preferred over separate injections of the equivalent 

component vaccines (55). Considerations should include provider assessment,Cc) patient 

preference) and the potential for adverse events. An exception is the first dose of MMRV. 

Unless the parent or caregiver expresses a preference for MMRV vaccine, MMR and 

varicella vaccii:ie should be administered for the fi~·st dose for chilclxen aged 12-47 

months (see Contraindications and Precautions) (44'J. 

General Best Practice Guldelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunoblologlcs 19 



Situations-might arise in which one component of a combination vaccine is specifically 

preferred to another component in that same vaccine, Future research considerations 

for newlr licensed combination vaccines should focus on safety of doses that are not 

needed because a patient is already vaccinated against the agents, whether the 

combination vaccine will improye the timeliness of vaccination, and potential reduced 

costs from disease prevention resulting from timely vaccination. 

Combination Vaccines and FDA Licensure 

Only combination vaccines licensed by FDA should be used (55). Vaccination providers 

should not combine separate vaccines into the same syringe to administer together 

unless mixing is indicated for the patient's age and is explicitly specified on the FDA

approved product label inserts. Only 2 combination vaccines, (DTaP-IPV/Hib vaccine, 

marketed as Pentacel, and Hib-MenCY, marketed as MenHibrix) contain separate 

antigen components for which FDA approves mixing by the user, The safety, 

immunogenicity, and effectiveness of unlicensed combinations are unknown. 

Interchangeability of Formulations 

FDA generally licenses a combination vaccine based on studies demonstrating that the 

product's immunogenicity (or efficacy) and safety aTe comparable or equivalent to 

monovalent or combination products licensed previously (37). FDA Iicensure also 

generally indicates that a combination vaccine may be used interchangeably with 

monovalent formulations and other combination products with similar component 

antigens produced by the same manufacturer to con~inue the vaccination series. For 

example, DTaP, DTaP-IPV/Hib, DTaP-HepB-IPV, and future DTaP vaccines that 

contain similar acellular pertussis antigens from tlrn same manufacturer may be used 

interchangeably if licensed and indicated for the patient's age (34). 

Interchangeability of Combination Vaccines from Different 

Manufacturers 

Licensure of a vaccine by FDA does not necessarily indicate that the vaccine is 

interchangeable with products from other manufacturers. Such data are asce1tained and 

interpreted more readily for diseases with known correlates of protective immunity 

Gener.ii Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunciblologics 20 



(e.g., specific serologic markers). For diseases without such surrogate laboratory 

markers, prelicensure field vaccine efficacy (phase III) trials or postlicensure 

surveillance generally are required to determine protection (56). ACIP prefers that doses 

of vaccine in a series come from the same manufacturer; however, if this is not possible 

or if the manufacturer of doses given previously is unknown, providers should 

administer the vaccine that they have available. 

Vaccine Supply 

Although vaccination providers should stock sufficient quantities of combination and 

monovalent vaccines needed to vaccinate children, adolescents, and adults against all 

diseases for which vaccines are recommended (30,37) 1 all available types or brand-name 

products need not be stocked. Potential advantages of stocking a limited number of 

vaccines include 1) reducing confusion and potential errors when staff members must 

handle redundant products and formulations, 2) minimizing waste when less commonly 

used products expire, 3) decreasing cold storage capacity requirements, and 4) 

minimizing administrative costs related to accounting, purchasing, and handling. The 

National Pediatric Vaccine Stockpile exists to offset supply challenges (57). 

Extra Doses of Vaccine Antigens 

Administering extra antigens contained in a combination vaccine should be avoided fo 
most sihrntions (55). Using combination vaccines containing certain antigens not 

indicated at the time of administration to a patient might be justified when 1) the extra 

antigen is not contraindicated, 2) products that contain only the needed antigens are not 

readily available, and 3) potential benefits to the patient outweigh the potential risk for

adverse events associated with the extra antigens. An extra dose of many live-virus 

vaccines and Hib or hepatitis B vaccine has not been found to be harmful (58)59). 

However, the risk for an adverse event might increase when extra doses are 

administered at an earlier time than the recommended inte1val for certain vaccines 

(e.g., tetanus toxoid vaccines and PPSV) (Jg_,3b60). 

A vaccination provider might not have vaccines available that contain_ only the antigens 

needed as indicated by a child's vaccination history. Alternatively, although the 

indicated vaccines might be available, the provider might prefer to use a combination 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobioiogics 21 



vaccine to reduce the required number of injections. In such cases, the benefits and risks 

of administering the combination vaccine with an unneeded antigen should be carefully 

considered and cliscussed with the patient or parent. 

When inactivated (i.e., 1dlled) or subunit vaccines (which are often adsorbed to 

aluminum-salt adjuvants) are adrninist~red, the reactogenicity of the vaccine must be 

considered in balancing the benefits and risks of extra doses (55). Because clinical 

experience suggests low reactogenicity, an extra dose of Hib or hepatitis B vaccine may 

be administered as part of a combination vaccine to complete a vaccination series for 

another component of the combination. Administration of extra doses of tetanus toxoid 

vaccines earlier than the recommended intervals can increase the risk for severe local 

reactions (gQ.,33). Examples of such vaccines include DTaP, DT (for children), and Td 

(for adolescents and adults). Extra doses of tetanus-toxoid-containing vaccines might 

be appropriate for certain patients, including for children who previously received DT or 

Td vaccine and need protection from pertussis (in DTaP or Tdap) or for immigrants with 

uncertain vaccination histories. 

Conjugate Vaccine Carrier Proteins 

Protein conjugates used in Hib conjugate vaccines produced in the United States include 

tetanus toxoid (in PRP-T) which is also used as a component of DTaP and Tdap vaccines 

(6.1). Simultaneous or sequential vaccination with Hib and these tetanus-toxoid 

containing vaccines is recommended when both are indicated (55). MCV 4 and PCV13 

both contain diphtheria-toxoid conjugates. There has been concel'h about simultaneous 

administration of vaccines containing like conjugates. One brand of MCV 4, MenACWY

D (Menactra), demonstrates reduced immunogenicity of the antibody response to 

Streptococcal pneumonia strains when administered simultaneously with PCV13 

compared with separate administration. It is recommended to space these vaccines by 

28 days in a person with anatomic asplenia (46). Simultaneous or sequential vaccination 

ofMCV4-CRM (Menveo), PCV13, and Tdap (33,61), all of which contain diphtheria 

toxoid, is not associated with reduced immunogenicity or increase in local adverse 

events. 

N onsimultaneous Administration 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 22 



There is no evidence that inactivated vaccines inte1fere with the immune response to 

other inactivated vaccines or to live vaccines. Any inactivated vaccine can be 

administered either simultaneously or at any time before or after a different inactivated 

vaccine or live vaccine (Table 3-3). The 2 exceptions, as mentioned above, are a 4-week 

interval between PCV13 and MenACWY-D in a person with anatomic asplenia and the 

separation of doses between PCV13 and PPSV23 (6-12 months recommended for non

high risk, 8 week minimum) if PCV13 is given first, 8 weeks in children 6-18 years, and 1 

year minimum in adults 19 years and older if PPSV23 is given first (26). 

Limited data are available regarding interference between live vaccines used in the 

United States. The immune response to one live-virus vaccine might be impaired if 

administered within 28 days (i.e., 4 weeks) of another live-virus vaccine (62,63). In a 

study conducted in 2 U.S. health maintenance organizations, the risk fOT varicella 

vaccine failure (i.e., varicella disease in a vaccinated person) among persons who 

received varicella vaccine within 28 days of MMR vaccination was threefold higher than 

among persons who received varicella vaccine >28 days after MMR vaccination (64). 

Another study determined that the response to yellow fever vaccine is not affected by 

monovalent measles vaccine administered 1-27 days earlier (22). The effect of 

nonsimultaneous administration of rubella, mumps, varicella, and yellow fever vaccines 

is unknown. 

Two or more injectable or nasally administered Jive vaccines not administered on the 

same day should be separated by at least 4 weeks (Table 3-3), to minimize the potential 

risk for interference. If 2 such vaccines are separated by <4 weeks, the second vaccine 

administered should not be counted and the dose should be repeated at least 4 weeks 

later. On the day a live injectable or intranasal vaccine will be administered, providers 

should ensure that no live injectable or intranasal vaccine was given in the previous 28 

days. 

The 4.:day grace period discussed earlier, which may be used to shorten the minimum 

interval between doses of the same vaccine, should not be applied to this 4-week interval 

between 2 different live vaccines (55). Confusion about this prohibition may arise when 

2 live vaccines whose intervals are identical are administered simultaneously. For 

example, ifMMR and varicella vaccines are administered on the same day, the second 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmunlzc1tion: Timing and Spacing of lrnmunobiologlcs 23 



dose of each vaccine could come due 4 weeks later (depending on the patient's age). If 

eitlier vaccine had been given alone at both time points, the 4-day grace period could be 

applied to the second dose. But in this situation the live vaccine rule prevents the grace 

period from being applied to the second dose of either vaccine, because Varicella-2, if 

administered earlier than 4 weeks, could potentially be affected by MMR1, and likewise 

MMR2 could be affected by Varicella-1. Note that this prohibition also applies if the 

combination MMRV is used rather than individual MMR and varicella vaccines. 

The oral vaccines Ty21a typhoid vaccine and rotavirus can be administered 

simultaneously with or at any interval before or after other live vaccines (injectable or 

intranasal) if indicated (65). 

Spacing of Vaccines and Antibody-Containing Products 

Live Vaccines 

Ty21a typhoid, yellow fever, LAIV, zoster, and rotavirus vaccines may be administered at 

any time before, concurrent with, or after adminish·ation of any antiqody-containing 

preparation such as immune globulin, hyperimmune globulin, or intravenous immune 

globulin (IGIV) (QQ). Blood (e.g., whole blood, packed red blood cells, and plasma) and 

other antibody-containing blood products (e.g., immune globulin, hyperimmune 

globulin, and IGIV) can inhibit the immune response to measles and rubella vaccines for 

~3 months. The effect of blood and immune globulin preparations on the response to 

mumps and varicella vaccines is unlmown; however, commercial immune globulin 

preparations contain antibodies to these viruses. Blood products available in the United 

States are unlikely to contain a substantial amount of antibody to yellow fever virus. The 

length of time that interference with injectable live-virus vaccine ( other than yellow 

fever) can persist after the antibody-containing product is a function of the amount of 

antigen-specific antibody contained in the product (67-69). Therefore, after an 

antibody-containing product is received, live vaccines (other than Ty21a typhoid, yellow 

fever, LAIV, zoster, and rotavirus vaccines) should be delayed until the passive antibody 

has degraded (Table 3-4). If a dose of injectable live-virus vaccine (other than yellow 

fever and zoster) is administered after an antibody-containing product but at an interval 

shorter than recommended in this report, the vaccine dose Hhould be repeated unless 

Genera I Best Practice Guldellnes for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunoblologlcs 24 



serologic testing is feasible and indicates a response to the vaccine, The repeat dose or 

serologic testing should be performed after the interval indicated for the antibody

containing product (Table 3-5), 

Although passively acquired antibodies can interfere with the response to rubella 

vaccine, the low dose of anti-Rho(D) globulin or any other blood product administered 

to postpartum women have not been demonstrated to reduce the response to the 

RA27/3 strain rubella vaccine (70). Congenital rubella syndrome and congenital 

varicella am conditions with considerable morbidity and represent a true risk in future 

pregnancies. Because of the importance of rubella and varicella im1m;mity among 

women of child-bearing age (4.,ziJ, the postpartum vaccination of women without 

evidence of immunity to rubella or varicella with MMR, varicella, or MMRV vaccines 

should not be delayed because ofreceipt of anti-Rho(D) globulin or any other blood · 

product during the last trimester of pregnancy or at delivery, Anr reduction in immunity 

caused by anti-Rho(D) globulin or other blood products is outweighed by the 

opportunity to generate immunity. These women should be vaccinated immediately 

after giving birth and, if possible, tested :2:3 months later to ensme immunity to rubella 

and, if appropriate, to measles (g), Measles and rubella serologies have a low false

positive rate and are therefore acceptable for use in this limited postpartum context. 

Interference might occur if administration of an antibody-containing product becomes 

necessa:ry after administration of MMR or var:icella vaccines. Usually, vaccine virus 

replication and stimulation of immun~ty occurs 1-2 weeks after vaccination. If the 

interval between administration of any of these vaccines and subsequent administration 

of an antibody-containing product is <14 days, vaccination should be repeated after the 

recommended interval (Tables 3-4 and 3-5) unless serologic testing indicates a 

protective antibody response (7). 

A humanized mouse monoclonal antibody product (palivizumab) is available as 

prophylaxis for serious lower respiratory tract disease from respiratory syncytial virus 

among infants and young children. This product contains only antibody to respiratory 

syncytial virus and does not interfere with the immune response to licensed live or 

inactivated vaccines. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 25 



Inactivated Vaccines 

Antibody-containing products interact less with inactivated, recombinant subunit, and 

polysaccharide vaccines and toxoids than with live vaccines (72). Therefore, 

administering inactivated vaccines and toxoicls either simultaneously with or at any 

interval before or after receipt of an antibody-containing product should not 

substantially impair development of a protective antibody response (Table 3-4). The 

vaccine or toxoid and antibody preparation should be administered at different sites 

using the standard recommended dose. 

Interchangeability of Single-Component Vaccines from 

Different Manufacturers 

Certain vaccine~ that provide protection from the same diseases are available from 

different: manufacturers, and these vaccines usually are not identical in antigen content 

or in amount or method of formulation. Manufacturers use different production 

processes, and their products might contain different concentrations of antigen per dose 

or a different stabilizer or preservative. 

Available data indicate that infants who receive sequential doses of different Hib 

conjugate, hepatitis B, and hepatitis A vaccines produce a satisfactory antibody response 

after a complete primary series (73-76). All brands of I-lib conjugate, hepatitis B,<dl 

hepatitis A, rotavirus,Ce) and quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccines are 

interchangeable within their respective series. If different brands of a particular vaccine 

. require a different number of doses for series completion (e.g., Rib and rotavirus . 

vaccines) and a provider mixes brands in the primary series, the higher number of doses 

is recommended for series completion (e.g., doses of either rotavirus or Hib vaccine). 

F~)l· Hib vaccines, any monovalent or combination conjugate vaccine is_acceptable for 

the booster dose of the series, if only one product was used for the primary seri~s (55). 

Limited data are available about the safety, immunogenicity1 and efficacy of using 

acellula1· pertussis (i.e., DTaP) vaccines from different manufacturers for successive 

doses of the pertussis series. Data from one study indicate that for the first 3 doses of the 

DTaP series, 1-2 doses of Tripedia (Sanofi Pasteur) followed by Infanrix 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lrnmunobiologlcs 26 



(GlaxoSmithKline) for the remaining dose (or doses) is comparable to 3 doses of 

Tripedia with regard to immunogenicity, as measured by antibodies to diphtheria, 

tetanus, and pertussis toxoids, and filamentous hemagglutinin (77). However, in the 

absence of a clear serologic correlate of protection for pertussis, the relevance of these 

immunogenicity data for protection against pertussis is unknown. When feasible, the 

same brand of DTaP vaccine should be used for all doses of the vaccination series (55). If 

vaccination providers do not know OT have available the type of D'faP vaccine previously 

administered to a child, any DTaP vaccine may be used to continue or complete the 

series (55). For a child who needs 2 doses of influenza vaccine (IIV or LAIV), it is 

preferable to use the same type of vaccine for both doses. However, if the child is eligible 

for either 1IV or LAN, and the type of vaccine used for the first dose is not available, 

either vaccine can be used for the second dose (55). in a postlicensure study, 

menil}gococcal conjugate vaccines from different manufacturers were evaluated for 

successive doses of meningococcal conjugate vaccine. Persistence of antibodies were 

studied in recipients of MCV4-CRM after previous receipt of either MCV4-CRM or 

MenACWY-D. The percentage of persons with protective titers were the same for all 

serogroups. No data exist on the use ofMenACWY-D after MCV4-CRM. Health-care 

providers should use every opportunity to provide a dose when indicated, regardless of 

the vaccine brand used for the previous dose or doses. For vaccines in general, 

vaccination should not be deferred because the brand used for previous doses is not 

available or is unknown (30178). 

Lapsed Vaccination Schedule 

Vaccination providers should administer vaccines as close to the recommended intervals 

as possible. However, intervals between doses that are longer than recommended 

typically do not reduce final antibody concentrations, although protection might not be 

attained until the recommended number of doses has been administered. With some 

exceptions (e.g. oral typhoid vaccine) al;i. interruption in the vaccination schedule does 

not require restarting the entire series of a vaccine or toxoid or addition of extra doses 

(7). 

Unknown or Uncertain Vaccination Status 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spaclng of lmmunobiologics 27 



Vaccination providers frequently encounter persons who do not have adequate 

documentation of vaccinations. With the exception of influenza vaccine and PPSV23, 

providers should only accept written, dated records as evidence of vaccination; self

reported doses of influenza vaccine and PPSV23 are acceptable (60,79). The rationale 

for acceptance for influenza vaccine is that the time period of recall is one year or less, 

making it ve1y likely that correct recall will occur. The rationale for acceptance for 

PPSV23 is high frequency of vaccination leads to an increased rate oflocal reactions due 

to tl1e reactogenicity of this vaccine. Alt~ough vac~inations should not be postponed if 

records cannot be found, an attempt to locate missing records should be made by 

contacting previous health care providers, revim-ving state or local IISs1 and searching 

for a personally held record. If records cannot be located within a reasonable time, these 

persons should be considered susceptible and started on the age-appropriate 

vaccination schedule. Serologic testing for immunity is an alternative to vaccination for 

certain antigens (e.g.1 measles, rubella, hepatitis A, and tetanus). However, commercial 

serologic testing might not always be sufficiently sensitive or standardized for detection 

of vaccine-induced immunity (with the exception of hepatitis B vaccination at 1-2 

mouths after the final dose), and research laboratory testing might not be reailily 

available. 

<•> During measles outbl'eak.s, if cases are occmring among infouts aged <12 months, measles vaccination of infants as young as 6 

months can be used as an outbreuk control measure. However, doses administered at ages <12 months should not be counted as part 

of the series (Bo). 

(b) In ce1iain situations, local or state requirr.ments might mandate that doses of selected vaccines bn administered on 01· afier 

specific ages. For example, a school entry requirement might not accept a dose of MMR or varicella vaccine administered before the 

child's first birthday. ACIP recommend$ that physicinus and other health-care providers comply with lociil or state vaccination 

requirements when scheduling and administering vaccines. 

(c) Provider assessment should include num her of injr.ctions, vaccine availability, likelihood of in1proved coverage, likelihood of 

patient !'€turn, and storage and cost considcmtions. 

CdJTbe exception is the 2-dose hepatitis D vaccination series for adolescents aged 11-15 years. Only Recombivax HB (Merck Vaccine 

Division) should be used in the schedule. J!ngerix-H (GJaxoSmithKline) is not approved by FDA for this schedule. 

C•>Based on expert opinion. 

Genernl Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 28 



TABLE 3-1. Recommended and minhnum ages and intervals between 
vaccine doses(n),(b),(c),(d} 

Vaccine and Recommended Minimum Recommended Minimum 
dose age for this close age for this interval to next interval to 
number dose dose next dose 

DTaP-1<•) 2 months 6 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

DTaP-2 4months 10 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

DTaP-3 6 months 14 weeks 6-12 monthsCO 6 monthsCO 

DTaP-4 15-18 months 15 months(O 3 years 6months 

DTaP-·s 4-6 years 4years - -

HepA-1(e) 12-23 months 12 months 6-18 months 6 months 

HepA-2 ~18 months 18 months - -

HepB-1 Birth Birth 4 weeks-4 months 4 weeks 

HepB-2 1-2 months 4 weeks 8 weeks-17 months 8 weeks 

HepB-3cg) 6-18 months 24 weeks - -

Hib-1 <•),lh) 2 months 6weeks 8 weeks 4 weelm 

Hib-2 4months 10 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

Hib-3<0 6 months 14 weeks 6-9 months 8 weeks 

Hib-4 12-15 months 12 months - -

HPV-1UJ 11-12 years 9 years 8 weeks 4weeks 

HPV-2 11-12 years ( +2 9 years ( +4 4 months 12 weeks(i) 
months) weeks) 

HPV-3 CJJ, O<l 11-12years (+6 9 years (+5 - -
months) months) 

HZVO) ~60 years 60 years - -

Influenza, ~6 months 6 months(n) 4 weeks 4 weeks 
inactivated Cm) 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lrrnnunizatlon: Timing and Spacing of lmrnunobiologlcs 29 



IPV-1<e> 2 months 6 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

IPV-2 4months 10 weeks 8 weeks-14 months 4 weeks 

IPV-3 6-18 months 14 weeks 3-5 years 6 months 

IPV-4co> 4-6 years 4 years - -

LAIV 2-49 years 2 years 4 weeks 4 weeks 
(intranasal)Cm) 

MenACWY-1<P> 11-12 years 6 weeks<ql 4-5 years 8weeks 

MenACWY-2 16 years 11 years (+8 - -
weeks)(r) 

MMR-1C•} 12-15 months 12months 3-5 years 4 weeks 

MMR-2cs> 4-6 years 13 months - -

MPSV4-1(p) - 2 years 5 years 5 years 

MPSV4-2 - 7years - -

PCVi3-1Ch) 2months 6 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

PCV13-2 4months 10 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

PCV13-3 6 months 14 weeks 6 months 8 weeks 

PCV13-4 12-15 months 12 months - -

PPSV-1 - 2 years 5 years 3 years 

PPSV-2co - 7years - -

Rotavirus-1<uJ 2 months 6 weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

Rotavirus-2 4 months 10weeks 8 weeks 4 weeks 

Rotavirus-3Cu} 6 mouths 14 weeks - -
Td 11-12 years 7years 10 years 5 years 

Tdap<v) ~11 years 7years - -

Varicella-1 12-15 months 12months 3-5 years 12 weekscw> 

Varicella- 2 4-6 years 15 months(x) - -

General 13est Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of l111munobiologlcs 30 



Abbreviations: DTaP =: diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; Hepil =: 

hepatitis D; Hib = Haernophilus influenzac type b; HPV = human papillomavirus; HZV = herpes zoster vaccine; IPV 
=: inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated intluenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadri.valent meningococcal 
conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, munips, rubella, and varicella; MPSV 4 
= quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCV13 = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= 
pneumococcal polysaccharidevaccine; P.RP-OMP = polydbosylribitol phosphate-mcningococcal outer membrane 
protein conjugate; Td = tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, r~duced diphtheria toxoid, and 
acellular pe1iussis. 

C•l Combination vaccines are available. Use oflicensed combination vaccines is generally preferred to separate 
injections of their equivalent component vaccines. When administering combination vaccines, tbe minimum age for 
administration is the oldest age for any of the individual components (exception: the minimum age for the first dose 
of MenHibrix is 6 weeks). The minimum interval between doses is equal to the greatest interval of any of the 
individual components. 

1 

Cbl Infol'mation on travel vaccines, including typhoid, Japanese encephalitis, and yellow fever, is available at 
http://www.cdc.gov/travel. Information on other vaccines that are licensed in the United States but not distributed, 
including anthrax and sma1lpox, is available at http://emergenoy.cdc.gov/bioterrorism/ . 

(cl "Months" refers to calendar months. 

(dl Within a number range, a hyphen (-) should be read as "through." 

C•> Combination vaccines containing the hepatitis B component are available (sec Table 3-2). These vaccines should 
not be administered to infants aged <6 weeks because of the other vaccine components (ie., Hib, DTaP, HepA, and 
IPV). 

CfJ The minimum recommended interval between DTaP-3 and DTaP-4 is 6 months. However, DTaP-4 need not be 
repeated if administered at least 4 months nfter DTaP-3. This is a special grace period of 2 months which can be 
used if evaluati.ng records retrospectively. An additional 4 days should not be added to this grace period. 

(g) HepB-3 should be administered at least 8 weeks after HepB-2 and at least l6 weeks after HepB-1 and should not 
be administered before age 24 weeks. 

Ch) For Hib a~d PCV13, children receiving the first dose of vaccine at age ?..7 months reqnfre fewer doses to complete 
the series. 

Ci) If PRP-OMP (Pedvax-Hib, Merck Vaccine Division) was administered at ages 2 and 4 months, a dose at age 6 
months is not necessary. The final close has a minimum age of 12 months. 

OJ Quadrivalent and nine-valent HPV vaccines are approved for males and females aged 9-26 years. The 1ninirnum 
age for HPV-3 is based on the baseline minimum age for the first dose (i.e., 9 years) and the minimum interval of 5 
months between the first and third dose. Dose 3 need not be repeated ifit is administered at least 5 months after 
the first dose and the intervals between dose 1 and p.ose 2, aud close 2 and dose 3, are maintained at 4 weeks and 12 
weel<s, respectively. 

(kl A two-dose schedule ofHPVvaccine is recommended for most persons beginning the series between 9 through 
14 years of age. See HPVvaccine-speci:fie recommendations for details. 
www.cdc.gov/rnmWJ•/volumes/65/wr/pdfs/mm6549a5.pdf / 

(IJ Herpes zoster vaccine is recommended as a single dose for persons aged ;;: 60 years. 

Crn) One dose of influenza vaccine per season is recommended for most persons. To determine which children 
younger than 9 years should receive 2 doses in a single season, please see influenza vaccine-specific 
recommendations (81). 

(n) The minimum age for inactivated influenza vaccine varies by vaccine manufacturer. See package insert for 
vaccine-specific minimum ages. 

(oJ A fourth dose is not needed if the third dose was administered at ~4 years and at least 6 months after U1e 
previous dose. 

(p) Revaccination with meningococcal vaccine is recommended for previously vaccinated persons who remain at 
high risk fur meningococcal disease (46). 

(ql MenACWY-D (Menactra) can be given as young as 9 months for bigh-1isk persons. MenACWY=CRM (Menveo) 
can be given as young as 2 months for high-risk persons. Hib-MenCY can be given as young as 6 wcel<S for high-risk 
persons . Hib-MenCY is given as a 4-dose series at 2 months, 4 montl1s, 6 months and 12-18 months. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing .ind Spacing of lmmunobiologics 31 



(r)Fol' routine non-high risk adolescent vaccination, the minimum age for the booster dose is 16 years. 

C•l Combination MMRV vaccine can be used for children aged 12 months-12 years. See text for details. 

Ct) A second dose of PPSV235 years after the first dose fa recommended for persons aged .s65 years at highest risk for 
serious pneumococca] infection and those who are likely to have a rapid decline in pneumococcal antibody 
concentration (60). 

(u)The first dose ofrotavirus must be administered at age 6 wee]cs through 14 weeks and 6 days. The vaccine series 
should not be started for infants aged :2:15 weelcs, o days. Rota.virus should not be administered to children o]der 
than 8 months, o days of age regardless of the number of doses received between 6weeks and 8 months, o days of 
age. If 2 doses of Rotarix (GlaxoSmithKline) are admii1istered as age appropriate, a third dose is ~ot necessary. 

Cv) Only 1 dose ofTdap is recommended. Subsequent doses should be given as Td. For management of a tetanus
prone wound in persons who have received a primaty series of tetan.us-toxoitl- containing vaccine, the minimum 
interv~l after a previous dose of any tetanus-containing vaccine is 5 years. 

Cw) A special grace period of 2. months, based on expert opinion, can be applied to the minimum inte1va] of 3 
months, when evaluating records retrospectively, which results in an acceptable minimum interval of 4 weeks. An 
additional 4 days should not be added on to this grace period. 

(x) A special grace period of 2. months, based on expert opinion, can be app1ied to the minimum age of 15 months 
when evaluating records retrospectively, which results in an acceptable minimum age of 13 months. An additional 4 
days should not be added on to this grace period. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 32 



TABLE 3-2. FDA-licensed combination vaccinesCa) 

Vacci:neCb) Trade name Age range Routinely 
(year licensed) recommended ages 

HepA-HepB Twinrix (2001) ~18 years Three dos.es on a schedule 
of o, 1, and 6 months 

DTaP:-I-IepB-IPV Pediarix (2002) 6 weeks --6 Three-dose series at 2, 4, 
years and 6 months of age 

MMRV ProQuad (2005) 12 months-12 Two doses, the first at 12-15 
years months, the second at 4-6 

years 

DTaP-IPV Kinrix (2008) 4-6 years Fifth dose of DTaP and 
fourth dose of IPV 

DTaP-IPV /Hib Pentacel (2008) 6 weeks-4 Four-dose schedule at 2, 4, 
years 6, and 15-18 months of age 

Hib-MenCY MenHibrix (2012) 6 weeks-18 Four-dose schedule at 2, 4, 
months 6, and 12-15 months of, 

ageCc) 

DTaP-IPV Quadracel (2015) 4-6 years Fifth dose of DTaP and 
fourth or fifth dose of IPV 

Abln·cviations: DT = diphthel'iu and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular 
pertussis; FDA= Food and Drug Administration; He11A = hepatitis A; Hepll = hepatitis B; Hih = Haemophilus 
influenzae type b; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, 
rubella, and varicella; Td = tetanus and 9iphtheria toxoids; Tdap == tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and 
acellnlar pertussis. 

Source: (82). 

<•J Although MMR, D'l'aP, DT, Td, and Tdap are combination vaccines, they are not included on this list because 
they are not available in the United States as single-antigen products. 

Ch) In descriptions of combination vaccines, dash(-) indicates products in which the active components are 
supplied in thefr final (combined) form by the manufacturer; slash (/)indicates products in wllich active 
components must be mixed by the user, 

Cc) Hih-MenCY can be used for routine dosing of Rib vacch1e but is recommended only for meningococcal 
vaccination in persons at high-risk of meningococcal disease. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 33 



TABLE 3-3. Guidelines for spacing of ~ve and inactivated antigens 

Antigen combination Recommended minimum interval between 
doses 

Two or more inactivated(a),(h) May be administered simultaneously or at any interval 
between doses 

Inactivated and live(c) May be administered simultaneously or at any interval 
between doses 

Two .or more live injectableccl 28 days minimum interval, if not administered 
simultaneously 

SOUl'CC: (82). I 
<•> Certain experts suggest a 28-day interval between tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and ace1lular 
pertussis (Tdap) vaccine and tetravalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine if they are not administered 
simultaneously. 

(bl In persons with functional or anatomic asplenia, MCV-D and PCV13 should not be administered Bimultaneously 
and should be spaced by 4 weelcs. Likewise for persons with immunosuppressive high-risk conditions indicated for 
P'CV13 and PPSV23, PCV13 should be administered first, and PPSV23 should be administered no earlier than 8 
weeks later. For persons 65 years old or older indicated for PCV13 and PPSV23, PCV13 should be administered first 
and PPSV23 should be administered 6-12 months later. 

Col The live ornl vaccines Ty21a typhoid vaccine and rotavirus vaccine may be administered simultaneously with or at 
any interval before or after inactivated or live injectable vaccines, 

_General 13est Practice Guldellnes for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 34 



TABLE 3-4. Guidelines for administering antibody-containing productsCn) 
and vaccines 

Type of Products adm.inistered Rec01nmended minimum 
administration interval between doses 

Simultaneous Antibody-containing products and Can be administered 
( during the same inactivated antigen simultaneously at different 
clinic day) anatomic sites or at any time 

interval between doses 

Antibody-containing products and Should not be administered 
live antigen simultaneously.Cb) If 

simultaneous administration 
of measles-containing vaccine 
or varicella vaccine is 
unavoidable, administer at 
different sites and revaccinate 
or test for seroconversion after 
the recommended interval (see 
Table 3-5) 

N onsimu1taneous Acbninistered Administered 
first second 

Antibody- Inactivated No interval necessary 
containing antigen 
products 

Inactivated Antibody- No interval necessary 
antigen containing 

products 

Antibody- measles, Dose relatedCbJ,(c) 
containing mumps, rubella 
products vaccine, 

varicella 
vaccine, and 
combined 
measles, 
mumps, 
rubella, 
varicella 
vaccme 
antigens 

General 13est Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 35 



MMR vaccine, 
varicella vaccine, 
and combined 
measles, mumps, 
rubella, varicella 
vaccine antigens 

Antibody
containing 
products 

2 weekslb> 

<•J Blood products containing substantial amounts of immune globulin include intramuscular, subcutaneous, and 
intl'avenous immune globulin, specific hyperimmune globulin (e.g., hepatitis D immune globulin, tetanus immnne 
glohulin, varicella zoster immune globulin, and l·abies immune globulin), whole blood, packed red blood cells; 
plasma, nnd platelet products, 

(bl Yellow fever vaccine; rotavirus vaccine; oral Ty21a typhoid vaccine; live, attenuated influenza vaccine; and zos,ter 
vaccine are exceptions to tlicse recommendations. These live, attenuated vaccines can be administered at any time 
before or after 01· simultaneously with an antibody-containing product. 

Cc) The duration of interference of antibody-containing products with the immune response to the measles 
component of measles-containin·g vaccine, and possibly varicella vaccine, is dose related (see Table 3-5). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 36 



TABLE 3-5. Re.commended intervals between admin~stration of antibody-
containing products and measles- or varicella-containing vaccine, by 
product and indication for vaccination 

Product/Indication Dose (mg IgG/kg) Recommended interval 
and routeCa) before measles- or 

varicella~contahtlng 
vaccineCb) . administration 
(months) 

Blood transfusion 

RBCs, washed 10 mL/kg, negligible Nohe 
IgG/kg IV 

RBCs, adenine-sali:qe added 10 mL/kg (10 mg ~i 
IgG/kg) IV 

Packed RB Cs (hematocrit 65%)<cJ 10 mL/kg (60 mg 6 
IgG/kg) IV 

Whole blood (hematocrit 35%- 10 mL/kg (80-100 6 
50%)(c) mg IgG/kg) IV 

Plasma/platelet products 10 mL/kg (160 mg 7 
IgG/kg) IV 

Botulinum Immune Globulin 1.5 mL/kg (75 mg 6 
. Intravenous (Human:) lgG/kg) IV 

Cytomegalovirus IGIV 150 mg/kg 6 
maximum 

Hepatitis A I G 

Contact prophylaxis 0.02 mL/kg (3.3 mg 3 
lgG/kg) IM 

International travel, <3 month 0.02 mL/kg (3.3 mg 3 
stay IgG/kg) IM 

International travel, ~3 month 0.06 mL/kg (10 mg 3 
stay IgG/kg) IM 

Hepatitis B IG 0.06 mL/kg (10 mg 3 
IgG/kg) IM 

IGIV 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 37 



Replacement therapy for iriunune 300-400 mg/kg IV<d> 8 
deficienciesCd) 

Immune thrombocytopenic 400 mg/kg IV 8 
purpura treatment 

Postexposure varicella 400 mg/kg IV 8 
prophylaxis Ce) 

Postexposure measles pmphylaxis 400 mg/kg IV 8 
for immunocompromised contacts 

Immune thrombocytopenic 1000 mg/kg IV 10 
purpma treatment 

Kawasaki disease 2 g/kg IV 11 

Measles prophylaxis IG 

Standard (i.e., · 0.50 mL/kg (Bo mg 6 
nonimmunocompromised) contact IgG/kg) IM 

Monoclonal antibody to 15 mg/kg IM None ' 

respiratory syncytial virus F 
protein (e.g., Synagis 
[Medlmmune])co 

Rabies JG 20 JU /kg (22 mg 4 
IgG/kg) IM 

Tetanus IG 250 units (10 mg 3 
IgG/kg) IM 

Varicella IG 125 units/10 kg (60- 5 
200 mg IgG/kg) IM, 
maximum 625 units 

Abbreviations: HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; 1G = immune globulin; IgG = immune globulin G; IGIV = 
intravenous immune globulin; mg IgG/]cg = milligrams of immune globulin G per kilogl'am of body weight; IM = 
intramuscular; .IV = intravenous; RBCs = red blood cells. 

Col This table is not intended for determining the correct indications and dosages for using antibody-containing 
products. Unvaccinated persons might not be protected fully against measles during the entire recommended 
interval, and additional doses ofIG or measles vaccine might be indicated after measles exposure. Concentrations 
of measles antibody ln an IG preparation can vary by manufacturer's lot. Rates of antibody clearance after receipt of 
an IG preparation also might vary. Recommended intervals are extrapolated from an estimated half-life of 30 days 
for passively acquired antibody and an observed interfernnce with the immune response to measles vaccine for 5 
months after a dose of 80 mg IgG/kg. 

Cb) Does not include zoster vaccine. Zoster vaccine may be given with antibody-containing blood products. 

(c) Assumes a serum lgG concenli-alion of 16 mg/mL. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 38 



(d) Measles vaccination is recommended for children with mild or moderate immunosuppression from HIV 
infection, and varicella vaccination may be considered for children with. mild or moderate immunosuppresslon, but 
both are contraindicated for persons witl1 severe immunosuppression from HIV or any other immunosup,pre.5sive 
disorder. 

C•l Licensed VariZIG, similar to licensed varicella-zoster IG (VZIG), is a purified human IG preparation made from 
plasma containing high levels of antivaiice]la antibodies (IgG). 

(f} Contains antibody only to respiratory syncytial virus. 

I 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 39 



REFERENCES 

1. CDC. Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use 

and other preventive measures. Recommendations of the Immunization 

Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-

10):1-28. 

2, CDC. Haemophilus b conjugate vaccines for prevention of Haemophilus 

infl-uenzae type b disease among infants and children two months of age and 

older. Recommendations of the Immunization Practices Advis01y Committee 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-1):1-7. 

3. Plotkin SA. Immunologic correlates of protection induced by vaccination. 

Pecliair Infect Dis J .. 2001;20(1) :63-75. DOI: 10.1097 / 00006454-200101000-

00013 

4. Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz CA, Reef S, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and 

rubella-vaccine use and strategies for elimination of measles, rubella, and 

congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

5, Watson JC, Pearson JA, Markowitz LE, et al. An evaluation of measles 

revaccination among school-ent1y-aged children. Pediatrics. 1996;97(5):613-

618. 

6. Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention of varicella: 

recommendations of the Advisory Commit.tee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

7. Atldnson WL, Pickering LK, Schwartz B, Weniger BG, Iskander JK, Watson 

JC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the 

Advisory Com111ittee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and the American 

Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP). MM"WR Recomm Rep. 2002;51(RR-

2):1-35. 

8. Manning SE, Rupprecht CE, Fishbein D, et al. Human rabies prevention

United States, 2008: recommendations of the Advisory Comrrrittee on 

Immunization Practices. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-3):1-28. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 40 



9. Levine L, Edsall G. Tetanus toxoid: what determines reaction proneness? J 

Infect Dis. 1981;144(4):376. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/144,4.376 

10. Edsall G, Elliott MW, Peebles TC, Eldred MC. Excessive use of tetanus toxoid 

boosters. JAMA. 1967;202(1):111-113. DOI: 

10.1001/jama.1967.03130140075009 

11. King GE, Hadler SC. Simultaneous administration of childhood vaccines: an 

important public health policy that is safe and efficacious. Pediat,• ! nfect Dis 

J. 1994;13(5):394-407. 

12. N"ational Vaccine Advisory Committee, Standards for child and adolescent 

immunization practices. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):958-963. 

13. Hutchins SS, Escolan J, Markowitz LE, et al. Measles outbreak among 

unvaccinated preschool-aged children: opportunities missed by health care 

providers to administer measles vaccine. Pediatrics. 1989;83(3):369-374. 

14. Deforest A, Long SS, Lischner I-IW, et al. Simultaneous administration of 

measles-mumps-rube1la vaccine with booster doses of diphtheria-tetanus

pertussis and poliovirus vaccines. Pediatrics. 1988;81(2) :237-246. 

15. Dashefsky B, Wald E, Guerra N, Byers C. Safety, tolerability, and 

immunogenicity of concurrent administration of Haemophilus injl.uenzae 

type b conjugate vaccine (meningococcal protein conjugate) with either 

measles-mumps-rubella vaccine or diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis and oral 

poliovirus vaccines in 14- to 23-month-old infants. Pediat-rics. 1990;85(4 Pt 

2):682-689. 

16. Giammanco G, Li Volti S, Mauro L, et al. Immune response to simultaneous 
1 • 

administration of a recombinant DNA hepatitis B vaccine and multiple 

compulsory vaccines in infancy. Vaccine. 1991;9(10):747-750. DOI: 

10 .1016/ 0264-410X(91)90291-D 

17. Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. 

Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of tl1e 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 

influenza season. MMWR Morb .Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(30):818-825. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 41 



18. CDC. Typhoid immunization: recommendations of the Immunization 

Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1990;39(RR-

10):1-5. 

19. DeStefano F, Goodman RA, Noble GR, McClary GD, Smith S, Broome CV. 

Simultaneous administration of influenza and pneumococcal vaccines. JAMA. 

_1982;247(18):2551-2554. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1982.03320430055032 

20. Kretsinger K, Broder Jill, Cortese MM, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, 

and pertussis among adults: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid 

and acellular pertussiB vaccine recommendations of tl1e Advisory Committee 

on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and recommendation of ACIP, supported 

by the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC), 

for use of Tdap among health-care personnel. MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2006;55(RR-17):1-37. 

21. Yvonnet B, Coursaget P, Deubel V, Diop-Mar I, Digoutte JP, Chiron JP. 

Simultaneous administration of hepatitis Band yellow fever vaccines. J Med 

Viral. 1986;19(4):307-311. DOI: 10.1002/jmv.1890190403 

22. Stefano I, Sato HK, Pannuti CS, et al. Recent immunization against measles 

does not interfere with the sero-response to yellow feve"r va·ccine. Vaccine. 

\ 1999;17(9-10):1042-1046. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(98)00320-X 

23. Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations 

of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), MMWR 

RecommRep. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27. 

24. Leroy Z1 Broder K, Menschik D, Shimabukuro T, Martin D. Febrile seizures 

after 2010-2011 influenza vaccine in young children, United States: a vaccine 

safety signal from the vaccine adverse event reporting system. Vaccine. 

2012;30(11):2020-2023. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.12.042 

25. Tse A, Tseng HF, Greene SK, Vellozzi C, Lee GM. Signal identification and 

evaluation for risk of febrile seizures in children following trivalent 

m·activated influenza vaccine in the Vaccine Safety Datalink Project, 2010-

2011. Vaccine. 2012;30(11):2024-2031. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.01.027 

26. CDC. Recommendation of the Adviso1y Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) for use of quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunoblologlcs 42 



(MenACWY-D) among children aged 9 through 23 months at increased risk 

for invasive meningococcal disease. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly .Rep. 

2011; 60(40) :1391-1392. 

27. CDC. Use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine for adults with immunocompromising 

conditions: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2012;61(40) :816-819. 

28. CDC. Use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine among children aged 6-18 years with 

jmmunocompromising conditions: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) . MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 2013;62(25):521-524. 

29. Tomczyk S, Bennett NM, Stoecker C, et al. Use of 13-valent pneumococc91 

conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine among 

adults aged>/ ;::;65 years: recommendatiOJjlS of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2014;63(37) :822-825, 
/ 

30. CDC. Recommended immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 

years-United States, 2011. MMWRMorb Mortal TtV/cly Rep. 2011;60(5):1-4. 

31. Shinefield HR, Black S, Ray P, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of 

heptavalent pneumococcal CRM197 conjugate vaccine in infants and toddlers. 

Pediat,• Infect Dis J. 1999;18(9):757-763. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-

199909000-00004 

32. CDC. Pertussis vaccination: use of acellular pertussis vaccines among infants 

and young children. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP).MMWR Recomm Rep. 1997;46(RR-7):1-25. 

33. Broder KR, C01tese MM, Iskander JK, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, 

and pertussis among adolescents: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria 

toxoid and acellular pertussis vaccines recommendations of the Advis01y 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

200 6; 5 5(RR-3): 1.-34. 

General [lest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 43 



34. Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention of pneurnococcal disease among infants 

and children - use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pnemnococcal polysaccharide vaccine - recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2010;59(RR-11) :1-18, 

35. Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fime AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization 

strategy to eliminate trnnsmission of ~epatitis B virus infection in the United 

States: recommendations of the Advis01y Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 

36. Committee on Infectious Diseases, Recommended childhood and adolescent 

immunization schedules- United States, 2010, Pediatrics. 2010;125(1) :195-

196. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2009-3194 

37. CDC. Recommended adult immunization schedule-United States, 2011. 

MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2011;60(4):1-4. 

38. Woodin KA, Rodewald LE, Humiston SG, Carges MS, Schaffe1: SJ, Szilagyi PG. 

Physician and parent opinions. Are children becoming pincushions from 

immunizations? Arch Pediatr Adolesc Mecl. 1995;149(8):845-849, DOI: 

10.1001/archpedi.1995.02170210019003 

39. Kuppermann M, Nease RF, Jr., Ackerson LM, Black SB, Shinefield HR, Lieu 

TA. Parents' preferences for outcomes associated with childhood vaccinations. 

Pedialr Infect Dis J. 2000;19(2):129-133. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-

200002000-00010 

40. Meyerhoff A, Jacobs RJ, Greenberg DP, Yagoda B, Castles CG. Clinician 

satisfaction with vaccination visits and the role of multiple injections, results 

from the COVISE Stndy(Combination Vaccines Impact on Satisfaction and 

Epidemiology). Clif1:Pediatr (Phila). 2004;43(1):87-93. 

41. Marshall GS, Happe LE, Lunacsek OE, et al. Use of combination vacciues is 

associated with improved coverage rates. Pecliatr Infect Dis J. 

2007;26(6):496-500. DOI: 10.1097/INF.obo13e31805d7ft7 

42. I<alies H, Grote V, Verstraeten T, Hessel L, Schmitt HJ, von Kries R. The use 

of combination vaccines has improved timeliness of vaccination in children. 

General Best Practice Guldellnes for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 44 



Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2006;25(6):507-512. DOI: 

10.1097 / oLinf.0000222413,47344,23 

43. Happe LE, Lunacsek OE, K:rnzikas DT, Marshall GS. Impact of a pentavalent 

combination vaccine on immunization timeliness in a state Medicaid 

population. Pecliatr Infect Dis J. 2009;28(2):98-101. DOI: 

10.1097/INF.obo13e318187do47 

44, Marin M, Broder KR, Temte JL, Snider DE, Seward JF. U~.e of combination 

measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella: vaccine: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 2010;59(RR-3):1-12. 

45. Thompson LA, Irigoyen M, Matiz LA, LaRussa PS, Chen S, Chimkin F. The 

impact of DTaP-IPV-HB vaccine on use of health services for young infants. 

Pecliatr Infect Dis J. 2006;25(9):826-831. DOI: 

10.1097 / 01.inf.0000232635.81312.o 6 

46. Cohn AC, MacN eil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of 

meningococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-2):1-28. 

47, Weniger BG, Chen RT, Jacobson SR, et al. Addressing the challenges to 

immunization practice with an economic algorithm for vaccine selection. 

Vaccine. 1998;16(19):1885-1897. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(98)00170-4 

48. Liang J, Wallace G, Mootrey G. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetanus toxoids 

and a cellular pertussis adsorbed and inactivated poliovirus vaccine and 

guidance for use as a booster dose. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Report 

2015;64: 948-9. 

49. CDC. FDA approval of a Haemophilus b Conjugate Vaccine combined by 

reconstitution with an acellular pertussis vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 1996;£1-5(45):993-995. 

50. CDC. FDA approval for a ~ombined hepatitis A and J3 vaccine. MMWR Morb 

Mortal Wkly Rep. 2001;50(37):806-807. 

51. CDC. FDA licensure of diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and a cellular pertussis 

adsorbed, hepatitis n (recombinant), and poliovirus vaccine combined, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologlcs 45 



(PEDIARIX) for use in infants. MMWR Morb Mortal W!cly Rep. 

2003;52(10):203-204. 

52. CDC. Licensure of a combined live attenuated measles, mumps, rubella, and 

varicella vaccine. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2005;54(47):1212-1214. 

53. CDC. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis 

adsorbed and inactivated poliovirus vaccine and guidance for use as a booster 

dose . .MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2008;57(39):1078-1079. 

54. CDC. Licensure of a diphtheria and tetan1:1s toxoids and acellular pertussis 

adsorbed, inactivated poliovirus, and haemophilns B conjugate vaccine and 

guidance for use in infants and children. MMWR Morb Mortal W!cly Rep. 

2008;57(39):1079-1080. 

55. Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General 

recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Adviso1y 

Comrp.ittee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011:1-

60. 

56. Plotkin SA. Vaccines: correlates of vaccine-induced immunity. Clin Infect Dis. 

2008;47(3):401-409. DOI: 10.1086/589862 

57. Lane KS, Chu SY, Santoli JM. The United States pediatric vaccine stockpile 

program. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious 

Diseases Society ofAmerica. 2006i42 Suppl 3:S125-129. DOI: 

10.1086/ 499591 

58. Midthun K, Horne AD, Goldenthal KL. Clinical safety evaluation of 

combination vaccines. Dev Biol Stand. 1998;95:245-249. 

59, Pichichero ME, Blatter MM, Reisinger KS, et al. Impact of a birth dose of 

hepatitis B vaccine on the reactogenicity and immunogenicity of diphtheria

tetanus-acell ular pertussis-hepatitis B-inacti vated polio virus-II aemophilus 

influenzae type b combination vaccination. PediatT Infect- Dis J. 

2002;21( g) :854-859. DOI: 10.1097 / ~1.inf.o 000027669 .37444.24 

60. CDC. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 
, 

Commit.tee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

1997;46(RR-8):1-24. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmuhization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 46 



61. Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. 

Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

62. Petralli JK, Merigan TC, Wilbur JR. Action of endogenous interferon against 

vaccinia infection in children. Lancet. 1965;2(7409):401-405. DOI: 

10.1016/S0140-6736(65)90755-5 

63. Peh·al1i JK, Merigan TC, Wilbur JR. Circulating interferon after measles 

vaccination. N Engl J Med. 1965;273:198-201. DOI: 

10.1056/nejm196507222730405 

64. Verstraeten T, Jumaan AO, Mullooly JP, et al. A retrospective cohort study of 

the association of varicella vaccine failui'e with asthma, steroid use, age at 

vaccination, and measles-mumps-rubella vaccination. Pediatrics. 

2003;112(2):e98-103. DOI: 10.1542/peds.112.2.e98 

65. CDC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 1994;43(RR-1):1-38. 

66. Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR fecomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32<H· 

67. Siber GR, Werner BG, Halsey NA, et al. Interference of immune globulin with 

measles and rubella immunization. J Pediab·. 1993;122(2):204-211. DOI: 

10.1016/Soo22-3476(06)80114-9 

68. Mason WH, Schneider TL, Takahashi M. Duration of passively acquired 

measles antibody and response to live virus vaccination allowing gamma 

globulh1 therapy for Kawasaki syndrome. Frog Pediatr Cardiol. 1992; 1(1) :82. 

DOI: 10.1016/S1058-9813(06)80067-6 

69. Kaplan JE, Nelson DB, Schonberger LB, et al. The effect of immune globnlin 

on the response to trivalent oral poliovirus and yellow fever vaccinations. Bull 

World Health Organ. 1984;62(4) :585-59 o. 

70. Black NA, Parsons A, Kurtz JI3, McWhinney N, Lacey A, Mayon-White RT. 

Post-partum rµbella immunisation: a controlled trial of two vaccines. Lancet. 

1983;2(8357):990-992. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(83).90979-o 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologics 47 



71. CDC. Control and prevention of rubella: evaluation and management of 

suspected outbreaks, rubella in pregnant women, and surveillance for 

congenital rubella syndrome. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2001;5o(RR-12):1-23. 

72. Siber GR, Snydman DR. Use of immune globulin in the prevention and 

treatment of :infections. In: Remington J, Swartz M, eds. Current clinical 

topics in infectious diseases. Vol 12. Malden, MA: Blackwell Science; 1992. 

73. Greenberg DP, Lieberman JM, Marcy SM, et al. Enhanced antibody responses 

in infants given different sequences of heterogeneous Haemophilus 

infiuenzae 1.ype b coujugate vaccines. J Pediatr. 1995;126(2):206-211. DOI: 

10.1016/Soo22-3476(95)70546-5 

74. Anderson EL, Decker MD, Englund JA, et al. Interchangeability of conjugated 

Haemophilus influenzae type b vaccines in infants. JAMA. 1995;273(11):849-

853. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1995.03520350031024 

75. Piazza M, Abrescia N, Picciotto L, et al. [Demonstration of the 

interchangeability of 2 types of recombinant anti-hepatitis-B vaccine]. Boll 

Soc Ital Biol Sper. 1993;69(4):273-280. 

76. Bryan JP, Henry CH, Hoffman AG, et al. Randomized, cross-over, contl'olled 

comparison of two inactivated hepatitis A vaccines. Vaccine. 2000;19(7-

8):743-750. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(oo)oo301-7 

77. Greenberg DP, Pickering LK, Senders SD, et al. Intercbangeahility of 2 

diphtheria-tetanus-acellular pe1tussis vaccines in infancy. Pediatrics. 

2062;109(4):666-672. DOI: 10.1542/peds.109-4.666 

78. CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular perlussis vaccine as a 

five-dose series. Supplemental recommendations of the Advisory Committee 

on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13):1-

8. 

79. FioreAE, Uyeki TM, Broder K, et al. Prevention and control of influenza with 

vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP), 2010. MMWRRecomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-8):1-62. 

80. McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, Wallace GS. Prevention of measles, 

rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spacing of lmmunobiologlcs 48 



recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-4);1-34, 

81. Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal 

influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP)-United States, 2014-15 influenza season. 

MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2014;63(32) :691-697, 

82. American Academy of Pediatrics. Active Immunization. In: Pickering L, Baker 

C, Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole: 2012 Report of the Committee on 

Infectious Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of 

Pediatric; 2012. 

I 

Gen em I Best Practice Gtlidelines for Immunization: Timing and Spadng of lmmunobiologics 49 



4. Contraindications and Precautions 

Updates 

Major changes to the best practice guidance in this section include 1) enhancement of 

the definition of a "precaution" to include any condition that might confuse diagnostic 

accmacy and 2) recommendation to vaccinate during a hospitalization if a patient is not 

acutely moderately or severely ill. 

General Principles 

Contraindications (conditions in a recipient that increases the risk for a serious adverse 

reaction) and precautions to vaccination are conditions under which vaccines should not 

be administered. Because the majority of contraindications and precautions are 

temporary, vaccinations often can be administered later when the condition leading to a 

contraindication or precaution no longer exists. A vaccine should not be administered 

when a contraindication is present; for example, MMR vaccine should not be 

administered to severelyimmunocompromised persons (1). However, certain conditions 

are commonly misperceived as contraindications (i.e., are not valid reasons to defer 

. vaccination). 

National standards for pediatric vaccination practices have been established and include 

descriptions of valid contraindications and precautions to vaccination (2). Persons who 

administer vaccines should screen patients for contraindications and precautions to the 

vaccine before each dose of vaccine is administered (Table 4-1). Screening is facilitated 

by consistent use of screening questionnaires, which are available from certain state 

vaccination programs and other sources (e.g., the Immunization Action Coalition, 

http://www.immunize.org). 

Severely immunocompromised persons generally should not receive live vaccines (3). 

Because of the theoretical risk to the fetus, women lmown to be pregnant generally 

should not receive live, attenuated virus vaccines (4). Persons who experienced 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 50 



encephalopathy within 7 days aft~r administration of a previous dose of pertussis

containing vaccine not attributable to another identifiable cause should not receive 

additional doses of a vaccine that contains pertussis (4,5). Severe Combined 

Immunodeficiency (SCID) disease and a hist my of intussusception are both 

contraindications to the receipt of rotavirus vaccines (6). 

A precaution is a condition in a recipient that might increase the risk for a serious 

adverse reaction, might ca~se diagnostic confusion, or might compromise the ability of 

the vaccine to produce immunity (e.g., administering measles vaccine to a person with 

. passive immunity to rneasles from a blood transfusion administered up to 7 months 

prior) (7). A person might experience a more severe reaction to the vaccine than would 

have othenvise been expected; however, the risk for this happening is less than the risk 

expected with a contraindication. In general, vaccinations should be deferred when a 

precaution is present. However, a vaccination might be indicated in the presence of a 

precaution if the benefit of protection from the vaccine outweighs the risk for an adverse 

reaction. 

The pres~nce of a moderate or severe acute illness with or without a fever is a precaution 

to administration of all vaccines (Table 4-1), The decision to administer or delay 

vaccination because of a current or recent acute illness depends on the severity of 

symptoms and etiology of the condition. The safety and efficacy of vaccinating persons 

who have mild illnesses have been documented (8-11). Vaccination should be deferred 

for per~ons with a moderate or severe acute illness. This precaution avoids causing 

diagnostic confusion between manifestations of the underlying illness and possible 

adverse effects of vaccination or superimposing adverse effects of the vaccine on the 

underlying illness. After they are screened for contraindications, persons with moderate 

or severe acute illness should be vaccinated as soon as the acute i1h1ess has improved. 

Studies indicate that failure to vaccinate children with minor illnesses can impede 

vaccination efforts (12- 14). Among persons whose compliance with medical care cannot 

be ensured, use of every opportunity to administer appropriate vaccines is critical. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 51 



Hospitalization should be used as an opportunity to provide recommended vaccinations. 

Health-care facilities are held to standards of offering influenza vaccine for hospitalized 

patients, so providers are incentivized to vaccinate these patients at some point during 

hospitalization (15). Likewise, patients admitted for elective procedures Vvill not be . 
acutely ill during all times during their hospitalization. Most studies that have explored 

the effect of surgery or anesthesia on the immune system were observational, included 

only infants and children, and were small and indirect, in that they did not look at the 

immune effect on the response to vaccination specifically (16-35) . They do not provide 

convincing evidence that recent ane'sthesia or surgecy significantly affect response to 

vaccines. Current, recent, or upcoming anesthesia/surgery /hospitalization is not a 

contraindication to vaccination (16-35). Efforts should be made to ensure vaccine 

administration during the hospitalization or at discharge. For patients who are deemed 

moderately or severely ill throughout the hospitalization, vaccination should occur at 

the eru:liest opportunity (i.e., during immediate post-hospitalization follow-up care, 

including home or office visits) when patients' clinical symptoms have improved. 

A personal or family history of seizures is a precaution for MMRV vaccination; this is 

because a recent study found an increased risk for febrile seizures in children 12-23 

months who receive MMRV compared with MMR and varicella vaccine (36) . 

Clinicians or other health-care providers might misperceive certain conditions or 

circumstances as valid contraindications or precautions to vaccination when they 

actually do not preclude vaccination (2) (Table 4-2). These misperceptions result in 

missed opportunities to administer recommended vaccines (37) . 

Routine physical examinations and procedures (e.g., measuring temperatures) are not 

prerequisites for vaccinating persons who appear to be healthy. The provider should ask 

the parent or guardian if the child is ill. If the child has a moderate or severe illnes·s, the 

vaccination should be postponed. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 52 



'--

TABLE 4-1. Contraindications and precautions(a) to commonly used vaccines 

Vaccine Citation Conh·ainclications Precautions 

DT,Td (4) Severe allergic reaction GBS <6 weeks after previous dose of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after tetanus-toxoid-containing vaccine 
a previous dose or to a History of Arthus-type 
vaccine component hypersensitivity reactions after a 

previous dose of diphtheria-toxoid-
containing or tetanus-toxoid-
containing vaccine; defer vaccination 
until at least 10 years have elapsed 
since the last tetanus-toxoid-
containing vaccine 
Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

DTaP (38). Severe allergic reaction Progressive neurologic disorder~ 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after including infantile spasms, 
a previous dose or to a uncontrolled epilepsy, progressive 
vaccine component encephalopathy; defer DTaP until 

Encephalopathy (e.g., neurologic status clarified and 

coma, decreased level of stabilized 

consciousness, Temperature of :?:105°F (~40.5°C) 
prolonged seizures), not within 48 hours after vaccination with 
attdbutable to another a previous dose of DTP or DTaP 
identifiable cause, Collapse or shock-like state (i.e., 
within 7 days of hypotonic hyporesponsive episode) 
administration of within 48 hours after receiving a 
previous dose of DTP or previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
DTaP Seizure ~3 days after receiving a 

previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
Persistent, inconsolable crying lasting 
:?:3 hours within 48 hours after 
receiving a previous dose of 
DTP/DTaP 
GBS < 6 weeks after previous dose of 
tetanus-toxoid-containing vaccine 
History of .Arthus-type 
hypersensitivity reactions after a 
previous dose of diphtheria-toxoid-
containing or tetanus-toxoid-
containing vaccine; defer vaccination 
until at least 10 years have elapsed 

General Best Practice Guldelines for lmmu.nlzalion: Contraindications and Precautions 53 



since the last tetanus-toxoid-
containing vaccine 
Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

Hepatitis A (39) Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after or without fever 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 

Hepatitis B (40) Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after or without fever 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Hypersensitivity to yeast 

Hib (41) Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after or without fever 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Age <6 weeks 

HPV (42) Severe allergic reaction Pregnancy 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after Moderate or severe acute illness with 
a previous dose or to a or without fever 
vaccine component 

IIV (43) Severe allergic reaction GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after influenza vaccine 
previous dose of Moderate or severe acute illness with 
influenza vaccine or to or without fever 
vaccine component. Egg allergy other than hives, e.g., 

angioedema, respiratory distress, 
lightheadedness, recurrent emesis; or 
required epinephrine or another 
emergency medical intervention (IIV 
may be administered in an inpatient 
or outpatient medical setting and 
under the supervision of a health care 
provider who is able to recognize and 
manage severe allergic conditions). 

IPV (44) Severe allergic reaction Pregnancy 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 54 



a previous dose or to a Moderate or severe acute illness with 
vaccine component or without fever 

LAfV(b) (43) Severe allergic reaction GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after influenza vaccine 
a vaccine component, Asthma in persons aged 5 years old or 
including egg protein older 
Concomitant use of Medical conditions which might 
aspiring or aspirin- predispose to higher risk of 
containing medication complications attributable to 
in children and influenza(c) 
adolescents Moderate of severe acute illness with 

or without fever 

MenACWY (45) Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after or without fever 

' 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 

MMR(d),(e) (1) Severe allergic reaction Recent (:;:;11 months) receipt of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after antibody-containing blood product 
a previous dose or to a (specific interval depends on product) 
vaccine component History of thrombocytopenia or 
Pregnancy thrombocytopenic purpura 
Known severe Need for tuberculin skin testing or 
immunodeficiency (e.g., interferon-gamma release assay 
from hematologic ~ncl (IGRA) testingCg) 
solid tumors, receipt of Moderate or severe acute illness with 
chemotherapy, or without fever 
congenital 
itnmunodeficiency, 
long-term 
immunosuppressive 
therapyCf) or patients 
with HIV infection who 
are severely 
immunocompromised) 

MPSV4 (46) Severe allergic reaction Moderate 01· severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after or without fever 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 

PCV13 (47) Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after or without fever 

General Best Practice Gu[dellnes for lmmu11irntion: Contraindications and Precautions 55 



a previous dose of 
PCV13 or any 
diphtheria-toxoid-
containing vaccine or to 
a component of a 
vaccine (PCV13 or any 
diphtheria-toxoid-
containing vaccine) 

PPSV23 (48) Severe allergic reaction Moderate or severe acute illness with 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after or without fever 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 

RIV (43) Severe allergic reaction GBS <6 weeks after a previous dose of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) to influenza vaccine 
any component of the Moderate or severe acute illness with 
vaccine or without fever 

Rotavirus (6) Severe allergic reaction Altered immunocompetence other 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after thanSCID 
a previous dose or to a Chronic gastrointestinal diseasec1i> 
vaccine component Spina bifida or bladder exstrophyCJ•l 
SCID Modei-ate or severe acute illness with 
History of or without fever 
· intussusception 

Tdap (49) Severe allergic reaction GBS < 6 weeks after a previous dose of 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after tetanus-toxoid- containing vaGcine 
a previous dose or to a Progressive or unstable neurological 
vaccine component disorder, uncontrolled seizures, or 
Encephalopathy (e.g., progressive encephalopathy until a 
coma, decreased level of treatment regimen has been 
consciousness, established and the condition has 
prolonged seizures), not stabilized 
attributable to another History of Arthus-type 
identifiable cause, hypersensitivity reactions after a 
within 7 days of previous dose of diphtheria-toxoid-
administration of containing or tetanus-toxoid-
previous dose of DTP, containing vaccine; defer vacci:q.ation 
DTaP, or Tdap until at least 10 years have elapsed 

since the last tetanus-toxoid-
containing vaccine 

General Best Practice Guldelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 56 



Varicella(d),(e (50) 
) 

Zoster (51) 

Severe allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Known severe 
immunodeficiency (e.g., 
from hematologic and 
solid tumors, receipt of 
chemotherapy, 
congenital 
immunodeficiency, 
long-term . . 
1mmunosuppress1ve 
therapy(f) or patients 
with HIV infection who 
am severely 
im.munocompromised)C•> 
Pregnancy 

Severe allergic reaction 
(e.g., anaphylaxis) after 
a previous dose or to a 
vaccine component 
Known severe. 
immunodeficiency (e.g., 
from hematologic and 
solid tumors, receipt of 
chemotherapy, 
congenital 
immunodeficiency, 
long-term 
immunosuppressive 
therapyCfJ or patients 
with HIV infection who 
are severely 
immunocompromised)CeJ 
Pregnancy 

Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

Recent (:,;;11 months) receipt of 
antibody-containing blood product 
(specific interval depends on product) 
Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

Moderate or severe acute illness with 
or without fever 

Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanustoxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and accllular pertussis; 
DTP = diphtheria toxoid, tetanus toxold, and pertussis; GBS "' Guillain-Barre syndrome; Hib "'Haemophilus injluenzae 
type b; HIV= human immunodeficiency virus; HPV = human papillomavims; IIV = inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV == 
inactivated po1iovirus; LAIV = Jive, attenuated influenza vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate 
vaccine; MMR"' measles, mumps, and mbella; MPSV4 = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCV13 = 
pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; SCID = severe combined 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 57 



immunodeficiency; RIV=recombinant influenza vaccine; Td = tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, 
reduced diphtheria toxoid, and aceJlular pertussis. 

<•J Events or conditions listed as precautions should be reviewed carefully. Benefits of and risks for administering a 
specific vaccine to a person under these circumstances should be considered. If the risl< from the vaccine is believed to 
outweigh the benefit, the vaccine should not be administered. If the benefit of vaccination is believed to outweigh the risk, 
the vaccine should be administered. Whether and when to administer DTaP to children with proven or suspected 
underlying neutologic disorders should be decided on a case-by-case basis. 

(bJ In addition, ACIP recommends LAIV not be used for pregnant women, immunosuppressed persons, persons with egg 
allergy, and children aged 2-4 years who have asthma onvho have hacl a whee1.ing episode noted in the medical record 
within the past 12 months, or for whom parents report Urnt a health-care provider stated that they had wheezing or 
asthma within the 1ast 12 months. LAIV should not be administered to persons who have taken influenza antiviral 
medications within the previous 48 hours. Persons who care for severely immunosnppressed persons who require a 
protective environment should not receive LAN, or should avoid contact with such persons for 7 days after receipt. 

(e)som·cc: (s2). 

(dl HIV-infected children may receive varicella vaccine if CD4 + T-lymphocyte count is ~15% and should receive MMR 
vaccine if they are aged a2 months and do not have evidence of current severe immunosuppression (Le., individuals aged 
s5 years must have CD4+ T lymphocyte [CD4] percentages :1:15% for ~6 months; and individuals aged >s years must have 
CD4+percentages ~15% and CD4+~200 lymphocytes/mmJ for ~6 months) 01· other current evi9,ence of measles, rubella, 
and mumps immunity. In cases when only CD4+cell counts or only CD4+percentages are available for those older than 
age 5 yearn, the assessment of severe immunosupprcssion can be based on the CD4+values (count or percentage) that are 
available. In cases when CD4+percentages are not available for those aged s.5 years, the assessment of severe 
immunosuppression can be based on age-specific CD4+counts at the time CD4+counts were measured; i.e., absence of 
severe immunosuppression is defined as ;:,,6 months above age-specific CD4-tcount criteria: CD4+count >750 
lymphocytes/mmJ while aged s12 months and CD4+count :>:5001ymphocytes/mm3 while aged 1 through 5 years. 
Sources: (1,50). 

(el MMR and varicella-containing vaccines can be administered on the same dity. If not administered on the same day, 
these vaccines should 1Je separnted by at least 28 days. 

({) A substantially immunosnppressive steroid dose is considered to be ~2 weeks of daily receipt of 20 mg or 2 mg/kg body 
weight ofprednisone or equivalent. 

(gJ If active tuberculosis is suspected, MMR should be delayed. Measles vaccination might suppress tuberculin reactivity 
temporarily. Measles-containing vaccine can be administered on the same day its tuberculin skin or IGRA tesling. If 
testing cannot be performed until after the day ofMMR vaccination, the test should be postponed for ~4 weelcs after the 
vaccination. Ifan urger~t need ex.ists to skin test or IGRA, do so with Urn understundingthat reactivity might be reduced 
by the vaccine. · 

(h) For details, see (53). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions S8 



TABLE 4-2. Conditions incorrectly perceived as contraindications to 
vaccination (i.e., vaccines may be given under these conditions) 
Vaccine Conditions commonly misperceived as 

contraindications 
Gener.al for all Mild acute illness with or without fever 
vaccines, including Mild to moderate local reaction (i.e., swelling, redness, 
DTaP, pediah·ic DT, soreness); low-grade or moderate fever after previous dose 
adultTd, Lack of previous physical examjnation in well-appearing 
adolescent-adult person 
Tdap, IPV, MMR, Current antimicrobial therapyCa) 
Hib, hepatitis A, Convalescent phase of illness 
hepatitis B, Preterm birth (hepatitis B vacdne is an exception in certain 
varicella, rotavirus, circumstances)Cb) 
PCV13, IIV, LA.TV, Recent exposure to an infectious disease 
PPSV23, History of penicillin allergy, other nonvaccine allergies, 
MenACWY, MPSV 4, relatives with allergies, or receiving allergen extract 
HPV, and herpes immunotherapy 
wster Histoiy of GBS(c) 

DTaP Fever of <105°F ( <40,5°C), fussiness or mild drowsiness after a 
previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
Family history of seizures 
Family history of sudden infant death syndrome 
Family history of an adverse event after DTP or DTaP 
administration 
Stable neurologic conditions (e.g., cere~ral palsy, well-
controlled seizures, or developmental delay) 

Hepatitis B Pregnancy 
Autoimmune disease (e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus or 
rheumatoid arthritis) 

HPV Immunosuppression 
Previous equivocal or abnormal Papanicolaou test 
Known I-IPV infection 
Breastfeeding 
History of genital warts 

IIV Nonsevere (e.g., contact) allergy to latex, thimerosal, or egg 
Concurrent administration of Coumadin (generic: warfarin) or 
aminophylline 

IPV Previous receipt of ~1 dose of oral polio vaccine 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 59 



LAJV Health-care providers that sec patients with chronic diseases 
or altered immunocompetence (an exception is providers for 
severely immunocompromised patients requiring care in a 
protected environment) 
Breastfeeding 
Contacts of persons with chronic disease or altered 
immunocompetence (an exception is contacts of severely 
immunocompromised patients requiring care in a protected 
environment) 

MMR(dJ,CeJ Positive tuberculin skin test 
Simultaneous tuberculin skin or interferon-gamma release 
assay (IGRA) testing(f) 
Breastfeeding 
Pregnancy of recipient's mother or other close or household 
contact 
Recipient is female of child-bearing age 
Immunodeficient family member or household contact 
Asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic HIV infection 
Allergyto eggs 

PPSV23 History of invasive pneumococcal disease or pneumonia 
Rotavirus Prematurity 

Immunosu ppressed household contacts 
Pregnant household contacts 

Tdap History of fever of ~105°F (~40.5°C) for <48 hours after 
vaccination with a previous dose of DTP or DTaP 
Hist01y of collapse or shock-like state (i.e., hypotonic 
hyporesponsive episode) within 48 hours after receiving a 
previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
Hist01y of seizure <3 days after receiving a previous dose of 
DTP/DTaP 
Histo1y of persistent, inconsolable crying lasting > 3 hours 
within 48 hours after receiving a previous dose of DTP /DTaP 
History of extensive limb swe1lh1g after DTP /DTaP /Td that is 
not an Arthus-type reaction 
Histo1y of stable neurologic disorder 
History of brachial neuritis 
Latex allergy that is not anaphylactic 
Breastfeeding 
Immunosuppression 

Varicella Pregnancy of recipient's mother or other close or household 
contact 
Immunodeficient family member or household contact(g) 
Asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic HIV infection 
Humoral immunodeficiency (e.g., agammaglobulinernia) 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 60 



Zoster Therapy with low-dose methotrexate (~0.4 mg/kg/week), 
azathioprine (~3.0 mg/kg/day), or 6-mercaptopurine (~1.5 
mg/kg/ day) for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, 
polymyositis, sarcoidosis1 inflammatory bowel disease, or other 
conditions 
Health-care providers of patients with chronic diseases or 
altered immunocompetence 
Contacts of patients with chronic diseases or altered 
immunocompetence 
Unknown or uncertain history of varice11a in a U.S.-born 
person 

Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTP = diphtheria toxoid, tetanus toxoid, and pertussis; 
DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis; GBS = Guillain-Barre syndrome; HBsAg = hepatitis 
D sut"facc antigen; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HIV = human immunodeficiency virus; HPV = human 
papillomavirus; IIV = inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza 
vaccine; MenACWY = quadrivaleul meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, ancl rubella; 
MPSV4 = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCV = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= 
pneumococcal polysaccharidc vaccine; Td = tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoicl, reduced 
diphtheria toxoicl, and a cellular pertussis. 

C•l Ant.ibacterial drugs might interfere with Ty21a oral typhoi<l vaccine, and certain antiviral clrugs might interfere 
with val'icella-containing vaccines and LAN 4. · 

Cbl Hepatitis B vaccination should be deferred for infants weighing <2,000 g if the mother is documented to be 
HBsAg negative. Vaccination should commence at chronological age 1 month Ol' ut hospital discharge. li'or infants 
born to HTisAg-positive women, hepatitis B immune globulin and hepatitis B vacci!1e shoulcl be administered 
within 12 hours after birth, regarclless of weight. 

(cl An exception is Guillain-Barr6 syndrome within 6 weeks of a dose of influenza vaccine or tctanus-toxoid
containing vaccine, which are precautions for influenza vaccines and tetanus-toxoid containing vaccines, 
respectively. 

CdJ MMR and varicella vaccines can be admh1istered on tlrc same day. If not administered on the same day, tl1ese 
vaccines should he separated by at least 28 days. 

C•l HIV-infected children should receive immune globulin after exposure to measles. HIV-infected children can 
receive varice1Ja and measles vaccine if CD4+ T-lymphocyte count is >15%. (54). 

(O Measles vaccination might suppress tuberculin reactivity temporarily. Measles-containing vaccine can be 
administered on the same day as tuberculin skin or IGRA testing. If testing cannot be performed until after the day 
of MMR vaccination, the test should be postponed for at least 4 weeks after the vaccination. If an urgent need 
exists to skin test or IGRA, clo so with the understanding that reactivity might be reduced by the vaccine. 

Ci:l If a vaccinee experiences a presumed vaccine-related rnsh 7-25 days after vaccination, the person should avoid 
direct contact with immunoc;omprnmised persons for the duration of the rash. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindieritions and Precautions 61 



REFERENCES 

1. McLean HQ, FiebelkomAP1 Temte JLJ Wallace GS. Prevention of measles, 

rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary 

recommendations of the Advisory ·committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MM'WR Recomm Rep, 2013;62(RR-4):1-34. 

2. National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Standards for child and adolescent 

immunization practices. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4):958_-963. 

3. Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for 

vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(3) :e44-

100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 

4, Kroger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: Plotkin 

S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 6th ed. China: Elsevier Saunders; 2013:88-

111. 

5. CDC. Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use and 

other preventive measures. Recommendations of the Immunization Practices 

Advisory Committee (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-10):1-28. 

6. CDC. Addition of history of intussusception as a contraindication for rotavirns 

vaccination. MMWRMorb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2011;60(41):1427. 

7. Siber GR, Werner BG, Halsey NA, et al. Interference of immune globulin with 

measles and rubella immunization. J Pediatr. 1993;122(2):204-211. DOI: 

10.1016/S0022-3476(06)801.14-9 

8. Halsey NA, Boulos R, Mode F, et al. Response to measles vaccine in Haitian 

infants 6 to 12 months old. Influence of maternal antibodies, malnuh·ition, and 

concurrent illnesses. N Engl J Med. 1985;313(9):544-549. DOI: 

10.1056/nejm198508293130904 

9. Ndikuyeze A, Munoz A, Stewart J, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of measles 
< 

vaccine in ill African children. Int J Ep_idemiol. 1988;17(2):448-455. DOI: · 

10 .. 1093/~e/17.2-448 

10. Lindegren ML, Atkinson WL, Parizo KM, Stehr-Green PA. Measles vaccination in 

pediatric emergency departments during a measles outbreak. JAMA. 

1993;270(18):2185-2189. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1993.03510180055033 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 62 



11.· Atldnson W, Markowitz L, Baughman A, et al. Serologic response to measles 

vaccination among ill children [Abstract 422]. 32nd Interscience Conference on 

Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy; 1992; Anaheim, CA. 

12. Orenstein W, Rodewald L, Hinm~nA, Schuchat A. Immunization in the United 

States. In: Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 5th ed. China: 

Saunders/Elsevier; 2008:1479-1510. 

13. Lewis T, Osbotn LM, Lewis K, Brockert J, Jacobsen J, Cherry JD. Influence of 

parental knowledge and opinions on 12-month diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis 

vaccination rates.Am J Dis Child. 1988;142(3):283-286. DOI: 

10.1001/archpedi.1988.02150030053018 

14. Farizo KM, Stehr-Green.PA, Markowitz LE, Patriarca PA. Vaccination levels and 

missed opportunities for measles vaccination: a record audit in a public pediatric 

clinic. Pediatrics. 1992;89(4 Pt 1):589-592. 

15. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Overview of specifications of measures 

displayed on hospital compare as of December 14, 2006. 2006; 

http://www.ems .hhs .gov/Hospital Quality In its/ downloads/Hospital OverviewOfS 

pecs200512.pdf. Accessed 9 March, 2017. 

16. Donovan R, Soothill JF. Immunological studies in children undergoing 

tonsillectomy. Clin Exp Immunol. 1973;14(3) :347-357, 

17. Puri P, Reen DJ, Browne 0, Blake P, Guiney EJ. Lymphocyte response after 

surge1yin the neonate.Arch Dis Child. 1979;54(8):599-603. DOI: 

10.1136/adc.54.8.599 

18. Mollitt DL, Steele RW, ·Marmer DJ, Stevers Golladay E, Costas S. Surgically 

induced immunologic alterations in the child. J Pediatr Surg. 1984;19(6):818-

822. DOI: 10.1016/ Soo22-34 68(84) 80376-0 

19. Mollitt DL, Manner DJ, Steele RW. Age-dependent variation oflymphocyte 

function in the postoperative child. J Pedialr Surg. 1986;21(7):633-635. DOI: 

10.1016/Soo22-3468(86)80420-1 

20. Kurz R, Pfeiffer KP> Sauer H. Immunologic status in infants and children 

following surge1y. Infection. 1983;11(2):104-113. DOI: 10.1007/BF01641075 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 63 



21. Merry C, Puri P, Reen DJ. Effect of major surgery on neutrophil chemotaxis and · 

actin polymerization in neonates and children. J Pediatr Sllrg. 1997;32( 6) :813-

817. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3468(97)90626-6 

22. Platt MP, Lo;vat PE, Watson JG, Aynsley-Green A. The effects of anesthesia and 

surge1y on lymphocyte populations and function in infants and children. J 

Pedia.tr Surg. 1989;24(9):884-887. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3468(89)80588-3 

23. Mattila-Vuori A, Salo M, Iisalo E. Immune response in infants undergoing · 

application of cast: comparison of halothane and balanced anesthesia. Can J 

Anaesth. 1999;46(11):1036-1042. DOI: 10.1007jbfo3013198 

24-. Espanol T, Todd GB, Soothill JF. The effect of anaesthesia on the lymphocyte 

response to phytohaemagglutinin. Clin Exp Immunol. 1974;18(1):73-79. 

25. Hauser GJ, Chan MM, Casey WF, Midgley FM, Holbrook PR. Immune 

dysfunction in children after corrective surgery for congenital heart disease. Crit 

CareMed. 1991;19(7):874-881. 

26. Puri P, Lee A, Reen DJ. Differential susceptibility of neonatal lymphocytes to the 

hnmunosuppressive effects of anesthesia and surge1y. Pediatr Surg Int. 

1992;7(1):47-50. DOI: 10.1007/bfo0181002 

27. Hansen TG, Tonnesen E, Andersen JB, Toft P, Bendtzen K. The peri-operative 

cytoldne response in infants -and young children following major surge1y. Eur J 

Anaesthesiol. 1998;15(1):56-60. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2346.1998.00230.x 

28. Mattila-Vuori A, Salo M, Iisalo E, Pajulo 0, Viljanto J. Local and systemic 

immune response to surgery under balanced anaesthesia in children. Paediatr 

Anaesth. 2000;10(4):3·81-388 .. DOI: 10.1046/j.1460--9592.2000.00505.x 

29. Romeo C, CruccettiA, TuriacoA, et al. Monocyte and neutrophil activity after 

minor surgical stress. J Pediatr Surg. 2002;·37(5):741-744. DOI: 

10.1053/jpsu.2002.32268 

30. VuoriA, Salo M, Viljanto J, Pajulo 0, Plllkki K, Nevalainen T. Effects of post

operative pain treatment using non-steroidal anti-inflammatory analgesics, 

opioids or epidural blockade on systemic and local immune responses in 

children. Acta Anaesthesia[ Scand. 2004;48(6):738-749. DOI: .10.1111/j.1399-

6576.2004.00404.x 

General £lest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 64 



31. Siebert JN, Posfay-Barbe KM, Habre W, Siegrist CA. Influence of anesthesia on 

immune responses and its effect on vaccination in children: review of evidence. 

Paediat1· Anaesth. 2007;17(5):410-420. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2006.02120.x 

32. Currie J. Vaccination: is it a real problem for anesthesia and surgery? Paediatr 

Anaesth. 2006;16(5):501-503. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2006.01~98.x 

33. Siebert J, Posfay-Barbe KM, Habre W, Siegrist C-A. Author's reply. Paediatr 

Anaesth. 2007;17(12):1218-1220. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2007.02369.x 

34. Nafiu 00, Lewis I. Vaccination and anesthesia: more questions than answers. 

Paediatr Anaesth. 2007;17(12):1215-1215. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-

9592,2007.02318.x 

35. Short JA, Van Der Walt JH, Zoanelti DC. Author's reply. Paediatr Anaesth. 

2007;17(12):1215-1216. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-9592.2007.02321.x 

36. Madn M, Broder KR, Temte JL, Snider DE, Seward JF. Use of comb:ination 

measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella vacc:ine: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2010;59(RR-3):1-12. 

37. Szilagyi PG, Rodewald LE. Missed opportunities for immunizations: a review of 

the evidence. J Public Health Manag Pract. 1996;2(1):18-25. DOI: 

10.1097/00124784-199600210-00005 

· 38. CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular pertussis vaccine as a five

dose series. Supplemental recom:rnendations of the Adviso1y Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13):1-8. 

39, Fiore AE, Wasley A, Bell BP. Prevention of hepatitis A through active or passive 

immunization: recommendations of the Adviso1y Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWRRecomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-7):1-23. 

40. Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization strategy 

to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) 

part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. MMvVR Recomm Rep. 

2005;54(RR-16):1-31. 

41. .Briere EC, Rubin L, Moro PL, Cohn.A, Clark T, Messormier N. Prevention and 

control of Haemophilus injluenzae type b disease: recommendations of the 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 65 



advisory committee on immunization practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2014;63(RR-1):1-14. 

42. Markowit1, L, Dunne E, Saraiya M, et al. Hu:man papillomavirus vaccination: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWRRecommRep. 2014;63(RR-05):1-30. 

43. Grohskopf LA, Sokolow LZ, Olsen SJ, et al. Prevention and Control of Seasonal 

Influenza with Vaccines Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices - United States, 2016-17 Influenza Season. MMWR 

Recomm Rep 2016;65(No. RR-5):1-54. 

44. Prevots DR, Burr RK, Sutter RW, Murphy TV. Poliomyelitis prevention in the 

United States. Updated recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-5):1-22; 

quiz CE21-27. 

45. ColmAC, MacNeil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of meningococcal 

disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep, 2013;62(RR-2):1-28. 

46. Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. 

Recommendations of the Adviso1y Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWRRecomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

47. Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. Preventing pneumococcal 

disease among infants and young children. Recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Morb li1ortal Wlcly Rep. 

2000;49(RR-9):1-35. 

48. CDC. Prevention ofpneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

1997;46(RR-8):1-24. 

49. Broder KR, Cortese MM, Iskander JK, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, and 

pertussis among adolescents: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid 

and acellular pertussis vaccines recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-3):1-34. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 66 



50. Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention of variceUa: 

recommendations of the Advis01y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWRRecommRep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

51. Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster; 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

52. Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal 

influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the Advis01y Committee on 

Immunization .Practices (ACIP)-United States, 2014-15 influenza season. 

MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2014;63(32):691-697. 

53. Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants 

and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

54. American Academy of Pediatrics. Passive immunization. In: Pickering L, Baker C, 

Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole: 2012 Report" of the Committee on Infectious 

Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: .American Academy of Pediatrics; 2012. 

General Elest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Contraindications and Precautions 67 



5. Preventing and Managing Adverse 

Reactions 

Updates 

Major changes to the best practice guidance include 1) more descriptive characterization 

of anaphylactic allergy and 2) incorporation of protocols for managing adverse 

reactions. 

Benefit and Risk Communication 

Parents, guardians, legal representatives, and adolescent and adult patients should be 

informed about the benefits of and risks from vaccines in language that is culturally 

sensitive and at an appropriate educational level. Opportunity for questions should be 

provided before each vaccination. Discussion of the benefits of and risks from 

vaccination is sound medical practice and is requiTed by law. 

The National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (1) requires that vaccine information 

materials be developed for each vaccine covered by the Act (uscode.house.gov). These 

materials, known as vaccine information statements (VISs), must be provided by all 

public and private vaccination providers each time a vaccine is administered. Copies of 

VISs are available from state health authmities responsible for vaccinatiop and from 

CDC(http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/vis/index.html ). Translations ofVISs into 

languages other than English are available from certain state vaccination programs and 

from the Immunization Action Coalition website (http://www.immunize.org). The act 

does not require that a signature be obtained; however, documentation of consent might 

be recommended or required by certain state or local health authorities or school 

authorities. 

Some parents or patients question the need for or safety of vaccinations and want to 

discuss the risks from and benefits of certain vaccines, Some refuse certain vaccines or 

reject all vaccinations for personal or religious reasons. Having a basic understanding of 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmu nizatlon: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 68 



how patients and parents of patients view vaccine risk and developing effective 

approaches to address vaccine safely concerns are imperative for vaccination providers. 

Each person understands and reacts to vaccine information on the basis of different 

factors, including previous experience, education, personal values, method of data 

presentation, perceptions of the risk for disease and perceived ability to control these 

risks, and risk tolerance. In some circumstances, q.ecisions about vaccination are based 

on inaccurate information about risk pr;vided by the media and certain websites. 

Websites and other sources of vaccine information may be inaccurate or incomplete. 

Health care providers can be a pivotal source of science-based credible information by 

discussing with parents and patients the risks from and benefits of vaccines, which helps 

patients make informed decisions. 

When a parent or patient initiates a discussion about a perceived vaccine adverse 

reaction, the health care provider should discuss the specific concerns and provide 

factual information, using appropriate language. Effective, empathetic vaccine risk 

communication is essential in responding to misinformation and concerns, with health 

care providern recognizing that risk assessment and decision-maldng can be difficult 
I 

and confnsi.ng. Certain vaccines might be acceptable to a parent who is resistant to other 

vaccines. This partial acceptance can be used to facilitate additional communication. 

Their concerns can be addressed using the VIS and offering other resource materials 

(e.g., vaccination information from CDC: 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/v:is/index.html ). 

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) does not recom1illend that providers exclude 

from their practice patients whose parents or guardians question or refuse vaccination. 

However, an effective public health strategy is to identify common ground and discuss 

measures that need to be followed if the decision is to defer vaccination (2). Health care 

providers should reinforce key points about each vaccine, including safety, and 

emphasize risks for disease among unvaccinated children. Parents should be advised of 

state laws regarding ent1y to schools or child-care facilities, which might require that 

unvaccinated children be excluded from the facility during outbreaks 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 69 



(www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-

managers/ coverage/ schoolvaxview /requirements/index.html). These discussions 

should be documented in the patient's medical record, including the refusal to receive 

certain vaccines (i.e., informed refusal). When a vaccine is refused when first offered the 

provider should take the opportunity to offer tl1e vaccine again at the next visit. 

Preventing Adverse Reactions 

Vaccines are intended to produce active immunity to specific antigens. An adverse 

reaction is an undesirable side effect that occurs after a vaccination. Vaccine adverse 

reactions are classified as 1) local, 2) systemic, or 3) allergic (additional information is 

available at httw /www.fda.gQY), Local reactions (e.g., redness) are usually the least 

severe and most frequent. Systemic reactions ( e.g., fever) occur less frequently than 

local reactions, and severe allergic reactions (e.g., anaphylaxis) are the least frequent 

reactions. s·evere adverse reactions are rare (3). 

Some of the systemic reactions may be complicated by the onset of syncope. Syncope 

(vasovagal or vasodepressor reaction) can occur after vaccination and is most common 

among adolescents and young adults. In 2005, the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting 

System (VAERS) began detecting a trend of increasing syncope reports that coincided 

with the licensure of 3 vaccines for adolescents: human papillomavirus (HPV), 

MenACWY, and Tdap (4). 0£ particular concern among adolescents has been the risk for 

serious secondm;y injuries, including skull fracture and cerebral hemonhage. Of 463 . 

VAERS reports of syncope during January 1, 2005, to July 3;1., 2007, a total of 41 listed 

syncope with secondary injury with information on the timing after vaccination, and the 

majority of tliese syncope reports (76%) occurred among adolescents. Among all age 

groups, So% of reported syncope episodes occur within 15 minutes of vaccine 

administration (additional information is available at 

http://www.cdc.gov/vaccinesafety/concems/fainting.html ). Providers should take 

. appropriate measures to prevent injuries if a patient becomes weak or dizzy or loses 

consciousness. Adolescents and adults should be seated or lying down during 

vaccination. Vaccine providers, particularly when vaccinating adolescents, should 

General Best Practice Guidelines for.Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 70 



consider observing patients (with patients seated or lying down) for 15 minutes after 

vaccination to decrease the risk for injury should they faint (4). If syncope develops, 

patients should be observed until the symptoms resolve, 

Although allergic reactions are a common concern for vaccine providers, these reactions 

are uncommon and anaphylaxis following vaccines is rare, occurring at a rate of 

approximate!y one per million doses for many vaccines (5). Epinephrine and equipment 

for managing an airway should be available for immediate use (6). The best practice to 

prevent allergic reactions is to identify individuals at increased risk by obtaining a 

history of allergy to previous vaccinations·and vaccine components that might indicate 

an underlying hypersensitivity. Acute allergic reactions following vaccinations might be 

caused by the vaccine antigen, residual animal protein, antimicrobial agents, 

preservatives, stabilizers, or other vaccine components (7). Components of each vaccine 

are listed in the respective paekage insert. An extensive list of vaccine components and 

their use, as well as the vaccines that contain each component, has been published (8) 

and also is available from CDC 

(http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/pinkbook/ downloads/ appendices/bl excipient

table-2, pdf). Additional information and tables of potential allergens in different 

vaccines are available at(~ /www.vaccinesafety.edu/compo11e11ts-A1lergens.htm). 

The allergens identified in the history can be cross-checked against the allergens 

identified in package inserts. 

Managing Acute Vaccine Reactions 

Vaccine providers should be familiar with identifying immediate-type allergic reactions, 

including anaphylaxis, and be competent in treating these events at the time of vaccine 

administration. Providers should also have a plan in place to contact emergency medical 

services immediately in the event of a severe acute vaccine reaction. 

Allergic reactions can include: local or generalized urticaria (hives) or angioedema; 

respiratory compromise due to wheezing or swelling of the throat; hypotension; and 

shock. Immediate-imm~noglobulin E (IgE)-mediated (type 1) immune reactions., such 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 71 



as anaphylaxis, usually occm within minutes of parenteral administration and involve 

specific IgE interactions with discrete antigens (9110). Rapid recognition and initiation 

of treatment are required to prevent possible progression to respiratory failure or 

cardiovascular collapse. It is important to note that urticaria may not be present in all 

cases of anaphylaxis. For respiratory or cardiovascular symptoms, or other signs or 

symptoms of anaphylax:is, immediate intramuscular epinephrine is the treatment of 

choice (11,12). Additional doses of epinephrine as well as other drugs also might be 

indicated (Tables 5-1 and 5-2) (12). lf hypotension is present, the patient should be 

placed in a recumbent position with the legs elevated. Maintenance of the airway, 

oxygen administration, and intravenous normal saline might be necessary. After the 

patient is stabilized, arrangements should be made for immediate transfer to an 

emergency facility for additional evaluation and treatment. Because anaphylax:is may , 

recur after patients begin to recover, monitoring in a medical facility for several hours is 

advised, even after complete resolution of symptoms and signs. Additional information 

on management of patients with anaphylax:is has been published (9). 

Persons "Who I-Jave I-lad an Allergic ~eaction Following a 

Previous Immunization 

For an individual patient who has experienced an immediate reaction to immunization, 

it is important to identify the type of reaction that occurred, obtain a history of prior 

allergic reactions, and try to identify the particular agent responsible. An algorithm 

approach to these patients has been published (13) and additional advice is available for 

allergists on the evaluation of these adverse events (10). In general, a histo1y of a severe 

allergic reaction to a vaccine should be considered a contraindication to additional doses 

of the same vaccine (13). Referral of the individual to an allergist for evaluation is 

usually indicated to possibly determine the component responsible, before malting 

decisions regarding administration of the additional doses of the same vaccine 01· other 

vaccines that have the same components. Patients who have not had a severe allergic 

reaction following a vaccine, but who have a history of possible allergy to a vaccine 

component can often be vaccinated safely after careful evaluation ( 6). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmu nization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 72 



Influenza Vaccination of Persons with a llistory of Egg 

Allergy 

Severe allergic and anaphylactic reactions can occur in response to a number of 

influenza vaccine components, but such reactions are rare (6). All but the recombinant 

inactivated influenza vaccine may have come into contact with egg protein. The use of 

influenza vaccines for persons with a hist01y of egg allergy has been reviewed recently by 

ACIP (14). VAERS data mining did not identify a higher than expected proportion of 

serious allergic events after influenza vaccination during the 2011-2012 season, relative 

tb all othe1· reported vaccines and adverse events in the database. Persons with a histo1y 

of egg allergy should receive recombinant inactivated vaccine (if 18 years or older)J or 

IN with the following safety measure: vaccine recipients should be observed for at least 

30 minutes for signs of a reaction after administration of each vaccine dose . . 

Other measures, such as dividing and administering the vaccine by a 2-step approach 

and skin testing with vaccine, are not recommended (10). 

All vaccines should be administered in settings in which personnel and equipment for 

rapid recognition and treatment of anaphylaxis are available. ACIP recommends that all 

vaccination providers be certified in cardiopulmona1y resuscitation (CPR), have an 

office emergency plan, and ensure that all staff are familiar with the plan (6). Some 

persons who report allergy to egg might not be egg-allergic. Those who are able to eat 

lightly cooked egg ( e.g., scrambled egg) without reaction arc unlikely to be allergic. 

Egg-allergic persons might tolerate egg in baked products (e.g., bread or cake). 

Tolerance to egg-containing foods does not exclude the possibility of egg allergy (15). 

Egg allergy can be confirmed by a consistent medical history of adverse reactions to eggs 

and egg-containing foods, plus skin and/ or blood testing for IgE antibodies to egg 

proteins. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 73 



A previous severe allergic reaction to influenza vaccine, regardless of the component 

suspected to be responsible for the reaction, is a contraindication to future receipt of the 

vaccine (14). 

Yellow Fever Vaccination of Persons with a I-Iistory of 

Egg Allergy 

Yellow fever vaccine contains egg protein. There have been insufficient studies to 

determine which patients with egg allergy may be able to receive yellow fever vaccine, 

but there are reports of patients with tme egg allergy safely receiving yellow fever 

vaccine after evaluation by specialists with expertise in the management of allergic 

reactions (16,17). According to the manufacturer, persons who are able to eat eggs or egg 

products may receive the vaccine (18), However, potential hypersensitivity reactions 

might occur in persons with a history of minor reactions to eggs. For egg-sensitive 

persons, a scratch test or intradermal test can be performed before administering the 

vaccine to check for reactivity. If a person has a severe egg-sensitivity or has a positive 

sldn test to the vaccine, but the vaccination is recommended because of their travel 

destination-specific risk, desensitization can be performed under direct supervision of a 

physician experienced in the management of anaphylaxis. The desensitization proce

dure is detailed in the product insert (see yellow fever recommendations at 

http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vatcines/ApprovedProducts/ucmo94o74, 

htm). 

Vaccines with MMR or Varicella Components and 

Persons with a History of Egg Allergy 

Varicella vaccine is grown in human diploid cell cultures and can safely be administered 

to persons with a severe allergy to eggs or egg proteins (19). Measles and mumps vaccine 

viruses are grown in chick embryo fibroblast tissue culture. However, persons with a 

severe egg allergy can receive measles- or mumps-containing vaccines in the usual 

manner because the content of these proteins is extremely low (20). The rare severe 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 74 



allergic reactions after measles- or mumps-containing vaccines or varicella are thought 

to be caused by other components of the vaccine (e.g., gelatin) (21-24). MMR, MMRV, 

varicella and other vaccines contain hydrolyzed gelatin as a stabilizer. 

Vaccines and Persons with a History of Allergy to 

Substances Other than Eggs 

Persons who have had an anaphylactic reaction to gelatin or gelatin-containing products 

should be evaluated by an allergist prior to receiving gelatin-containing vaccines (6). 

Certain vaccines contain trace amounts of antimicrobial agents or other preservatives 

(e.g., neomycin or thim~rosal), although allergies to these are rare. No licensed vaccine 
•' 

contains penicillin or penicillin derivatives. 

Most often, neomycin hypersensitivity manifests as contact dermatitis, a delayed-type 

(cell-mediated) immune response rather than immediate-hypersensitivity (IgE

mediated allergy)- lype response (25,26). A history of delayed-type reactions to 

neomycin is not a contraindication for administration of neomycin-containing vaccines. 

There has only been 1 reported case of immediate hypersensitivity reaction following a 

. neomycin-containing vaccine (27). Persons who have had anaphylactic reactions to 

neomycin should be evaluated by an allergist prior to receiving vaccines containing 

neomycin (6). 

Thimerosal, an organic mercurial compound in use since the 1930s, is added to certain 

immunobiologics as a preservative. Since mid-2001, vaccines routinely recommended 

for infants younger than 6 months of age have been manufactured without thimerosal as 

a preservative (14). Live, attenuated vaccines have never contained thimerosal. 

Thimerosal-free fo:i;mulations of inactivated influenza vaccine are available. Inactivated 

influenza vaccine also is available in formulations with only trace amounts of 

thimerosal, which remains as a manufacturing residual bnt is not added at the higher 

concentration that would be necessary for it to function as a preservative, Thimerosal at 

a preservative concentration is present in certain other vaccines that can be 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 75 



administered to children (e.g., Td and DT). Information about the thimerosal content of 

vaccines is available from FDA at http://www.fda.gov/cber/vaccine/thimerosal.htm. 

Reactions to thimerosal have been described as local delayed-type hypersensitivity 

reactions with only rare reports of immediate reactions (28-31). Thimerosal elicits 

positive delayed-type hypersensitivity patch tests in 1%-18% of persons tested; however, 

these tests have no relevance to acute allergic reactions that might occur within minutes 

or hours after immunization (32,33). The majority of persons do not experience 

reactions to thimerosal administered as a component of vaccines even when patch or 

intradermal tests for thimerosal indicate hypersensitivity (31). A local or delayed-type 

hypersensitivity reaction to thimerosal is not a contraindication to receipt of a vaccine 

that contains thimerosal (34). 

Latex is sap from the rubber tree. Latex contains naturally occurring plant proteins that 

can be responsible for immediate-type allergic reactions. Latex is processed to form 

either natural rubber latex products suc}:i. as gloves or dry, natural rubber products such 

as syringe plunger tips and vial stoppers. Synthetic rubber is also used in gloves, syringe 

plungers, and vial stoppers but does not contain the latex proteins linked to immediate

type allergic reactions. Natural rubber latex or dry, natural rubber used in vaccine 

packaging generally is noted in the manufacturers' package inserts. 

Immediate-type allergic reactions due to latex allergy have been described after 

'1accination, but such reactions are ram (35). 

If a person reports .a severe anaphylactic allergy to latex, vaccines supplied in vials or 

syringes that contain natural rubber latex should be avoided if possible ( 6); If not, if the 

decision is made to vaccinate, providers should be prepared to treat immediate allergic 

reactions due to latex, including anaphylaxis. The most common type oflatex 

hypersensitivity is a delayed~type (type 4, cell-mediated) allergic contact dermatitis (36). 

For patie11.ts with a history of contact allergy to latex, vaccines supplied in vials or 

syringes that contain dry natural rubber or natural rubb~r latex may be administered. 

Reporting Adverse Events After Vaccination 

Gerieral Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing rind Managing Adverse Reactions 76 



Modern vaccines are safe and effective; however, adverse events have been repo1ted 

after administration of all vaccines (3). More complete information about adverse 

reactions to a specific vaccine is available in the package insert for each vaccine and 

from CDC at http;//www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vac-gen/side-effects.htm, An adverse event 

is an untoward event that occurs after a vaccination that might be caused by the vaccine 

product or vaccination process. These events range from common, minor, local 

reactions to rare, severe, allergic reactions (e.g., anaphylaxis). Reporting to VAERS 

helps establfah trends,. identify clusters of adverse events, or generate hypotheses. 

However, establishing evidence for cause and effect on the basis of case reports and· case 

series alone is usually not possible, because health problems that have a temporal 

association with vaccination do not necessarily indicate causality. 

Many adverse events require more detailed epidemiologic studies to compare the 

incidence of the event among vaccinees with the incidence among unvaccinated persons. 

Potential causal associations between reported adverse events after vaccination can be . 

assessed through epidemiologic or clinical studies. 

The National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (1) requires health care personnel 

and vaccine manufacturers to report to V AERS specific adverse events that occur after 

. vaccination. The reporting requirements are different for manufacturers and health care 

personnel. Manufacturers are required to report all adverse events that occur after 

vaccination to VAERS, whereas health-care providers are l'equired to report events that 

appear in the reportable events table on the VAERS website at 

http; f/vaers .hhs.gov /re;Rortable.htm, 

In addition to the mandated reporting of events listed on the reportable events table, 

health care personnel should report to VAERS all events listed in product inse1ts as 

contraindications, as well as all clinically significant adverse events, even if they are 

uncertain that the adverse event is related causally to vaccination (6). Persons other 

than health care personnel also can report adverse events to V AERS. 

There are 3 ways to report to VAERS: 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 77 



1. Submit the report online via a secure website at 

https: //vaers.hhs.gov / esub/steP.1, 

2. Fax a completed VAERS form to 877-721-0366, or 

3. Mail a completed VAERS form to VAERS, P.O. Box 1100, Rockville, MD 

20849-1100. 

A VAERS form can be downloaded from the V AERS website at 

http://vaers.hhs.gov/resources/vaers form.pelf. VAERS forms also can be requested by 

e-mail (info@vaers.org), telephone (800-822-7967), or fax (877-721-0366). 

National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program 

The National Vaccine Injury Compensation Program, established by the National 

Childhood Vaccine Injury Act of 1986 (1), is a no-fault system in which persons thought 

to have experienced an injury or to have died as a result of administration of a covered 

vaccine can seek compensation. The program became operational on October 1, 1988, 

and is intended as an alternative to civil litigation under the traditional tort system in 

that negligence need not be proven. Claims arising from covered vaccines must first be 

adjudicated through the program before civil litigation can be pursued. 

The program relies on the Vaccine Injury Table, which lists the vaccines covered by the 

program and the injuries (including death), disabilities, illnesses, and conditions for 

which compensation might be awarded. The table defines the time during which the first 

symptom or substantial aggravation of an injury must appear after vaccination to be 

eligible. Successful claimants receive a legal presumption of causation if a condition 

listed in the table is proven, thus avoiding the need to prove actual causation in an 

individual case. Claimants also can prevail for conditions not listed in the reportable 

events table if they prove causation for covered vaccines. Additional information is 

available from the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA at 

http:/ /www.hrsa.gov/vaccinecompensation or by telephone at 800-338-2382). Persons 

General 13est Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 78 



who would like to file a claim for vaccine injury should contact the U.S. Court of Federal 

Claims (717 Madison Place, N.W., Washington, DC 20005; telephone: 202-357-6400). 

TABLE 5-:1.: Rapid overview: Emergent management of anaphylaxis in 
infants and children Ca) 

Diagnosis is The most common signs and symptoms are cutaneous (eg, sudden onset of generalized 

made urticaria, angioedema, flushing, pruritus). However, 10 to 20% of patients have no skin 

clinically: 
findings. 
Danger signs: Rapid progression of symptoms, evidence ofl;espiratory distress (e.g., stl'idor, 
wheezing, dyspnea, incrensed work of breathing, retractions, persistent cough, cyanosis), signs 
ofoooruerfusion, abdominal l)ain, vomiting, dvsrhvthmia, hvnoteni;iion, collaose. 

Acute The first and most imp01tant therapy in anaphylaxis is epinephrine. There are NO absolute 

management: contraindications to eninenhrinc in the setti11g of anaphvlaxis. 
Airway: Immediate intubation if evidence ofimpeuding ailway obstruction from angioedema. 
Delay may lea.cl to complete obstruction. Intubation can be difficult and should be performed 
by the most experienced clinician available. Cricothvrotomv mav be necessarv. 
IM epinephrine (1 mg/mL preparation): Epinephrine 0 .01 mg/leg should be injected 
intramuscularly in the midouter thigh. For large children (>50 kg), the maximum is 0 .5 mg per 
dose. If there is no response or the response is inadequate, the injection can be repeated in 5 to 
15 minutes (or more frequently). If epinephrine is injected promptly IM, patients respond to 
one, two, or at most, three injections. If signs of poor perfusion are present or symptoms are 
not responding to epinephrine injections, prepare N epinephrine for infusion (see below). 
Place ualient in recumbent oosition, if tolerated, and elevate lower extremities. 
Oxve:eu: Give 8 to 10 L/minute via facemask or up to 100% oxVl!en, as needed. 
Normal saline rapid bolus: Treat poor perfusion with rapid infusion of 20 mL/kg. Reevaluate 
and repeat fluid boluses (20 mL/kg), as needed. Massive fluid shifts with severe,loss of 
intravascularvolume can occur. Monitor urine output. 
Albuterol: For bronchospasm resistant to IM epinephrine, give albuterol 0.15 mg/kg 
(minimum dose; 2.5 mg) in 3 mL saline inhaled via ncbulizer. Repeat, as needed. 
H1 antihistamine: Consider itlvimr diohenhvdramine 1 ml!7ke: 7max 40 mg) IV. 
H2 antihistamine: Consider itlving rauitidiuc 1 nw/kg (max 50 mg) IV. 
Glucocmticoid: Consider eivimr methvlorednisolone 1 nrn/h .(max 1:1.fi mg) IV. 

-, Monitoring: Continuous noninvasive hemodynamic monitoring and pulse oximehy monitoring 
should be peiformed. Urine output should be monitored in patients receiving IV fluid 
resuscitation for severe hvnotension or shock. 

Treahnent of Epinephrine infusion:(b) In patients with inadequate response to IM epinephrine and IV saline, 

refractory give epinephrine continuous infusion at 0.1 to 1 mc~/ke:lminutc, titrated to effed. 
Vasopressors:(b) Patients may require large amounts ofIV ciysta.lloid to maintain blood symptoms: pressure, Some patients may require a second vasopressor (in addition to epinephrine). All 
vasopressors should be given by infusion pump, with the doses titrated continuously according 
to blood pressure and cardiae rate/function monitored continuously and oxygenation 
monitored by ou!se oximetrv 

IM: intramuscular; IV: intravenous. 
(a) A child is defined ns a prepubertal patient weighing less than 40 kg. 
Cb) All patients receiving an infusion of epinephrine and/or another vasopressor require continuous noninvasive 
monitoring of blood pressure, heart rate and function, aud oxygen saturation. We suggest that pediatric centers 
provide instructions for preparation of standard concentrations and also provide eha1ts for established infusion 
rate for evineohrine and other vasowessors in infants and children. 

Table 5-2: Rapid overview: Emergency manageinent of anaphylaxis in 
adults 
Diagnosis is made clinically: The most common signs and symptoms are cutaneous 

(e.g., sudden onset of generalized urticaria, 
angioedema, flushing, prudtus). However, 10 to 20% of 
patients have no sldn findilll!s . 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization; Preventing c1nd M,maging Adverse Reactions 79 

L 



Danger signs: Rapid progression of symptoms, 
respiratory distress (e.g., stridor, wheezing, dyspnea, 
increased work of breathing, persistent cough, 
cyanosi.s), vomiting, abdominal pain, hypotension, 
dvsrlwthmia, chest pain, co11anse. 

Acute management: The first and most important treatment in anaphylaxis 
is epinephrine. There are NO absolute contraindications 
to euinephtine in the setting of anaohvlaxis. 
Airway: Immediate intubation if evidence of impending 
airway obstruction frorn angioedema. Delay may lead to 
complete obstruction, Intubation can be difficult and 
should be performed by the most experienced clinician 
available. Cricothvrotomv mav be necessa1v. 

Promptly and simulta neonsly, give: IM epinephrine (1 mg/mL preparation); Give 
epinephrine 0.3 to 0.5 mg intramuscularly, preferably 
in the midouter thigh. Can repeat every 5 to 15 minutes 
( or more freq ucntly), as needed . If epinephrine is 
-injected promptly IM, most patients respond to one, 
two, or at most, three doses. If symptoms are not 
responding to epinephrine injections, prepare N 
e1limmhrine for infusion (see below). 
Place patient in recumbent position, if tolerated, and 
elevate lower extremities. 
Oxygen: Give 8 to 10 L/minute via facemask or up to 
100% oxnen as needed. 
Normal saline rapid bolus: Treat hypotension with 
rapid infusion of1 to 2 liters N. Repeat, as needed. 
Massive fluid shifts with severe loss of intra vascular 
volume can occur. 
Albuterol (salbutamol): For bronchospasm resistant to 
IM epinephrine, give 2.5 to 5 mg in 3 mL saline via 
nebulizer. Repeat, as needed. 

Adjunctive therapies: . I-11 antihistamine:<•) Consider giving diphenhydramine 
25 to r:o rn~ IV (for relief of uiticaria and itchinr! only). 
I-12 antihistamine:C•) Consider giving ranitidine 50 mg 
IV . 
. Glucocorticoid:C•) Consider giving methylprednisolone 
12.i. me: IV. 
Monitoring: Continuous noninvasive hemodynamic 
monitoring and pulse oximetry monitoring should be 
performed . . Uiine output should be monitored in 
patients receiving IV fluid resuscitation for severe 
hvootension or shock. 

Treatment of refractory symptoms: Epinephrine infusion : For patients with inadequate 
response to IM epfoephrine and N saline, give 
epinephrine continuous infusion, beginning at 0.1 
mcg/kg/minute by infusion pump. Titrate the dose 
continuously according to blood pressure, cardiac rate 
and function, and oxygenation. 
Vasopressors: Some patients may require a second 
vasopressor (in addition to epinephrine). A11 
vasopressors should he given by infusion pump, with 
tl1e doses titrated continuously according to blood 
pressure and cardiac mte/function and oxygenation 
monitored bv pulse oximetrv. 
Glucagon: Patients on beta blockers may not respond to 
epinephrine and can be given glucagon 1 to 5 mg IV 
over 5 minutes, followed by infusion of 5 to 15 
mcg/mi nu te. ib),C•l Rapid administra lion of glucagon can 
cause vomiting, 

Instl1lctions on how to prepare and administer epinephrine for N continuous infusions are available as 
separate tables in UpToDate. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 80 



IM: intramuscular; IV: intravenous. , 
C•) These medications should not be used as initial or sole treatment. 
Cbl All patients receiving an infusion of epinephrine and another vasoprcssor require continuous noninvasive 
monitoring of blood pressure, heart rate and function, and oxygen saturation. · 
(cl For example, the initial infusion rate for a 70 kg patient would be 7 mcg/minute. This is consistent with the 
recommended range for 11011..:.weight-based dosing for adults, which is 2 to 10 mcg/minute. Non- weight-based 
dosing can be used if the patient's weight is not known and cannot be estimated. 

Reproduced with permission from: Comp bell RL, Kelso JM. Anaphylaxis: Emergency treatment. In: 

UpToDate, Post TW (Ed), UpToDate; Waltham, MA. (Accessed on 03/08/~017) Copyright© 2017 

UpToDate, Inc, For more info1mation visit www.uptodate.com. 

Source: (37). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 81 



REFERENCES 
1. National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act, 42 U.S.C. Sect. 3ooaa-1 to 3ooaa-34 

(1986). 

2. Opel DJ, Heritage J, Taylor JA, et al. The architecture of provider-parent 

vaccine discussions at health supervision visits. Pediatl'ics. 2013:2013-2037. 

DOI: 10.1542/peds.2013-2037 

3, CDC. Update: vaccine side effects, adverse reactions, contraindications, and 

precautions. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1996;45(RR-12):1-35. 

4. CDC. Syncope after vaccination- United States, January 2005-July 2007, 

Ml\lIWRMorbMortal Wk.ly Rep. 2008;57(17):457-460. 

5. Bohlke K; Davis RL, Marcy SM, et al. Risk of anaphylaxis after vaccination of 

children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2003;112(4) :815-820. DO I: 

10.1542/peds.112.4.815 

6. Kroger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: 

Plotldn S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 6th ed. China: Elsevier 

Saunders; 2013:88-111. 

7. Grabenstein JD. 9linical management of hypersensitivities to vaccine 

components. Hospital Pharmacy. 1997;32:77-87. 

8. Grabenstein JD. ImmwwFacts: Vaccines and Immunologic Drugs-2013. 

38th ed. St. Louis, MO: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012. 

9. Lieberman P, Nicldas RA, Oppenheimer J, et al. The diagnosis and 

management of anaphylaxis practice parameter: 2010 update. J Allergy Clin 

Immunol. 2010;126(3):477-480.e471-442. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.06.922 

10. Kelso JM, Greenhawt MJ, Li JT, et al. Adverse reactions to vaccines practice 

parameter 2012 update. J Alle7'gy Clin Immunol. 2012;130(1):25-43. DOI: 

10.1016/j.jaci.2012.04.003 

11. Ruggeberg JU, Gold MS, Bayas JM, et al. Anaphylaxis: case definition and 

guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of immunization 

safety data. Vaccine. 2007;25(31):5675-5684. DOI: 

10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.02.064 

General Best Practice Guidelfnes for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 82 



12. Sampson HA, Munoz-Furlong A, Bock SA, et al. Symposium on the definition 

and management of anaphylaxis: summary report. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 

2005;115(3):584-591. DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2005.01.009 

13. Wood RA, Berger M, Dreskin SC, et al. An algorithm for treatment of patients 

with hypersensitivity reactions after vaccines. Pediatrics. 2008;122(3):e771-

777. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2008-1002 

14. Grohskopf LA, Sokol ow LZ, Olsen SJ, Bresee JS, Broder KR, Karron RA. 

Prevention and control of influenza with vaccines: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee OI.l Immunization Practices, United States, 2015-16 

influenza season. MMWR Mo1'b Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(30):818-825. 

15. Erlewyn-Lajeunesse M, Brathwaite N, Lucas JS, Warner JO. 

Recommendations for the administration of influenza vaccine in children 

allergic to egg. BMJ. 2009;339:b3680. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b3680 

16. Mosimann B, Stoll B, Francillon C, PecoudA. Yellow fever vaccine and egg 

allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;95(5 Pt 1):1064. DOI: 10.1016/S0091-

6749( 95)70118-4 

17. Munoz-Cano R, Sanchez-Lopez J, Bartra J, Valero 1:-· Yellow fever vaccine and 

egg allergy: really a problem? Allergy. 2010;65(4):533-534. DOI: 

10.1111/j.1398-9995.2009.02205.x 

18. Sanofi Pastem Inc. Yellow fever vaccine: Yfi'-VAX®[Paclcage insert]. 

Swiftwater, PA: Sanofi Pasteur Inc.; 2015. Available at: 

http://www.fda.gov/ downloads/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ Approved 

Products/UCM142831.pdf. Accessed 02 Feb 2017. 

19. Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention ofvaricella: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

20. Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz QA, Reef S, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and 

rubella-vaccine use and strategies for elimination of measles, rubella, and 

congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Praclices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

General Best Prnctice Guidelines for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 83 



21. Kelso JM, Jones RT, Yunginger JW. Anaphylaxis to measles, mumps, and 

rubella vaccine mediated by IgE to gelatin. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 

1993;91( 4): 867-872. DOI: 10 .1016 / o 091-6749( 93)90344-F 

22, Sakaguchi M, Nakayama T, Inouye S. Food allergy to gelatin in children with 

systemic immediate-type Teactions, including anaphylaxis, to vaccines. J 

Allergy Clinlmmunol. 1996;98(6 Pt 1):1058-1061. DOI: 10.1016/S0091-

6749(96)80191-6 

23. Sakaguchi M, Ogura H, Inouye S. IgE antibody to gelatin in children with 

immecfo,1.te-type reactions to measles and mumps vaccines. J'Allergy Clin 

Immttnol, 1995;96(4):563-565. DOI: 10.1016/Soo91-6749(95)70304-7 

24, Sakaguchi M, Yamanaka T, Ikeda K, et al. IgE-mediated systemic reactions to 

gelatin included in the varicella vaccine. J Allergy Clin Jnummol. 

1997;99(2):263-264. DOI: 10.1016/S0091-6749(97)70108-8 

25. Rietschel RL, Bernier R. Neomycin sensitivity and the MMR vaccine. ,JAJVIA. 

1981;245(6):571. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1981.03310310017008 

26. Elliman D, Dhanraj B. Safe MMR vaccination despite neomycin allergy. 

Lancet. 1991;337(8737):365, DOI: 10.1016/0140-6736(91)90995-2 

27. Kwittken PL, Rosen S, Sweinberg SK. MMR vaccine and neomycin allergy. 

Am J Dis Child. 1993;147(2):128-129. DOI: 

10.1001/ archpedi.1993 .0216026 00180 05 

28. Aherer W. Vaccination despite thimerosal sensitivity. Contact Dermatitis. 

1991;24(1):6-10. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1991.tb01621.x 

29. Cox NH, Forsyth A. Thiomersal allergy and vaccination reactions. Contact 

Dermatitis. 1988;18(4):229-233, DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1988.tbo2809.x 

30. Kirldand LR. Ocular sensitivity to thimerosal: a problem with hepatitis B 

vaccine? South Med J. 1990;83(5):4'97-499. 

31. Zheng W, Dreskin SC. Thimerosal in influenza vaccine: an immediate 

hypersensitivity reactioµ. Ann Allergy Asthmaimmunol. 2007;99(6):574-

575. DOI: 10.1016/s1081-1206(10)60391-2 

32. Wantke F, Demmer CM, Gatz M, Jarisch R. Contact dermatitis from 

thimerosal. Contact Dermatitis, 1994;30(2):115. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-

0536.1994.tboo580.x 

General Best Practice Guldelfnes for Immunization: Preventing and Managing Adverse Rec1ctions 84 



33. Moller H. All these positive tests to thimerosal. Contact Dermatitis. 

1994;31(4):209-213. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1994.tbo1989.x 

34. Russell M, Pool V, Kelso JM, Tomazic-Jezic VJ. Vaccination of persons 

allergic to latex: a review of safety data in the Vaccine Adverse Event 

Reporting System (VAERS). Vaccine. 2004;23(5):664-667. DOI: 

10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.06.042 

35. Lear JT, English JS. Anaphylaxis after hepatitis B vaccination. Lancet. 

1995;345(8959):1249. DOI: 10.1016/So140-6736(95)92039-o 

36. Slater JE. Latex allergy. J Allergy Clin.Immunol. 1994;94(2 Pt 1):139-149; 

quiz 150. DOI: 10.1053/ai.1994.v94.a55437 

37. Adapted from: Simons FER. Anaphylaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 

2010;-125:S161. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmrnuniz.atlon: Preventing and Managing Adverse Reactions 85 



6. Vaccine Administration 

Updates 

Major changes to the best practice guidance include 1) allowances for alternate 

administration route (subcutaneous instead of intramuscular) for hepatitis A vaccine and 

2) an age cutoff of 12 years through 17 years of age for v;ilidating a dose of intradermal 

influenza vaccine if given in error. 

Infection Control and Sterile Technique 

General Precautions 

Persons administering vaccinations should follow' appropriate precautions to minimize 

risk for disease exposure and spread. Hands should be cleansed with an alcohol-based 

waterless antiseptic hand rub or washed with soap and water before preparing vaccines 

for adm.inistration and between each patient contact CO_- Occupational Safety and Health 

Administration (OSHA) regulations do not require gloves to be worn when 

administering vaccinations, unless persons administering vaccinations have open 

lesions on their hands or are likely to come into contact with a patient's body fluids (2). 

If worn, gloves should be changed between patients, 

Vaccine Administration: Preparation and Timely 

Disposal 

Vaccines should be drawn up in a designated clean medication area that is not adjacent 

to areas where potentially contaminated items are placed. Multi-dose vials to be used for 

more than one patient should not be kept or accessed in the immediate patient 

treatment area. This is to· prevent inadvertent contamination of the vial through direct 

or indirect contact with potentially contaminated surfaces or equipment that could then 

lead to infections in subsequent patients (3). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 86 



Different vaccines should never be mixed in the same syringe unless specifically licensed 

for such use (4). Single-dose vials and manufacturer-filled syringes are designed for 

single-dose administration and should be discarded if vaccine has been withdrawn or 

reconstituted and subsequently not used within the time frame specified by the 

. manufacturer. Syringes that are prefiUed by the manufacturer and activated (i.e., syringe 

cap removed or needle attached) but unused should be discarded at tl1e end of the clinic 

day. For inactivated vaccines mannfacturers, typically recommend use within the same 

day that a vaccine is withdrawn or reconstituted, When in doubt about the appropriate 

handling of a vaccine, vaccination providers should contact that vaccine's manufacturer. 

ACIP discourages the routine practice of providers' prefilling syringes for several 

reasons. Because the IJrnjority of vaccines have a similar appearance after being drawn 

into a syringe, prefilling might result in administration errors. Because unused prefilled 

syringes also typically must be discarded if not used within the same day that they are 

filled, vaccine wastage might occur. The FDA does not license administration syringes 

for vaccine storage. 

In certain circumstances in which a single vaccine type is.being used (e.g., in 

preparation for a com111:unity influenza vaccination campaign), filling a small number 

(10 or fewer) of syringes may be considered (5). The doses should be administered as 

soon as possible after filling, by the same person who filled the syringes. Unused 

syringes that are prefilled by the manufacturer and activated (i.e., syringe cap removed 

or needle attached) should be discarded at the end of the clinic day. 

Safe Use of Needles and Syringes 

·Needles and syringes used for vaccine injections must be sterile and disposable. A 

separate needle and syTinge should be used for each injection. Changing needles 

between drawing vaccine from a vial and injecting it into a recipient is not necessary 

unless the needle has been damaged or contaminated (6). 

Bloodborne diseases (e.g., hepatitis B, hepatitis C, human immunodeficiency virus 

[HIV]) are occupational hazards for clinicians and other health-care providers. The 
General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization; Vaccine Administration 87 



Needlestick Safety and l)revention Act (2) was enacted in 2000 to reduce the incidence 

of needlestick injury and the consequent risk for bloodborne diseases acquired from 

patients. The act directed OSHA to strengthen its existing bloodborne pathogen 

standards. The revised standards became effective in 2001 (2). These federal regulations 

require the use of engineering .and work practice controls to eliminate or minimize 

employee exposure to bloodborne pathogens (see 

https: //www.osha.gov/ SLTC/bloodb ornepathogens/standards.html). Engineering 

controls means controls (e.g., sharps disposal containers, self-sheathing needles, safer 

medical devices, such as sharps with engineered sharps injury protections and 

needleless systems) that isolate or remove the b1oodborne pathogens hazard from the 

workplace (see 

https:/ /www .osha,gov /pls/ oshaweb / owadisp.show _ document?p_ table=STANDARDS& 

. p_ id=10051). Needle-shielding or needle-free devices that might satisfy the 

occupational safety regulations for administering injectable vaccines are avai1able in the 

United States (7-8). The regulations also require maintenance of records documenting 

injuries caused by needles and other medical sharp objects and that nonmanagerial 

employees be involved in the evaluation and selection of safety-engineered devices 

before they are procured. Additional information about implementation and 

enforcement of these regu1ations is available from OSHA. 

To prevent inadvertent needlestick injury or reuse, safety mechanisms should be 

deployed after use and needles and syringes should be discarded immediately in labe1ed, 

puncture-proof containers located in the same room where the vaccine is administered 

(5). Used needles should never be recapp~d. 

Route of Administration 

Injectable Route 

Routes of administration are recommended by the manufacturel' for each 

immunobiologic (Table 6-1). With the exceptions ofbacille Calmette-Guerin (BCG) 

vaccine and smallpox vaccine (administered intraepidermally), injectable vaccines are 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 88 



administered by the intramuscular, subcutaneous, or intradermal route. Deviation from 

the recommended route of administration might reduce vaccine efficacy (9, 10) or 

increase the risk for local adverse reactions (11 -13). 

The method of administration of injectable vaccines is determined, in part, by the 

inclusion of adjuvants in some vaccines. An adjuvant is a vaccine component distinct 

from the antigen that enhances the immune response to the antigen, but might also 

increase risk of adverse reactions. To decrease risk of local adverse events, inactivated 

vaccines containing an adjuvant should be injected into a muscle. Administering a 

vaccine containing an adjuvant either subcutaneously or intradermally can cause local 

irritation, induration, sldn discoloration, inflammation, and granuloma formation. 

Intramuscular Injections 

Needle Length 

Injectable immunobiologics should be administered where local, neural, vascular, or 

tissue injury is unlilcely. Use oflonger needles has been associated with less redness or 

swe1ling than occurs with shorter needles because of injection into deeper muscle mass 

(11). Appropriate needle length depends on age and body mass. Injection technique is 

the most important parameter to ensure efficient intramuscular vaccine delivery. 

For all intramuscular injections, the needle should be long enough to reach the muscle 

mass and prevent vaccine from seeping into subcutaneous tissue, but not so long as to 

involve underlying nerves, blood vessels, or bone (10,14-16). Vaccinators should be 

familiar with the anatomy of the area into which they are injecting yaccine. 

Intramuscular injections are administered at a 90-degree angle to the skin, preferably 

into the anterolateral aspect of the thigh or the deltoid muscle of the upper arm, 

depending on the age of the patient (Table 6-2). 

The needle gauge for intramuscular injection is 22-25 gauge. A decision on needle 

length and site of injection must be made for each person on the basis of the size of the 

muscle, the thickness of adipose tissue at the injection site, the volume of the material to 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 89 



be administered, injection technique, and the depth below the muscle surface into which 

the material is to be injected (Figure 1). Some experts allow intramuscular injection with 

. a 5/a-inch needle but ONLY if the skin is stretched flat (16). If the subcutaneous and 

muscle tissue are bunched to minimize the chance of striking bone (14), a 1-inch needle 

or lru:ger is required to ensure intramuscular administration. Aspiration before injection 

of vaGcines or toxoids (i.e., pulling back on the syringe plunger after needle insertion but 

before injection) is not necessary because no large blood vessels are present at the 

recommended injection sites, and a process that includes aspiration might be more 

painful for infants (17). 

Infants (Aged <12 Months) 

For the majority of infants, the anterolateral aspect of the thigh is tho recommended site 

for injection because it provides comparatively larger muscle mass than the deltoid 

(Figure 2) (18). In certain circumstances (e.g., physical obstruction to other sites and no 

reasonable indication to defer doses), the gluteal muscle can be used. If the gluteal 

muscle must be used, care should be taken to define the anatomic landmarks.Ca) For the 

majority of infants, a 1-inch needle is sufficient to peneh·ate the thigh muscle. 

Toddlers (Aged 12 Months~2 Years) 

For toddlers, the anterolateral thigh muscle is preferred, and when this site is used, the 

needle should be at least 1 inch long. The deltoid muscle can be used if the muscle mass 

is adequate. If 2 vaccines are to be administered in a single limb, they should be spaced 

an inch apart (4,19). 

Children (Aged 3-10 Years) 

The deltoid muscle is preferred for children aged 3-10 years (18); the needle length for 

deltoid site injections can range from 5/a to 1 inch on the basis of technique. The 

anterolateral thigh can also be used (20). In this ca::ie the needle length should be 1 inch 

to 1.25 inches. Knowledge of body mass can be useful for .estimating the appropriate 

needle length (21). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 90 



Young Adolescents (Aged 11-18 years) 

The delta.id muscle is preferred for adolescents 11-18 years of age. The anterolateral 

thigh can also be used. For injection into the anterolateral thigh, most adolescents will 

require a 1-1.5-inch needle to ensure intramuscular administration (21). 

Adults (Aged ~19 Years) 

For adults, the deltoid muscle is recommended for routine intramuscular vaccinations 

(18) (Figure 3). The anterolateral thigh also can be used. For adults a measurement of 

body mass/weight is allowable prior to vaccination, understanding that resources to 

measure body mass/weight are not available in all clinical settings. For men and women 

who weigh <130 lbs ( <60 kg), a %-inch needle is sufficient to ensure,intramuscular 

injection in the deltoid muscle if the injection is made at a 90-degree angle and the 

tissue is not bunched. For men and women who weigh 130-152 lbs (60-70 kg), a 1-inch 

needle is sufficient. For women who weigh 152-200 lbs (70-90 kg) and men who weigh 

152-260 lbs (70-118 kg), a 1- to 1.5-inch needle is recommended. For women who weigh 

>200 lbs (>90 kg) or men who weigh >260 lbs (>118 kg), a 1.5-inch needle is 

recommended (Table 6-2) (15). 

Subcutaneous Injections 

Subcutaneous injections are administered at a 45-degree angle, usually into the thigh for 

infants aged <12 months and in the upper-outer triceps area of persons aged ~12 

months. Subcutaneous injections may be administered into the upper-outer triceps area 

of an infant if necessary. A %-inch, 23- to 25-gauge needle should be inserted into the 

subcutaneous tissue (Figures 4 and 5) (4). 

Intradermal Injections 

One brand of injectable influenza vaccine is licensed to be administered intradermally. 

It is packaged as a pre-filled 3/50-inch micrnneedle injector system and approved for 

persons 18-64 years of age. The approved site is the skin over the deltoid muscle. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vcicdne Administration 91 



Intradermal influenza vaccine injection of someone 12-17 years of age can be counted as 

a valid dose on the presumption that their skin thickness is similar to someone 18-64 

years of age. A dose of intradermal vaccine given to someone younger than 12 years of 

age or older than 64 years of age should not be counted as valid (personal 

communication with manufacturer). 

Oral Route 

Rotavirus and oral typhoid vaccines are the only vaccines administered orally in the 

United States. Oral typhoid capsules should be administered as directed by the 

manufacturer. The capsules should not be opened or mixed with any other substance. 

Rota.virus vaccines are licensed for infants. There are 2 brands of rota.virus vaccine, and 

they have different types of applicators. Providers should consult package inserts for 

details, A dose of rota virus vaccine need not be repeated if the vaccine is spit up or 

vomited. The infant should receive the remaining recommended doses of rotavirus 

vaccine following. the routine schedule (5). 

Intranasal Route 

LAIV is approved for healthy nonpregnant persons aged 2-49 years and is the only 

vaccine administered by the intranasal route , The administration device is a nasal 

sprayer with a dose-divider clip that allows introduction of one 0.1-mL spray into each 

naris. The tip should be inserted slightly into the naris before administration. Even· if the 

person coughs or sneezes immediately after administration or the dose is expelled any 

other way, the vaccine dose need not be repeated (5). 

Severely immunosuppressed persons (i.e., those who require care in a protected 

environment, e.g., bone marrow transplant patients, patients with severe combined 

immunodeficiency disease) should not administer LAIV. It would be uncommon for 

persons with these conditions to be in a role administering vaccines. Other persons at 

increased risk for influenza complications can administer LAIV. These include persons 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmunirntion: Vaccine Administration 92 



with underlying medical conditions placing them at higher risk or who are likely to be at 

risk, including pregnant women, persons with asthma, and persons aged ~50 years (gg). 

Multiple Injections 

If multiple vaccines are administered at a single visit, administer each preparation at a 

different anatomic site (23). The location of all injection sites with the corresponding 

vaccine injected should be documented in each patient's medical record. Health-care 

practices should consider using a vaccination site map so that all persons administering 

vaccines. routinely use a particular anatomic site for each particular vaccine. 

For infants and yonnger children, jf more than 2 vaccines are injected in a single limb, 

the thigh is the preferred site because of the greater muscle mass; the injections should 

be sufficiently separated (i.e., ~1 inch if possible) so that any local reactions can be 

differentiated (8,24). For older chilcken and adults, the deltoid muscle can be used for 

more than one intramuscular injection, If a vaccine and an immune globulin 

preparation are administered simultaneously (e.g., Td/Tdap and tetanus immune 

globulin [TIG], hepatitis B and hepatitis B immunoglobulin [HBIG]), separate anatomic 

sites (i.e., diffei'ent limbs) should be used for each injection (25,26) . 

Jet Injections 

Jet injectors are needle-free devices that pressurize liquid medication, forcing it through 

a nozzle orifice into a narrow stream capable of penetrating sldn to deliver a drug or 

vaccine into intraclermal, subcutaneous, or intramuscular tissues (27,28). Immune 

responses generated by jet injectors against both attenuated and inactivated viral and 

bacterial antigens are usually equivalent to, and occasionally greater than, immune 

responses induced by needle injection. However, local reactions or injuries (e.g., sldn 

laceration, transient neuropathy, hematoma) are sometimes more frequent on delivery 

of vaccine by jet injectors compared with needle injection, depending on the inherent 

irritability of the vaccine and operator technique (28). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 93 



Multiple use jet injectors using the same nozzle for consecutive injections without 

intervening sterilization were used in mass vaccination campaigns from the 1950s 

through the 1990s (28); however, these were found to be unsafe because of the 

possibility of bloodborne pathogen transmission (29-32) and should not be used, A new 

generation of jet injectors with disposable cartridges and syringes has been developed 

since the 1990s. With a new, sterile dose chamber and nozzle for each patient and 

conect use, these devices do not have the !:,ame safety concerns as multiple-use nozzle 

jet injectors. Several of the newer devices have been approved by FDA for sale in the 

United States (28) and for use with individual vaccines. Jet injectors prevent needlestick 

injuries to health-care providers (2) and can overcome imp1·oper, unsterile reuse and 

other drawbacks of needles and syringes in developing countries (7,33,34). 

Methods for Alleviating Discon1fort and Pain Associated 

with Vaccination 

Comfort measures, such as distraction (e.g., playing music o~ pretending to blow away 

the pain), cooling of the injection site(s), topical analgesia, ingestion of sweet liquids, 

breastfeeding, swaddling, and slow, lateral swaying can help infants or children cope 

with the discomfort associated with vaccination (35-37). Pretreatment (30-60 minutes 

before injection) with a 5% topical liq.ocaine-prilocaine emulsion might decrease the 

pain of vaccination by causing superficial anesthesia (38,39). Evidence indicates that 

this cream does not interfere with the immune response to MMR (40). Topical 

lidocaine-prilocaine emulsion should not be used on infants aged < 12 months who are 

receiving treatment with methemoglobin-inducing agents (e.g., acetaminophen, amyl 

nitrate, nitroprusside, dapsone) because of the possible development of 

1nethemoglobinemia (41). Use of a topical refrigerant (vapocoolant) spray immediately 

before vaccination can reduce the short-term pain associated with injections and can be 

as effective as lidocaine-prilocaine cream (42). Evidence does not suppo1t use of 

antipyretics before or at the time of vaccination; however, they can be used for the 

treatment of fever and local discomfort that might occur following vaccination. Studies 

Generc1I Best Practice Guidelines for lmmunizc1tio11: Vaccine Adrninlstration 94 



of children with previous febrile seizures have not demonstrated antipyretics to be 

effective in the prevention of febrile seizures (43). 

Clinical I1nplications of Nonstandard Vaccination Practices 

Best practice guidance for route, sit;e, and dosage of immunobiologics is derived from 

data from clinical trials, practical experience, normal periodicity of health-care visits, 

and theoretical considerations. ACIP discourages variations from the recommended 

route, site, volume, or number of closes of any vaccine. 

Variation from the recommended route and site can result in inadequate protection. In 

adults (but not in infants) (44), the immunogenicity of hepatitis Bis substantially lower 

when the gluteal rather than the deltoid site is used for administration (6). Hepatitis B 

administered intradermally might result in a lower seroconversion rate and final titer of 

hepatitis B surface antibody than when administered by the deltoid intramuscular route 

(45,46), Hepatitis B administered by any route other than intramuscular, or in adults at 

any site other than the deltoid or anterolateral thigh, should not be counted as valid and 

should be repeated (6). Similarly, doses of rabies vaccine administered in the gluteal site 

should not be counted as valid doses and should be repeated (47). Hepatitis A vaccine 

and meningococcal conjugate vaccine do not need to be repeated if administered by the 

subcutaneous route (48-49). However, for DTaP, Hib, and PCV13, there is no evidence 

related to immunogenicity of these 3 vaccines given subcutaneously. Providers should 

address circumstances in which dose(s) of these vaccines have been administered 

subcutaneously on a case-by-case basis. Inactivated influenza vaccine is immunogenic 

when administered in a lower-than-standard close by the intradermal route to healthy 

adult volunteers. Intradermal injection produced antibody responses similar to 

intramuscular injection in vaccinees aged 18-60 years (50). However, the 

immunogenicity for persons aged ~65 years is inadequate, and varying the 

recommended route and dose either with the intraderma1 product licensed thrnugh 64 

years of age or with other influenza vaccines is not recommended (19). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 95 



Live, attenuated injectable vaccines (e.g., MMR, varicella, yellow fever) and certain 

inactivated vaccines (e.g., meningococcal polysaccharide) are recommended by the 

manufacturers to be administered by subcutaneous injection. PPSV23and IPV are 

recommended by the manufacturer to be administered by the subcutaneous or 

intramuscular route. Response to vaccines recommended by the subcutaneous route is 

unlikely to be affected if the vaccines are administered by the intramuscular rather than 

subcutaneous route. Repeating doses of vaccine administered by the intramuscular 

route when recommended to be by the subcutaneous route is not necessary (6). 

Administering volumes smaller than recommended (e.g., inappropriately divided doses) 

might result in inadequate protection. Using reduced doses administered at multiple 

vaccination visits that equal a full dose or using smaller divided doses is not 

recommended (4). Any vaccinaUon using less than the standard dose should not be 

counted, and the person should be revaccinated according to age unless serologic testing 

indicates that an adequate response has developed. However, if 2 half-volume 

formulations of vaccine have already been administered on the same clinic day to a 

patient recommended for the full volume formulation, these 2 doses can count as one 

full dose. If less than a full recommended dose of a vaccine is administered because of 

syringe, applicator, or needle leakage, the dose should be repeated (5). Using larger

than-recommended dosages can be hazardous because of excessive local or systemic 

concentrations of antigens or other vaccine constituents. 

Ca) If the gluteal muscle is chosen, injection should be administered lateral and superior to II line between the poatcrior superior iliac 

spine and the greater trochanter or in the ventrogluteal site, the ccntm· of a triangle bounded by the anteriOl' superior iliac spine, the 

tubercle of the ili11c crest, and the upper border of the gi-entr.r lrocl1a.11ter. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 96 



TABLE 6-1. Dose and route of administration for selected vaccines 

Vaccine Dose Route 

DTaP, DT, Td, Tdap o.5mL IM 

DTaP-HepB-IPV o.5mL IM 

DTaP/Hib . o.5mL IM 

DTaP-IPV /Hib o.5mL IM 

DTaP-IPV o.5mL IM 

Hib 0.5ml. IM 

Hib-MenCY 0.5ml. IM 

HepA :s:18 years: 0.5 mL IM 
~19 years: 1.0 mL 

HepB s19 years: 0.5 ml.Ca) IM 
~20 years: 1.0 mL 

1-IepA-HepB ~18 years: 1.0 mL IM 

LAIV 0.2 mL divided-dose between Intranasal spray 
nares 

IIV 6-35 months: 0.25 mL or 0.5 mL IM 
~3 years: 0.5 mL 
18-64 years: 0.1 mL ID 

MMR 0.5ml. Subcut 

MMRV o.5mL Subcut 

MenACWY 0.5ml. IM 
I 

MPSV4 o.5mL Subcut 

PCV13 0.5ml. IM 

PPSV23 0.5ml. IM orSubcut 

HPV 0.5ml. IM 

IPV o.smL IM or Subcut 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 97 



Rotavirus (RV1 or RVs) (1.0 mL or 2.0 mL) Oral 

Varicella o.5mL Subcut 

Herpes zoster o.65mL Subcut 

Abbreviations: DT= diphtheria and tetanus toxokis; DTaP = diphtl1eria and tetanus toxoi<ls and acellular 
pertussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis B; Hib = Haemophilus injluenzae type b; HPV = human 
papillomavfrus; IIV = inactivated influenza vaccine; IM= intramuscular; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, 
attenuated influenza vaccine; MeuACWY = quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MenCY = bivalent 
meningococcal conjugate vaccine component; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; MMRV = measles, mumps, 
rubella, and varicclla; MPSV 4 = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PCVl3 = pneumococcal 
conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; RV1 = live, attenuated monovalent rotavirns 
vaccine; RVs= live, teassortmcnt pentavalent rntavims vacciue; Subcut = subcutaneous; Td = tetanus and 
diphtheria toxoi<ls; Tdap = tetanus tqxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellnlar pertussis. 

Sotu-ce: Adapted from Immunization Action Coalition: hlm;/ /www.immunize.org. 

(al Persons aged 11-15 years may he administered Rccombivax HB (Merck), 1.0 mL (adult formulation) on a 2-dose 
schedule, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 98 



TABLE 6-2. Needle length and injection site of IM injections for children 
aged :s;18 years (by age) and adults aged ~19 yeai·s (by sex and weight) 

Age group IN eedle length Injection site 

Children (birth-18 years) 

N eonatesC0 ) 5/8 inch (16 mm)Cb> Anterolateral thigh 

Infants, 1-12 months 1 inch (25 mm) Anterolateral thigh 

Toddlers, 1-2 years 1-1.25 inch (25-32 Anterolateral thigh<cJ 
mm) 

5/8ChJ-1 inch (1.6-25 Deltoid muscle of arm 
mm) 

Children, 3-10 years 5/8Cbl-1 inch (16-25 Deltoid muscle of armCcl 
mm) 

1-1.25 inches (25-32 Anterolateral thigh 
mm) 

5/8<hJ-1 inch (16-25 Deltoid muscle of arm Cc) 

mm) 
Children, 11-18 years 

1-1.5 inches (25-38 Anterolateral thigh 
mm) 

Adults (~19 years) 
' 

Men and women, <60 kg (130 lbs) 1 inch (25 mm)CdJ Deltoid muscle of arm 

Men and women, 60-70 kg (130- 1 inch (25 mm) 
152 lbs) 

Men, 70-118 kg (152-260 lbs) 1-1.5 inches (25-38 
mm) 

Women, 70-90 kg (152-200 lbs) 

Men, >118 kg (260 lbs) 1.5 inches (38 mm) 

Women, >90 kg (200 lbs) 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 99 



Abb1·eviation: IM= intramuscuJar. 

Somce: (14). 

<•> First 28 days of Jifo. 

Cbl If skin is stretched lightly and subcutaneous tissues are not bunched. 

(cl Preferred site. 

Cdl Some expe1ts recommend a 5/8-inch needle for men and women who weigli <60 kg. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 100 



Figure 1.. Intramuscular needle insertion 

Dermis --~►. ... .!l"C,.~'---""='~"'""'=w,; 

Fatty tissue 
.(subcutaneous) 

Source: Adapted from California Immunization Branch. 

Alternate Text: This drawing shows intramuscular needle insertion into a cross

section of sldn, The needle is inserted at a 90-degree angle and penetrates the dermis, 

fatty tissue (subcutaneous), and muscle tissue. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmrnu nization: Vaccine Administration 101 



Figure 2. Intramuscular/subcutaneous site of acbninistration: anierolateral 

thigh 

Source: Adapted from Minnesota Department of Health. 

Alternate Text: This drawing shows a mother holding an infant. The anterolateral 

aspect of the infant's thigh is shaded, showing the proper site for 

intramuscular/subcutaneous vaccine administration. 

General Best Pructice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 102 



Figure 3. Intramuscular site of administration: deltpid 

Source: Adapted from Minnesota Department of Health. 

Alternate Text: This line drawing is a side view of an adult. The deltoid muscle of the 

arm is shaded, showing the proper site for intramuscular vaccine administration. 

' 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 103 



Figure 4. Subcutaneous site of adminish·ation: t1·iceps 

;,. 
1!/ 
}:., If; 

... 

Som·ce: Adapted from the Mim1esota Department of Health. 

Alternate Text: Thi8 line drawing is a rear/ dorsal view of an adult. The triceps muscle 

of the arm is shaded, showing the proper site for subcutaneous vaccine administration. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administrntion 104 



Figure 5. Subcutaneous needle insertion 

45'ongle""' 

Source: Adapted from CaHfornia Immunization Branch. 

Alternate Text: This drawing shows subcutaneous needle insertion :into a cross

section of skin, The needle is inserted at a 45-degree angle and penetrates the dermis 

and fatty tissue (subcutaneou~) lJL1t not the muscle tissue. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lrnmunizc1tion: Vaccine Administration 105 



REFERENCES 
1. Boyce JM, Pittet D, Guideline for hand hygiene in health-care settings. 

Recommendations ofthe Healthcare Infection Control Practices Adviso1y 

Committee and the HICPAC/SHEA/ APIC/IDSA Hand Hygiene Task Force. 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2002;51(RR-16):1-45, quiz CE41-44. 

2. Occupational Health and Safety Administration, Occupational exposure to 

bloodborne pathogens; needlesticks and other sharps injuries; Final Rule (29 

CFR Part 1910). Fed Regist. 2001;66(12) ;5318-5325. 

3, Siegel J, Rhinehart E, Jackson M, Chiarello L, the Healthcare Infection 

Control Practices Advisory Committee. 2007 guideline for isolation 

precautions: preventing transmission of infectious agents in healthcare 

settings Atlanta, GA: CDC;2007. 

4. CDC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Pniclice's (ACIP).1\IIMWR Recomm 

Rep. 1994;43(RR-1):1-38. 

5. Kroger AT, Sumaya CV, Pickering LK, Atkinson WL. General 

recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWRRecomm Rep. 2011:1-

60. 

6. Atkinson WL, Pickering LK, Schwartz B, Weniger BG, Iskander JK, Watson 

JC. General recommendations on immunization. Recommendations of the 

Adviso1y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and the American 

Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2002;51(RR-

2):1-35. 

7. Drucker E, Alcabes PG, Marx PA. The injection century: massive unsterile 

injections and the emergence of human pathogens. Lancet. 

2001;358(9297):1989-1992, DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(01)06967-7 

8. International Health Care Worker Safety Center. List of safety-engineered 

sharp devices and other prnducts designed to prevent occupational exposm·es 

to bloodborne pathogens. 2003; 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 106 



https: / /www.medicalcenter.virginia.edu/ epinet/ safetydevice. html. Accessed 

07 Feb 2017. 

9. Shaw FE, Jr., Guess HA, Roets ,TM, et al. Effect of anatomic injection site, age 

and smoking on the immune response to hepatitis B vaccination. Vaccine. 

1989;7(5):425-430. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(89)90157-6 

10. Zuckerman JN. rhe importance of injecting vaccines into muscle. Different 

patients need -different needle sizes. BivIJ. 2000;321(7271):1237-1238. DOI: 

10.1136/bmj.321.7271.1237 

11. Ipp MM, Gold R, Goldbach M, et al. Adverse reactions to diphtheria, tetanus, 

pertussis-polio vaccination at 18 months of age: effect of injection site and 

needle length. Pediatrics. 1989;83(5):679-682. 

12. Michaels L, Poole RW. Injection grmrn1oma of the buttock. CanMedAssoc J. 

1970;102( 6):626-628. 

13. Harmnati N, Lorans R? Lutwin M, Kaleya RN. Injection granulomas. 

Intramuscle or intrafat? Arch Fam Med. 1994;3(2):146-148. 

14. Bergeson PS, Singer SA, Kaplan AM. Intramuscular injections in children. 

Pediatrics. 1982;70(6):944-948. 

15. Poland GA, BorrudA, Jacobson RM, et al. Determination of deltoid fat pad 

thickness. Implications for needle length in adult immunization. JAMA. 

1997;277(21):1709-1711. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1997.03540450065037 

16. Groswasser J, Kahn A, Bouche B, Hanquinet S, Perlmuter N, Hessel L. Needle 

length and injection technique for efficient intramuscular vaccine delivery in 

infants and children evaluated tluough an ultrasonographic determination of 

subcutaneous and muscle layer thickness. Pediatrics. 1997;100(3 Pt 1):400-

403. DOI: 10.1542/peds.100.3,400 

17. Ipp M, Taddio A, Sam J, Gladbach M, Parkin PC. Vaccine-related pain: 

randomised contro11ed trial of two injection techniques. Arch Dis Child. 

2007;92(12):1105-1108. DOI: 10.1136/adc.2007.118695 

18. CDC. Recommendation of the Immunization Practices Advisory Committee: 

general recommendations on immunization MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

1983;32(1) :1-16. 

Genernl Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 107 



19. Kroger AT, Atldnson WL, Marcuse EK, Pickering LK. General 

recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2006;55(RR-15):1-48. 

20. Jackson LA, Yu 0, Nelson JC, et al. Injection site and risk of medically 

attended local reactions to a cellular pertussis vaccine. Pediatrics. 

2011;127(3):e581-587. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2010-1886 

21. Middleman AB, Anding R, Tung C. Effect of needle length when immunizing 

obese adolescents with hepatitis B vaccine. Pediatrics. 2010;125(3):e508-512. 

DOI: 10.1542/peds.2009-1592 

22. Fiore AE, Uyeki TM, Brod el· K, et al. Prevention and control of influenza with 

vaccines: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP), 2010. MlYIWR Recomm Rep. 2010;59(RR-8):1-62. 

23. CDC. General recommendations on immunization: recommendations of the 

Public Health Service Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. 

MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 1976;25(44):1-3. 

24. Scheifele D, Bjornson G, Barreto L, Meekison W, Guasparini R. Controlled 

trial of Haemophilus influenzae type B diphtheria toxoid conjugate combined 

with diphtheria, tetanus and pertussis vaccines, in 18-month-old children, 

including comparison of arm versus thigh injection. Vaccine. 1992;10(7):455-

460. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(92)90394-Y 

25. CDC. Diphtheria, tetanus, and pertussis: recommendations for vaccine use 

and other preventive measures. Recommendations of the Immunization 

Practices Advisory Committee (ACIP), MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-

10):1-28. ~ 

26. Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization 

strategy to eliminate tmnsmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United 

States: recommendations of the Advis01y Committee on I1mnunization 

Practices (ACIP) pru-t 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-16) :1-31. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 108 



27. Hingson RA, Davis HS, Rosen M. Historical development of jet injection and 

envisioned uses in mass immunization and mass therapy based upon 2 

decades experience. Mil Med. 1963;128(6):516-524. 

28. Weniger B, Papania M. Alternative vaccine delivery methods. In: Plotkin S, 

Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 5th ed. Chiria: Saunders/Elsevier; 

2008 :1357-1392. 

29. CDC. Hepatitis B associated with jet gun injection- California. MMWR Morb 

Mortal Wkly Rep. 1986;35(23):373-376. 

30. Canter J, Mackey K, Good LS, et al. An outbreak of hepatitis B associated with 

jet injections in a weight reduction clinic. A1'ch Intern Med. 1990;150(9):1923-

1927. DOI: 10.1001/archinte.1990.00390200105020 

31. Hoffman PN, Abulmesha RA, Andrews N.J, Samuel D, Lloyd J"S. A model to 

assess the infection potential of jet injectors used in mass immunisation. 

Vaccine. 2001;19(28-29):4020-4027. DOI: 10.1016/So264-410X(o1)00106-2 

32. Kelly K, Loskutov A, Zehrnng D, et al. Preventing contamination between 

injections with multiple-use nozzle needle-free injectors: a safety trial. 

Vaccine. 2008;26(10):1344-1352. DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.12.041 

33. Simonsen L, Kane A, Lloyd J, Zaffran M, Kane M. Unsafe injections in the 

developing world and transmission of bloodborne pathogens: a review. Bull 

Wo7'ld Health Organ. 1999;77(10):789-800. 

34. Kane A, Lloyd J, Zaffran M, Simonsen L, Kane M. Transmission of hepatitis B, 

hepatitis C and human immunodeficiency viruses through unsafe injections in 

the developing world: model-based regional estimates. Bull World Health 

Organ. 1999;77(10):801-807. 

35. Gray L, Watt L, Blass EM. Skin-to-skin contact is analgesic in healthy 

newborns. Pediatrics. 2000;105(1):e14. DOI: 10.1542/peds.105.1.e14 

36. Gray L, Miller LW, Philipp BL, Blass EM. Breastfeeding is analgesic in healthy 

newborns. Pediatrics. 2002;109(4):590-593. DOI: 10.1542/peds.109,4.590 

37. Harrington JW, Logan S, Harwell C, et al. Effective analgesia using physical 

interventions for infant immunizations. Pediatrics. 2012;129(5):815-822. 

DOI: 10.1542/peds.2011-1607 

General Oest Practice Guidelines for lmrnu hization: Vaccine Administration 109 



38. Taddio A, Nulman I, GoldbachM, Ipp M, Koren G. Use oflidocaine-prilocaine 

cream for vaccination pain in infants. J Pediatr. 1994;124(4):643-648. DOI: 

10.1016/Soo22-3476(05)83150-6 

· 39. Uhari M. A eutectic mixture oflidocaine and prilocaine for alleviating 

vaccination pain in infants. Pediatrics. 1993;92(5):719-721. 

40. Halperin SA, McGrath P, Smith B, Houston T. Lidocaine-prilocaine patch 

decreases the pain associated with the subcutaneous administration of 

measles-mumps-rubella vaccine but does not adversely affect the antibody 

response. J Pediatr. 2000;136(6):789-794. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-

3476(00)64169-o 

41. Frayling IM, Addison GM, Chattergee K, Meakin G. Methaemoglobinaemia in 

children treated with prilocaine-lignocaine cream. BMJ. 1990;301(6744):153-

154. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.301.6744.153 

42. Reis EC, Holubkov R. Vapocoolant spray is equally effective as EMLA cream 

in reducing immuniz~tion pain in school-aged children. Pediatrics. 

1997;100(6):E5. DOI: 10.1542/peds.100.6.e5 

43. American Academy of Pediatrics Steering Committee on Quality 

Improvement and Management, Subcommittee on Febrile Seizures, Febrile 

seizures: clinical practice guideline for the long-term management of the child 

witl1 simplefobrile seizures. Pediatrics. 2008;121(6):1281-1286. DOI: 

10.1542/peds.2008-0939 

44. Cook IF, Murtagh J. Comparative immunogenicity of hepatitis B vaccine 

administered into the ventrogluteal area and anterolateral thigh in infants. J 

Paecliatr Child Health. 2002;38(4):393-396. DOI: 10.1046/j.1440-

1754.2002.00013.x 

45. Redfield RR, Innis BL, Scott RM, Cannon HG, Bancroft WR. Clinical 

evaluation oflow-close intradermally administered _hepatitis B virus vaccine. A 

cost reduction sti1ategy. JAMA. 1985;254(22):3203-3206. DOI: 

10.1001/jama.1985.03360220069031 

General Besl Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 110 



I 
46. Coleman P,J, Shaw FE, Jr., Serovich J, Hadler SC, Margolis HS. Intradermal 

hepatitis B vaccination ju a large hospital employee population. Vaccine. 

1991;9(10):723-727. DOI: 10.1016/0264-410X(91)90287-G 

47. Fishbein DB, Sawyer LA, Reid-Sanden FL, Weir EH. Administration of 

human diploid-cell rabies vaccine in the gluteal area. N Engl J Med. 

1988;318(2) :124-125. DOI: 10.1056/nejm1988 01143180219 

48. CDC. Inadvertent misadministration of meningococcal conjugate vaccine

United States, June-August 200.5, MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2006;55(37):1016-1017, 

49. Ragni MV, Lusher JM, Koerper MA, Manco-Johnson M, Krause DS. Safety 

and immunogenicity of subcutaneous hepatitis A vaccine in children with 

haemophilia. Haemophilia. 2000;6(2):98-103. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-

2516.2000.00386.x 

50. Belshe RB, Newman FK, Cannon J, et al. Serum antibody responses after 

intradermal vaccination against influenza. N Engl J Med. 2004;351(22):2286-

2294. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoao43555 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Administration 111 



7. Storage and Ha11dling ofimmunobiologics 

Updates 

Most of the 2011 language was removed because this content is now codified and 

continually updated in the CDC's Vaccine Storage and Handling Toolkit, available at 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines /rec.s/storage/toolkit/ default.htm. This content included Storage 

Units, Monitoring Storage Temperature, Vaccine Inventory, and Vaccine Transport. 

General Principles 

Failure to adhere to recommended specifications for storage and handling of 

immunobiologics can reduce or destroy their potency, resulting in in,adequate or no 

immune response in the recipient 

(www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs /storage/toolki t/defa ult.htm.). Recommendations 

in the prodQ.ct package inserts, including methods for reconstitution of the vaccine, 

should be followed carefully. Maintenance of vaccine quality is the shared responsibility 

of all handlers of vaccines from the time a vaccine is manufactured until administration. 

All vaccines should be inspected on delivery and monitored during storage to ensure 

that the recommended storage temperatures are maintained. Vaccines should continue 

to be stored at recommended temperatures immediately upon receipt until use. 

Inadequate vaccine storage also can result in significant costs to replace vaccine 

inventory (www.cdc.gov/vaccines /recs /storage/toolkit/ default.htm). 

Storage Temperature 

Vaccines licensed for refrigerator storage should be stored at 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C). 

Liquid vaccines containing an aluminum adjuval!-t permanently lose potency when 

exposed to freezing temperatures. Inactivated vaccines that are stored in a liquid state 

(i.e., non-lyophilized [freeze-dried]) but that do not contain aluminum adjuvants should 

also generally be kept at refrigerator temperature, although whether or not they lose 

potency when frozen is not known. Inactivated lyophilized vaccines generally do not 

Genernl Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 112 



need to be frozen, but lyophilized varicella-containing vaccines that are recommended 

to be stored frozen lose poten~y when exposed to higher temperatures because the 

viruses degrade more quicldy at storage temperatures that are warmer than 

recomm_ended (Table 7-1). These varicella-containing vaccines also can be prone to 

losses in sterility if kept too cold, due to increased gas permeability of the rubber vaccine 

vial (observed with use of dry ice at temperatures below-58°F or -50°C [personal 

communication, manufacturer]), 

Response to Out-of-Range Temperature Reading 

An out-of-range temperature reading should prompt immediate action. A plan should 

be developed ahead of time to address various types of emergencies that might require 

removal of vaccine from the original storage unit. Transfer of vaccines to a 

predesignated alternative emergency storage site might be necessary if a temperat.11re 

problem cannot be resolved immediately (e.g., plugging in an unplugged unit or closing 

a door that has been left open). It is critical to avoid freezing vaccine during transport 

(improperly packing vaccine with ice can damage vaccines). Vaccine should be marked 

"do not use" and moved to the alternate site after verifying that the alternate unit is at 

the proper temperature. Determinations of vaccine viability in practice include 

consideration of both time and magnitude of temperature excursions and should be 

made in consultation with state/local public health departments or the vaccine 

manufacturer, as one or both of these groups may have additional information based on 

a broad international perspective. Damage to the immunogenicity of a vaccine exposed 

to temperatures outside of the recommended range might not be apparent visually. AB a 

general rule, vaccines that have been stored at inappropriate temperatures should not 

be administered unless public health authorities or the manufacturer determine it is safe 

and effective to do so. If such vaccines already have been administered, vaccine exposed 

to inappropriate temperatures that is inadvertently administered should generally be 

repeated. Clinicians should consult promptly with state or local health departments in 

these situations, Consultation with CDC is available when necessary. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Stornge and Handling of lmmunobiologics 113 



TABLE 7-1. Vaccine storage te1nperature recommendations 

Nonlyophilized, ahnninum-adjnvanted vaccines 

Vaccines Vaccine storage Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 

Diphtheria-tetanus- 36°fi-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent(a) 
containing vaccines Do not freeze 
(DT, Td) or pertussis-
containing vaccines 
(DTaP, Tdap) 

HepA and i-IepB 36°J-1-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

Do not freeze 

PCV 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 
Do not freeze 

HPV(b) 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 
Do not freeze 

N onlyophilized, nonaluminum-adjuvantecl vaccines 

Vaccines Vaccine storage Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 

PRP-OMP Hib 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

IPV 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

MenACWY(bJ,Cc) 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 
I 

PPSV 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

IIV(bl 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

Lyophilized (non-varicella) vaccines 

Vaccines Vaccine storage Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 

PRP-T Hib(b) 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)Cd) 35°F-46°F(2°C-8°C) 
Do not free7.e 

PRP-T Hib-MenCY 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
Do not freeze 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 114 



MMR(b> 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)(d) 35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
Can be refrigerated or stored at 
room temperature 

MPSV4 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C)cai Data are lacking on ideal pre-
reconstitution storage requirements. 
After reconstitution, vaccine should 
be stored at 35°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) 
Do not freeze 

Varicella-containing vaccines 

Vaccines Vaccine storage -Diluent storage ten1perature 
te1nperature 

MMRVCbl -58°F-5°F (-50°Cto - 35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
15°c) Can be refrigerated or stored at 

room temperature 

Varicella(bl ' -58°F-5°F (-50°C to - 35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
15°C) Can be refrigerated or stored at 

room temperature 

Herpes zosterCbJ -58°F-5°F (-50°C to - 35°F-77°F (2°C-25°C) 
15°c) Can be refrigerated or stored at 

room temperature 

N oninj ectable vaccines 

Vaccines Vaccine storage Diluent storage temperature 
temperature 

RVs vaccinelbJ 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 
Do not freeze 

RV1 vaccineCbJ 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) The diluent may be stored at a 
Do not freeze controlled room temperature 20°c: 

25°C (68°F-77°F). 
Do not freeze 

LAN 36°F-46°F (2°C-8°C) No diluent 

Abbreviations: DT = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids; DTaP = diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular 
pcitussis; HepA = hepatitis A; HepB = hepatitis ll; Hib = IJaemophilus irifluenzae type b; HPV = human 
papillomavims; UV= inactivated influenza vaccine; IPV = inactivated poliovirus; LAIV = live, attenuated influenza 
vaccine; MenACWY = quadtivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and rubella; 
MMRV = measles, mumps, rubella, and varice11a; MPSV4. = quadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; 
PCV13 = pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; PPSV23= pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; PIU'-OMP = 
polyribosylribitol phosphatc-meningocoecal outer membrane protein conjugate; PRP-T = polyribosylribitol 

General Best Practice Guidelines fot Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics :l1S 



phosphate polysaccharide conjugated to a tetanus toxoid; PRP-T Hib = poly1ibosylphosphate tetanus-toxoid 
conjugate Rib vaccine; PRP-T Hib-MenCY = polyribosylphosphate-telanus-toxoid Hib vaccine with a bivalent 
Meningococca1 vaccine; RV= l'Otavirus; RV1 = live, attenuated monovalent rotavirus vaccine; RVs= live, 
reassorlment pentavalent rotavirus vaccine; Td "' tetanus and diphtheria toxoids; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, reduced 
diphtheria toxoitl, and acelluJar pertussis. 

Sources: (1,2). 

<•> DTaP-Triped.ia is sometimes used as a diluent for ActHib. 

M Pmtect from light. 

Ce} 'l'het·e are 2 meningococcal conjugate vaccines; Menactra is nonlyophilized, and Menveo is lyophilized. Both 
powde1· and diluent should !Je stored at 35°F-46°F. 

Cdl The lyopbilized pellet may be stored at freezer temperature; the reconstituted vaccine should be stored at 
refrigerator temperature . 

..__ 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Storage and Handling of lmmunobiologics 116 



REFERENCES 
1. Kl.'oger A, Atkinson W, Pickering L. General immunization practices. In: 

Plotkin S, Orenstein W, Offit P, eds. Vaccines. 6th ed. China: Elsevier 

Saunders; 2013:88-111. 

2. CDC. Guidelines for maintaining and managing the vaccjne cold chain. 

MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2003;52(42):1023-1025. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Storc1ge ;rnd Handling of lmmunoblologics 117 



8. Altered lmmunocompetence 

Updates 

This section incorporates general content from the Infectious Diseases Society of 

America policy statement, 2013 IDS.A Clinical Practice Guideline for Vaccination of the 

Immunocompromised Host (1), to which CDC provided input in November 2011. The 

evidence supporting this guidance is based on expert opinion arid arrived at by 

consensus. 

Gener~l Principles 

Altered immunocompetence, a term often used synonymously with 

immunosuppression, immunodeficiency, and imrnµnocompromise, can be classified as · 

primary or secondary. Primary immunodeficiencies generally are inherited and include 

conditions defined by an inherent absence or quantitative deficiency of cellular, 

humoral, or both components that provide immunity. Examples include congenital 

immunodeficiency diseases such as X-linlced agammaglobulinemia, SCID, and chronic 

granulomatous disease. Secondary immunodeficiency is acquired and is defined by loss 

or qualitative deficiency in cellular or humoral immune components that occurs as a 

result of a disease process or its therapy. Examples of secondary immunodeficiency 

include HN infection, hematopoietic malignancies, treatment with radiation, and 

treatment with immunosuppressive drugs. The degree to which immunosuppressive 

drugs cause clniically significant immunodeficiency generally is dose related and varies 

by drug. Primary and secondary immunodeficiencies might include a combination of 

deficits in both cellular and Immoral immu11ity. Certain conditions like asplenia and 

chronic renal disease also can cause altered immunocompetence. 

Determination of.altered immunocompetence is important to the vaccine provider 

because incidence or severity of some vaccine-preventable diseases is higher in persons 

-with altered immunocompetence; therefore, certain vaccines (e.g., inactivated influenza 

vaccine, pneumococcal vaccines) are recommended specifically for persons with these 

General Best Prnctice Guidelines for Immunization : Altered lmmunocompetence :1.18 



diseases (2,3). Administration of live vaccines might need to be deferred until immune 

function has improved. This is primarily a safety concern, because persons who have 

altered immunocompetence and receive live vaccines might be at increased 1:isk for an 

adverse reaction because of uninhibited growth of the attenuated live virus or bacteria. 

Vaccines might be less effective during the period of altered immunocompetence. 

Inactivated vaccines might best be deferred during a period of altered 

immunocompetence; in this circumstance, the concern is with effectiveness and not 

safety. Additionally, if an inactivated vaccine is administered during the period of 

altered immunocompetence, it might need to be repeated afler immune function has 

improved. 

The degree of altered immunocompetence in a patient should be determined by a 

physician. The challenge for clinicians and other health-care providers is assessing the 

safety and effectiveness of vaccines for conditions associated with primary or secondary 

immunodeficiency, especially when new therapeutic modalities are being used and 

information about the safety a_nd effectiveness of vaccines has not beeli characterized 

fully in persons receiving ~hese drugs (Table 8-1). Laborat01y studies can be useful for 

assessing the effects of a disease or dmg on the immune system. Tests useful to assess 

humoral immunity include immunoglobulin (and immunoglobulin subset) levels and 

specific antibody levels (e.g., tetanus and diphtheria). Tests that demonstrate the status 

of cellular immunity include lymphocyte numbers (i.e., a complete blood count with 

differential), a test that delineates concentrations and proportions of lymphocyte 

subsets (i.e., Band T lymphocytes, CD4+ B lymphocytes versus CD8+ T lymphocytes), 

and tests that measme T-cell proliferation or function in response to specific or 

nonspecific stimuli ( e.g., lymphocyte proliferation assays) (4)5). The ability to 

characterize a drug or disease condition as affecting cellular or humoral immunity is 

only the. first step; using this information to draw inferences about whether particular 

vaccines are indicated or whether caution is advised with use of live or inactivated 

vaccines is more.complicated and might require consultation with an in-fectiollB diseases 

D!' immunology specialist. 

General Oest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lrmnunocompetence 119 



Altered Im111unocompetence as an Indication to Receive a 

Vaccine Outside of Routinely Recommended Age Groups 

This section describes situations in which vaccines are recommended outside of the 

routine-age-based recommendation because the risk for vaccine-preventable disease is 

increased due to altered immunocompetence. Persons with altered immunocompetence 

generally are recommended to receive polysaccharide-based vaccines (PCV13, PPSV23, 

and Hib), on the basis of increased risk for disease if the vaccine is withheld. For certain 

specific categories of altered immunocompetence, patients are also recommended to 

receive polysaccharide based vaccines (MenACWY, Hib-MenCY, and MPSV4). 

Pneumococcal Vaccines 

Two types of vaccine against invasive pneumococcal disease are available in the United 

States: PCV13 and PPSV23. PCV13 is recommended routinely for all children beginning 

at age 2 months through age 59 months and for adults aged 65 years or older. PCV13 is 

also recommended for children, adolescents, and adults with conditions that place iliem 

at high risk for invasive disease from Streptococcus pneumoniae. PCV13 is 

recommended for persons aged 6-64 years who have not previously received PCV13 and 

have congenital immunodeficiency disorders (including B- or T-lymphocyte deficiency, 

complement deficiencies, and phagocytic disorders), anatomic or functional asplenia 

(including sickle cell disease and other hemoglobinopathies), HIV infection, cochlear 

implant, cerebrospinal fluid leak, chronic renal failure, nephrotic syndrome, iatrogenic 

immunosuppression, or other immunocompromising conditions. 

PPSV 23 is licensed for use in persons aged ~2 years and recommended routinely for 

adults aged 65 years and oldeT. PPSV23 is also recommended for persons age 2 through 

64 years with congenital immunodeficiency disorders, anatomical and functional 

asplenia, HIV infection, cochlear implant, cerebrospinal fluid leak, and iati'ogenic 

immunosuppression. Complete recommendations on use of PCV13 and PPSV23 are 

available in the Recommended Immunization Schedules for Persons Aged o Through .18 

Years and the Recommended Adult' Imm1mization Schedule (2,6). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmm~mocompetence 120 



Meningococcal Vaccines 

Three types of meningococcal vaccines are licensed in the United States: meningococcal 

conjugate (MenACWY and I-Iib-MenCY), meningococcalpolysaccharide (MPSV4), and 

serogroup B meningococcal (MenB) vaccines. Persons with functional or anatomic 

asplenia (including sickle cell disease) and persistent complement component deficiency 

(including persons taldng eculizumab [Soliris]) (7) are at increased risk for 

meningococcal disease and should receive both MenACWY and MenB vaccines. For 

children 2 months through 23 months of age, an age-appropriate series of 

meningococcal conjugate vaccine should be administered. lf MenACWY-D (Menactra) is 

administered to a child with asplenia, it should be after 2 years of age and at least 4 

weeks after the completion of all PCV13 doses. A 2-dose primary series of either 

MenACWY-CRM (Menveo) or Men.ACWY-D (Menactra) should be administered to 

persons 2 years of age or older with asplenia or compleme~t deficiency. Following the 

primary series of vaccine, a 3-ycar interval to the next dose is recommended for persons 

who received their previous dose at younger than 7 years. A 5-year interval is 

recommended for persons who received their previous dose at age 7 years or older, 

Although MPSV 4 is the 01ily mcningococcal vaccine licensed for persons older than 55 

years of age, adults 56 years and older with asplenia or complement deficiency should be 

vaccinated with MenACWY-CRM or MenACWY-D rather than MPSV4 (8). 

Meningococcal serogroup B vaccines are licensed for persons 10-25 years of age and are 

recommended for persons 10 years of age or older for persons with high-risk conditions 

like :functional or anatomic asplenia or persistent complement component deficiency. 

There are presently no recommendations for booster doses of either MenB vaccine 
\ 

(9,1 o ). Complete recommendations for use of men:i:ngococcal vaccines are available in 

the Recommended Immunization Sched1Llesfor Persons Aged o Through 18 Years and 

the Recommended Adult Schedule (2,6), 

Hib Vaccines 

Hib conjugate vaccines are available in single or combined antigen preparations. Hib 
j 

vaccine is recommended routinely for all children through age 59 months. Children 12 

General 13est Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 121 



through 59 months who are at high risk. for invasive Hib disease (i.e., recipients of 

chemotherapy or radiation for malignant neoplasms, recipients of hematopoietic cell 
I 

transplant, or those with functional or anatomic asplenia, HIV infection, 

immunoglobulin deficiency, or early complement component deficiency) and who are 

unvaccinated or received only one dose of Hib disease before 12 months of age should 

receive 2 additional doses of Rib vaccine; those who received 2 or more doses of Hib 

before 12 months of age should receive on~ additional dose. A child younger than 5 years 

of age receiving chemotherapy or radiation therapy should have Hib doses repeated if 

the doses were received during therapy or within 14 days of starting therapy; repeat 

doses should be started at least 3 months after completion of therapy. Recipients of 

hematopoietic cell transplants should be revaccinated with 3 doses of Hib vaccine, 

starting 6-12 months after successful transplant, regardless of vaccination history or 

age. Children 5-18 years of age with HIV who are unimmunizedCa) should receive a dose 

of Hib vaccine; Hib vaccination is not recommended in HIV-infected adults. 

UnimmunizeclCa) asplenic patients older than 59 months of age or adults should receive a 

close of Hib vaccine. Anyone 15 montl1S of age or older who is nndergoing a splenectomy 

and is unimmunized(a) should receive a dose of Hib vaccine (11). Complete 

recommendations for use of Hib vaccine are available in the Recommended 

Immunization Schedules for Persons Aged o Through 18 Years and the Recommended 

.Adult Immunization Schedule (2,6). 

Vaccination of Contacts of Persons with Altered 

hnmunocompetence 

Household contacts and other close contacts of persons with altered 

immunocompetence should receive all age- and exposure-appropriate vaccines, with the 

exception of smallpox vaccine (12,13). Receipt of vaccines will prevent the vaccine

preventable disease, so there can be no potential transmission to the contact with 

altered immunocompetence. The live MMR, varicella, and rotavirus vaccines shm1ld be 

administered to susceptible household contacts and other close contacts of 

immunocompromised patients when indicated. Zoster vaccine can be administered 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 1.22 



when indicated. MMR vaccine viruses are not transmitted to contacts, and transmission 

·of varicella-zoster virus vaccine strain is rare (14115). No specific precautions are needed 

unless the varicella vaccine recipient has a l'ash after vaccination, in which case direct 

contact with susceptible household contacts with altered immunoccimpetence should be 

avoided until the rash resolves (14,15). All members of the household should wash their 

hands after changing the diaper of an infant who received rotavirus vaccine, This 

minimizes rotavirus transmission, as shedding may occur up to one month after the_ last 

dose (16,17). Household and other close contacts of persons with altered 

immunocompetence should receive annual influenza vaccination. Introduction oflow 

levels of vaccine viruses into the environment likely ~s unavoidable when administering 

LAIV. LAIV vaccine viruses are cold-adapted, so they can replicate in the nose and 

generate an immune response without entering the lungs (i.e., they are temperature 

sensitive and replicate poorly at core body temperatures). No instances have been 

reported of illness caused by attenuated vaccine virus infections among health-care 

providers or immunocompromised patients. LAN may be administered to healthy 

household and other close contacts of persons with altered immunocompetence unless 

the person with altered immunocompetence is in a protective environment! typically 

defined as a specialized patient-care area with a positive airflow relative to the corridor, 

high-efficiency particulate air filtration, and frequent air changes (3). No preference 

exists for inactivated influenza vaccine use by health-care workers or other persons who 

have close contact with persons with lesser degi·ees of immunosuppression (e.g., 

persons with diabetes, persons with asthma taking high-dose corticosteroids, or persons 

infected with HIV), and no preference exists for inactivated influenza vaccine use by 

health-care workers or other healthy persons aged 5-49 years in close contact with all 

other groups at high risk. 

Inactivated Vaccines: Safety: 

All inactivated vaccines can be administered safely to persons with altered 

immunocompetence, whether the vaccine is a lulled whole-organism or a recombinant,· 

subunit, split-virus, toxoid, polysaccharide, or polysaccharide protein-conjugate vaccine. 

General Oest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 123 



Inactivated Vaccines: Effectiveness 

Except for inactivated influenza vaccine, vaccination during chemotherapy or radiation 

therapy should be avoided if possible because antibody response might be suboptimal. 

Patients vaccinated within a 14-day period before starting immunosuppressive therapy 

or while receiving immunosuppressive th~rapy should be considered unimmunized and 

should be revaccinated at least 3. months after therapy is discontinued if immune 

competence has been restored. Patients who have quantitative B-cell deficiencies and 

are receiving immunoglobulin therapy should not receive either inactivated or live 

vaccines while receiving the immunoglobulin therapy because of concerns about 

effectiveness of the vaccines. Patients on chemotherapy with anti-B cell antibodies (e.g., 

rituximab) should wait at least 6 months after therapy before being vaccinated with 

inactivated vaccines. Some experts recommended longer than 6 months for some anti-B 

cell antibodies. For other forms of altered immunocompetence, if inactivated vaccines 

are indicated, the usual schedules are recommended. However, the effectiveness of such 

vaccinations might be suboptimal (1). 

Live, Attenuated Viral and Bacterial Vaccines: Effectiveness 

The same rationale regarding effectiveness that exists with inactivated vaccines also 

exists with live vaccines. 

Live, Attenuated Viral and Bacterial Vaccines: Safety 

Severe complications have followed vaccination with certain live, attenuated viral and 

live, attenuated bacterial vaccines among persons with altered immunocompetence (18-
/ 

26). Pcfaons with most forms of altered inununocompetence should not receive live 

vaccines (MMR, varicella, MMRV, LAfV, zoster, yellow fever, Ty21a oral typhoid, BCG, 

smallpox, and rotavirus). However, exceptions exist, and are discussed in this section. 

Patients with any defect in phagocytic function (e.g., chronic granulomatous disease, 

leukocyte adhesion deficiency, myeloperoxidase deficiency, Chediak-Higashi syndrome) 

General Best Prnctice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lrnmunocornpetence 124 



should NOT receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with a specific type of defect in 

phagocytic function-chronic granulomatous disease-should receive otherwise 

indicated live attenuated viral vaccines in addition to inactivated vaccines but should 

NOT receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with defects in phagocytic function that are 

undefined or known to be accompanied by defects in T-cell and natural killer cell 

function (e.g., leukocyte adhesion deficiency, myeloperoxidase deficiency, Chediak

Higashi syndrome) should NOT receive live attenuated viral or bacterial vaccines. These 

conditions include specific deficits in T-cell and natural killer cell function, reducing the 

response to live viral vaccine antigens to an extent not seen in c;hronic grauulomatous 

disease (1). Children with deficiencies in complement should receive otherwise indicated 

live, attenuated viral and live, attenuated bacterial vaccines. Children with asplenia 

should not receive LAIV, but can receive other indicated live, attenuated viral and live, 

attenuated bacterial vaccines. 

Persons with severe cell-mediated immunodeficiency should not receive live, attenuated 

viral or bacterial vaccines. Patients with defects of the inteiferou-gamma/intedeukin-12 

axis should not receive live bacterial vaccines. Patients with deficiencies of interferon

gamma or interferon-alpha should not receive live viral or live bacterial vaccine. These 

defects involve a deficiency in cytokine production which affects the immune response 

to a wide scope of antigens, both bacterial and viral (1). Two factors support vaccination 

of HIV-exposed or HIV-infected infants with rotavirus vaccines: 1) the HIV diagnosis 

might not be established in infants born to HIV-infected mothers before the age of the 

first rotavirus vaccine dose (only 1.5%-3% of HIV-exposed infants in the United States 

will be determined to be HIV-infected), and 2) the vaccine strains of rota virus are 

considerably attenuated. Patients taking exogenous interferon as therapy should not 

receive live bacterial or live viral vaccines. 

Children with HIV infection are at increased risk for complications from varicella and 

herpes zoster infection compared with immunocompetent children (27,28), Limited 

data among HIV-infected children younger than 8 years (specifically, those individuals 

with CDC class N, A, or B with age-specific CD4+ T-lymphocyte percentages of ~15%) 

indicate that single-component varicella vaccine is immunogenic, effective, and safe 

General Best Practice GL1idellnes for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 125 



(14,28). Data on use of varicella vaccine in HIV-infected adolescents and adults are 

lacking. However, on the basis of expert opinion, the safety of varicella vaccine in HIV

infected persons older than 8 years with comparable levels of immune function 

(CD4+T-lymphocyte count greater than 200 cells/mm3) is likely to be similar to that of 

children aged younger than 8 years (l4). Varicel1a vaccine should be considered for 

persons who meet these criteria. Eligible HIV-infected persons 12 months of age or 

older should receive 2 doses of single-component varicella vaccine with a 3:-month 

interval between doses (14,28). Doses separated by <3 months are invalid for persons 

with HIV infection. MMRV vaccine should not be administered to any HIV-infected 

person. 

Persons with HIV infection are at increased risk for severe complications if infected with 

measles. No severe or unusual adverse events have been reported after measles 

vaccination among HIV-infected persons who did not have evidence of severe 

immunosuppression (29 -32). Two doses of MMR vaccine are recommended for all HIV

infected individuals aged 212 months who do not have evidence of current severe 

immunosuppression (i.e., individuals aged ~5 years must have CD4-+Tlymphocyte 

[CD4+] percentages ~15% for 2,6 months, and individuals aged >5 years must have 

CD4+percentages 215% and CD4+:?:200 lymphocytes/mm3 for ;;;:6 months) and do not 

have current evidence of measles, rubella, and mumps immunity. In cases when only 

CD4+cel1 counts or only CD4+percentagcs are available for those >5 years, the 

assessment of severe immunosuppression can be based on the CD4+values (count or 

percentage) that are available. In cases when CD4+percentages are not available for 

those aged 5:5 years, the assessment of severe immunosuppression can be based on age

specific CD4+counts at the time CD4+counts were measured; i.e., absence of severe 

immnnosuppression is defined as 26 months above age-specific CD4+count criteria: 

CD4+count >750 lymphocytes/mm3 while aged 5:12 months and CD4+count ~500 

lymphocytes/mm3 while aged 1 through 5 years (33). Similarly, rep~at doses of MMR 

vaccination are recommended for individuals with perinatal HIV infection who were 

vaccinated prior to establishment of effective combination antiretroviral therapy 

( cART). They should receive 2 appropriately spaced doses of MMR vaccine once 

effective cART has been established (individuals aged s;,5 years must have 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 126 



CD4+percentages ~15% for 2:6 months; individuals aged >5 years must have 

CD4+percentages ~15% and CD4+~200 1ymphocytes/mm3 for 2:6 months) unless they 

have other acceptable current evidence of measles, rubella, and mumps immunity. 

RN-infected persons who are receiving regular doses of IGIV are unlikely to respond to 

varicella vaccine or MMR vaccine because of the continued presence of passively 

acquired antibody. However, because of the potential benefit, MMR and varicella 

vaccines should be considered approximately 14 days before the next scheduled dose of 

IGN (if not otherwise contraindicated), although an optimal immune response might 

not occur depending on the presence of neutralizing antibodies against the vaccine 

virus. Vaccination should be repeated (if not otherwise contraindicated) after the 

recommended interval (see Table 3-5 in the Timing and Spacing oflmmunobiologics of 

this document). In most cases, this is after the therapy has been discontinued. 

Patients with leukemia, lymphoma, or other malignancies whose disease is in remission, 

who have restored immunocompetence, and whose chemotherapy has been 

discontinued for at least 3 months can receive live-virus va~cines. Persons with impaired 

humoral immunity (e.g., hypogamrnaglobulinemia or dysgamrnaglobulinemia) may be 

vaccinated with varicella vaccine (14). However,· most persons with these 9isorders also 

receive periodic doses of IGIV. Appropriate spacing should be maintained between 

administration of IGN and varicella vaccine in an attempt to prevent an inadequate 

response to vaccination caused by the presence of neutralizing antibodies from the I G N. 

Zoste1: incidence is higher in persons with altered immunocompetence (34). A_dults with 

most types of altered immunocompetence are expected to maintain residual immunity 

to varicella-zoster virus because of chronic latent infection that protects against primary 

varicella but provides incomplete protection against zoster. Zoster vaccine is 

contraindicated in persons with primary or acquired immunodeficiency (e.g., 

lymphoma, leukemia, tumors involving bone marrow, and patients receiving 

chemotherapy) and some HIV infected patients (34). Zoster vaccine may be 

administered to certain persons age 60 or older with altered immunocompetence, such 

as persons receiving low dosages of immunosuppressive medications, those with 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lm-munocompetence 127 



isolated B-cell deficiencies (i.e., impaired humornl immunity), or those with HIV 

infection who have CD4+ T-lymphocyte counts >200 cells/mm3. 

Recipients of I--Iematopoietic Cell Transplants 

Ahematopoietic cell transplant (HCT) results in immunosuppression because of the 

hematopoietic ablative therapy administered before the transplant, drugs used to 

prevent or treat graft-versus-host disease, and, in some cases, from the unde_rlying 

disease proces_s necessitating transplantation (35-37). HCT involves ablation of the bone 

manow followed by reimplantation of the person's own stem cells or stern cells from a 

donor. Antibody titers to vaccine-preventable diseases (e.g., tetanus, poliovirus, 

measles, mumps, rubella, and encapsulated bacteria) decrease 1-4 years after autologous 

or allogeneic HCT if the recipient is not revaccinated. HCT recipients of all ages are at 

increased risk for certain vaccine-preventable diseases, including diseases caused by 

encapsulated bacteria (i.e., pneumococcal, meningococcal, and Hib infections). AB a 

result, HCT recipients who received vaccines prior to their HCT should be revaccinated 

routinely after HCT, regardless ofthe.source of the transplanted stern cells (35-37). 

Vaccination or revaccination doses of pneumocdccal vaccines, DTaP vaccine, Hib 

vaccine, hepatitis A vaccine, hepatitis B vaccine, meningoco<::cal vaccines, IPV, 

inactivated influenza.vaccines, and human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccines (for 

individuals aged 9-26 years) are recommended after HCT (1,35). Varicella, zoster, and 

MMR vaccines may be administered after HCT if 24 inonths have passed since HCT, the 

patient does NOT have graft-vs-host disease, and is considered imrnunocompetent. 

Yellow fever vaccine, rabies vaccine, tick-borne encephalitis vaccine, and Japanese 

encephalitis vaccine are not routinely administered vaccines, so their use post-HCT will 

be cl.riven by a disease-specific risk such as exposure or travel. If someone has received 

yellow fever vaccine prior to an HCT, another dose should be administered post-1-ICT 

(38). ECG, LAN, typhoid vaccine, and rotavirus vaccine are not recommended after 

HCT. Most inactivated vaccines should be initiated 6 months after the HCT (37). 

Inactivated influenza vaccine should be administered beginning at least 6 months after 

HCT and annually thereafter for the life of the patient. A close of inactivated influenza 

vaccine can be given as early as 4 months after I-JCT, but a second dose should he 

General Flest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 128 



considered in this situation (37). A second dose is recommended routinely for all 

child.Ten younger than 9 years receiving iiiflnenza vaccine for the first time. Sequential 

administration of 3 doses of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine is recommended, 

heginning 3-6 months after the transplant, followed by a dose of PPSV 23 (35). Some 

sources state a 4-week interval between these doses as reasonahle with the dose of 

PPSV23 being replaced by a dose of PCV13 in the context of graft-versus-host disease 

(35), Others sources support 3 doses of PCV13 at 8-week intervals, with a dose of 

PPSV23 recommended 8 weeks after the last dose of PCV13 and 12 months after the 

HCT (1). A 3-dose regimen of Hih vaccine should be administered beginning 6 months 

after tr;ansplant; at lenst 1 month should separate the doses (37). This series should be 

given regardless of whether or not vaccine doses were administered prior to the I-ICT. 

The revaccination schedule for pertussis-containing vaccines includes 3 doses of DTaP 

for patients <7 years (14). For patients ?.7 years, providers have 3 options for 

revaccination: 1) 3 doses of DTaP; 2) one dose of Tdap and 2 doses of DT; or 3) one dose 

of Tdap and 2 doses of Td (16). 

Prnviders need to make a clinical judgment whether they will follow the revaccination 

schedule described above, even if doses were not administered prior to the HCT. There 

are specific recommendations for Hib and pertussis-containing vaccines. Use of the 3-

dose Hih schedule following HCT is supported for both patients that received Hih prior 

to HCT and those who did not receive Hib prior to I-ICT (6,11). For childl'e~ >6 years 

who did not receive previous doses of pertussis-containing vaccine prior.to the HCT, the 

preferred schedule following a dose of HCT is a dose of Tdap followed by 2 doses of Td 

(personal communication, subject matter experts). This is identical to one of the 

alternative regimens for revaccination doses, described above. 

Conditions or Drugs that Might Cause hnmunodeficiencies 

Asplenia and use of corticosteroids or certain drugs have the potential to be 

immunosuppressive and are presumed to cause some degree of altered 

immunocompetence. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 129 



Anatomic or Functional Asplenia 

Persons with anatomic asplenia (e.g., surgical removal or congenital absence of the 

spleen) or functional asplenia (as occurs in persons with sickle cell disease) are at 

increasedi-isk for infection by encapsulated bacteria, especially S. pneumoniae 

(pneumococcus), N. meningitidis (meningococcus), and Hib (zlL3.9_). Children should 

receive an age-appropriate series of PCV13. Unvaccinated children 2-5 years should 

receive 2 doses of PCV13. Children ~6 years should receive a dose of PCV13 if they have 

not previously received a dose of PCV13. Persons aged ;;?:2 years should receive 2 doses of 

PPSV23 separated by 5 years, beginning 8 or more weeks after completing all 
., 

recommended doses of PCV13 (6,7,40,41). In circumstances where both PCV13 and 

PPSV23 are indicated, doses of PCV13 should be administered first followed by PPSV23 

8 weeks after the last dose of PCV13. 

Meningococcal conjugate (MenACWY) and serogroup B (MenB) vaccines are 

recommended for persons with anatomic or functional asplenia (including sickle cell 

disease). For children 2-23 months of age, a series of MenACWY-CRM (Menveo) or Hib

MenCY (MenHibrix) should be administered. For persons ~2 years of age, a 2-dose 

primary series of either MenACWY-CRM or MenACWY-D (Menactra) should be 

adrrrinistered. If a person with functional or anatomic asplenia is catching up on 

pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13), and the provider only carries MenACWY-D, 

indicated doses of PCV13 should be completed first andMenACWY-D should be given 4 

weeks after the PCV13 series is completed. Following the primary series of vaccine, a 3-

year interval to the next dose is recommended for asplenic children who received their 

last previous dose at age younger than 7 years. A 5-year interval for asplenic persons is 

recommended for persons who received their last previous dose at age 7 years or older. 

Meningococcal B (MenB) vaccine should be administered as either a 2-dose series of 

MenB-4C (Bexsero) or a 3-dose series of MenB-FHbp (Tnunenba). The same vaccine 

product must be used for all doses. Based on available data and expert opinion, MenB-

4C or MenB-FHbp may be administered concomitantly with MenACWYvaccines, but at 

a different anatomic site, if feasible. There are presently no recommendations for 

booster doses of either MenB vaccine. 

General !Jest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 130 



Hib vaccine is recommended routinely for all children through age 59 months. Children 

12-59 months with fonctional or anatomic asplenia and who are unvaccinated or who 

received only one dose of Hib disease before 12 months of age should receive 2 doses of 

Hib vaccine; those who received 2 or more doses of Hib before 12 months of age should 

receive one additional dose. Unimmunized(a) asplenic patients older than 59 months of 

age should receive one dose of Hib vaccine. Anyone :2:15 months ,of age who is 

undergoing a spleneclomy and is unimmunizedCn) should receive one dose of Hib 

vaccine. 

Pneumococcal, meningococcal, and Hib vaccinations should be administered at least 14 

days before elective splenectomy, if possible. If the vaccinations are not administered 

before surgery, they should be administered after the procedure as -soon as the patient's 

condition is stable. 

Corticosteroids 

The amount of systemically absorbed corticosteroids and the duration of administration 

needed to suppress the immune system of an otherwise imrnunocompetent person are 

not well defined. Although the immunosuppressive effects of steroid treatment vmy, the 

majority of clinicians consider a dose equivalent to either :2:2 mg/kg of body weight or 

;:;,; 20 mg/ day of prednisone or equivalent for persons who weigh > 10 kg when 

administered for :2:14 consecutive days as sufficiently immunosuppressive to raise 

concern about the safety of vaccination with live-virus vaccines (37). This dosage is 

referred to as "high-dose corticosteroids". Corticosteroids used in greater than 

physiologic doses also can reduce the immune response to vaccines. Vaccination 

providers should defer live-virus vaccination for at least 1 month after discontinuation 

of high-dose systemically absorbed corticosteroid therapy administered for :2:14 days. 

Following vaccination, the decision needs to be made when to restart, 

immunosuppressive therapy. There are no specific recommendations about when to 

restart immunosuppressive medicines. However, when h1itiating immunosuppressive 

therapy, providers should wait 4 weeks after a live vaccine and 2 weeks after an 

inactivated vaccine. However, if patients require therapy for cluonic inflammatory 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 131 



conditions, this therapy should not be delayed because of past administration of 

vaccines (1). 

Corticosteroid therapy usually is not a contraindication to administering live-virus 

vaccine when administration is 1) short term (i.e., <14 days); 2) a low to moderate dose 

(i.e., <20 mg of prednisone or equivalent per day or <2mg/kg body weight per day for a 

young child); 3) long-term, altemate-day treatment with short-acting preparations; 4) 

maintenance physiologic doses (replacement therapy); or 5) topical (skin or eyes), 

inhaled, o{· by intra-articular, bursal, or terid~n injection (37). No evidence of au 

increased risk for more severe reactions to live, attenuated viral vaccines has been 

reported among persons receiving corticosteroid therapy by aerosol, and such therapy is 

not a reason to delay vaccination. 

Other Imn1unosuppressive Drugs 

When feasible, clinicians should administer all indicated vaccines before initiation of 

chemotherapy, before treatment with other immunosuppressive drugs, and before 

radiation or splenectomy. Persons receiving chemotherapy or racliation for leukemia 

and other hematopoietic malignancies, or for solid tumors, should be assumed to have 

altered immunocompetence. Live, attenuated vaccines should not be administered for at 

least 3 months after such immunosuppressive therapy. Inactivated vaccines 

administered during chemotherapy should be readministered after immune competence 

is regained. Children vaccinated before receiving chemotherapy for leukemia, 

lymphoma, other malignancies, or radiation generally are thought to retain immune 

mem01y after treatment, although revaccination with the common childhood vaccines 

after chemotherapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia might be indicated (42). In 

general, revaccination of a person after chemotherapy or racliation therapy is considered 

unnecessa1y if the previous vaccination occurred before therapy and not dm;ing therapy, 

with the exception of recipients of HCT, who should be revaccinated as recommended 

previously. Determination of the level of immune memory and the need for 

revaccination should be made by the treating physician. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 132 



Certain immunosuppressive medic~tions are administered to prevent solid organ 

transplant rejection. Live vaccines should be withheld for 2 months fo1lowing 

discontinuation of anti-rejection therapies in patients with a solid organ transplant. 

Zoster vaccine should be withheld one month following discontinuation of anti-rejection 

therapies (34). 

Other immunosuppressive medications include human immune mediators like 

interleuldns and colony-stimulating factors, immune modulators, and medicines 1ike 

tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibitors and anti-B cell antibodies. Inactivated and live 

vaccines should be administered 2 or more weeks before initiating such therapies. Live 

vaccines should be withheld 3 months topowing such therapies, and both inactivated 

and live vaccines should be withheld at least 6 months following therapy with anti-B cell 

antibodies. Some experts recommend longer than 6 months following anti-B cell 

antibodies. Anti-B cell antibodies suppress antibody-producing cells for a prolonged 

duration, hence the longer interval recommended before administering vaccines (17) . 

Zoster vaccine is an exception ahd should be withheld 1 month fo1lowing anti-B cell 

antibodies. 

<•>Patients who have not received n primary series and booster dose or 11t least 1 close of Bib vaccine after 14 months of age nre 

considered unimmuni1.ed. 

Genernl Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmrnunocornpetence 133 



TABLE 8~1. Vaccination of persons with primru·y and secondary 
immunodeficiencies 
Primary Specific Con train di ca ted Risk-specific Effectiveness 

immunodeficiency vaccines(n) recommended and comments 
vaccinesCa) 

n- Severe antibody OPV{b) I-lib (children The 
lymphocyte deficiencies (e.g., Smallpox(c) 12-59 months effectiveness 
(humoral) X-linked .LAIV of age)Cd) of any vaccine 

agammaglobuline BCG is uncertain if 
mia and common Ty21a (live it depends 
variable typhoid) only on the 
immunodeficiency Yellow fever humoral 
) MMR response (e.g., 

MMRV PPSV23or 
MPSV4) 

IGN 
interferes with 
the immune 
response to 
measles 
vaccine and 
possibly 
varicella 
vaccine 

Less severe OPV{b) Pneumococcal ,All vaccines 
antibody BCG Hib (children likely 
deficiencies (e.g., Ye11ow feverCc) 12-59 months effective; 
selective IgA Other live of age)Ccl) immune 
deficiency and IgG vaccines appear response 
subclass to be safe might be 
deficiency) attenuated 

T- Complete defects All live Pneumococcal Vaccines likely 
lymphocyte (e.g., SCIO disease, vaccinesC0,(g),(h) Rib ( children to be effective 
(cell- complete 12-59 months 
mediated DiGeorge of age)Cd) 
and syndrome) 
humoral) Partial defects All live Pneumococcal Effectiveness 

(e.g., most patients vaccinesC0,(g),(h) Meningococca of any vaccine 
with DiGeorge 1 depends on 
syndrome, Rib ( children degree of 
Wiskott-AldTich 12-59 months immune 
syndrome, ataxia- of age)Cd) suppress1011 
telangiectasia) 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 134 



Interferon- All live bacterial None 
gamma/ vaccines 
Interleukin 12. axis (All live 
deficiencies vaccmes 

contraindicated 
in Inte1feron-
gamma or 
interferon-alpha 
deficiencies) 

. 

Complemen Persistent None Pneumococcal All routine 

t complement, Meningococca vaccines likely 

properdin, or 1 effective 

factor B deficiency; Rib ( children 
or taking 12-59 months 
ecuHzumab of age)Ccl) 
(Soliris) 

Phagocytic Chronic Live bacterial None Live viral 

function gran ulomatous vaccinesCfJ vaccines likely 

disease safe and 
effective 

Phagocytic MMR Pnenmococcal All inactivated 

deficiencies that MMRV vaccines safe 

are undefined or Varicella and likely 
accompanied by OPVCb) effective 
defects in T-cell Small.pox 
and NKcell BCG 
dysfunction (such LAIV 
as a Chediak- Ty21a 
Higashi syndrome, Yellow Fever 
Leukocyte and bacterial 
Adhesion vaccinesCD,(g) 
Deficiency [LAD], 
and 
myeloperoxidase 
deficienc:)'.") 

Genernl [lest Practice Guidelines for lmmllnirntion: Altered lmmunocornpetence 135 



Secondary I-IN/AIDS OPV(h) Pneumococcal MMRand 
Smallpox Hib(d), (j) Varicella 
BCG HepB vaccine in 
LAN those with 
MMRV mild 

immunosuppT 
Witbhold MMR, ession, 
varlcella, and rotavirus, and 
zoster in all inactivated 
severely vaccmes, 
immunocompro including 
mised persons inactivated 

influenza as 
Yellow fever per roi1tine 
vaccine might vaccination 
have a schedule, 
contraindication might be 
or a precaution · effective<k) 
depending on 
clinical 
parameters of 
immune 
function Ci) 

Generalized Live viral and Pneumococcal Effectiveness 
malignant bacterial, HibCm) of any vaccine 
neoplasm, depending on depends on 
transplantation, immune 

\ 

degree of 
immunosuppressiv statusCO,(g),Cl) immune 
e or radiation suppress10n 
therapy 

Asplenia LAN Pneumococcal All routine 
Meningococca vaccines likely 
1 effective 

' Hib(d),(n) 

Chronic renal LAlV Pneumococcal All routine 
disease HepB(0 ) vaccines likely 

effective 
Abbreviations: AlDS = acquired immunodeficiency syndrome; BCG = bacille Calmette-Guerin; HepB = hepatitis 
B; Hib = Haemophilus irif{uenzae type b; HN = human immunodeficiency virus; IG = immunoglobulin; IGIV = 
immune globulin intravenous; I~ = immune globulin A; IgG = immune globulin G; LAIV = live, attenuated 
influenza vaccine; MMR = measles, mumps, and mbelln; MMRV = measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella; MPSV 4 
"' q uadrivalent meningococcal polysaccharide vaccine; OPV = oral poliovirus vaccine (live); PPSV23= 
pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine; SCIO= severe combined immunodeficiency; 1'y21a = live oral typhoid 
vaccine. 

Som•cc: (43), 

(a) Other vaccines that are universally or routinely recommended should be given if not contraindicated, An 
exception is 1Jaticnts with B-cell deficiencies receiving immunol!lobulins, who should not receive either live OL' 

General !3est Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 136 



inactivated vaccines, due to safely Oive vaccines) at1d efficacy (live and inactivated vaccines) concerns. 
lb) OPVis no longeravailalJle in the United States. 

(c) This table refors to contraindications for nonemergency vaccination (i.e., the ACIP recommendations); 
emergency respons~ recommendations are addressed in the clinicol guidance for smallpox vaccine use in an 
emergency. 

Cdl Children 12-59 mor1ths: ifunimmunized or received l'.ero or only 1 dose, and U1at dose was administered before 
12 months of age, should receive 2 Hib doses, 8 wee]cs a_part; ifreceived 2 or more doses before age 12 months, and 
none aftel' 12 months, should receive 1 Hib dose 8 weel<s after ilie last dose; if completed a primary series and 
received a booster dose at age 12 months or older, no additional Hib doses are recommended. 

C•J There are no data to su pp01t lgA deficiency as a contraindication for yellow fever vaccine. 

(()Live bacterial vaccines: DCG and oral Ty2ta Salmonella Typhivaccine. 

!g) Live viral vaccines: MMR, MMRV, OPV, LAIV, yellow fever, zoster, rotavitus, varicella, and vaccinia (smallpox) . 
Nonemergency smallpox vaccination is not recommended for children younger than 18 years or the general [)Ublic. 

(h) Regarding T-lymphocyte immunodeficiency as a contraindication for rotavirus vaccine, data exist only for SCID. 

<1> Symptomatic HN infection or CD4+ T-lymphocyte count of <20 o /rnm3 or <15% of total lymphocytes for 
children aged <6 years is a contraindication to yellow fever vaccine administration. Asymptomatic I-IN infection 
with CD4+ T-lymphocyte count of 200-499/mml for persons aged 26 years or 15%-24% of total lymphocytes for 
children aged <6 years is a precaution for yellow fever vaccine aclminish·ation. Details of yellow fever vaccine 
recommendations arc available from CDC (44) 

en Patients 5-18 years of age who have not received a Hib primary series and a booster dose or at least one Hib dose 
after 14 months of age. 

Ck) HIV-infected children should be considered for varicella vaccine if CD4+ T-lyrnphocytc count is ;;,.15% and 
should receive MMR vaccine if they are aged 2:12 months and do not have 1) evidence of cul'rentsevere 
immunosuppression (i.e., individuals aged .s5 years must have CD4+T lymphocyte [CD4] percentages 215% for 26 
months; and individuals aged >5 years must have CD4+percentages 215% and CD4+2200 lymphocytes/mm3 for 
~6 months) and 2) other current evidence of measles, rubella, and mumps immunity. In c.ases when only CD4+cell 
cuunts or only CD4+percentages are available for those older than age 5 yea.rs, ilie assessment of severe 
immunoslippression can be based on the CD4+values (count or percentage) that are available. In cases when 
CD4+perccntages are not available for ilio.se aged ,s5 years, the assessment of severe immunosupprcssion can be 
based on age-specific CD4+counts at Uie time CD4+cou11ts were measured; i.e., absence of severe 
immunosuppression is defined as ~6 months above age-specific CD4+cou11t c1iteria: CD4+count >750 
lymphocytes/mmJ while aged :Sl2 months and CD4+count ~500 lymphocytes/mm3 while aged 1 Uuough 5 years 
(33). 

CllWithholding inactivated vaccines also is recommended with some forms ofimmunosuppressive therapy, like 
anti-CD20 antibodies, induction or consolidation chemotherapy, or patients with major antibody deficiencies 
.receiving immunoglobulins. Inactivated influemn vaccine is an exception, but consideration should be given to 
repealing doses of any inactivated vaccine administered during U1ese therapies. 

(m) Persons younger than 60 months undergoing chemotherapy 01· radiation therapy who have not received a Hib 
primary sel'ies and a booster dose or at least one Hib dose after14 months of age; HCTpatients of any ages, 
regardless ofHib vaccine histo1y. 

CnlPersons older ilian 59 months who are asplenic and persons 15 months or older who are undergoing elective 
splenectomy whu have not received a Hih prima1y series and a booster dose or at least one Hib dose after 14 
months ofage. 

(o) Indicated based on the risk from dialysis-based blood borne transmission. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmu11ocornpetence 137 

r 



REFERENCES 

1.. Rubin L, Levin M, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for 

vaccination of the immunocomprorrrised host. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(3) :e44-

100. DOI: 10.1093/cid/cit684 

2. Kim DK, Bridges CB, Harriman KI-I. Advisory committee on immunization 

practices recommended immunization schedule for adults aged 19 years or 

older-United States, 2015. MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(4):91-92. 

3, Grohskopf LA, Olsen SJ, Sokolow LZ, et al. Prevention and control of seasonal 

influenza with vaccines: recommendations of theAdvismy Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP)-United States, 2014-15 influenza season. 

MMWRMorb~Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014;63(32):691-697. 

4. Markert ML, Hummell DS, Rosenblatt HM, et al. Complete Di George syndrome: 
I 

persistence of prnfound immunodeficiency. J Pediatr. 1998;132(1):15-21, DOI: 

10 .1016/80022-34 76( 98)70478-0 

5. Jeffrey Modell Foundation Medical Advisory Board. 10 warning signs of primary 

immunodeficiency [Poster]. 2009;http://www.info4pi.org/1ibrary/educational

materials/10-wa111i11g-signs . .Accessed 9 March, 2017. 

6. Strikas RA. Advisory committee on immunization practices recommended 

immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 years-United States, 

2015 . . MM'WR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(4) :93-94. 

7. nilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. 

Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2oos;q4(RR-7) :1-21. 

8. Cohn AC, MacN eil JR, Clark TA, et al. Prevention and control of meningococcal 

disease: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. ~013;62(RR-2):1-28. 

9. Folaranmi T, Rubin L, Martin SW, Patel M, MacNeil JR. Use of serogroup B 

meningococcal vaccines in persons aged > / =10 years at increased risk for 

serogroup B meningococcal disease: recominendations of the Adviso1y 

Committee on Immunization Practices, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 

2015;64(22):608-612. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 138 



10. MacNeil ,JR, Rubin L, Folaranmi T, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Patel M, Martin SW. Use 

of serogroup B meningococcal vaccines in adolescents mid young adults: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, 2015. 

MMWRMorb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 2015;64(41):1171-1176. DOI: 

10.15585/mmwr.mm6441a3 

11. Briere EC, Rubin L, Moro PL, Cohn A, Clark T, Messonnier N. Prevention and 

control of I-Iaemophilus influenzae type b disease: recommendations of the 

adviso1y committee on immunization practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2014;63(RR-1):1-14. 

12. Petersen B·w, Harms TJ, Reynolds MG, Harrison LH. Use of vaccinia virus 

smallpox vaccine in laboratory and health care personnel at risk for occupational 

exposure to orthopoxviruses - recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2015. MMWRMoJ'bMortal Wlcly Rep. 

2016;65(10):257-262. DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6510a2 

13. Petersen BW, Damon IK, Pertowski CA, et al. Clinical guidance for smallpox 

vaccine use in a postevent vaccination program. MMWRRecomm Rep. 

2015;64(RR-2):1-26. 

14. Marm M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention of varicella: 

recommendations of the Advis01y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

15. Grossberg R, Harpaz R, Rubtcova E, Loparev V, Seward JF, Schmid DS. 

Secondary transmission of varicella vaccine vims in a chronic care facility for 

childl'en. J Pediatr. 2006;148(6):842-844. par: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.01.038 

16. Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention of rotavirus gastroenteritis among infants 

· and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

17. Anderson EJ. Rotavirus vaccines: viral shedding and risk of transmission. Lancet 

Infect- Dis. 2008;8(10):642-649, DOI: 10.1016/s1473-3099(08)70~31-7 

18. Sixbey JW. Routine immunizations and the immunosuppressed child. Adv 

Pediat1· Infect Dis. 1987;2:79-114. 

Genernl Best Practice Guic\elines for linmu nization: Altered lmmunocompetence J.39 



19. Wright PF, Hatch.ME, Kasselberg AG, Lowry SP, Wadlington WB, Karzon DT. 

Vaccine-associated poliomyelitis in a child with sex-linked agammaglobulinemia. 

J Pediatr. 1977;91(3):408-412. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(77)81309-7 

20. Wyatt IN. Poliomyelitis in hypogammaglobulinemics. J Infect Dis. 

1973;128(6):802-806. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/128.6.802 

21. Dayis LE, Bodian D, Price D, Butler IJ, Vickers JH. Chronic progressive 

poliomyelitis secondary to vaccination of an immunodeficient child. N Engl J 

Med. 1977;297(5):241-245. DOI: 10.1056/11ejm197708042970503 

22. CDC. DisseminatedMycobacterium bouis infection from BCG vaccination of a 

patient with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. MM"WR Morb lvlortal Wkly 

Rep. 1985;~:34(16):227-;228. 

23. Ninane J, Grymonprez A, Burtonboy G, Francois A, .Cormt G. Disseminated BCG 

in HIV infection. Arch Dis Child.1988;63(10):1268-1269. DOI: 

10.1136/adc.63,10.1268 

24. Redfield RR, Wright DC, James WD, Jones TS, Brown C, Burke DS. 

Disseminated vaccinia in a milita1y recruit with human immunodeficiency virus 

(HIV) disease. N Engl J Med. 1987;316(11):673-676. DOI: 

10. 1056/nejm198703123161106 

25. CDC. Measles pneumonitis following measles-mumps-rubella vaccination of a 

patient with HIV infection, 1993, MMWRMorbMortal Wkly Rep. 

1996 ;45(28) :603-606, 

26. Cono J, Casey CG, Bell DM. Smallpox vaccination and adverse reactions. 

Guidance for clinicians. MMWRRecomm Rep. 2003;52(RR-4):1-28. 

27. DenyckA, LaRussa P, Steinberg S, Capasso M, Pitt J, Gershon AA. Varicella and 

zoster in children with human hnm unodeficiency virus infection. Pediatr Infect r 

Dis J. 1998;17(10):931-933. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-199810000-00023 

28.Levin MJ, Gershon AA, Weinberg A, Song LY, Fentin T, Nowak B. Administration 

of live varicella vaccine to HIV-infected children with current or past significant 

depression of CD4( +) T cells. J Infect Dis, 2006;194(2):247-255. DOI: 

10.1086/505149 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 1'10 



29. Sprauer MA, Markowitz LE, Nicholson JK, et al. Response of human 

immunodeficiency virus-infected adults to measles-rubella vaccination. J Acquir 

Immune Defic Syndr. 1993;6(9):1013-1016. 

30, McLaughlin M, Thomas P, Onorato I, et al. Live virus vaccines in human 

immunodeficiency virus-infected children: a retrospecti~e survey. Pediatrics. 

19 88 ;82(2) :22.9-233. 

31. Onorato IM) Markowitz LE, Oxtoby MJ.-Childhood immunization, vaccine

preventable diseases and infection with human immunodeficiency virus. Pediatr 

Infect Dis J. 1988;7(8):588-595. 

32, Palumbo P, Hoyt L, Demasio K, Oleske J, Connor E. Population-based study of 

measles and measles immunization in human immunodeficiency virus-infected 

children, Pediatr Infevt Dis J. 1992;11(12):1008-1014. 

33. McLean HQ, Fiebelkorn AP, Temte JL, WaJlace GS. Prevention of m,easles, 

rubella, congenital rubella syndrome, and mumps, 2013: summary 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-4):1-34. 

34. Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34. 

35. Tomblyn M, Chiller T, Einsele H, et al. Guidelines for preventing infectious 

co1"!1plications among hematopoietic cell transplantation recipients: a global 

perspective. ~iol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2009;15(10):1143-1238. DOI: 

10 .1016/j .bbrnt.2009 .06 .019 

36. Ljungman P, Cordonnier C, Einsele H, et al. Vaccination of hematopoietic cell 

transplant recipients. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2009;44(8):521-526. DOI: 

10 .1038/bmt.2009.263 

37. American Academy of Pediatrics. Immunization in special clinical circumstances. 

In: Pickering L, Baker C, Kimberlin D,.Long S, eds. Red Boole 2009 Report of the 

Committee on Infectious Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American 

Academy of Pediatrics; 2009. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Altered l111munocompete11ce 141 



38.Staples JE, Bocchini JA, Jr., Rubin L, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine booster 
' doses: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, 

2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(23):647-650. 

39. CDC. Haemophilus b conjugate vaccines for prevention of J-Iaemophilus 

injluenzae type b disease among infants and children two months of age and 

older. Recommendations of the Immunization Practices Adviso1y Committee 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 1991;4o(RR-1):1-7. 

40. CDC. Prevention of pneumocQccal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

1997;46(RR-8):1-24, 

41. Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention of pneurnococcal disease among infants and 

children - use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine - recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2010;59(RR-11): 1-18, 

42.Brodtman DH, Rosenthal DW, Redner A, Lanzkowsky P, llonagura VR. 

Immunodeficiency in chHdren with acute lymphoblastic leukemia after 

completion of modern aggressive chemotherapeutic regimens. J Pediatr. 

2005;146(5):654-661. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.12.043 

43. American Academy df Pediatrics. Passive immnnization. In: Pickering L, Baker C, 

Kimberlin D, Long S, eds. Red Boole: 2012 Report of the Committee on Infectious 

Diseases. 28th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2012. 

44,Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations of 

the Advisory Committee on Immunimtion Practices (ACIP). MMliVR Recomm 

Rep .. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27. 

General Best Practice Gtddelines for Immunization: Altered lmmunocompetence 142 



9. Special Sit11ations 

Updates 

Major revisions to this section of the best practices guidance include the timing of 

intramuscular administration and the timing of clotting factor deficiency replacement. 

Concurrent Administration of Antimicrobial Agents and Vaccines 

With a few exceptions, use of an antimicrobial agent does not interfere with the 

effectiveness of vaccination. Antibacterial agents have no effect on inactivated, 

recombinant subunit, or polysaccharide vaccines or toxoids. They also have no effect on 

response to live, attenuated vaccines, except live oral Ty21a typhoid and BCG vaccines. 

Ty21a typhoid vaccine should not be administered to persons receiving antimicrobial 

agents until 72 hours after the last dose of antimicrobial (1). If feasible, to avoid a · 

possible reduction in vaccine effectiveness, antibacterial dr·ugs should not be started or 

resumed until 1 week after the last dose ofTy21a. Antimicrobial or immunosuppressive 

agents may inte1fere with the immune response to BCG and should only be used under 

medical supervision (for additional informationJ see 

http://www.merck.com/product/usa/Ri circulars/b/bcg/bcg pi.J2Q_f). 

Antiviral drugs used for treatment or prophylaxis of influenza virus infections have no 

effect on the response to inactivated influenza vaccine (2). However, live, attenuated 

influenza vaccine should11ot be administered until 48 hours after cessation of therapy 

with antiviral influenza drugs, If feasible, to avoid possible reduction in vaccine 

effectiveness, antiviral medication should not be administered for 14 days after LAIV 

administration (g). If influenza an,tiviral medications are administered within 2 weeks 

after receipt of LAIV, the LAN dose should be repeated 48 or more hours after the last 

dose of antiviral medication. Alternatively, persons receiving antiviral dl'Ugs within the 

period 2 days before to 14 days after vaccination with LAIV may be revaccinated with 

another approved vaccine formulation (e.g., IIV or recombinant influenza vaccine). 

Antiviral drugs aetive against herpesviruses (e.g., acyclovir or valacyclovfr) might reduce 

General □ est Practice Guldelines for Immunization: Special Situations 143 



the efficacy of vaccines containing live, attenuated varicella zoster virus (i.e., Varivax, 

ProQuad, and Zostavax) (3,4). These drugs should be discontinued at least 24 hours 

before administration, if possible. If clinically appropriate, delay use or resumption of 

antiviral therapy for 14 days after vaccination. No data exist to suggest that commonly 

used antiviral drugs have an effect on rotavirus vaccine or MMR. 

Administration of Live Vaccines and Tuberculin Skin Tests 

(TSTs) and Interferon-ga1n1na Release Assays (IGRAs) 

Measles illness, severe acute or chronic infections, HIV infection, and malnutrition can 

create a relatively an.ergic state during which the TST might have a false-negative 

reaction (5-7). Although live, attenuated measles vaccine theoretically can suppress TST 

reactivity, the degree of suppression is likely less than that occurring from acute 

infection from wild-type measles virus. Screening children for tuberculosis exposure is 

accomplished by medical history rather than TST t~sting; universal TST screening of all 

children is no longer recommended, though TST screening is sometimes indicated (e.g., 

for persons at increased risk for tuberculosis exposure based on medical history, or for 

employees for occupational health reasons). 

In a general screening situation, a TST may be administered simultaneously -with live 

vaccines, or should be deferred for 28 days after vaccination. The TST and measles

containing vaccine can be administered at the same'visit (this is the preferred option). 

Simultaneously administering the TST and measles-containing vaccine does not 

interfere with reading the TST result at 48-72 hours and ensmes that the person has 

received measles vaccine. If the measles-containing vaccine has been administered 

recently, TST screening should be delayed for at least 4 weeks after vaccination. A delay 

'in performing the TST removes the concern of any theoretical transient suppression of 

TST reactivity. Some providers choose to perform TST screening and then delay the 

vaccine until the patient returns to have the TST read. This option is the least favored 

because it delays receipt of the measles-containing vaccine. 

General nest Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 144 



Because of similar concerns about smallpox vaccine and TST suppression, a TST should 

not be performed until 4 weeks after smallpox vaccination (8).No data exist regarding 

the potential degree of TST suppression that might be associated with othe~· live, 

attenuated virus vaccines (e.g., varicella or yellow fever). However, in the absence of 

data, following guidelines for measles-containing vaccine when scheduling TST 

screening and administering other live, attenuated vims vaccines is prudent. If the 

opportunity to vaccinate might be missed, vaccination should not be delayed only 

because of these theoretical considerations. 

A test that is more specific for infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis than TST, the 

interferon-gamma release assay (IGRA), was licensed in 2005. The IGRA requires only a 

single visit to complete and is less sensitive to the effects of previous BCG vaccination 

(9). The same timing guidelines that apply to the interval between a live vaccine and 

TST apply to IGRA (i.e., 28 days between live vaccine and IGRA if they do not occur on 

the same day), because IGRA (like TST) might be suppressed through immunologic 

mechanisms. The potential for a previous TST to cause boosting of future TST results 

should be considered in adults who might have latent tuberculosis and have a negative 

initial TST (9). The 2-step test, in which the test is given twice in a short time frame, 

reduces the chance of these false negatives, which are important to identify among 

adults who may have had or plan to have repeat testing anyway-for example, health

care personnel who are tested yearly (9). Because this test consists of 2 TSTs ( or a TST 

followed by IGRA) separated by an interval of 1-3 weeks, there is a g1'eater window of 

time during which live vaccine replication could supptess reactivity. If a live vaccine is 

administered, the first dose of a 2-step TST should be delayed for 4 weeks, and if 

additional doses of live V'.3-Ccines are indicated thereafter, they should be delayed untH 

the second TST (or the IGRA after an initial TST). 

TST or IGRA reactivity in the absence of active tuberculosis is not a contraindication to 

adminish·ation of any vaccine, including live, attenuated virus vaccines. 

Note that TST screening of an asymptomatic individual is clinically different than 

testing a person suspected to have active tuberculosis. If a person is suspected to have 

General 8est Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 145 



active tuberculosis, MMR vaccine is typically not administered. Active tuberculosis 

should be considered severe acute illness, and moderate or severe acute illness is a 

precaution for vaccination. 

Although no studies have reported ori the effects of MMR vaccine on persons with active 

untreated tuberculosis, a theoretical basis exists for concern that measles vaccine might 

exacerbate active tuberculosis (10). As a result, before administering MMR to persons 

with untreated active tuberculosis, initiating antttuberculosis therapy is advisable (1 o). · 

Considering whether concurrent immunosuppression (e.g., imrnunosuppression caused 

by HIV infection) is ptesent before administering live, attenuated vaccines also is 

necessmy, because immunosuppression is a contraindication to MMR vaccine. 

Vaccination of Pretenn Infants 

In the majority of cases, preterm infants (infants born before 37 weeks' gestation), 

regardless of birth weight, should be vaccinated at the same chronological age and 

according to the same schedule and using the same precautions as for full-term infants 

and children. Birth weight and size are not factors in deciding whether to vaccinate a 

clinically stable preterm infant (11-15), except for hepatitis B vaccination. The full 

recommended dose of each vaccine should be used. Divided or reduced ·a.oses are not 

recommended. 

Decreased seroconversion rates might occur among certain preterm infants (i.e., those 

with low birth weights [ <2,000 g]) after administration of hepatitis B vaccine at birth 

(16). However, by the chronological age of 1 month, all preterm infants, regardless of 

initial birth weight, are likely to respond as adequately as larger infants (.17-19), Infants 

""'.eighing <2,000 g born to HBsAg-negative mothers should receive the first dose of the 

hepatitis B vaccine series at chronological age 1 month or hospital discharge, if hospital 

discharge occurs when the infant is younger than one month of age. Preterm low-birth

weight-infauts born to HBsAg-positive mothers should receive immunoprophylaxis 

with hepatitis B vaccine within 12 hours after birth. The initial vaccine dose should not 

be counted towal'd completion of the hepatitis B series, and 3 additional doses of 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 146 



hepatitis B vaccine should be administered, beginning when the infant is aged 1 month. 

For mothers with unknown HBsAg status, hepatitis B vaccine is recommended within 12 

hours of birth regardless oflow-birth-weight status. 

In addition to hepatitis B vaccines, hepatitis B Immunoglobulin (HBIG) is 

recommended for infants whose mothers are I-IBsAg positive or unknown. If the mother 

is HBsAg positive, HBIG must be given within 12 hours of birth. If the mother's HBsAg 

status is unlmown, providers should first attempt to determine the mother's status. 

Regardless, if the infant is preterm or low biith weight, HBIG must be given within 12 

hours of birth. If the infant is neither preterm nor low birth weight, providers have up to 

7 days from birth to determine if the mother is HBsAg negative; because the protective 

efficacy of HBIG declines the longer that adrnini.stration is delayed, if results are 

unlikely to be lrnown by day 7 of life, HBIG should be given no later than day 7 if not 

earlier. If the mother is determined to be HBsAg positive, HBIG should be administered 

as soon as possible (20). 

., 
If a child aged at least 6 weeks has been in the hospital since birth, deferral of rotavirus 

vaccine is recommended until the time of discharg·e. If an infant were to be vaccinated 

with rotavirns vaccine while still needing care in the NICU or nursery, at least a 

theoretic risk exists for vaccine virus being transmitted to infants in the same unit who 

are acutely ill and to preterm infants who are not age-eligible for vaccine (21). The 

rotavirus vaccine series should not be initiated for infants aged ~15 weeks, o days. 

Breastfeeding and Vaccination 

With 2 exceptions, neither inactivated nor live-virus vaccines administered to a lactating 

woman affect the safety of breastfeeding for women or their infants. Although live 

vil'uses in vaccines can replicate in the mother, the majority of live viruses in vaccines 

have been demonstrated not to be excreted in human milk. Varicella vaccine virus has 

not been found in human milk (22). Although rubella vaccine virus has been excreted in 

human milk, the virus usually does not infect the infant. If infection does occur, it is well 

tolerated because the virus is attenuated (23). Inactivated, recombinant, subunit, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmunirntion: Special Situations 147 



polysaccharide, and conjugate vaccines, as well as toxoids, pose no risk for mothers who 

are breastfeeding or for their infants. Breastfeeding is a contraindication for smallpox 

vaccination of the mother because of the theoretical risk for contact transmission from 

mother to infant. Yellow fever vaccine should be avoided in breastfeeding women, · 

because 2 cases ( one confirmed, one probable) of yellow-fever vaccine associated acute 

neurotropic disease (YEL-ANJ?) have been detected in infants whose mothers were 

vaccinated but were not vaccinated themselves. In both infants, vaccine virus was 

recovered from the cerebrospinal fluid of the infant, but the exact mode of transmission 

was not precisely determined because vaccine virus was not recovered from breast milk 

(24). However, when nursing mothers cannot avoid or postpone travel to areas endemic 

for yellow fever in which risk for acquisition is high, these women should be vaccinated. 

Limited data indicate that breastfeeding can enhance the respon~e to certain vaccine 

antigens (25). There are no data to suggest that passive transfer of antibodies in human 

milk can affect the efficacy of Jive-virus vaccines. Breastfed infants should be vaccinated 

according to the recommended schedule (26-28). 

Vaccination During Pregnancy 

No evidence exists of risk to the fetus from vaccinating pregnant women with 

inactivated virus or bacterial vaccines or toxoids (29,30). In spite of the lack of evidence 

of risk, HPV vaccine, an inactivated vaccine, is not recommended during pregnancy. 

Live vaccines administered to a pregnant woman pose a theoretical risk to the fetus; 

therefore, live, attenuated virus and live bacterial vaccines generally are contraindicated 

during pregnancy. Women should avoid conception for 4 weeks after vaccination with 

live vaccines. HoweveT, benefits of vaccinating pregnant women usually outweigh 

potential risks when the likelihood of disease exposure is high, when infection would 

pose a risk to the mother or fetus, ,md when the vaccine is unlikely to cause harm. 

Recommendations for vaccination during pregnancy are developed using ACIP's 

Guiding Principles for Development of ACIP Recommendations for Vaccination During 

Pregnancy and Breastfeeding (31). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 148 



Women who are pregnant should receive a dose ofTdap for the prevention of infant 

pertussis whether or not they have previously received Tdap. Vaccination of the mother 

generates antibodies that pass transplacentally to the fetus (32). Vaccination in the third 

trimester optimizes the duration of this antibody protection until after birth. 

Additionally, preventing pertussis in the mother reduces the risk that the infant is 

exposed to pertussis after birth (33). Health cam personnel should administer Tdap 

dming pregnancy, preferably dming the third trimester. If Tdap is not administered 

during pregnancy to women who have never received it, it should be administered 

immediately postpartum. Pregnant women who are not vaccinated or are only partially 

vaccinated against tetanus should complete the prima1y series (34). Women for whom 

Td is indicated but who did not complete the recommended 3-dose series during 

pregnancy should receive follow-up after delive1y to ensure the series is completed. One 

dose of the tetanus vaccine series should be Tdap, if Tdap has not already been received. 

Pregnant and postpartum women are at higher risk for severe illness and complications 

from influenza than women who are not pregnant (2,35), Pregnant women have 

protective levels of anti-influenza antibodies after vaccination (36,37), Passive transfer of 

anti-influenza antibodies that might provide protection from vaccinated women to 

neonates has been reported (36,38-41) . Routine vaccination with inactivated influenza 

vaccine is recommended for all women who are or will be pregnant (in any trimester) 

during influenza season. 

IPV can be administered to pregnant women who arc at risk for exposure to wild-type 

poliovirus. This includes travelers to areas or countries where polio is epidemic or 

endemic; members of communities or specific population groups with disease caused by 

wild polioviruses; laboratory workers who handle specimens that might contain 

polioviruses; health-care personnel who have close contact with patients who might be 

excreting wild polioviruses; and unvaccinated persons whose children will be receiving 

oral poliovh-us vaccine (42). Hepatitis A, pneumococcal polysaccharide, meningococcal 

conjugate, and meningococcal polysaccharide vaccines should be considered for women 

at increased risk for those infections (43-45). Pregnant women who must travel to areas 

where there is a risk for acquiring yellow fever should receive yellow fever vaccine, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 149 



because the limited theoretical risk from vaccination is outweighed substantially by the 

risk for yellow fever infection (24,46). Hepatitis B vaccine is not contraindicated in 

pregnancy and should be given to a pregnant woman for whom it is indicated (2oi47). 

Pregnancy is a contraindication for smallpox (vaccinia) vaccine aud measles-, mumps-, 

rubella-, and varicella-containing vaccines. Smallpox vaccine is the only vaccine known 

to harm a fetus when administered to a pregnant woman. In addition, smallpox vaccine 

should not be administered to a household contact of a pregnant woman (8). Women 

who are pregnant should not have close contact with anyone who has recently (within 

the last 28 days) received the smallpox vaccine. Data from studies of children born to 

mothers inadvertently_vaccinated with rubella vaccine during pregnancy demonstrate 

rubella antibody in unvacduated infants. This could represent passive transfer of 

maternal antibody or a fetal antibody response to vaccine virus infection in the fetus. No 

cases of congenital rubella _or varicella syndrome or abnormalities attributable to fetal 

infection have been observed among infants born to susceptible women who 

inadvertently received rubella or varicella vaccines during pregnancy (48--50). Because 

of the importance of protecting women of childbearing age against rubella and varicella, 

reasonable practices in anyvaccination program include asking women if they are 

pregnant or might become pregnant in the next 4 weeks; not vaccinating women who 

state that they are or plan to become pregnant within that interval; explaining the 

theoretical risk for the fetus if MMR, varicella, or· MMRV vaccine were administered to a 

woman who is pregnant; and counseling women who are vaccinated not to become 

pregnant during the 4 weeks after MMR, varicella, or MMRV vaccination (1.0)48-51). 

MMRV is an unlikely option for a pregnant woman because the vaccine is only licensed 

through 12 years of age. Routine pregnancy testing of women of childbearing age before 

administering a live-virus vaccine is not recommended (3)10). If a pregnant woman is 

inadvertently vaccinated or becomes pregnant within 4 weeks after MMR or varicella 

vaccination, she should be counseled about the theoretical basis of concern for the fetus; 

however, MMR or varicella vaccination during pregnancy should not be considered a 

reason to terminate pregnnncy (3,10,50). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 150 



Persons who receive MMR vaccine do not transmit the vaccine viruses to contacts (10). 

Transmission of varicella vaccine virus to contacts is exceedingly rare (3). MMR and 

varicella vaccines should be administered when indicated to children and other 

household contacts of pregnant women (10). Infants living in households with pregnant 

women should be vaccinated with rotavirus vaccine according to the same schedule as 

infants in households without pregnant women. 

Pregnant women should be evaluated for evidence of immunity to rubella and varicella 

and be tested for the presence of HBsAg during every pregnancy (10,20,52). Women 

without evidence of immunity to rubella and varicella should be v~ccinated immediately 

after delivery. A second dose of varicella vaccine should be administered 4-8 weeks 

later. A woman found to be I-IBsAg positive should be followed-up carefully to ensure 

that the infant receives HBIG and begins the hepatitis B vaccine series no later than 12 

hours afler birth and that the infant completes the recommended hepatitis B vaccine 

series on schedule (20). No known risk exists for the fetus from passive immunization of 

pregnant women with immune globulin preparations. 

Persons Vaccinated Outside the United States 

Clinicians have a limited ability to determine whether persons are prntected on the basis 

of their country of origin and their vaccination records alone. Vaccines administered 

outside the United States generally can be accepted as valid if the schedule (i.e., 

minimum ages and intervals) is similar to that recommended in the United States. With 

the exception of influenza vaccine, only written documentation should be accepted as 

evidence of previous vaccination. Written records are more likely to predict protection if 

the vaccines, dates of administration, intervals between doses, and age at the time of 

vaccination are comparable to U.S. recommendations. Although vaccines with 

inadequate potency have been produced in other countries (53,54), the majority of 

vaccines used worldwide are produced with adequate quality control standards and are 

potent. 

General Best Prnctice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 151 



Persons vaccinated outside of the United States can enter the country througli a number 

of different mechanisms. Those seeking to immigrate to the United States may be 

vaccinated under the authority of a civil surgeon or a panel physician. Some enter the 

United States as refugees and are vaccinated under the authority of the Office of Refugee 

Resettlement, part of the Administration for Children and Families, in the Department 

of Health and Human Services. 

Adopted children's birth countries often have vaccination schedules that differ from the 

recommended childhood vaccination schedule in the United States. Differences in the 

U.S. schedule and those used in other countries include the vaccines administered, the 

recommended ages of administration, and the number and timing of doses. 

Data are inconclusive regarding the extent to which an internationally adopted child's 

vaccination record reflects the child's protection. A child's record might indicate 

administration of MMR vaccine when only single-antigen measles-vaccine was 

administered. A study of children ad(_)pted from orphanages in the People's Republic of 

China, Russia, and countries in Eastern Europe determined that 67% of children with 

documentation of >3 doses of DTP before adoption had nonprotective titers to these 

antigens (54). In contrast, children adopted from these countries who received 

vaccination in the community (not only from orphanages) and had documentation of ~1 

doses of DTP exhibited protective titers 67% of the time (54). However, antibody testing 

was performed by using a hemagglutination assay, which tends to underestimate 

protection and cannot directly be compared with antibody concentration (55). Data are 

likely to remain limited for areas other than the People's Republic of China, Russia, and 

Eastern Europe. Health-care providers should ensure that household contacts of 

international adoptees are vaccinated adequately, particularly for measles, hepatitis A, 

and hepatitis B (56). 

Health-care providers, may use one of multiple approaches if the immunogenicity of 

vaccines or the completeness of series administered to persons outside the United States 

is in question. l~epeating the vaccinations is an acceptable option that usually is safe and 

prevents the need to obtain and interpret serologic tests. If avoiding uuneeessary 

General !3est Practice Guidelines for lmrnunirntion: Special Situations 152 



injections is desired; judicious use of serologic testing might help determine which 

vaccinations are needed. For some vaccines, the most readily available serologic tests 

cannot document protection .against infection. This best practices document provides 

guidance on possible approaches to evaluation and revaccination for each vaccine 

recommended in the United States (Table 9-1). 

DTaP Vaccine 

Vaccination providers can revacdnate children younger than 7 years of age with DTaP 

vaccine without regard to recorded doses; however, data indicate increased rates oflocal 

adverse reactions after the fourth and fifth doses of DTaP (57). If a revaccination 

approach is adopted and a severe local reaction occurs, serologic testing for specific IgG 

antibody to tetanus and diphtheria toxins can be measured before administering 

additional doses. Protective concentratiou(a) indicates that additional doses are 

unnecessary and subsequent vaccination should occur as age appropriate. No 

established serologic correlates exist for protection against pertussis. 

For a child whose record indicates receipt of ;;:3 doses of DTP or DTaP, serologic testing 

for specific IgG antibody to both diphtheria and tetanus toxin before additional doses is 

a reasonable approach. If a protective concentration is present, recorded doses are 

considered valid, and the vaccination series should be completed ~s age appropriate. An 

indeterminate antibody concentration might indicate immunologic memory but waning 

antibody; serologic testing can be repeated after a booster dose if vaccination providers 

or parents want to avoid revaccination with a complete series. 

Alternately, fo(a child whose records indicate receipt of :?:3 doses, a single booster dose 

can be administered followed by serologic testing after 1 month for specific IgG antibody 

to both diphtheria and tetanus toxins. If the child has a protective concentration, the 

recorded doses are considered valid, and the vaccination series should be completed as 

age appropriate. Children wilh an indeterminate concenfration after a booster _dose 

should be revaccinated with a complete series. 

Gen em I Gest Practice Guidelines for Im munlzation: Special Situations 153 



Hepatitis A Vaccine 

Children aged 12-23 months without documentation of hepatitis A vaccination or 

serologic evidence of immunity should be vaccinated on arrival in the United States 

(45). Persons who have received 1 dose should receive the second dose if 6-18 months 

have passed since the first dose was administered. 

Hepatitis B Vaccine 

Persons not known to be vaccinated for hepatitis B should receive an age-appropriate 

series of hepatitis n vaccine. A person whose records indicate receipt of ;,,:3 doses of 

vaccine is considered protected, and additional closes are not needed if ~1 dose was 

administered at age ~24 weeks. Persons who received their last hepatitis B vaccine dose 

at an age <24 weeks should receive an additional dose at age ~24 weeks. People who 

have received <3 doses of vaccine should complete the series at the recommended 

intervals and ages. 

All foreign-born persons and immigrants, refugees, and internationally adopted 

children born in Asia, the Pacific Islands, Africa, and other regions of high or 

intermediate hepatitis B endemicity should be tested for HBsAg, regardless of 

vaccination status (58). Those determined to be HBsAg positive should be monitored for 

development ofliver disease. Household members of HBsAg-positive children or adults 

should be vaccinated if they are not already hnmune. 

Hib Vaccine 

Interpretation of a serologic test to_verify whether children who were vaccinated >2 

months previously are protected against Hib bacteria can be difficult. Because the 

number of vaccinations needed for protection decreases with age and because adverse 

events are rare (59), age-appropriate vaccination should be provided. I-lib vaccination is 

not recommended routinely for persons aged :::5 years (59). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 154 



Meningococcal Vaccine 

Quadrivalent meningococcal conjugate vaccines are not routinely used in other 

countdes in adolescents (the United Kingdom is the exception). Unless patients have 

documented receipt they should be considered unvaccinated and receive the age

appropriate doses. 

MMR Vaccine 

The simplest approach to resolving concerns about MMR vaccination is to revaccinate 

with 1 or 2 doses of MMR vaccine, depending on age. Serious adverse events after MMR 

vaccinations are rare (10). No evidence indicates that administering MMR vaccine 

increases the risk for adverse reactions among persons who are already immune to 

measles, mumps, or rubella as a result of previous vaccination or natural disease. Doses 

of measles-containing vaccine administered before the first birthday should not be 

counted as part of the series (10). Alternatively, serologic testing for IgG antibody to 

vaccine viruses indicated on the vacdnation record can be considered. Serologic testing 

is widely available for measles and rubella IgG antibody. A person whose record 

indicates receipt of monovalent measles or measles-rubella vaccine on or after the first 

birthday and who has protective antibody against measles and rubella should receive 1 

or 2 doses of MMR or MMRV as age appropriate to ensure protection against mumps 

and varicella (and rubella if measles vaccine alone had been administered). If a person 

whose record indicates receipt of MMR at age ~12 months has a protective 

concentration of antibody to measles, no additional vaccination is needed unless a 

second dose is required for school entry. 

J>neumococcal Vaccines 

Many industrialized countries now routinely use pneurnococcal vaccines. Although 

recommendations for pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine also exist in many 

countries, the pneumococcal conjugate vaccine might not be routinely administered. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for I mm u nization: Specla I Situations 155 



· PCV13 and PPSV23 sliould be administered according to age-appropriate vaccination 

schedules or as indicated by the presence of underlying medical conditions (43,60). 

Poliovirus Vaccine 

The simplest approach to vaccinating with poliovirus vaccine is to revaccinate persons 

aged <18 years with IPVaccording to the U.S. schedule. Adverse events after IPV are 

rare (42). Children appropriately vaccinated with 3 doses of OPVin economically 

developing countries might have suboptimal seroconversion, including to type 3 

poliovims (42). 

Rotavirus Vaccine 

Rotavirus vaccination should not be initiated for infants aged ;,,:15 weeks, o days. Infants 

who began the rotavirus vaccine series outside the United States but who did not 

complete the series and who are still aged :::8 months, o days, should follow the routine 

schedule and receive doses to complete the series. If the brand of a previously . 

administered dose is live, reassortment pentavalent rota virus vaccine or is unknown, a 

total of 3 doses of rotavirus vaccine should be documented for series completion. All 

doses should be administered by age 8 months, o days. 

Td and Tdap Vaccines 

Children aged ;;,:7 years who are not considered fully vaccinated for pertussis should 

receive Tdap vaccine. "Fully vaccinated" means at least 5 doses of DTaP before the 

seventh birthday or at least 4 doses of DTaP before the seventh birthday if the fourth 

dose is given after the fourth birthday. One dose of Tdap is recommended after the 

seventh birtl1day. If additional doses of vaccine are needed, Td should be administered 

as age appropriate. 

Varicella Vaccine 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 156 



Varicella vaccine is not available in m0st countries. A person who lacks evidence of 

varice1la immunity should be vaccinated as age appropriate (3,59). 

· Zoster Vaccine 

In the United States, zoster vaccination is recommended for all persons aged ~60 years 

who have no contraindications, including persons who report a previous episode of 

zoster or who have chronic medical conditions. For persons who do not have 

documentation of receipt of zoster vaccine, the vaccine should be offered at the patient's 

first clinical encounter with the health-care provider. The vaccine is administered as a 

single O.65-mL subcutaneous dose. Zoster vaccination is not irrdicated to tTeat acute 

zoster, to prevent persons with acute zoster from developing posthcrpetic nemalgia, or 

to treat ongoing postherpetic neuralgia. Patients do not need to be asked about their 

history of varicella or to have serologic testing conducted to deter;mine zoster immunity 

prior to administration of zoster vaccine. 

Vaccinating Persons with Increased Bleeding Risk 

Providers often avoid giving intramuscular injections or choose alternative routes for 

persons with bleeding disorders because of the risk for hematoma formation after 

injections. In one study, hepatitis B vaccine was administered intramuscularly to 153 

persons with hemophilia. The vaccination was administered with a 23-gauge or smaller 

caliber needle, followed by application of steady pressure to the site for 1-2 minutes. The 

vaccinations resulted iu a low (4%) bruising rate, and no patients required factor 

supplementation (61). Whether antigens that produce more local reactions (e.g., 

pertussis) would produce an equally low rate of bruising is unknown. 

When hepatitis B or any other intramuscularly administered vaccine is indicated for a 

patient with a bleeding disorder, the vaccine should be administered intramuscularly if a 

physician familiar with the patient's bleeding risk determines that the vaccine can be 

administered by this route with reasonable safety. If the patient receives antihemophilia 

or similar therapy, intramuscularly administered vaccinations can be sdieduled shortly 

General □ est Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 157 



after such therapy is administered. A fine-gauge needle (23-gauge or smaller caliber) 

should be used for the vaccination, followed by firm pressure on the site1 without 

rubbing, for at least 2 minutes. The patient or family should be given information on the 

risk for hematorna from the inje~tion. Patients receiving anticoagulation therapy 

presumably have the same bleeding risk as patients with clotting factor disorders and 

should follow the same gtiidelines for intramuscular administration. If possible, 

vaccination could be scheduled prior to the use of these medications, so that the 

patients' risk of bleeding is not increased by their therapeutic action. 

C•> Enzyme immunoassay tests are available. Physicians should contact the laboratoty performing the test for interpretive st~ndnrds 

and limitations. Prntcctive concentrations for m11.lbody to diphtheria and tetanus toxins arc defined as >O.l IU/mL. 

r.;.,nPl';il RP.st Prnctice Guluellnes for Immunization: Special Situations 158 



TABLE 9-1. Approaches to evaluation and vaccination of persons 
vaccinated outside the United States who have no (or questionable) 
vaccination records 

Vaccine Reconnnended Alternative approach(a) 
approach 

DTaP Revaccination with DTaP, Persons whose records indicate 
with serologic testing for receipt of ~3 doses: serologic testing 
specific IgG antibody to for specific IgG antibody to 
tetanus and diphtheria diphtheria and tetanus toxins before 
toxins in the event of a administering additional doses (see 
severe local reaction text), or administer a single booster 

dose of DTaP, followed by 
serological testing after 1 month for 

r-
specific IgG antibody to diphtheria 
and tetanus toxins with 
revaccination as appropriate (see 
text) 

HepA Age-appropriate Serologic testing for IgG antibodies 
revaccination to hepatitis A 

HepB Age-appropriate -
revaccination and serologic 
testing for HBsAg(hl 

I 

Hib Age-appropriate -
revaccination 

HPV Age-appropriate -
revaccination 

Meningococcal Age-appropriate -
conjugate revaccination 
(MenACWY) 

MMR Revaccination with MMR Serologic testing for IgG antibodies 
to measles, mumps, and rubella 

Pneumococcal Age-appropriate -
conjugate (or in revaccination 
some cases, both 
PCV13 and PPSV) 

Poliovirus Revaccination with -
inactivated poliovirus 
vaccme 

General Best Practlce Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 159 



Rotavirus Age-appropriate -
revaccina tion 

Tdap Age-appropriate -
revaccination of persons. 
who are candidates for 
Tdap vaccine 

Varice1la Age-appropriate -
revaccination of persons 
who lack evidence of 
varicella immunity 

Zoster Age-appropriate -
revaccination 

Abbn~viations: DTaP = c1iphtheria and tetanus toxoids and ace1lu1ar pertussis; HflsAg = hepatitis Il surface 
antigen; HepA = hepatitis A; Hepil = hepatitis Il; Hib = Haemophilus i11f{uenzae type b; HPV = human 
papillomavirus; lgG = immune globulin G; MMR = measles, mum1is, and rubella; PC'V13 = pneumococ('.al conjugate 
vaccine; PPSV23== pneumococcal polysaccharirle vaccine; Tdap = tetanus toxoid, rec1uced diphtheria toxoid, and 
a.cellular pet·tussis. 

(al There is a recommendec1 a1>proach for all vaccines and an altcrnallve ap1iroach for some vaccines. 

(bl In rare instances, hepatitis B vaccine can given false-positive HBsAg result up to 18 days after vaccination; 
therefore, l)lood should be drawn to test for HflsAg before vaccinating (20), 

Genernl Best Practice GL1ideli11es for Immunization: Special Situc1tio11s 160 



REFERENCES 

1. Jackson BR, Iqbal S, Mahon B. Updated recommendations for the use of 

typhoid vaccine-Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, United 

States, 2015, MMWRMorb M·ortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(11):305-308. 

2. Grohskopf LA, Shay DK, Shimabukuro TT, et al. Prevention and control of 

seasonal influenza with vaccines. Recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices- United States, 2013-2014. MMWR 

Recomm Rep. 2013;62(RR-7):1-43. 

3, Marin M, Guris D, Chaves SS, Schmid S, Seward JF. Prevention of varicella: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MlYIWR Recomm Rep. 2007;56(RR-4):1-40. 

4. Harpaz R, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Seward JF. Prevention of herpes zoster: 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-5):1-30; quiz CE32-34, 

5. Starr S, Berkovich S. Effects of measles, gamma-globulin-modified measles 

and vaccine measles on the tuberculin test. N Engl J Med. 1964;270:386-391. 

DOI: 10.1056/nejm196402202700802 

6. Brickman HF, Beaudry PH, Marks MI. The timing of tuberculin tests in 

relation to immunization with live viral vaccines. Pediatrics. 1975;55(3):392-

396. 

7. Berkovich S, Starr S. Effects oflive type 1 poliovirus vaccine and other viruses 

on the tuberculin test. N Engl J Med. 1966;274(2):67-72. DOI: 

10.1056/nejm196601132740203 

8. Wharton M, Strilrns RA, Harpaz R, et al. Recommendations for using 

smallpox vaccine in a pre-event vaccination program. Supplemental 

recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP) and the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee 

(HICPAC). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2003;52(RR-7) :1-16. 

9. Mazurek GI-I, Jereb J, VernouA, LoBue P, Goldberg S, Castro K. Updated 

guidelines for using interferon gamma release assays to detect 

General Best Prnctice Guidelines for lmmunizc1tion: Special Situations 161 



Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection - United States, 2010. MMWR 

Recomm·Rep. 2010;59(RR-5):1-25. 

10. Watson JC, Hadler SC, Dykewicz CA, Reef S, Phillips L. Measles, mumps, and 

rubella-vaccine use and strategies for elimination of measles, rubella, and 

congenital rubella syndrome and control of mumps: recommendations of the 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm 

Rep. 1998;47(RR-8):1-57. 

11. Bernbaum JC, Daft A, Anolik R, et al. Response ofpreterm infants to 

diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis immunizations. ,J Pediatr. 1985;107(2):184-188. 

DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(85)80122-o 

12. Koblin BA, Townsend TR, Munoz A, Onorato 1, Wilson M, Polk BF. Response 

of preterm infants to diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis 

J. 1988;7(10):704-711. 

13. Smolen P, Bland R, Heiligensteiu E, Lawless MR, Dillard R, Abramson J. 

Antibody response to oral polio vacciiie in premature infants. J Pediatr. 

1983;103(6):917-919. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-3476(83)80714-8 

14. Omenaca F, Garcia-Sicilia J, Garcia-Corbeira P, et al. Response of preterm 

newborns to immunization with a hexavalent diphtheria-tetanus-acellular 

pertussis-hepatitis B virus-inactivated polio and I-Jaemophilus infiuenzae type 

b vaccine: firnt experiences and solutions to a serious and sensitive issue. 

Pediatrics. 2005;116(6):1292-1.298. DOI: 10.1_542/peds.2004-2336 

15. Shinefield H, Black S, Ray P, Fireman B, Schwalbe J, Lewis E. Efficacy, 

immunogenicity and safety ofheptavalent pneumococcal conjugate yaccine in 

low birth weight and preterm infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2002;21(3):182-

186. DOI: 10.1097/00006454-200203000-00003 

16. Lau YL, Tam AY, Ng KW, et al. Response of preterm infants to hepatitis B 

vaccine. J Pediatr. 1992;121(6):962-965. DOI: 10.1016/Soo22-

3476(05)80352-X 

17. Patel DM, Butler J, Feldman S, Graves GR, Rhodes PG. Immunogenicity of 

hepatitis B vaccine in healthy ve1y low birth weight infants. J Pediatr. 

1997;131(4):641-643. DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3476(97)70078-7 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 162 



18. Kim SC, Chung EK, Hodinka RL, et al. Immunogenicity of hepatitis B vaccine 

in preterm infants. PediatTics. 1997;99(4):534-536. DOI: 

10.1542/peds.99-4.534 

19. Losonsky GA, Wasserman SS, Stephe1Js I, et al. Hepatitis B vaccination of 

premature infants; a reassessment of current recommendations for delayed 

immunization. Pediatrics. 1999;103(2):E14. DOI: 10.1542/peds.103.2.e14 

20. Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, et al. .A comprehensive immunization 

strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United 

States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) part 1: immunization of infants, children, and adolescents. 

MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(R1l-16):1-31. 

21. Cortese MM, Parashar UD. Prevention ofrotavirus gastroenteritis among 

infants and children: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep, 2009;58(RR-2):1-25. 

22. Bohlke K, Galil K, Jackson LA, et al. Postpartum varicella vaccination: is the 

vaccine virus excreted iu breast milk? Obstet Gynecol. 2003;102(5 Pt 1):970-

977. DOI: 10.1016/S0029-7844(03)00860-3 

23, Krogh V, Duffy LC, Wong D, Rosenband M, Riddlesberger KR, Ogra PL. 

Postpartum immunization with rubella virus vaccine and antibody response 

in breast-feeding infants, J Lab Clin Med. 1989;113(6):695-699, · 

24. Staples JE, Gershman M, Fischer M. Yellow fever vaccine: recommendations 

of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR 

RecommRep. 2010;59(RR-7):1-27, 

25. Pickering LK, Granoff DM, Erickson JR, et al. Modulation of the immune 

system by human milk and infant formula containing nucleotides. PecliatTics. 

1998;101(2):242~249. DOI: 10.1542/peds.101.2.242 

26. Kim-Farley R, Brink E, Orenstein W, Bart K Vaccination and breast feeding. 

JAMA. 1982;248(19):2451-2452. DOI: 10.1.001/jama.1982.03330190021019 

27. Patriarca PA, Wright PF, John TJ. Factors affecting the immunogenicity of 

oral poliovirus vaccine in developing countries: review. Rev Infect Dis. 

1991;13(5):926-939. 

r,.,nr,r;il RP.st Pr<1ctlce Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 163 



28, Hahn-Zoric M, Fulconis F, Minoli I, et al. Antibody responses to parenteral 

and oral vaccines are impaired by conventional and low protein formulas as 

compared to breast-feeding.Acta Paediatr Scand. 1990;79(12):1137-1142. 

DOI: 10. 1111/j .1651-2227,1990 .tb11401.x 

29. Koren G, Pastuszak A, Ito S. Drugs in pregnancy. N Engl J Med. 

1998;338(16):1128-1137, DOI: 10.1056/nejm199804163381607 

30. Grabenstein JD. Vaccines and antibodies in relation to pregnancy and 

lactation. Hospital Pharmacy, 1999;34:949-960. 

31. CDC. Guiding principles for development of ACIP recommendations for 

vaccination dming pregnancy and breastfeeding. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 2008;57(21.):580. . 

32. Mu·noz FM, Bond NH, Maccato M, et al. Safety and immunogenicily of 

tetanus diphtheria and acellular pertussis (Tdap) immunization during 

pregnancy in mothers and infants: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 

· 2014;311(17):1760-1769. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.3633 

33. Wendelboe AM, Njamkepo E, Bourillon A, et al. Transmission of Bordetella 

pertussis to young infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2007;26(4):293-299. DOI: 

10 .1097 / 01.inf.0000258699.64164.6d 

34. Kretsinger K, Broder KR, Cortese MM, et al. Preventing tetanus, diphtheria, 

and pertussis among adults: use of tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoicl 

and a cellular pertussis vaccine recommendations of the Adviso1y Committee 

on Immunization Practices (ACIP) and recommendation of ACIP, supported 

by the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC), 

for use of Tdap among health-care personnel. MM"JiVR Recomm Rep. 

2006 ;55(RR-17): 1-37. 

35. Neuzil ICM, Reed GW, Mitchel EF, Simonsen L, Griffin MR. Impact of 

influenza on acute cardiopulmonary hospitalizations in pregnant women. Am 

J Epidemiol. 1998;148(11):1.094-1102. DOI: 

10.1093/ oxfordjournals.aj e.aoo9587 

36. Sumaya CV, Gibbs RS. Immunization of pregnant women with influenza 

A/New Jersey /76 virus vaccine: reactogenicity and immunogenicity in mother 

and infai1t. J Infect" Dis. 1979;140(2):141.-146. DOI: 1.0.1093/infdis/140.2.141 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 164 



/ 

37, Munoz FM, Greisiuger AJ, Wehmanen OA, et al. Safety of influenza 

vaccination during pregnancy.Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005;192(4):1098-1106. 

DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2004.12.019 

38. Englund JA, Mbawuike IN, Hammill H, Holleman MC, Baxter BD, Glezen 

WP. Maternal immunization with influenza or tetanus toxoid vaccine for 

passive antibody protection in young infants. J Infect Dis. 1993;168(3):647-

656, DOI: 10.1093/infdis/168.3.647 

39. Puck JM, Glezen WP, Frank AL, Six HR. Protection of infants from infection 

with influenza A virus by transplacentaily acquired antibody. J.Tnfect Dis. 

1980;1-42(6):844-849. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/142.6.844 

40. Reuman PD, Ayo~b EM, Small PA. Effect of passive maternal antibody on 

fofluenza illness in children: a prospective study of in.~luenza A in mother

infant pairs. PediatT Infect Dis J. 1987;6(4):398-403. DOI: 

10.1097 I 00006454-198704000-00011 

41. Steinhoff MC, Omer SB, Roy E, et al. Influenza immunization h1 pregnancy

antibody responses in mothers and infants. N Engl J Med. 

2010;362(17):1644-1646. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMco912599 

42. Prevots DR, Burr RK, Sutter RW, Murphy TV. Poliomyelitis prevent.ion in the 

United States. Updated recommendations of the Adviso1y Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWRRecomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-5):1-22; 

quiz CE21-27. 

43. CDC. Prevention of pneumococcal disease: recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

1997;46(RR-8) :1-24. 

44. Bilukha 00, Rosenstein N. Prevention and control of meningococcal disease. 

Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

(ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2005;54(RR-7):1-21. 

45. FioreAE, Wasley A, Bell BP. Prevention of hepatitis A through active or 

passive immunization: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2006;55(RR-7):1-23. 

Genernl Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 165 



46. Tsai TF, Paul R1 Lynberg MC, Letson GW. Congenital yellow fever virus 

·infection after immunization in pregnancy. J Infect Dis. 1993;168( 6) :1520-

1523. DOI: 10.1093/infdis/168.6.1520 

4 7. Mast EE, Weinbaum CM, Fiore AE, et al. A comprehensive immunization 

strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United 

States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 

Practices (ACIP) Part II: immunization of adults. MMWR Recomm(.Rep. 

2006;55(RR-16):1-33; quiz CE31-34. 

48. Wilson E, Goss MA, Marin M, et al. Varicella vaccine exposure during 

pregnancy: data from 10 years of the pregnancy registry. J Infect Dis. 

2008;197 Suppl 2:S178-184. DOI: 10.1086/522136 

49. CDC. Revised ACIP·recommendation for avoiding pregnancy after receiving a 

rubella-containing vaccine. MMliVR M otb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2001;50(49) :1117. 

50. CDC. Rubella vaccinallon during pregnancy- United States, 1971-1988 . 

.MMWRMorb Mortal Wlcly Rep. 1989;38(17):289-293. 

51. Black NA, Parsons A1 Kurtz JB, McWhinney N, Lacey A1 Mayon-White RT. 

Post-partum rubella immunisation: a controlled trial of two vaccines. Lancet. 

1983;2(8357):990-992. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(83)90979-o 

52. CDC. Control and prevention of rubella: evaluation and management of 

suspected outbreaks, rubella in pregnant women, and surveillance for 

congenital rubella syndrome.MMWR RecommRep. 2001;5o(RR-12):1-23. 

53. Murray TS, Groth ME, Weitzman C, Cappello M. Epidemiology and 

management of infectious diseases in international adoptees. Clin Microbial 

Rev. 2005;18(3):510-520. DOI: 10.1128/cmr.18.3.510-520.2005 

54. Hostetter MK. Infectious diseases in internationally adopted children: 

findings in children from China, Russia, and eastern Europe. Adv Pediatr 

Infect Dis. 1999;14:147...:161. 

55. Kriz B, Burian V, Sladky K, 13urianova B1 Mottlova 0, Roth z. Comparison of 

titration results of diphtheric antitoxic antibodies obtained by means of 

,Jensen's method and the methods of tissue cultures and haemagglutination. J 

Hyg Epidemiol Microbial Immunol. 1978;22(4) :485-493. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Special Situations 166 



56. CDC. Updated recommendations from the Advisory Committee on 

Immunization Practices (ACIP) for use of hepatitis A vaccine in close contacts 

of newly arriving international adoptees. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 

2009;58(36):1006-1007. 

57. CDC. Use of diphtheria toxoid-tetanus toxoid-acellular pertussis vaccine as a 

five-dose series. Supplemental recommendations of the Advisory Committee 

on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMvVR Recomm Rep. 2000;49(RR-13) :1-

8. 

58. Weinbaum CM, Williams I, Mast EE, et al. Recommendations for 

identification and public health management of persons with chronic 

hepatitis B virus infection. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2008;57(RR-8):1-20. 

59. CDC. Recommended immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 

years-United States, 2011. MMWRMorbMortal Wlcly Rep. 2011;60(5):1-4. 

60. Nuorti JP, Whitney CG. Prevention of pneumococcal disease among infants 

and children - use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent 

pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine - recommendations of the Adviso1y 

Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 

2010;59(RR-11):1-18. 

61. Evans DI, Shaw A. Safety of intramuscular injection of hepatitis B vaccine in 

haemophiliacs. BMJ~ 1990;300(6741):1694-1695. DOI: 

10.1136/bmj.300.6741.1694-a 

-; 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization : Special Situations 167 



10. Vaccination Records 

Records of Health-Care Providers 

Appropriate and timely vaccination documentation helps ensure not only that persons 

in need of recommended vaccine doses receive them but also that adequately vaccinated 

patients do not receive excess doses, Curtailing the number of excess doses 

administered to patients controls costs incurred by patients, providers, insurers, 

vaccination programs, and other stakeholders. In addition, avoidance of excess doses of 

vaccines should decrease the number of adverse reactions to vaccines. Health care 

providers who administer vaccines covered by the National Vaccine Injury 

Compensation Program (VICP) are required under the National Childhood Vaccine 

Injury Act (1) to ensure that the permanent medical record of the recipient ( or a 

permanent office log or file) indicates the date the vaccine was administered, the vaccine 

manufacturer, the vaccine lot number, and the name, address, and title of the person 

administeri_ng the vaccine. This Act applies to ,my vaccine for which there is a routine 

recommendation for chilcll1ood vaccination, even if many or most doses of the vaccine 

are administered to adults (e.g., influenza vaccine). In addition, the provider is required 

to record the edition date of the VIS distributed and the date those materials were 

provided. The Act considers a health-care provider to be any licensed health care 

professional, organization, or institution, whether private or public (including federal, 

state, and local departments and agencies), under whose authority a specified vaccine is 

administered. This information should be kept for all vaccines, not just for those 

required by the Act. Providers and staff members also should systematically update 

patients' permanent medical records to reflect any documented episodes of adverse 

events after vaccination and any serologic test results related to vaccine-preventable 

diseases (e.g., those for rubella screening and anti-HBs). 

Personal Records of Patients 

Official childhood vaccination records have been adopted by every state and territory 

and the District of Columbia to encourage uniformity of records and to facilitate 

General Best Prnctice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Records 168 



assessment of vaccination status by schools and child-care centers. The records also are 

1cey tools in vaccination education programs aimed at increasing parental and patient 

awareness of the need for vaccines. This record can exist in electronic file format or in 

hardcopy format. A permanent vaccination record should be established for each 

newborn infant and maintained by the parent or guardian. The pai:ent or guardian 

should be educated abo~t the importance of keeping the record up-to-date and 

instructed to keep the record indefinitely. These records should be distributed to new 

parents and/or guardians before discharge from the hospital or birthing center. Using 

vaccination records for adolescents and adults also is encouraged. Standardized adult 

vaccination records are available at http://www.immunize.org. 

Im1nunization Inforn1ation Systems (IISs) 

IISs (formerly referred to as immunization registries) are confidential, population

based, computerized information systems that collect and consolidate vaccination data 

from multiple health care providers within a geographic area. IISs are a critical tool that 

can increase and sustain vaccination coverage by consolidating vaccination records from 

multiple providers, generating reminder and recall vaccination notices for each person, 

and providing official vaccination forms and vaccination coverage assessments (2). 

Providers should be aware of state and/or regional IISs and requirements for reporting. 

Changing vaccination providers during the course of an individual's vaccination series is 

common in the United States. In addition to changes in providers, the vaccination 

records of persons who have changed vaccination providers often are unavailable or 

incomplete or might not have been entered into an IIS (2). Missing or inaccurate 

information regarding vaccines received previously might preclude accurate 

determination of which vaccines are indicated at the time of a visit, resulting in 

administration of extra doses. 

A fully operational IJS also can prevent duplicate vaccinations, forecast when the next 

dose is due, limit missed appointments, allow recall for those who missed appointments, 

determine when vaccines need to be repeated (the technical IIS term for this is 

General 8est Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Records 169 



"evaluation"), reduce vaccine waste, and reduce staff time required to produce or locate 

vaccination records or certificates. Most IISs have additional capabilities, such as 

measurement of vaccination update and coverage, aid in trac1dng vaccine inventory and 

placing vaccine orders, recall of vaccine by lot number, maintenance of lifetime 

vaccination histories, and interoperability with other health information systems. The 

National Vaccine Advisory Committee recommends that vaccination providers 

participate in these systems when possible. Electronic health records should maintain 

interoperability with IISs as part of an effort to improve the quality of care, reduce 

health disparities, engage patients and families in their health, improve the coordination 

of care, improve population health, and ensure adequate privacy and security protection 

for personal health information (see 

WWW .cdc.gov / ehrmeaningful use/introduction.html) 

One of the national Healthy People objectives for 2020 is 95% participation of children 

aged <6 years in a fully operational population-based IIS (objective 20.1) (3,4). 

Participating in an IIS means having two or more vaccinations recorded in the IIS. 2012 

IIS data indicate tl1at approximately 86% of childi·en aged <6 years with two or more 

vaccinations were participating in IISs (4,5) . 

The National Vaccine Advisory Committee recommends that public health departments 

work toward including adults in all state IISs, reduce barriers to including adult 

vaccination records in IISs, and ensure that IISs meet new standards of EHR 

interoperability to track and maintain adult vaccination records (6). 

Nationally, 57.8 million U.S. adults aged 19 years or older participated in an 11S in 2012 

(4). This number reflects adults who may have had childhood vaccines entered during 

childhood and now have aged to adults. In 2013, 32% of U.S. adults had a record in the 

IIS and at least one vaccination administered during adulthood. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Records 170 



REFERENCES 

1. National Childhood Vaccine Injury Act, 42 U.S.C. Sect. 3ooaa-1 to 3ooaa-34 

(1986). 

2. CDC. Immunization information systems progress-United States, 2006. MMvVR 

MorbMortal Wkly Rep. 2008;57(11):289-291. 

3. US Department of Health and Human Services. Immunization and infectious 

diseases. Healthy people 2010. Vol 1 (conference edition). 1st ed. Washington, 

DC: US Government Printing Office; 2000. 

4. CDC. Progress in immunization information systems - United States, 2012. 

MMWRMorb Mortal Wkly .Rep. 2013;62(49):1005-1008. 

5. Mangione~Smith R, DeCristofaroAH, Setodji CM, et al. The quality of 

ambulatory care delivered to children in the United States. N Engl J Med. 

2007;357(15)_:1515-1523. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMsao64637 

6. National Vaccine Adviso1.y Committee. Recommendations from the National 

Vaccine Advisory committee: standards for adult immunization practice. Public 

Health Rep. 2014;129(2):115-123. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Records 171 



11. Vaccination Programs 

Updates 

The major revision to this s_ection is the addition oflanguage related to Affordable Care 

Act (1) coverage of adult vaccination. 

General Principles 

Universal vaccination is a critical part of quality health-care and should be accomplished 

through routine and catch-up vaccination provided in physicians' offices, public health 

clinics, and other appropriate settings, In the United States, vaccination is considered 

primarily the responsibility of individual health care providers and health care systems 

serving patients. 

Certain programs and other efforts attempt to ensure aU patients receive the full 

schedule of appropriate vaccinations by removing barriers 1:iosed by access to 

immunizations, cost, or other factors. Su~h efforts may include school-located clinics, 

school-based health centers, back-to-school immunization clinics, public health clinics 

for schoolchildrnn, periodic influenza vaccination clinics, public health nurse tracking of 

childhood immunizations, and government-sponsored financing of vaccines through the 

Vaccines for Chlldren and Section 317 program http:// 

. www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/admin/vfc.html ). 

In the United States, vaccination programs have eliminated many vaccine-prev~ntable 

diseases and markedly reduced the incidence of others (2). Because infants and young 

children were the pri:ndpal recipients of most vaccines developed during the twentieth 

century (e.g., poliovirus vaccine), many persons in the United States might believe that 

va.ccinations are solely for the young; however, vaccinations are recommended for 

persons of all ages (3,4), Improved vaccination coverage can result in additional 

reductions in the incidence of vaccine-preventable diseases that affect persons 

throughout the life span, and decrease associated morbidity and mortality. 

'General Gest Practice Guidelines for lrnmunlrntion: Vaccination Progrnms 172 



Vaccination of Children and Adolescents 

Physicians and other pediatric vaccination providers should adhere to the standards for 

child and adolescent vaccination practices (5). These standards are published by the 

National Vaccine Advisory Committee and define appropriate vaccination practices for 

both public and private sectors, The standards provide guidance on practices that 

eliminate barriers to vaccination, including elimina1.ing unnecessary prerequisites for 

receiving vaccinations, eliminating missed opportunities to vaccinate, improving 

procedures to assess vaccination needs, enhancing knowledge about vaccinations among 

parents and providers, and improving management and repo1ting of adverse events. In 

addition, the standards address the importance ofretall and reminder systems and 

using assessments to monitor clinic or office vaccination coverage levels. Health-care 

providers should simultaneously administer as many vaccine doses as possible as 

indicated on the Recommended Immunization. Schedules for Persons Aged o Through 

.18 Years (3). 

While rates of childhood vaccination are generally higher than rates of adult 

vaccination, for some doses coverage rates are still 1ow, like the birth dose of hepatitis B 

vaccine. Community health-care providers, as well as state and local public health 

vaccination programs, should coordinate with partners to identify and maximize 

outreach to populations at risk for undervaccination and vaccine-preventable diseases. 

For example, the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and 

Children (WIC) is a categorical federal grant program administered by the U.S. 

Department of Agriculture through state health departments. The program provides 

supplemental foods, health-care referrals, and nutrition education to low-income 

pregnant, breastfeeding, or postpartum women, as wel~ as to infants and children aged 

<5 years. Between 8.5 and 8.9 million people participated in this program in 2013 

(htt~/ /www.fns.usda.gov/pd/wicmain.htm). In collaboration, WIC and state 

vaccination programs assess regularly the vaccination coverage levels of WIC 

participants and develop new strategies and aggressive outreach procedures in sites with 

coverage levels <90%. Vaccination programs and private providers are encouraged to 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vc1ccinntion Programs 173 



refer eligible children to obtain WIC nutritional services, at 

www.fns.usda.gov/wic/ immunization-screening-and-referral-wic ( 6). 

Adolescent-Specific Issues 

Vaccinations are recommended throughout life, including during' adolescence. The age 

range for adolescence is defined as 11-21 years by many professional associations, 

including the American Academy of Pediatrics and the American Medical Association 

(7i8). Definitions of thes~ age cutoffs differ depending on the'source of the definition 

and the source's purpose for creating a definition. Vaccination of adolescents is crittcal 

for preventing diseases for which adolescents are at particularly high or increasing dsk, 

such as meningococcal disease and human papillomavirus infection. Three vaccines 

recommended for adolescents have been licensed since :;wo5: MenACWY and Tdap 

were licensed in 2005, and HPV was licensed in 2006. A second dose of varicella vaccine 

is recommended for persons who received 1 dose of varicella vaccine after age 12 

months. In addition, annual seasonal influenza vaccination is recommended for persons 

aged >6 months who have no contraindications. To ensure vaccine coverage, clinicians 

and other health-care providers who treat adolescents must review vaccination hist01y 

on eve1y occasion that an adolescent has an office visit. 

National goals for vaccination coverage for adolescents aged 13-15 years were included 

in Healthy People 2020, athttp://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics

objectives/topic/immunization-and-infectious-diseases. Targets of 80% coverage were 

specified for one dose ofTdap, one dose of meningococcal conjugate vaccine, and 3 

doses of HPV vaccine. Results of the published 2014 National Immunization Survey

Teen indicate that coverage rates for 13-17 years olds is 87.6% for one dose of Tdap and 

79.3% for one dose of meningococcal vaccine. Coverage rates for 13-17 years olds for 

HPV vaccine are considerably lower-39.7% for females and 21.6% for males (9,.10). 

Ensuring adolescents receive routine and catch-up vaccination and achieving high levels 

of vaccination coverage present cha Henges. In general, adolescents do not visit health 

care providers frequently. Health care providers should promote annual preventive 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vnccination Programs 174 



visits (11), including one specifically for adolescents aged 11 and 12 years. The annual 

visits should be used as opportunities to provide routinely recommended vaccine doses, 

additional catch-up doses needed for lapsed vaccine series, vaccines recommended for 

high-risk groups, additional doses that might have been recently recommended, and · 

other recommended health-cate services. Additional strategies include adolescent 

immunizations at community-based venues such as pharmacies and schools, 

All vµccine closes should be administered according to ACIP vaccine-specific statements 

and with the most recent schedules fo~· both routine and catch-up vaccination. Before 

leaving any visit for medical care, adolescents should be encouraged to schedule return 

visits for any additional vaccine doses needed. During visits that occur outside of 

influenza season, providers should discuss and recommend seasonal influenza 

vaccination and make explicit plans for vaccination, including timing and anticipated 

setting (e.g., health care provider's office, school, or pharmacy). Catch-up vaccination 

with multidose adolescent vaccines generally can occur according to the routine dosing 

schedule for these vaccines, although in some circumstances the clinician or health care 

provider might use minimum intervals for vaccine doses. These circumstances include 

an outbreak that increases risk for disease or the likelihood that doses will be missed in 

the future ( e.g., because of transportation challenges). Because of lack of efficacy data 

for HPV vaccine administration ustng minimum intervals, providers are encouraged, 

when possible, to u~e routine dosing intervals for females aged 11-26 years and males 

aged _11-21years who have no~ yet received 3 HPVvaccine doses as recommended (3,4). 

One of the challenges of adolescent vaccination is ensuring that current, cC?mplete 

vaccination histories are available. Insurers, covered services, or reimbursement levels 

can change, and these changes might affect reimbursement for vaccine doses and 

vaccination services directly while also causing disruptions in an adolescent's access to 

vaccination providers or venues. In circumstances in which a vaccination record is 

unavailable, vaccination providers should attempt to obtain this information from 

various sources (e.g., parent, previous providers, or school records). More detail about 

how to obtain these records is available from CDC at 

~/www.cdc.gov/vaccines/recs/immuniz-records.htm. With the exception of 

Genernl Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 175 



influenza and pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccines, if documentation of a vaccine 

dose is not available, the adolescent should be considered. unvaccinated for that dose. 

Regardless of the venue in which m:1 adolescent receives a dose of vaccine, that vaccine 

dose should be documented in the patient's ~art or in an office log, and the information 

should be entered into an US. The adolescent also should be provided with a record that 

documents the vaccination history, 

Adult Vaccination 

In 2013, the National Vaccine Advisory Committee published updated standards for 

adult vaccination (12). These standards are targeted to distinct groups involved in adult 

vaccination, including immunizing providers, non-immunizing providers, professional 

health-care organizations, and public health departments. All health-care providers, 

whether they provide immunizations or not, should incorporate immunization needs 

assessment into every clinical encounter, strongly recommend needed vaccine(s) and 

either administer vaccine(s) or refer patients to a provider who can immunize, stay up

to-date on, and educate patients about vaccine recommendations, implement systems to 

incorporate vaccine assessment into routine clinical care, and understand how to access 

immunization information systems (i.e., irnmunizatioi1 registries) (12). 

Vaccination rates in adults are considered suboptimal (13)14). New Healthy People 

2020 goals include specific subsets of adults, including institutionalized adults aged ·?-18 

years (for pneumococcal vaccines) and noninstitutionalized adults at high risk aged > 18 

years (for pneumococcal vaccines) (9). 

The most substantial barrier to vaccination coverage is lack of knowledge about these 

vaccines among adult patients and adult providers. Other barriers are cost (incomplete 

Medicare coverage for recommended vaccines) (.15) and the lack of financing 

mechanisms for newly licensed and recommended vaccines. Effective for private health 

insurance plans drafted or updated after September 2010) coverage for all 

immunizations that are included on the immunization schedule(s) must be covered 

r,PnPrnl Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 176 



without deductibles or co-pays, when delivered by an in-network provider. For this 

reason, cost may present less of a barrier to adult vaccination as time passes. 

A common challenge for health-care providers is vaccinating adults with unknown 

vaccination records. In general (except for influenza and pneumococcal polysaccharide 

vaccines), adults should receive a vaccine dose if the dose is recommended and no 

record of previous administration exists, If an adult has a record of military service and 

does not have records available, providers can assume that the person has received aJl 

vaccines recommended by the military at the time of service entry. Sero logic testing 

might be helpful in clarifying immune status if questions remain, because at different 

times and depending on military assignments, there might be inter-service and 

individual differences. 

Evidence-based Interventions to Increase Vaccination 

Coverage 

The independent, nonfederal Task Force on Community Preventive Services, whose 

membership is appointed by CDC, provides public health decision-makers with 

recommendations on population-based interventions to promote health and prevent 

disease, injmy, disability, and premature death. The recommendations are based on 

systematic reviews of the scientific literature about effectiveness and cost-effectiveness 

of these interventions. In addition, the task force identifies critical information about 

the other effects of these interventions, the applicability to specific populations and 

settings, and the potential barriers to implement1:1tion. Additional information, 

including updates of published reviews, is available from The Community Guide at 

http://www.thecommunityguide.org. 

Beginning in 19 961 the task force systematically reviewed published evidence on the 

effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of population-based interventions to increase 

coverage of vaccines recommended for routine use among children, adolescents, and 

adults. A total of 197 a1ticles were identified that evaluated a relevant intervention, met 

inclusion criteria, and were published <luring 1980-1997. Reviews of 17 specific 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 177 



interventions were published in 1999 (13,14,16,17). Using the results of their review, the 

task force made recommendations about the use of these interventions (15). Several 

interventions were identified and recommended. on the basis of published evidence. 

Follow-up reviews were 1mblished in 2000, and a review of interventions to improve the 

coverage of adults at high risk was conducted in 2005 (15,17). The interventions and the 

recommendations are summarized in this section of this report (Table 11-1.). 

Interventions designated for adults younger than 65 years at high risk for influenza, 

invasive pneumococcal disease, and hepatitis B, include provider reminder systems or a 

menu of items (combinations of strategies) (Table 11-2). In 1997, the task force 

categorized vaccination requirements for child care, school, and college as a 

recommended strategy (Jd). 

A 20 08 update of the original task force systematic review of the evidence on the 

effectiveness of provider assessment and feedback for increasing coverage rates found 

that this strategy remains an effective intervention (18). This later update reviewed 19 

new studies published during 1997-2007. The updated review supports the original task 

force recommendation for use of assessment and feedback based on strong evidence of 

effectiveness. The task force reviewed studies of assessment and feedback as a strategy 

that were conducted in a range of settings, including private practice, managed care, 

public health, community health settings, and academic centers. Sh1dies have assessed 

the effectiveness of this intervention to improve coverage with MMR, DTP, DTaP, Hib, 

influenza, pneumococcal, and Td vaccines (16). The most updated information on this 

review is available at 

http: //www.thecommunityguide.org/vaccines/ universally/providerassessment.htrnl. As 

recognized by the task force, routine assessment and feedback of vaccination rates 

obtained at the provider site is one of the most effective strategies for achieving high, 

sustainable vaccine coverage. Since 1995, all states receiving federal funds for 

vaccination programs have been required to conduct annq.al assessments of vaccination 

rates both in public health clinics and in private provider offices. Primadly to aid local 

and state health departments in their efforts to conduct assessments and assist 

providers, CDC has developed numerous software applications to measme vaccination 

rates·in provider practices. 

Gf!neral Best Practice Guidelines for lmmuni2ation: Vaccination Programs 178 



Other General Programmatic Issues 

Programmatic challenges, evolving issues, and effective interventions related to adult 

and adolescent vaccination programs have been described by other advisory groups and 

expert groups. Additional evidence-based approaches are being developed for certain 

issues (e.g., settings for adolescent vaccination delivery) through ongoing research and 

evaluation. Among current programmatic challenges, vaccine financing is especially 

difficult because certain problems and so1utions differ markedly from one state to 
' 

another. Practitioners interested in beginning or continuing to provide vaccinations to 

patients are encouraged to consult with local and state public health vaccination 

programs to learn about publicly funded programs that might be available in their areas 

for patients who need vaccination but have insufficient health insurance coverage and 

no financial resources. If not already participating, providers who care for adolescents 

and children aged <19 years should enroll in the Vaccines for Children Program (http:// 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/hcp/admin/vfc.html ). Through this program's provision of 

ACIP-recommended, federally purchased vaccines, participating providers are able to 

fully vaccinate eligible children whose parents might not otherwise be able to afford the 

vaccinations. Interested providers are encouraged to work -with insurers, state and 

specialty-specific medical organizations, vaccine manufacturers, and other stakeholders 

to address financial barriers to achieving high vaccination coverage. With availability of 

safe and effective vaccines for 18 vaccine-preventable diseases, the capacity for realizing 

the potential benefits of these products in the United States depends on reaching 

children, adolescents, and adults through dedicated, lmowledgeable vaccination 

providers and efficient, stroug vaccination programs at local, state, and federal levels. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Progrc11ns 179 



TABLE 11-1. Recommendations regarding interventions to improve 
coverage of vaccines recommended for routine use among children, 
adolescents, and adults · 

Intervention Reconunendation 

Increase community de1nand for vaccination 

Client reminder or recall systems Recommended 

Requirements for entlyto schools, child- care Recommended 
facilities, and colleges 

Community education alone Insufficient evidence 

Community-based interventions implemented in Recommended 
combination 

Clinic-based education Insufficient evidence 

Patient or family incentives Recommended 

Patient or family monetary sanctions Insufficient evidence 

Client-held medical records Insufficient evidence 

Enhance access to vaccination services 

Reducing out-of-pocket costs Recommended 

Enhancing access through the U.S. Department of Recommended 
Agriculture's Women, Infants, and Children (WIC) 
program 

Home visits, outreach, and case manag~ment Recommended 
targeted to particularly hard-to-reach populations 
to increase vaccination rates 

Enhancing access at schools Recommended 

Expanding access in health-care settings Recommended as part of 
multicomponent interventions 
only 

Enhancing access at organized child care centers Recommended 

Focus on providers 

Provider reminder or recall systems Recommended 

General Best Practice Guide I Ines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 180 



Provider assessment and feedback Recommended 

Standing orders Recommended 

Provider education alone Insufficient evidence 

Health-care systems-based interventions Recommended 
integrated in combination . 

Immunization information systems Recommended 

. S om•ce: www .thecommunitygnide.org/topic/vaccina I ion. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lm1mrnirntion: Vaccination Programs 181 



TABLE ti -2. Strategies to improve influenza, pnetunococcal 
polysaccharide, and hepatitis B vaccine coverage among high-risk adults 
younger than 65 yeru·s 
One or both of these interventions to 1. Expanded access in health-care settings 
improve access to vacc~nation services 2. Reducing client out-of-pocket costs 
PLUS: 1. Standing orders 
One or more of these provider or system 2. Provider reminder systems 
based interventions 3. Provider assessment or feedback 
AND/OR: 1. Client reminder systems 
One or both of these interventions to 2. Client education 
increase client demand for vaccination 
services 

'n --• n,""HM r.:.,;,l,.linp~ for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 182 



Source (15) 

REFERENCES 

1. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub. L. No.111-148 (2010). 

2. Roush SW, Murphy TV. Historical comparisons of morbidity and mortality for 

vaccine-preventable diseases in the United States. JAMA. 2007;298(18) :2155-

2163. DOI: 10.1001/jama.298.18.2155 

3, Strikas RA. Advisory committee on immunization practices recommended 

immunization schedules for persons aged o through 18 years-United States, 

2015. lYIMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(4):93-94. 

4. Kim DK, Bridges CB, Harriman KH. Adviso1y committee on immunization 

practices recommended immunization schedule for adults aged 19 years or 

older-United States, 2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015;64(4) :91-

92, 

5. National Vaccine Advisory Committee. Standards for child and adolescent 

immunization practices. Pediatl'ics. 2003;112(4):958-963. 

6. CDC. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization 
' 

Practices: programmatic strategies to increase vaccination coverage by age 2 

years-linkage of vaccination and WIC services. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly 

Rep. 1996;45(10):217-218. 

7. Hagan J, Shaw J, Duncan P, eds. Brightfut11res: guidelines for health 

supervision on infants, children and adolescents. 3rd ed. Elk Grove Village, 

IL: American Academy of Pediatrics; 2008. 

8. CDC. Immunization of adolescents. Recommendations of the Advisory 

Committee on Immunization Practices, the American Academy of Pediatrics, 

the American Academy of Family Physicians, and the American Medical 

Association. MMVVR Recomm Rep. 1996;45(RR-13):1-16. 

9. US Department of Health and Human Services. Immunization and infectious 

diseases. Healthy People 2020 website. 

https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/immunization

and-infectious-diseases. Accessed 09 March, 2017. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 183 



10. CDC. U.S. vaccination coverage reported via NIS-Teen. 2016; https:// 

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers / coverage /teenvaxview /index.html. 

Accessed 09 March 2017. 

11. Mangione-Smith R, DeCristofaro AH, Setodji CM, et al. The quali1y of 

ambulatory care delivered to children in the United States. N Engl J Med. 

2007;357(15):1515-1523. DOI: 19.1056/NEJMsao64637 

12. National Vaccine Advis01y Committee. Recommendations from the National 

Vaccine Advisory committee: standards for adult immunization practice. 

Public Health Rep. 2014;129(2):115-123. 

13. Shefer A, Briss P, Rodewald L, et al. Improving immunization coverage rates: 

an evidence-based review of the literature. Epidemiol Rev. 1999;21(1):96-142. 

14. CDC. Vaccine-preventable diseases: jmproving vaccination coverage in 

children, adolescents, and adults. A report on recommendations from the 

Task Force on Community Preventive Services. MMWR Recomm Rep. 

1999;48(RR-8): 1-15. 

15. Ndiaye SM, Hopkins DP, Shefer AM, et al. Interventions to improve influenza, 

pneumococcal polysaccharide, and hepatitis 13 vaccination coverage among 

high-risk adults: a systematic review. Am J Prev Med. 2005; 28(5 Suppl):248-

279. DOI: 10.1016/j.amepre.2005.02.016 

16. Briss PA, Rodewald LE, Hinman AR, et al. Reviews of evidence regarding 

interventions to improve vaccination coverage in children, adolescents, and 

adults. The Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Am J Prev Med. 

2000;18(1 Suppl):97-140. DOI: 10.1016/So749-3797(99)00118-X 

17. Task Force on Community Preventive S. Recommendations regarding 

interventions to improve vaccination coverage in children, adolescents, and 

adults12.AmJ PrevMed. 2000;18(1, Supplement 1):92-96. DOI: 

10.1016/S0749-3797(99)00121-X 

18. CDC. Vaccination programs: provider assessment and feedback. The 

Com~uni1y Guide website. 2015; 

htl'ps://www.thecommu.ni1yguide.org/findings/vaccination-programs

provider-assessrnent-and-feedback. Accessed 09 March 2017. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccination Programs 184 



12. Vaccine Information Sources 

In addition to these general recommendations, the following sources contain specific 

and updated vaccine information. 

CDC-INFO Contact Center · 

The CDC-INFO contact center is supported by CDC and_provides public health-related 

information, including vaccination information, for health-care providers and the 

public, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. To contact CDC-INFO online at any time, visit 

wwwn.cdc.gov/dcs/RequestForm.aspx. To contact CDC-INFO by telephone, caJl 

between 8 am to 8 pm Eastern Time Monday through Friday at [English and Spanish]: 

800-232-4636; telephone [TIYJ: 800-232-6348. 

CDC's National Center for Immunization and Respiratory 

Diseases 

CDC's National Center for Immunization and Respirat01y Diseases website provides 

direct access to ACIP's best practices for vaccination guidance, vaccination schedules, 

automated child schedulers, an adult immunization scheduler, vaccine safety 

information, publications, provider education and training, and links to other 

vaccination-related websites (h~tp://www.cdc.gov/vaccines). 

Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) 

Some ACIP guidance regarding vaccine use, statements of vaccine policy as they are 

developed, and reports of specific disease activity are published by CDC in theMMWR 

series and can be found at http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pubs/ACIP-list.htm, Electronic 

subscriptions are free(http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/mmwrsubscribe.html). 

Subscriptions to print versions also are available from the Superintendent of 

Documents, U.S, Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402-9235 

(telephone: 202-512-1800). 

General Best Practice Guldelines for Immunization: Vaccine Information Sources 185 



American Acade1ny of Famil:y Physicians (AAFP) 

Information from the professional organization of family physicians is available at 

http: //www.aafu&r& 

American Academy of Pediatrics (AAIJ) 

Every 3 years, AA_P issues the Reel Boole: Report of the Committee onfnfectiow; 

Diseases, which contains a composite summa1y of AAJ? and ACIP recommendations 

concerning infectious diseases and vaccinations for infants, children, and adolescents 

(telephone: 888-227-1770; website: httl.2.J /www.aap.org). 

An1erican College of Physicians (ACP) 

Produced by faculty of ACP's Quality Improvement Programs and members of the ACP 

Adult Immunization Advisory Board, the ACF Guide to Adult Immunization helps 

internists develop systematic processes for incorporating immunization in their day-to

day practice (seehttp://www.acponline.org/) .. 

American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) 

The American Congress of Obstetricians anp Gynecologists (ACOG), formerly the 

American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, is a professional association of 

physicians specializing in obstetrics and gynecology in the United States. Information 

about ACOG can be found at www.acog.org. 

American Phan~acists Association (APhA) 

Founded in 1852, APhA is the largest association of pharmacists in the United States, 
7 

with more than 62,000 practicing pharmacists, pharmaceutical scientists, student 

pharmacists, pharmacy technicians as members. Information about APhA educational 

activities can be found at www.pharmacist.com/immunization-center. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Information Sources 186 



Group on Immunization Education of the Society of Teachers of 

Family Medicine 

The Group on Immunization Education of the Society of Teachers of Family Medicine 

provides information for clinicians, including the free program Shots. Shots includes the 

childhood, adolescent, and adult schedules for iPhone, Palm, and Windows devices, as 

well as online versions (http:__L/www.immunizationed.orgLJ, 

Immunization Action Coalition (IAC) 

IAC provides child: teen, and adult immunization information for health care 

professionals and their patients at httlli/ /www.immunize.org. Free materials include 

CDC-reviewed technical pieces, patient handouts, VISs in multiple languages, and the 

weekly immunization news and information service "IAC Express," available at 

http://www.immunize.or~ress. Information for the general public about vaccines 

and vaccine-preyentable diseases is available at http://www.vaccineinformation.org. 

Institute for Vaccine Safety 

Located at the Johns I-Iopldns University School of Public Health, tp.e Institute for 

Vaccine Safety provides information about vaccine safety concerns and objective and 

timely information to physicians and health-care providers and parents. The Institute 

for Vaccine Safety also includes liuks to tables that include all vaccine components 

(http: //www.vaccinesafety.edu), 

State and Local :Health Departments 

State and local health departments provide technical advice through hotlines, e-mail, 

and websites, including printed information regarding vaccines and_immunization 

schedules, posters, and other educational materials (see 

htt1J;LLwww.cdc.gov/vaccines/imz-managers/awardee-imz-websites.hbnl and 

www.cdc.gov/mmwr/international/ relres.html), 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Information Sources 187 



Vaccine Education Centet 

Located at the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, the Vaccine Education Center 

provides patient and provider vaccine information (http://www.chop.edu/centers-

12rograms/vaccine-educa ti on-center). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Vaccine Information Sources 188 



Appendix 1: Glossary 

Adverse event. An untoward event that occurs after a vaccination that might be 

caused by the vaccine product or vaccination process. Adverse events include those that 

have the following characteristics: 1) vaccine induced (caused by the intrinsic 

characteristic of the vaccine preparation and the individual response of the vaccinee): 

these events would not have occurred without vaccinatio,n (e.g., vaccine-associated 

para~ytic poliomyelitis); 2) vaccine potentiated: the events would have occurred anyway 

but were precipitated by the vaccination (e.g., first febrile seizure in a predisposed 

child); 3) programmatic error: the event was caused by technical errors in vaccine 

preparation, handling, or administration; and 4) coincidental: the event was associated 

temporally with vaccination by chance or caused by underlying illness. Special studies 

are needed to determine whether an adverse event is a reaction to the vaccine or the 

result of another cause. Sources: Chen RT. Special methodological issues in 

pharmacoepidemiology studies of vaccine safety. In: Strom BL, ed. 

Pharmacoepiclemiology. 3rd ed. Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons; 2000:707-732; 

and Fenichel GM, Lane DA, Livengood JR, Horwitz SJ, Men.kes JH, Schwartz JF. 

Adverse events following immunization: assessing probability of causation. Pediatr 

Neural. 1989;5:287--90. 

Adverse reaction. An undeshable medical condition that has been demonstrated to 

be caused by a vaccine. Evidence for the causal relation is usually obtained through 

randomized clinical frials, controlled epidemiologic studies, isolation of the vaccine 

strain from the pathogenic site, or recurrence of the condition with repeated vaccination 

(i.e., rechallenge); synonyms include side effect and adverse effect. 

Adjuvant. A vaccine component distinct from the antigen that enhances the immU11e 

response to the antigen. 

Antitoxin. A solution of antibodies against a toxin. Antitoxin can be derived from 

either human (e.g., tetanus immune globulin) or a11imal (usually equine) sources (e.g., 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 1: Glossary 189 



diphtheria and botulism antitoxin). Antitoxins are used to confer passive immunity and 

for treatment. 

Hyperhnmune globulin (specific). Special preparations obtained from blood 

plasma from donor pools preselected for a high antibody content against a specific 

antigen (e.g., hepatitis B immune globulin, varicella-zoster immune globulin, rabies 

immune globulin, tetanus immune globulin, vaccinia immune globulin, cytmnegalovirus 
I 

immune globulin, botulism immune globulin). 

l1mnune globulin. A sterile solution containing antibodies, which are usually 

obtained from human blood, It is obtained by cold ethanol fractionation oflarge pools of 

blood plasma and contains 15%-18% protein. Intended for intramuscular 

administration, immune globulin is primarily indicated for roatine maintenance of 

immunity among certain immunodeficient persons and for passive protection against 

measles and hepatitis A. 

Im1nunobiologic. Antigenic substances (e.g., vaccines and toxoids) or antibody

containing preparations (e.g., globulins and antitoxins) from human or animal donors. 

These products are used for active or passive immunization or therapy. Examples of 

immunobiologics include antitoxin, immune globulin and hyperimmune globulin, 

monoclonal antibodies, toxoids, and vaccines. 

Intravenous immune globulin. A product derived from blood plasma from a donor 

pool similar to the immune globulin pool, but prepared so that it is suitable for 

intravenous use. Intravenous immune globulin is used primarily for replacement 

therapy in primary antibody-deficiency disorders, for treatment of Kawasald disease, 

immune thrombocytopenic purpura, hypogammaglobulinemia in chronic lymphocytic 

leukemia, and certain cases of human immunodeficiency virus infection (Table 3-5). 

Monoclonal antibody. An antibody product prepared from a single lymphocyte 

clone, which contains only antibody against a single antigen. 

Simultaneous. In the context of vaccine timing and spacing, occurring on the same 

clinic day, at different anatomic sites, and not combined in the same syringe. 

Generc1I Best Prnctice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix l: Glossary 190 



Toxoid. A modified bacterial toxin that has been made nontoxic, but retains the ability 

to stimulate the formation of antibodies to the toxin. 

Vaccination and hnmunization. The terms vaccine and vaccination are derived 

from vacca, the Latin term for cow. Vaccine was the term used by Edward Jenner to 

describe material used (i.e., cowpox virus) to produce immunity to smallpox. The term 

vaccination was used by Louis Pasteur in tl1e 19th century to include the physical act of 

administering any vaccine or toxoid. Immunization is a more inclusive term, denoting 

the process of inducing or providing immunity by administering an immunobiologic. 

Immunization can be active or passive. Active immunization is the production of 

antibody or other immune responses through administration of a vaccine or toxoicl. 

Passive immunization means the provision of temporary immunity by the 

administration of preformed antibodies. Although persons often use the terms 

vaccination and immunization interchangeably in reference to active immunization, the 

terms are not synonymous because the administration of an immunobiologic cannot be 

equated automatically with development of adequate immunity. 

Vaccine. A suspension oflive (usually attenuated) orinactivated microorganisms (e.g., 

bacteria or viruses) or fractions thereof administered to induce immunity and prevent 

infectious disease or its sequelae. Some vaccines contain highly defined antigens (e.g., 

the polysaccharide of H aemophilus influenzae type b or the surface antigen of hepatitis 

B); others have antigens that are complex or incompletely defined (e.g., Bordetella 

pertussis antigens or live, attenuated viruses). 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 1: Glossary 191 



Appendix 2: Membership 

Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices 

Membership List, October 2014 

Chair: TEMTE, Jonathan L., MD, PhD, University of Wisconsin School of Meclicine 
and Public Health Madison, WI · 

Executive Secretary: Larry Pickering, MD, National Center for Immunization and 
Respiratory Diseases, CDC, Atlanta, Georgia. 

Members: BENNETT, Nancy, MD, MS, University of Rochester School of Medicine 
and Dentistry Rochester, NY 

· BELONGIA, Edward, MD, Marshfield Clinic Research Foundation Marshfield, WI 

BOCCHINI, Joseph A., Jr., MD, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center 
Shreveport, LA 

CAMPOS-OUTCALT, Douglas, MD, MPA, Mercy Care Plan Phoenix, AZ 

HARRIMAN, Kathleen, PhD, MPH, RN, California Department of Public Health 
Richmond, CA 

HARRISON, Lee H., MD, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA •. 

!CARRON, Ruth A., MD, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health Baltimore, 
MD 

KEMPE, Allison, MD, MPH, The Children's Hospital of Denver, Denver, CO 

PELLEGRINI, Cynthia, March of Dimes Washington, DC 

REINGOLD, Arthur L., MD, School of Public Health University of California Berkeley, 
CA 

RILEY, Laura E., MD, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA 

ROMERO, Jose R., MD, FAAP, Arkansas Children's Hospital Research Institute, Little 
Rock, AR 

RUBIN, Lorry, MD, Hofstra-North Shore LIJ School of Medicine Hempstead, NY 

VAzQUEZ, Marietta, MD, Yale University School of Medicine New Haven, CT 

Ex Officio Members: Amy Groom, MPH, Indian Health Service, Albuquerque, New 
Mexico; Jesse Geibe, MD, Department of Defense, CDC; Melissa Houston, MD, Health 
Resources and Services Administration, Rockville, Maryland; Bruce Gellin, MD, 
National Vaccine Program Office, Washington, District of Columbia; Mary Beth Hance, 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmuniwtlon: Appendix 2: Membership 192 



Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Baltimore, Maiyland; Richard L. Gorman, 
MD, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland; Wellington Sun, MD, Food and 
Drug Administration, Bethesda, Maryland; Linda Kinsinger, MD, Department of 
Veterans Affairs, Durham, North Carolina. 

Liaison Representatives: American Academy of Family Physicians, Jamie Loehr, 
MD, Ithaca, New York; American Academy of Pediatrics, Carrie Byington, MD, Salt Lake 
City, Utah; David Kimberlin, MD, Birmingham, Alabama; American Academy of 
Physician Assistants, Marie-Michele Leger MPH, Alexandria, Virginia; American 
College Health Association, Susan Even, MD, Columbia, Missouri; American College of 
Obstetricians and.Gynecologists, Kevin Ault, MD, Kansas City, Kansas; American 
College of Physicians, Sandra Adamson Fryhofer, MD, Atlanta, Georgia; Gregory 
Poland, MD, Rochester, Minnesota; American Geriatrics Society, Kenneth Schmader, 
MD, Durham, North Carolina; America's Health Insurance Plans, MarkNetoslde, MD, 
MBA, Houston, Texas; American Medical Association, Sandra Adamson Fl'yhofer, MD, 
Atlanta, Georgia; American Nurses Association, Chad llittle, DNP, Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania; Carol Hayes, CNM, Decatur, Georgia; American Osteopathic Association, 
Stanley Grogg, DO, Tulsa, Oldahoma; American Pharmacists Association, Stephan L. 
Foster, PharmD, Memphis, Tennessee; Association of Immunization Managers (AIM), . 
Kelly Moore, MD, Nashville, Tennessee; Association for Prevention Teaching and 
Research, W, Paul McKinney, MD, Louisville, Kentucky; Association of State and 
Territorial Health Officials, Teny Dwelle, MD, Bismarck, North Dakota; Biotechnology 
Industry Organization, Clement Lewin, PhD, Cambridge, Massachusetts; Canadian 
National Advisory Committee on Immunization, Ian Gemmill, MD, Kingston, Ontario, 
Canada; Infectious Diseases Society of America, Kathleen Neuzil, MD, Seattle, 
Washington; Carol Baker, J.V.[D, Houston, Texas; National Association of Coutny and City 
Health Officials, Matthew Zahn, MD, Santa Ana, California; National Association of 
Pediatric Nurse Practitioners, Patricia Stinchfield, MPH, St Paul, Minnesota; National 
Foundation for Infectious Diseases, William Schaffner, MD, Nashville, Tennessee; 
National Immunization Council and Child Health Program, Mexico, Ignacio Villasenor. 
Ruiz, Mexico; National Medical Association, Patricia Whitley-Williams, MD, New 
Brunswick, New Jersey; National Vaccine Advisory Committee, Walter Orenstein, MD, 
Atlanta, Georgia; Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society, Mark Sawyer, MD, San Diego, 
California; Janet Englund, MD, Seattle, Washington; Pharmaceutical Research and 
Manufacturers of America, Damian A Braga, Swiftwater, Pennsylvania; Society for 
Adolescent Medicine, Amy Middleman, MD, Houston, Texas; Society for Healthcare 
Epidemiolob'Y of America, David Weber, MD, Chapel Hill, North Carolina. 

Men1bers of the General Recommendations on llnmunization W orlcing 
Group 

Adviso1y Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), Marietta Vazquez, MD; Doug 
Campos-Outcalt, MD; Harriman, Kathleen, PhD, MPH, RN; Pellegrini, Cynthia; ACIP 
Liaison and Ex-Qffi.cio Members, Chris Bany, American Academy of Physician 
Assistants; Katie Ilr~wer, MSN, RN, American Nurses Associatfon; Stephan L. Foster, 
PharmD, American Pharmacists Association; Stanley E. Grogg, DO, American 
Osteopathic Association; Paul Hunter, MD, American Academy of Family Physicians; 

General Best Practice Guidelines for lmmunlrntion; Appendix 2: Membership 193 



Shainoor Ismail, Public Health Association of Canada; Walter Orenstein, MD, American 
Academy of Pediatrics; Mark Sawyer, MD, Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society; David 
Weber, MD, Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America; CDC Staff Members, 
Angela Calugar, MD, Robin Curtis, MD, Sophia Greer, Theresa Harrington, MD, 
Jennifer Liang, DVM, MPH, Elaine Miller, Gina Mootrey, DO, Larry Pickering, MD, 
Jean Smith, MD, Raymond Strikas, MD, MPH, Donna Weaver, MSN, Jessie Wing, MD, 
MPH, Joellen Walicki, RN, BSN, Skip Wolfe; other members and consultants, William 
Atkinson, MD, MPH, Immunization Action Coalition, Richard Clover, MD, University of 
Louisville School of Public Health, Jeffrey Duchin, MD, University of Washington, 
Susan Lett, MD, MPH, Massachusettes Department of Health, Kelly Moore, MD, MPH, 
Tennessee Department of Health, :peborah Wexler, MD, Immunization Action Coalition, 
Richard Zimmerman, MD. 

General Best Practice Guidelines for Immunization: Appendix 2: Membership 194 



' ,.., 

IV. Legislative Matters 

A. Discussion and Action on Governor's Message 
624, Submitting for Consideration for the 
Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. James Lee to 
the Small Business Regulatory Review Board 
for a term to expire June 30, 2020 



GM624 
Measure ntle: 

Report ntle: 

Description: 

Companion: 

Package: 

Submitting for consideration and confim,ation to the Small Business Regulatory Review 
Board, Gubernatorial Nominee, JAMES LEE, for a term to expire 06-30-2020. 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

Current Referral: EIT 

Introducer(s): 

Sort by Date Status Text 

2/28/2019 s Received. 

2/28/2019 s Referred to EIT, 

S = Senate I H = House I D = Data Systems I $ = Appropriation measure I ConAm = Constitutional 
Amendment 

Some of the above items require Adobe Acrobat Reader. Please visit Adobe's download page for detailed 
instructions. 

GM624 



JAMES KIMO LEE 
233 Akala Road, HI 96720 Phone: 808-896-6770 Email: 

kimoleejr@gmail.com OBJECTIVE 

Proven local developer and collaborative community leader seeks position 
in a dynamic organization committed to advancing the health and future of 
our Hawai'i Island community. 

EDUCATION Chaminade University, Honolulu, HI 

Bachelor of Arts in Business Administration 

Hawaii State Real Estate License 

ACTIVITIES 

May 1987 1982-1992 

□ Japanese Chamber of Commerce & Industry Hawai'i -
Board Member 2010-2016 ;JjJ 

□ Hawai'i Island Chamber of Commerce - Member since 
2010 [s}~J 

□ State Historic Preservation - Hawai'i Island Burial Council -
Board Member 2009 to 2015 [s}?J 

□ Hawai'i Leeward Planning Conference - Member~t?] 

□ Hawai'i County Fire Commission - Member 2006 to 
present ;}~J 

□ Historic Hawai'i Foundation - Board Member 2013 to 2015 

o Catholic Church Land Asset Management - Board Member 
2006 to present ;}~J 

□ Hawai'i Health Systems Corporation - East Hawai'i 



Regional Board Member - May 2016 to present[s}p]WORK 
EXPERIENCE [s}p]W.H. Shipman, Ltd - Kea'au HI June 2005 -
present [s}j}Director of Development ;}p} 

□ Responsible for management of 17,000 acres of kama'aina 
family-owned Shipman lands dating back to 1882 in the Puna District 
of Hawai'i Island and in Oregon. ;}p] 

□ Responsible for planning, management and development 
of all industrial, commercial, agricultural and residential properties. 
Ensure that properties are maintained and operated in a manner that 
is in the best long term interest of the company, consistent with its 
commitment to be a good corporate citizen. Oversee property 
management and maximize cash flow. [s}j] 

□ Work directly with the Board of Directors to create long 
range development plans. Engage community and government in 
land stewardship activities, commercial/industrial development and 
leasing, and agricultural leasing for variety of Shipman properties 
including farmlands, the W. H. Shipman Business Park, Kea'au 
Village town center, and Durham Hall Business Park and Cipole 
Business Park in the SW Portland suburb of Tigard, Oregon. [s}p] 

□ Develop and facilitate long range sustainability and planned 
development for balanced community use for Kea'au lands - a mix 
of agriculture, commercial, office, industrial, residential and 
conservation uses with strong municipal and government services. 

□ Manage Shipman Industrial Park and Kea'au Village town 
square with a rigorous approach to architecture, balanced 
development of services and careful, place-based land planning. 
Coordinated Kea'au Community Master Plan to include facilitation of 
community focus groups, construction and development of a number 
of new building projects designed to create a healthy, vibrant Kea'au 
community, including the HMSA Building, Long's Drugs new town 
center, and the restoration and plantation-centric design of DOE 
Complex buildings .. ;:~p] 

□ Cultivate community-based partnerships with local farmers, 
businesses and local, county and state government entities land to 
incubate new agricultural businesses, ensuring agricultural diversity 



and start- up farming, offering strong infrastructure, and land license 
terms [sl~J 

□ Ensure that properties are maintained and operated in a 
manner that is in the best long term interest of the company, 
consistent with its commitment to be a good corporate citizen. [sl~] 

D Oversee property management and maximize cash flow. [s}~J 

D Develop internal and external partnerships, participate in 
community outreach activities, and advance ~}~]legislative advocacy 
initiatives. [s}~]Oceanside 1250/Hokulia SEPT 2000 - JUNE 2005 
~Il']Vice President of Development 

□ Involved in planning, managing and budgeting 
development of project. [s}~} 

□ Coordinate Federal, State, County and local officials, 
consultants (archeologists, kahu, cultural resource 
[sl~]managers) and community on development plans, 
approvals and necessary implementation of policies [~~]and 
procedures. [J~J 

□ Manage team of 60 direct reports, in addition to 
management of daily activities of onsite consultants, 
[s}~Jcontractors and development team. ~}~] 

D Prepare and present reports to government 
agencies, community groups, consultants and community to 
~}~]ensure open, direct and honest communication about the 
project. [sl~}JGL Enterprises OCT 1992 - SEPT 2002 
[sl~]Executive Vice President of Real Estate Development 

□ Responsible for securing land, negotiation of 
land purchases, processing of entitlements, securing 
site and building construction contracts and securing 
permanent financing for a Real Estate Development 
company on Oahu and Maui. [s}~J 

□ Worked closely with City and County to bring 
projects to fruition in a seamless and coordinated way. 
~r~ 
~S_Ef; 

□ Projects included Makakilo Cliffs on Oahu and 
Keonekai Villages on Kihei, Maui. [s}~] 



□ Consulted and negotiated with lessor and 
lessee' percentage lease and common area 
maintenance fees. [s}p] 

o Managed legal, planning, design, marketing, 
sales, construction and maintenance staff. 
[s}p]Department of Housing and Community 
Development, City & County of Honolulu JUNE 1989 
- SEPT 1992 [~fj]Housing and Community Development 
Specialist 

D Responsible for securing funding and 
design approval through City Council. ;}j] 

D Prepared request for proposal, secured 
contractor and managed development and budget 
of project. ~&] 

□ Prepared and processed 201 e 
application for building code exemptions. [s}p] 

D Inspected and reported on-site and 
house construction required for monthly draw 
request and daily status [s}p]reports. ;}p] 

D Negotiated lessor's percentage lease 
and common area maintenance fees. [~~j] 

□ Reviewed and approved eligibility 
requirements for low to moderate tenants. 
Coordinated variety of ;}?]initiatives around 
conceptual designs, advertising, construction and 
rental of units and leasing of commercial spaces. 
[s}j]Hawai'i State Senate-Judiciary Committee 
NOV 1988 - JAN 1989 ;}j]Budget/Legis/ative 
Analyst ~}p] 

o Researched and prepared fact sheets and drafted bills for 
proposed laws. ;}p] 

□ Made recommendation to Chairman involving State 
funding, reviewed Judiciary administration, staffing [s}j]and budget. ;}p] 

□ Addressed constituent's concerns and charted progress of 
budget and expenditures of community ;}p]improvements. [s1,JSouth 



Pacific Properties AUGUST 1986 - OCT 1988 [s}?]Assistant Project 
Manager/PropertyManager [s}?] 

□ Assisted in negotiating architectural specifications, design, floor plans, 
and construction contracts for site work, house construction, drapes, 
appliances, and landscaping. 

□ Provided reports of onsite construction and assisted in 
preparing project cash flows. [s1] 

□ Initiated condominium association with homeowners, 
reviewed market appraisals, construction costs and [s}?]loan package. 
;}j.]The Gentry Companies FEBRUARY 1983-JULY 1986 
[s}?]Leasing Agent/Property Management Trainee, ;}?] 

□ Negotiated and executed contracts for lease of industrial 
park lots and buildings including presentation of lots or building, 
negotiations of percentage lease, common area maintenance, 
terms, rent collection, terms of delinquency, termination of contracts. 

□ Prepared pro forma of maintenance schedule and 
suggested recommendations to Property Manager regarding 
maintenance contracts and staffing requirements. 

[s}?JCHARACTER PROFILE [s}?] 

□ Native Hawaiian community collaborator, strong multi
tasking ability, flexible, motivated, creative, driven, high level of 
personal integrity, and eager to learn. [s}?} 

□ Excellent organizational, time management, budgeting and 
communication skills. [s}j.J 

□ Collaborative, inclusive, transparent team player skilled at 
building and nurturing relationships. ;}j.] 

□ Good listener and results-oriented leader. [s}j.] 

□ Work well independently and under pressure. Highly 
engaged in local business community and [s}j.]committed to promoting 
the advancement of growth opportunities on Hawai'i Island. ;}j.] 



IV. Legislative Matters 

B. Discussion and Action on Governor's Message 
625, Submitting for Consideration for the 
Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. Garth 
Yamanaka to the Small Business Regulatory 
Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2023 



GM625 
Measure litle: 

Report litle: 

Description: 

Companion : 

Package: 

Submitting for consideration and confim1ation to the Small Business Regulatory Review 
Board, Gubernatorial Nominee, GARTH YAMANAKA, for a term to expire 06-30-2023. 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

Current Referral: EET 

Introducer(s): 

sort by Date Statu5Text 

2/28/2019 s Received. 

2/28/2019 s Referred to EEf. 

S = Senate I H = House I D = Data Systems I $ = Appropriation measure I ConAm = Cons~tutional 
Amendment 

Some of the above items require Adobe Acrobat Reader. Please visit Adobe's download page for detailed 
instructions. 

GM625 



IV. Legislative Matters 

C. Update on Senate Bill 1348 SDl Relating to the 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board 



SB1348 S01 
Measure Title: RELATING TO THE SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD. 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board; Powers Report Title : 

Description: 

Companion: 

Package: 

Clarifies the intent of the small business regulatory review board's powers when reviewing 
state and county administrative rules and ordinances that impact small business. {SD1) 

None 

Current Referral: EET, JDC 

Introducer{s): K. RHOADS, Wakat 

1/24/2019 

1/24/2019 

1/28/2019 

1/31/2019 

2/4/2019 

2/15/2019 

2/15/2019 

2/21/2019 

2/26/2019 

3/1/2019 

3/1/2019 

3/5/2019 

3/5/2019 

Status Text 

S Introduced. 

s Passed First Reading. 

s Referred to EET, JDC. 

s The committee(s) on EET has scheduled a public hearing on 02-04-19 3:00PM in 
conference room 414. 

The commlttee(s) on EET recommend(s) that the measure be PASSED, UNAMENDED. The 

5 votes In EET were as follows: 4 Aye(s): Senator(s) Wakai, Taniguchi, Inouye, 
J.Keohokalole; Aye(s) with reservations: none ; O No(es): none; and 1 Excused: Senator(s) 
Fevella. 

5 
Reported from EET (Stand. Com. Rep. No. 421) with recommendation of passage on 
Second Reading and referral to JDC. 

S Report adopted; Passed Second Reading and referred to JDC. 

5 The committee(s) on JDC will hold a public decision making on 02-26-19 9:00AM in 
conference room 016. 

The committee(s) on JDC recommend(s) that the measure be PASSED, WITH 
S AMENDMENTS. The votes in JDC were as follows: 4 Aye(s): Senator(s) K. Rhoads, Wakai, 

Gabbard, Kim; Aye{s) with reservations: none ; 0 No(es): none; and 1 Excused: Senator(s) 
Fevella. 

S Reported from JDC {Stand. Com. Rep. No. 1015) with recommendation of passage on 
Third Reading, as amended (SD 1), 

S 48 Hrs. Notice 03-05-19. 

Report adopted; Passed Third Reading, as amended (SD 1). Ayes, 24; Aye(s) with 
5 reservations: none. Noes, 0 (none). Excused, 1 (Senator(s) Harimoto). Transmitted to 

House. 

H Received from Senate (Sen. Com. No. 456) in amended form (SD 1). 

S = Senate I H = House I D = Data Systems I $ = Appropriation measure I ConAm = Constitutional 
Amendment 

Some of the above items require Adobe Acrobat Reader. Please visit Adobe's download page for detailed 
instructions. 

SB1348 SD1 



THE SENATE 
THIRTIETH LEGISLATURE, 2019 
STA TE OF HAWAII 

S.B. NO. 

A BILL FOR AN ACT 

RELATING TO THE SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF HAW All: 

1348 
S.D. 1 

SECTION 1. Section 20 1M-5, Hawaii Revised Statute s, is amended 

by amending subsection (a ) to read as follows: 

"(a) There shall be established within the department of 

business, economic development, and tourism, for administrative 

purposes, a small business regulatory review board to review any 

proposed new or amended rule. If the board determines that a 

proposed rule will not have a significant economic impact on a 

s ubs t a nti a l numbe r o f s ma ll businesses, the b oard sha ll s ubmi t a 

statement to that effect t o the agency that sets forth the reason 

for the board's decision. If the board determines that the proposed 

rule will have a significant economic impact on a subst ant ial number 

of sma ll bus ine sse s, the b o ard may submit t o the age n c y sugge sted 

changes in the proposed rule to minimize the economic impact of the 

proposed rule, or may recommend the withdrawal of the proposed 

rule. The board may also consider any request from small busin ess 

owners for review of any proposal for a new rule [adopted], proposal 

t o amend a rule , o r existing rule by a state agency and to make 

recommendations to the agency or the l egi slature regarding the need 

for a rul e change or legislation . For requests regarding county 



ordinances[, ] or rules , the board may make recommenda ions to the 

c ounty council or the mayor for appropriate action . " 

SECTION 2. Statut ory materi al to be repealed is bracketed and 

stricken. New statutory material is underscored. 

SECTION 3. Thi s Act shall take effect upon its approval . 

Report Title: 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board; Powers 

Description : 
Clarifies the int ent of the small business r egulatory review board's 
powers when reviewing state and county administrative rules and 
ordinances t hat impac t small business. ( SDl) 

The summary description of legislation appearing on this page is for informational purposes only and is not 
legislation or evidence of legislative intent. 



THE SENATE 
THIRTIETH LEGISLATURE, 2019 
STATE OF HAWAII 

S.B. NO. 

A BILL FOR AN ACT 

RELATING TO THE SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD. 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF HAWAII: 

1348 

SECTION 1. Section 201M-5, Hawaii Revised Statutes, is amended 

by amending subsection (a) to read as follows: 

11 (a) There shall be established within the department of 

business, economic development, and tourism, for administrative 

purposes, a small business regulatory review board to review any 

proposed new or amended rule. If the board determines that a 

proposed rule will not have a significant economic impact on a 

substantial number of small businesses, the board shall submit a 

statement to that effect to the agency that sets forth the reason 

for the board's decision. If the board determines that the proposed 

rule will have a significant economic impact on a substantial number 

of small businesses, the board may submit to the agency suggested 

changes in the proposed rule to minimize the economic impact of the 

proposed rule, or may recommend the withdrawal of the proposed 

rule. The board may also consider any request from small business 

owners for review of any rule proposed , amended , or adopted by a 

state agency an to make recommendations to the agency or t e 

l egislature regarding the need for a rule change or legislation . 

For re uests regarding county [ordinances,] rues , the board may 



make recommendations to the county council or the mayor for 

approp · ate action ." 

SECTION 2. Statutory material to be repealed is bracketed and 

stricken. New statutory material is underscored. 

SECTION 3. This Act shall take effect upon its approval. 

INTRODUCED BY: 

Report Title: 
Small Business Regulatory Review Board; Powers 

Description: 
Clarifies the intent of the small business regulatory revi ew board's 
powers when reviewing state and county administrative rul e s that 
impact small business. 

The summary description of legislation appearing on this page is for informational purposes only and is not 
legislation or evidence of legislative intent. 



IV. Legislative Matters 

D. Update on Governor's Message 559, Submitting 
for Consideration for the Gubernatorial 
Nomination of Mr. Jonathan Shick to the Small 
Business Regulatory Review Board for a term to 
expire June 30, 2022 



GM559 
Measure Title: 

Report Tltle: 

Description: 

Companion: 

Package: 

Submitting for consideration and confinnation to the Small Business Regulatory Review 
Board, Gubernatorial Nominee, JONATI-lAN SHICK, for a term to expire 06-30-2022. 

Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

Current Referral: EIT 

Introducer(s): 

Sort by Date Status Text 

2/1/2019 s Received. 

2/1/2019 s Referred to EIT. 

S = Senate l H = House I D = Data Systems I $ :;;: Appropriatlon measure I ConAm = Constitutional 
Amendment 

Some of the above items require Adobe Acrobat Reader. Please visit Adobe's downlojjd page for detailed 
instructi ans. 

GM559 



V. Administrative Matters 

A.Update on the Board's Upcoming Advocacy 
Activities and Programs in accordance with the 
Board's Powers under Section 201M, HRS 

a.Review and Action on the Board's Website 
Changes, to date 



Small Business Regulatory Review Board - Helping make Hawaii ... https://test-sbrrb.ehawaii.gov/ 

,-...,,...,..,.....--..r-,...,_.._.~ 
Helpi11g n1a·ke-Haw3ii ruiles 1norev 
small busi11ess friendly 
Join us at our monthly meeting to weigh in on Hawaii government rules that affect 

small business. 

Next meeting: March 21st 
~~< . 

• House Bill 539 Related to the Small Busi~ess Regulatory Review Board 

• Senate Bill 1348 Relating to the Small Business Regulatory Review Board 

,.---· -------~, 
Join us at OLtr meeting . ti 

' 

• • • For s1uall businesses and mFor government agencies ,_,. 
associations - If your agency has a new rule or a rule change 

that impacts small business. please complete 
Learn how you can have an impact on rules 

and submit the appropriate forms and attend a 
affecting your business. 

board meeting for review and discussion. 

••g;;;;;;;.;;; MFMII 

....,u:._.• 

JbJhtSnmm -''.~ U¥ 
: ( 

,j:jt
•.·__:-~ , - ·· . . ".·",# .~ ·-"~_··1r ·. . . .s. . ~ ...~ -

The Small Business Regulatory Review Board (SBRRBl is an eleven;member board' 

comprised'"of s~all business owners and officers from across tlie Stat~. Its main 

activitl_es include reviewing~ ' maki~;ec~!.11m~datio~sJ~t,f~~ nd Courity 
age~fles on draft new and amende,$.?dmini3.tra_ti\'.~rules and respon~g:_l,o small 
business requests for assistance with 1dministrative rules. ...:~ 

Re:~-~ore • ./ 

•". 
. I!:._

!"'"""--■ 
.. 

-~.,. 
· . \ '· ·~ 

•~,,.-~-.~1,;.-i.~>7.;\:.._ 
~. - .·•1,·•~'.:!;,::.,• . •, ,.!,,.,I>

,:_'.a• .;.:'_-~-•;.~c~IJ,i{:jc
.~..~-!c-l;v 

1 of 1 3/15/201 9, 6:00 AM 

https://test-sbrrb.ehawaii.gov

	Agenda Packet 2.pdf
	Structure Bookmarks
	,. 


	SBRRBAgendaMar2019DiscLeaders.pdf
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	II. Approval of February 21, 2019 Meeting Minutes
	III. Old BusinessAFTER PUBLIC HEARING
	A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed Amendments to Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Title 18, Chapter 235 Income Tax Law, promulgated by Department of Taxation (DoTax), as follows – Discussion Leader – Garth Yamanaka
	B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 18, Chapter 237, General Excise Tax Law, Section 29.57-01 Exemption for Intangible Property used Outside the State, promulgated by DoTax – Discussion Leader – Garth Yamanaka
	C. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing  and Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 11 Chapter 157, Examination and Immunization, promulgated by Department of Health – Discussion Leader – Harris Nakamoto

	IV. Legislative Matters
	A. Discussion and Action on Governor’s Message 624, Submitting for  Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. James Lee to the Small  Business Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2020
	B. Discussion and Action on Governor’s Message 625, Submitting for  Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. Garth Yamanaka to  the  Small Business Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2023
	C. Update on Governor’s Message 559, Submitting for Consideration of the  Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. Jonathan Shick to the Small Business  Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2022
	D. Discussion and Action on Senate Bill 1348 SD1 Relating to the Small  Business Regulatory Review Board – Clarifies the intent of the small  business regulatory review board’s powers when reviewing state and county  administrative rules and ordinances that impact small business
	- The Board may go into Executive Session under Section 92-5(a)(4), Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) to Consult with the Board’s Attorney Concerning the Board’s Powers, Duties, Immunities, Privileges and Liabilities as it relates to the changes made to Senate Bill 1348 by the Senate Draft 1.  

	V. Administrative Matters
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in  accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS

	VI. Next Meeting: Thursday, April 18, 2019, at 10:00 a.m., 235 S. Beretania St., Leiopapa A Kamehameha Building (State Office Tower), Conf. Room 405, Honolulu, HI  
	VII. Adjournment

	SBRRBAgendaMar2019Final.pdf
	SMALL BUSINESS REGULATORY REVIEW BOARD
	I. Call to Order
	II. Approval of February 21, 2019 Meeting Minutes
	III. Old BusinessAFTER PUBLIC HEARING
	A. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed Amendments to Hawaii Administrative Rules (HAR) Title 18, Chapter 235 Income Tax Law, promulgated by Department of Taxation (DoTax), as follows – attached and incorporated as Exhibit 1
	B. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing and Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 18, Chapter 237, General Excise Tax Law, Section 29.57-01 Exemption for Intangible Property used Outside the State, promulgated by DoTax – attached and incorporated as Exhibit 2 
	C. Discussion and Action on the Small Business Statement After Public Hearing  and Proposed Amendments to HAR Title 11 Chapter 157, Examination and Immunization, promulgated by Department of Health – attached and incorporated as Exhibit 3 

	IV. Legislative Matters
	A. Discussion and Action on Governor’s Message 624, Submitting for  Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. James Lee to the Small  Business Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2020
	B. Discussion and Action on Governor’s Message 625, Submitting for  Consideration for the Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. Garth Yamanaka to  the  Small Business Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2023
	C. Update on Governor’s Message 559, Submitting for Consideration of the  Gubernatorial Nomination of Mr. Jonathan Shick to the Small Business  Regulatory Review Board for a term to expire June 30, 2022
	D. Discussion and Action on Senate Bill 1348 SD1 Relating to the Small  Business Regulatory Review Board – Clarifies the intent of the small  business regulatory review board’s powers when reviewing state and county  administrative rules and ordinances that impact small business
	- The Board may go into Executive Session under Section 92-5(a)(4), Hawaii Revised Statutes (HRS) to Consult with the Board’s Attorney Concerning the Board’s Powers, Duties, Immunities, Privileges and Liabilities as it relates to the changes made to Senate Bill 1348 by the Senate Draft 1.  

	V. Administrative Matters
	A. Update on the Board’s Upcoming Advocacy Activities and Programs in  accordance with the Board’s Powers under Section 201M-5, HRS

	VI. Next Meeting: Thursday, April 18, 2019, at 10:00 a.m., 235 S. Beretania St., Leiopapa A Kamehameha Building (State Office Tower), Conf. Room 405, Honolulu, HI  
	VII. Adjournment




